SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
300 Lakeside Drive, P. O. Box 12688, Oakland, CA 94604-2688

BOARD MEETING AGENDA
December 6, 2018
9:00 a.m.

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors will be held at 9:00 a.m. on Thursday, December 6, 2018,
in the BART Board Room, 2040 Webster Street, Oakland, California.

Members of the public may address the Board of Directors regarding any matter on this agenda.
Please complete a “Request to Address the Board” form (available at the entrance to the Board Room)
and hand it to the Secretary before the item is considered by the Board. If you wish to discuss a matter
that is not on the agenda during a regular meeting, you may do so under Public Comment.

Any action requiring more than a majority vote for passage will be so noted.

Items placed under “consent calendar” are considered routine and will be received, enacted, approved,
or adopted by one motion unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from a
Director or from a member of the audience.

Please refrain from wearing scented products (perfume, cologne, after-shave, etc.) to these meetings, as
there may be people in attendance susceptible to environmental illnesses.

BART provides service/accommodations upon request to persons with disabilities and individuals who
are limited English proficient who wish to address BART Board matters. A request must be made
within one and five days in advance of Board meetings, depending on the service requested. Please
contact the Office of the District Secretary at 510-464-6083 for information.

Rules governing the participation of the public at meetings of the Board of Directors and Standing
Committees are available for review on the District's website (http://www.bart.gov/about/bod), in the
BART Board Room, and upon request, in person or via mail.

Meeting notices and agendas are available for review on the District's website
(http://www.bart.gov/about/bod/meetings.aspx); at bart.legistar.com; and via email
(https://public.govdelivery.com/accounts/ CATRANBART/subscriber/new?topic_id=CATRANBART
1904) or via regular mail upon request submitted to the District Secretary. Complete agenda packets
(in PDF format) are available for review on the District's website and bart.legistar.com no later than 48
hours in advance of the meeting.

Please submit your requests to the District Secretary via email to BoardofDirectors@bart.gov; in
person or U.S. mail at 300 Lakeside Drive, 23" Floor, Oakland, CA 94612; fax 510-464-6011; or
telephone 510-464-6083.

Patricia K. Williams
District Secretary


http://www.bart.gov/about/bod/meetings.aspx
https://public.govdelivery.com/accounts/CATRANBART/subscriber/new?topic_id=CATRANBART_1904
https://public.govdelivery.com/accounts/CATRANBART/subscriber/new?topic_id=CATRANBART_1904
mailto:BoardofDirectors@bart.gov

Regular Meeting of the
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The purpose of the Board Meeting is to consider and take such action as the Board may desire

in connection with:

1.

CALL TO ORDER

A. Roll Call.
B. Pledge of Allegiance.
C. Introduction of Special Guests.

CONSENT CALENDAR

A. Approval of Minutes of the Meeting of November 8, 2018 (Special) and
November 15, 2018 (Regular).* Board requested to authorize.

B. Resolution Fixing the Non - California Public Employees Retirement
System (CalPERS) Medical Plan Structure and Rates for Calendar Year
2019.* Board requested to adopt.

C. Independent Auditor's Reports on the Basic Financial Statements and
Internal Control for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018.* For
information.

D. BART Accessibility Task Force Membership Appointment.*
Board requested to authorize.

PUBLIC COMMENT - 15 Minutes

(An opportunity for members of the public to address the Board of Directors on matters under
their jurisdiction and not on the agenda. An additional period for Public Comment is provided at
the end of the Meeting.)

ADMINISTRATION ITEMS
Director Allen, Chairperson

A.  Award of Agreement No. 6M4607, with Mobility As A Service
(MAAS), Payment Processor.* Board requested to authorize.

B. Resolution Ratifying the Collective Bargaining Agreement with the
BART Police Officers’ Association.* Board requested to adopt.

ENGINEERING AND OPERATIONS ITEMS
Director Simon, Chairperson

A. Award of Contract No. 1511-120, Station Emergency Lighting.*
Board requested to authorize.

Attachment available 20f5



B. Sole Source Procurement with Integrated Display Systems Inc. for
Elevator-Escalator Remote Monitoring Pilot Project.* Board requested
to authorize. (TWO-THIRDS VOTE REQUIRED.)

C. Change Orders to Contract No. 05HA-100, El Cerrito Del Norte
Station Modernization, with Clark Construction Group.*
a. Upgraded Fire Alarm System for the Station (C.O. No.
054).
b. Accessibility Improvement Program (C.O. No. 049).
Board requested to authorize.

D. Change Order to Contract No. 15QH-150, Lafayette Station Site
Improvement Project, with USS Cal Builders, Inc., for Extension of
Time (C.O. No. 19).* Board requested to authorize.

E. Change Order to Contract No. 6M7220, Emergency Restoration,
Preventive Maintenance, Non-Emergency Repair and Seismic
Relocation Work of the Commercial Fiber Optic and Wireless
Network, with Phase 3 Communications, Inc., for Extension of Time
(C.O. No. 04).* Board requested to authorize.

F. Update on BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Program.*
For information.

6. PLANNING, PUBLIC AFFAIRS, ACCESS, AND LEGISLATION ITEMS
Director Blalock, Chairperson

A. BART to Antioch Capacity Improvements.
a.  Station Parking Expansion.* Board requested to authorize/adopt.
1. Approve 4" Addendum to the Final Environmental Impact Report.

2. Adopt the Revised Project.

3. Resolution of Project Compliance Authorizing the Filing of an
Allocation Request with the Metropolitan Transportation
Commission for Regional Measure 2, Regional Measure 1, and AB
1171 Bridge Toll Funds to Support Design of the Revised Project.

b.  No Cost Change Order to Contract No. 04SF-140, for Procurement

of eBART vebhicles, with Stadler Bussnang AG, to Extend the Period

and Modify Re-pricing Provisions to Exercise Contract Options No.
1 and No. 2 for the Purchase of up to Six Additional Vehicles.*
Board requested to authorize.

B. Millbrae Station Transit Oriented Development (TOD).*
a.  Adopt Findings, Statement of Overriding Consideration and
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program for the TOD #2
Project as described in the Final Environmental Impact Report
(FEIR).
b.  Approve changes to the TOD #2 Project.

* Attachment available

30of5



C. Delegation of Authority to the General Manager or her designee to
approve or disapprove any additional modifications to the TOD #2
Project as described in the FEIR.

Board requested to authorize.

C. 2019 Federal and State Advocacy Program.* Board requested to
authorize.

D. Authorization of Exclusive Negotiating Agreement for Transit-Oriented
Development at North Concord/Martinez Station.* Board requested to
authorize.

E. Modifications to BART Advertisement Content Guidelines.* Board
requested to authorize.

F. Award of Agreement No. 6M4604, Stationary Engineering Services for
BART’s Office Building at 101 8th Street, Oakland, CA.*
Board requested to authorize.

G. Implementation Approach for Assembly Bill 2923 San Francisco Bay
Area Rapid Transit District: Transit Oriented Development.*
For information.

7. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT

A. Report of Activities, including Updates of Operational, Administrative,
and Roll Call for Introductions ltems.

8. BOARD MATTERS

A Resolution Commending Director Blalock.* Board requested to adopt.
B. Resolution Commending Director Keller.* Board requested to adopt.

C. Board Member Reports.
(Board member reports as required by Government Code Section 53232.3(d) are
available through the Office of the District Secretary. An opportunity for Board
members to report on their District activities and observations since last Board Meeting.)

D. Roll Call for Introductions.
(An opportunity for Board members to introduce a matter for consideration at a future
Committee or Board Meeting or to request District staff to prepare items or reports.)

E. In Memoriam.
(An opportunity for Board members to introduce individuals to be commemorated.)

9. PUBLIC COMMENT
(An opportunity for members of the public to address the Board of Directors on matters under their
jurisdiction and not on the agenda.)

* Attachment available 4 0of 5



10. CLOSED SESSION (Room 303, Board Conference Room)

A.  CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS

Property:

District Negotiators:

Negotiating Parties:

Under Negotiation:

Government Code Section:

11. OPEN SESSION

* Attachment available

BART Property Located at the Millbrae BART Station, &
The northwesterly portion of Millbrae Avenue bounded by
Rollins Road to the east and BART parcels to the west and
north APN 024-180-270 and 300 respectively

Carl Holmes, Assistant General Manager, Planning,
Development, and Construction; Sean Brooks,
Department Manager, Real Estate and Property
Development; and Kimberly Koempel, Principal Planner
Republic Millbrae LLC, City of Millbrae, and San
Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District

Price and Terms

54956.8

50f5



DRAFT
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
300 Lakeside Drive, P.O. Box 12688, Oakland, CA 94604-2688

Board of Directors
Minutes of the 1,826th Meeting
November 8, 2018

A special meeting of the Board of Directors was held November 8, 2018, convening at 9:16 a.m.
in the Board Room, 2040 Webster Street, Oakland, CA. President Raburn presided; Patricia K.
Williams, District Secretary.

Directors present: Directors Blalock, Keller, McPartland, Saltzman, and Raburn.

Absent: Directors Dufty, Josefowitz, and Simon. Director Allen entered the
Meeting later.

President Raburn called for Public Comment on Item 3 Only. No comments were received.
President Raburn announced that the Board would enter into closed session under Item 3-A
(Conference with Negotiators) and Item 3-B (Public Employee Employment) of the Meeting
agenda, and that the Board would reconvene in open session at the conclusion of the closed

session.

The Board Meeting recessed at 9:17 a.m.

The Board reconvened in closed session at 9:20 a.m.
Directors present: Directors Blalock, Keller, McPartland, Saltzman, and Raburn.

Absent: Directors Dufty, Josefowitz, and Simon. Director Allen entered the
Meeting later.

Director Allen entered the Meeting.
Director Saltzman exited the Meeting.

The Board Meeting recessed at 12:20 p.m.

The Board reconvened in open session at 12:26 p.m.
Directors present: Director Raburn.

Absent: Directors Allen, Blalock, Dufty, Josefowitz, Keller, McPartland,
Saltzman, and Simon.



DRAFT
President Raburn announced that the Board had concluded its closed session and that that there
were no announcements to be made.

The Meeting was adjourned at 12:27 p.m.

Patricia K. Williams
District Secretary



DRAFT

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
300 Lakeside Drive, P.O. Box 12688, Oakland, CA 94604-2688

Board of Directors
Minutes of the 1,827th Meeting
November 15, 2018

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors was held November 15, 2018, convening at
9:00 a.m. in the Board Room, 2040 Webster Street, Oakland, California. President Raburn
presided; Patricia K. Williams, District Secretary.

Directors present: Directors Blalock, Dufty, Keller, McPartland, Simon, and Raburn.

Absent: Director Josefowitz. Directors Allen and Saltzman entered the meeting
later.

Consent Calendar items brought before the Board were:

1. Approval of Minutes of the Meetings of October 25, 2018 (Regular), and
October 25, 2018 (Special).

2 Resolution Fixing the Employer’s Contribution to California Public
Employees Retirement System Medical Premium for Non-Represented
Employees.

3. Award of Contract No. 6M3418, Reconditioning of Transit Vehicle Nickel
Cadmium Batteries.

Director Keller made the following motions as a unit. Director Dufty seconded the motions,
which carried by unanimous electronic vote. Ayes — 6: Directors Blalock, Dufty, Keller,
McPartland, Simon, and Raburn. Noes — 0. Absent: - 3: Directors Allen, Josefowitz and
Saltzman.

1. That the Minutes of October 25, 2018 (Regular) and October 25, 2018
(Special) be approved.

2 That the Board adopt Resolution No. 5381, Fixing the Employer
Contribution under Section 22892 of the Public Employees’ Medical and
Hospital Care Act for Group 006 Non-Represented Employees pertaining
to Non-Represented Employees; and Resolution No. 5382, Fixing the
Employer Vesting Contribution under Section 22902 of the Public
Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act for Group 006 Non-
Represented Employees.

3k That the General Manager be authorized to award Contract No. 6M3418,
an estimated quantities contract, for Reconditioning Transit Vehicle
Nickel-Cadmium Batteries, to Industrial Battery Services, for a total bid

Sl



DRAFT

price of $1,690,639.70, including all taxes, pursuant to notification to be
issued by the General Manager.

Director Saltzman entered the meeting.
President Raburn announced that the order of agenda items would be changed.

Director Blalock, Chairperson of the Planning, Public Affairs, Access, and Legislation
Committee, brought the matter of Recommendation for Deployment of Ford GoBike at 24th
Street Mission BART before the Board. Ms. Grace Crunican, General Manager; Mr. Carl
Holmes, Assistant General Manager, Planning, Development and Construction; Mr. Steve
Beroldo, Manager of Access Programs; and Mr. Tim Chan, Manager of Planning, presented the
item.

The following individuals addressed the Board:

Carolina Morales
Brad Williford
Anne Cervantes

Director Allen entered the meeting
The following individuals addressed the Board.

Erick Arguello (submitted a petition, letters, and pictures for the record
John Mendoza
Jean Walsh

Brian Klofas
Vicky Castro

Scott Feency
Vadim Graboys
Carlos Bacanegra
Keziah Plattner
Kelly Hill

Larissa Pedroncelli
Ace On The Case
Gillian Gillett
Gabriel Medina
Kevin Ortiz

The item was discussed.
Director Dufty moved that the Board recommend installing the Ford GoBike docks on the City
sidewalk adjacent to the Mission branch library for 18 months. Director Simon seconded the

motion.

Director McPartland made a substitute motion to continue the item. The substitute motion died
for a lack of a second.



DRAFT

Discussion continued.

The motion carried by electronic vote. Ayes —5: Directors Allen, Blalock, Dufty, Keller, and
Simon. Noes — 3: Directors McPartland, Saltzman and Raburn. Absent: - 1: Director
Josefowitz.

Director Allen, Chairperson of the Administration Committee, brought the matter of Award of
Agreement No. 6M5131, with Hinderliter, de Llamas and Associates, for Sales Tax Revenue
Collection Services before the Board. Ms. Pamela Herhold, Assistant General Manager,
Performance and Budget, presented the item.

President Raburn made the following motions as a unit:

1. That the General Manager be authorized to execute Agreement No. 6M5131, with
Hinderliter, de Llamas and Associates, to provide sales tax revenue collection services,
for an initial term of three years, with options for two additional one-year terms based
upon a contingency fee of 18% determined by the amount of tax revenue recovered for
the District, pursuant to the notice to be issued by the General Manager, and subject to
the District’s protest procedures.

2. Adoption of Resolution No. 5383 In the matter of Authorizing Consultant Hinderliter, de
Llamas and Associates to Examine Sales and Use Tax Records at the California
Department of Tax and Fee Administration on behalf of the District.

Director Allen seconded the motions, which carried by unanimous electronic vote.
Ayes — 8: Directors Allen, Blalock, Dufty, Keller, McPartland, Saltzman, Simon and
Raburn. Noes — 0. Absent — 1: Director Josefowitz.

Director Allen brought the matter of Actuarial Report on Changes to Pension and Other
Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) under Consideration by the District before the Board. Ms.
Herhold; Mr. Michael Jones, Assistant General Manager, Administration; and Ms. Diane Iwata,
Human Resources, Division Manager, presented the item.

Director Simon, Chairperson of the Engineering and Operations Committee, brought the matter
of Authorization for Negotiation for Sole Source Procurement of Additional Transit Vehicles
before the Board. Ms. Tamar Allen, Assistant General Manager, Operations; Mr. Duncan Watry,
Project Manager, Systems Development; and Mr. John Garnham, Group Manager, Rail Vehicle
Capital Program, presented the item. The item was discussed.

Director Blalock moved that Pursuant to California Public Contract Code Section 20227, the
Board of Directors find that Bombardier Transit Corporation is the single source for the purchase
of heavy rail transit vehicles that will be used to duplicate equipment currently in use by the
District; and that the General Manager be authorized to negotiate and execute a contract with
Bombardier for the purchase of up to 425 E Car rail transit vehicles for an amount not to exceed
$1,167,282,284.00, including applicable taxes and fees, subject to funding availability.

Directors Keller and Saltzman seconded the motion, which carried by unanimous roll call vote
by the required two-thirds vote. Ayes — 8: Directors Allen, Blalock, Dufty, Keller, McPartland,
Saltzman, Simon and Raburn. Noes — 0. Absent — 1: Director Josefowitz.

3.



DRAFT

Director Simon brought the matter of Sole Source Procurement with Bombardier Transportation
for Software Changes, Testing and System Certification for the West Bay Line GEALOC Track
Signaling Circuit Boards before the Board. President Raburn moved that the General Manager
be authorized to negotiate an Agreement with Bombardier Transportation to perform W-Line
train control speed code reductions in an amount not to exceed $133,612.00. Director Blalock
seconded the motion, which carried by unanimous electronic vote. Ayes — 8: Directors Allen,
Blalock, Dufty, Keller, McPartland, Saltzman, Simon and Raburn. Noes — 0. Absent — 1:
Director Josefowitz.

Randall Glock addressed the Board.

Director Simon brought the matter of Change Orders to Contract No. 15IF-130A, Powell Street
Station Ceiling Upgrades, with Icenogle Construction Management, Inc., for the Procurement
and Installation of a Light-Emitting Diode (LED) Light System before the Board. Ms. Allen;
Mr. Holmes; and Ms. Shirley Ng, Group Manager Capital Programs, Extensions, presented the
item. The item was discussed. Director Blalock moved that General Manager be authorized to
execute Change Orders, in an aggregate amount not to exceed $3,500,000.00 to Contract No.
15IF-130A, Powell Street Station Ceiling Improvements, with Icenogle Construction
Management, Inc. to provide a revised lighting system. Director Dufty seconded the motion,
which carried by unanimous electronic vote. Ayes — 8: Directors Allen, Blalock, Dufty, Keller,
McPartland, Saltzman, Simon and Raburn. Noes — 0. Absent — 1: Director Josefowitz.

Director Simon brought the matter of Change Order to Contract No. 01RQ-150, Construction of
Hayward Maintenance Complex Project Central Warehouse, with Clark Construction Group -
California, LP, for Additional Dump Fees for Hauling to a Class II Landfill (C.O. No. 10) before
the Board. Ms. Allen; and Mr. Thomas Horton, Group Manager, Seismic Retrofit Capital
Programs, presented the item. The item was discussed. President Raburn moved that the
General Manager be authorized to execute Change Order No. 010, additional dump fees for
hauling to Class II landfill, for an amount not to exceed $1,500,000.00, for Contract No. 01RQ-
150, Hayward Maintenance Complex Project, Central Warehouse, with Clark Construction
Group- California LP. Director Blalock seconded the motion, which carried by unanimous
electronic vote. Ayes — 8: Directors Allen, Blalock, Dufty, Keller, McPartland, Saltzman,
Simon and Raburn. Noes — 0. Absent — 1: Director Josefowitz.

Director Simon brought the matter of Change Order to Contract No. 09AF-111A, TBT Cross
Passage Doors Replacement, with DMZ Builders, to Mitigate Conflicts with Concurrent Projects
(C.0. No. 1) before the Board. Ms. Allen and Ms. Tracy Johnson, Group Manager, Maintenance
and Engineering, presented the item. President Raburn moved that the General Manager be
authorized to execute Change Order No. 1, Schedule Acceleration to Mitigate Conflicts with
Concurrent Projects, in the amount of not to exceed $290,000.00 for Contract No. 09AF-111A,
TBT Cross Passage Doors Replacement. Director McPartland seconded the motion, which
carried by unanimous electronic vote. Ayes — 8: Directors Allen, Blalock, Dufty, Keller,
McPartland, Saltzman, Simon and Raburn. Noes — 0. Absent — 1: Director Josefowitz.

Director Simon brought the matter of Update on Wheel and Rail Profile Optimization before the

Board. Ms. Allen; Mr. Greg Shivy, Principal Track Engineer; and Mr. Charles Franz, Vehicle
Systems Engineer, presented the item. The item was discussed.

-4-



DRAFT

Director Simon brought the matter of Quarterly Performance Report, First Quarter Fiscal Year
2019 — Service Performance Review before the Board. Ms. Crunican, Ms. Allen and Mr. Carlos
Rojas, Chief of Police, presented the item. The item was discussed.

Jerry Grace addressed the Board.

Director Blalock Chairperson of the Planning, Public Affairs, Access, and Legislation
Committee, brought the matter of New Transbay Rail Crossing Update before the Board. Ms.
Crunican, Mr. Holmes, Mr. David Kutrosky, Managing Director, Capitol Corridor; and Ms.
Ellen Smith, Group Manager, Planning, Systems Development, presented the item. The item
was discussed.

Jerry Grace addressed the Board.
President Raburn announced that the Board would enter into closed session, under Item 10-B
(Conference with Labor Negotiators) of the regular meeting agenda, and that the Board would

reconvene in open session upon the conclusion of the closed session.

The Board Meeting recessed at 12:57 p.m.

The Board Meeting reconvened in closed session at 1:05 p.m.

Directors present: Directors Allen, Blalock, Dufty, Keller, McPartland, Saltzman, Simon,
and Raburn.

Absent: Director Josefowitz.

The Board Meeting recessed at 1:58 p.m.

The Board Meeting reconvened in open session at 2:01 p.m.

Directors present: Directors Allen, Blalock, Dufty, Josefowitz, Keller, McPartland,
Saltzman, and Raburn.

Absent:  Director Josefowitz.
President Raburn reported there were no announcements.

Director Blalock brought the matter of Compensation and Benefits for the General Manager,
General Counsel, Controller/Treasurer, and Independent Police Auditor before the Board, and
moved that the base salaries of the General Manager, General Counsel, Controller/Treasurer, and
Independent Police Auditor be increased by 2.5 percent, retroactive to July 1, 2018, when other
non-represented employees received the same wage increase, and that the General Manager

&



DRAFT

receive an additional two weeks’ vacation accrual effective July 1, 2018, and that the Board
President be authorized to execute on behalf of the Board any necessary changes to the Board
Appointees’ employment agreements to incorporate this change. Director Keller seconded the
motion, which carried by unanimous electronic vote. Ayes — 8: Directors Allen, Blalock, Dufty,
Keller, McPartland, Saltzman, Simon and Raburn. Noes — 0. Absent — 1: Director Josefowitz.

Director Keller brought the matter of Compensation and Benefits for District Secretary before
the Board, and moved that the Board approve the following terms of employment for Patricia
Williams, which shall be incorporated in a mutually satisfactory written employment agreement
prepared by the General Counsel for execution by Ms. Williams and the Board President:
Service for an indefinite term at the pleasure of the Board; base salary of $208,424.00 per year;
twelve months’ severance pay for involuntary termination unless a result of death or gross
misconduct; mandatory arbitration of employment disputes; benefits afforded non-represented
management employees and retirees; and, upon retirement, option to participate in an alternative
retiree medical, dental, or vision plan if Ms. Williams relocates to an area which is not within the
service area of a District-sponsored plan, provided the alternative plan is comparable in both cost
and coverage to the District sponsored plan. Director Dufty seconded the motion, which carried
by unanimous electronic vote. Ayes —8: Directors Allen, Blalock, Dufty, Keller, McPartland,
Saltzman, Simon and Raburn. Noes — 0. Absent — 1: Director Josefowitz.

Director Blalock brought the matter of Discussion of Advertisement Guidelines before the
Board. Ms. Crunican; Mr. Holmes; Mr. Aaron Weinstein, Manager of Marketing and Research;
and Ms. Catherine Westphall, Manager of Advertising Franchise, presented the item. The item
was discussed.

Director Dufty exited the meeting.

President Raburn called for the General Manager’s Report.

General Manager Grace Crunican reported on steps she had taken and activities and meetings she
had participated in, ridership, upcoming events, and outstanding Roll Call for Introductions

items.

President Raburn called for Board Member Reports, Roll Call for Introductions, and In
Memoriam.

Director Simon requested on behalf of the entire Board that the Meeting be adjourned in honor of
Jerome Grier Wiggins Jr, Electrician at BART and younger brother of Maceo Wiggins; and in
honor of Alana Devich Cyril.

Director Blalock reported he had attended the Public Works Conference in Richmond.
Director Saltzman reported she had attended the Contra Costa County Mayors’ Conference, the

Alameda County Mayors” Conference, and the Grand Opening of Downtown Berkeley Bike
Station.




DRAFT

Director Allen reported she had attended the Contra Costa County Mayors’ Conference, the
Contra Costa Transportation Authority Planning Committee meeting, a meeting of the Concord
Rotary, the Capitol Corridor Joint Powers Authority Board Meeting, and the Contra Costa
Transportation Authority Board meeting.

Director McPartland reported he had attended the BART Veterans Day program, The Veterans
Day and 100-year Anniversary of Armistice of WWI event, and had been the featured speaker at
City of Hayward Veterans Program.

President Raburn reported he had attended the Powell Street Canopy ribbon cutting ceremony,
the Downtown Berkeley Bike Station opening, and the Dia de los Muertos celebration at
Fruitvale Station where BART had honored Wayne Wong.

President Raburn called for Public Comment. No comments were received.

President Raburn announced that the Board would enter into closed session under Item 10-A
(Conference with Labor Negotiators) of the regular meeting agenda, and that the Board would

reconvene in open session at the conclusion of the closed session.

The Board Meeting recessed at 3:02 p.m.

The Board Meeting reconvened in closed session at 3:03 p.m.
Directors present: Directors Allen, Blalock, Keller, Saltzman, Simon, and Raburn.
Absent:  Directors Dufty, Josefowitz, and McPartland.

The Board Meeting recessed at 3:24 p.m.

The Board Meeting reconvened in open session at 3:26 p.m.

Directors present: Directors Allen, Blalock, Josefowitz, Keller Saltzman, and Raburn.
Absent:  Directors Dufty, Josefowitz and McPartland.

President Raburn reported there were no announcements to be made.

The Meeting was adjourned at 3:27 p.m. in honor of Jerome Grier Wiggins Jr. and Alana Devich
Cyril.

Patricia K. Williams
District Secretary




EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
28 wov Zoi8
Yot .
DATE: 11/21/2018 I BOARD INITIATED ‘lTEM: No
Originator/Prepared by: Diane Iwata \ engtal ugisel Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary BARC
De%l—lumaxl Resources Administration -
Signature/Date: 8
W[ 2e] 7018 y 86/[5 b (el [ L] \W”w\\]

Non-CalPERS Medical Plan Structure and Rates for CY 2019

PURPOSE:

To obtain Board approval of a resolution approving a change to the contribution schedule
for non-California Public Employee Retirement System (“non-CalPERS”) medical plans that
are available to active members of the Board of Directors, eligible former members of the
Board, eligible survivors of BART employees and Board members, and eligible non-
registered domestic partners of BART employees and retirees for calendar year 2019.

DISCUSSION:

The District has two non-CalPERS medical plans, a self-insured indemnity plan under United
Health Care (“UHC”) and a fully-insured health maintenance organization plan under Kaiser
Permanente (“Kaiser”). These non-CalPERS plans are available to individuals who are not
eligible for CalPERS coverage; specifically, those survivors of employees who died prior to
contracting with CalPERS, non-registered domestic partners, and active Board members and
former Board members who are eligible for District provided benefits under State law and
District policy. The number of individuals currently in the non-PERS plans has remained
consistently low over the past few years. A total of 45 1nd1v1duals participate in these plans,
thirty-eight (38) in UHC and seven (7) in Kaiser.

Due to industry restrictions, the District cannot match the District’s plan designs identically
to CalPERS. However, the District makes every effort to keep these plans as closely aligned
in plan design as possible. As UHC is self-funded, the District must establish the premium
for this plan; however, the District pays all actual expenses. The Board previously approved
matching the UHC rate to the CalPERS Bay Area PERS Choice plan, as the UHC plan is



Non-CalPERS Medical Plan Structure and Rates for CY 2019 (cont.)

close in plan design. Since the District’s Kaiser Plan is fully insured, the negotiated rate is
used for the District plan and not matched to the CalPERS Bay Area Kaiser HMO rates.

The District has also applied the medical cap formula and contribution amount used for a
non-represented employee/annuitant to participants under the non-CalPERS medical plans.
The medical cap for non-represented employees/annuitants is the more costly of the
CalPERS Bay Area Blue Shield Access+ HMO basic plan or the CalPERS Bay Area Kaiser
HMO basic plan for the applicable level of plan participation for the employee/annuitant (as
previously negotiated for collective bargaining groups in 2009), less the employee/annuitant
monthly contribution. For participants under the District plans, the medical cap was
modified to be the more costly of the CalPERS Bay Area Blue Shield Access+ HMO basic
plan or the District's non-CalPERS Kaiser HMO basic plan for the applicable level of plan
participation for the employee, less the employee/annuitant monthly contribution. For
calendar year 2019, the non-represented employee/annuitant contribution is $147.14 per
month. Staff is recommending this same contribution amount be applied to participants
under the non-CalPERS medical plans.

FISCAL IMPACT:

For the twenty-one (21) primary participants (does not include dependents) enrolled in the
District’s non-CalPERS medical plans, the contribution increase (3% and additional monthly
contribution) is estimated to produce a savings of $10,133 for calendar year 2019. Savings
are included in the FY 2019 budget.

RECOMMENDATION: |
Approve the attached resolution. The Office of the General Counsel will approve any
agreements or modifications to agreements with plan providers as to form.

MOTION:

To adopt the attached resolution “In the Matter of Non-CalPERS Medical Plan Structure
and Rates for CY 2019.”



Directors, Former Directors and Their Survivors

Eligibility and Premium Contributions for Health Benefits—2019

Length of

Cateso Date First Served on Board
Service on Board gory 1/01/81-01/01/89 |  1/02/89-12/31/94 | 1/1/95 or Later
Employee Rate* ‘
plus $15/mo. Emplovee
Active Director | None in Category Survivor | Rp ?,:
o e . ate
Contribution if
enrolled
Survivor of $15/mo. Survivor
) L None in Category Contribution if Fully Self Paid
Active Director
12 Years : : enrolled
(3 Full Terms) $0.0/mo. Health Employee Rate *
Benefit
. Contribution P lu.s $15/mo. .
Former Director . Survivor Benefit Fully Self Paid
plus $15 Survivor o e
. Contribution if
Benefit if
enrolled
enrolled.
Survivor of $15/mo. Survivor $15/mo. Survivor :
; Contribution if Contribution if Fully Self Paid
Former Director
enrolled. enrolled
Employee Rate*
plus $15/mo. Emplovee ‘
Active Director | None in Category Survivor Benefit Rp Z
e e . ate
_Contribution if
enrolled
At Least 1 Full $15/mo. Survivor
Term Survivor of None in Categor Contfii)ution if Fully Self Paid
But Less Than 12 Active Director . gory y
enrolled
Years _
Former Director Not Eligible Fully Self-Paid Fully Self Paid
Survivor of . . : . .
Former Director Not Eligible Fully Self-Paid Fglly Self Paid
Employee Rate*
. plus $15/mo. .
Active Director | None in Category Survivor Benefit Employee Rate
Contribution if :
enrolled
Survivor of . $15/mo. Survivor . .
Less Than 1 Term | A cive Director Nong in Category Benefit if enrolled Not Eligible
Former Director Not Eligible | Not Eligible Not Eligible
Survivor of Not Eligible Not Eligible Not Eligible

Former Director

Note: ' The Employee Premium Contribution Rates for 2019 are attached.




Kaiser Permanente HMO Single 2-Party Family -
Total Monthly Premium 1,33081| $§ 266162 § 3,766.19
District's Cost 118367 | $ 251448 | $ 3,619.05
Director's Cost 14714 | $ 14714 | $ 147.14
United Health Care Single 2-Party Family
Total Monthly Premium 866.27 | $ 173254 | $ 2,252.30
District's Cost 71913 | § 1,58540| $ 2,105.16
Director's Cost 14714 | $ 147141 $

Note: The Employee Premium Contribution Rates for 2019 are attached.

147.14




BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

in the Matter of the Resolution No.
Non-CalPERS Medical Plan
Plan Structure and Rates

For Calendar Year 2019

WHEREAS, Board Resolution 4981, adopted April 13, 2006 sets forth at length the applicable
law and history of District provided medical benefits for active members and former members
of the Board and their eligible survivors and further sets forth required premium contributions
by active members and former members, with the latter dependent on when the former
Director_first served and his/her length of service;

‘WHEREAS, by Resolution 4981, adopted by the Board on April 13, 2006, the Board confirmed its
policy and practice with respect to the participation and contributions of active and former
members of the Board in District provided health plans, with the premium contribution
structure for all active directors and eligible former directors as identified there indexed to the
lowest premium contribution among the employee groups;

WHEREAS, the parties in 2009 collective bargaining agreed that the District’s contribution for
health insurance premiums for employees and retirees would be capped at an amount Up to
the applicable level of plan participation (single, two-party, family) and the same Medicare
status as elected by the eligible employee or retiree for the most costly HMO Plan offered to
the employee by CalPERS, less the indexed employee contribution (586.95 for calendar year
2011);

WHEREAS, after contracting with CalPERS for medical benefits for employees under the Public
Employees Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA), the District has maintained two health
plans outside of CalPERS for those individuals who are eligible for District provided coverage
under collective bargaining agreements or District policy, but are not eligible under the
District’s contract with CalPERS, including members of the Board of Directors (Board), domestic
partners and some survivors of employees, retirees and former Board members; ‘

WHEREAS, by Resolution 5116, adopted on November 19, 2009, the Board approved a
‘premium structure for the non-CalPERS’ plans with a cap similar to the negotiated structure for
the CalPERS’ plans that capped the District contribution for active members and those former



members who are eligible for benefits on the same terms as employees at an amount up to the
applicable level of plan participation (single, two-party, family) for the non-CalPERS HMO, less
the indexed employee contribution; ~ '

WHEREAS, by Resolution 5151, adopted by the Board on December 2, 2010, the Board
authorized amendments to the District’s agreements for the non-CalPERS Plans with Principal
Financial Group and Kaiser to align their benefit and premium structure more closely with the
benefits and premium structure then provided under the CalPERS PERS Choice Plan and the
Kaiser HMO Plan and authorized a new rate structure effective in Calendar year 2011 applicable
to active directors and those former directors who are eligible for District provided benefits at
the capped contribution rate;

WHEREAS, effective January 1, 2012, the District replaced Principal Financial Group as its non-
CalPERS self-funded plan administrator with United Health Care (UHC);

WHEREAS, as more fully set forth in Resolution No. 4981, State law imposes restrictions on
health benefits that may be provided by the District to the current and most former members
of its governing board. For those directors who first serve after January 1, 1989, such benefits
may not exceed benefits provided to full-time current or retired employees and the terms,
conditions, or contributions applicable to any plan provided to employees must also apply to
any plan provided for members of the governing board;

WHEREAS, the Board has adopted an employer’s monthly contribution structure for the non-
represented employees for calendar year 2019 and intends to apply this same structure to
current and eligible former Board members and survivors who have non-CalPERS medical plans
and who are eligible for District provided benefits under the capped contribution structure; and

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that, (a) the established total premium for determining the
applicable employer contribution for the self-funded UHC plan for 2019 will be set at the same
level as the CalPERS PERS Choice Bay Area Plan as it has been established for 2019 and the total
premium for the insured Non- CalPERS Kaiser Plan used for detérmining the applicable
employer contribution for 2019 shall be established by the rates negotiated between Kaiser and
the District for that period; ‘

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that, the rate structure and premium contribution for Directors and
for former Directors and survivors who are eligible for District provided health benefits under a
non-CalPERS plan at the capped employer contribution structure shall be the amount necessary
to pay the full cost of his/her enrollment, including the enroliment of his/her family members in
.a health benefits plan up to a maximum of the higher of the Non-CalPERS Kaiser basic plan or
the Bay Area Blue Shield Access+ basic plan, less $147.14 employee/annuitant share each
month for the year 2019; and



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT, the rate structure and premium contribution for these plans
for Calendar Year 2019 shall be as follows: '

Kaiser Permanente HMO “Single 2-Party Family
Total Monthly Premium $ 1,330.81 S 2,661.62 $ 3,766.19
District's Cost S 1,183.67» S 2,514.48 S 3,619.05
Director's Cost S 147.14 S 147.14 S | 147.14
United Health éare Single “2-Party Family
Total Monthly Premium .S l 866.27 S 1,732.54 S 2,252.30
District's Cost S 719.13 S 1,585.40 S | 2,105.16
Director's Cost S 147.14 S 147.14

S 147.14

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT, with the exception of the new premium contribution structure
applicable to active directors and those former directors who are eligible for District provided
benefits at the capped contribution rate, Resolution No. 4981 “In the Matter of Health and

Welfare Benefits for Directors” remains in full force and effect.

Adopted at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid

Transit District at Oakland, California this ___ day of

Signed:

2018.

President

Attest:

District Secretary




EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

'le'm? ZR Now 2@
v r—

DATE: 11/19/2018 BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

[N
Originator/Prepared by: Christopher Gan\ engral Counsel Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary BARC
Dept: Assistant Controller R
Chmis Ga n/'II/%//X W '
Signature/Date: / //ﬁ
el ? v\\'*‘}
" \\. ’l/
\

”/24/18 [ ] ] [ ]

Independent Auditor’s Report on Basic Financial Statements and Internal Control
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018

PURPOSE:
To present the Independent Auditor's Reports on Basic Financial Statements and Internal
Control over financial reporting for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.

DISCUSSION:

The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Act provides that an annual audit be
made of all books and accounts of the District by an independent public accountant (Public
Utilities Code Section 28769).

The independent certified public accounting firm of Macias, Gini and O'Connell LLP
conducted the audit for fiscal year 2018. The District's basic financial statements provide
information on the District's Enterprise Fund and Fiduciary Fund. The Enterprise Fund
includes all revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and net assets related to the District's
operations. The Fiduciary Fund shows all financial transactions of the Retiree Health Benefit
Trust, which was created by the District to administer and account for assets which are
restricted for the payment of retiree health premiums and administrative costs. Their audit
concluded that the District's basic financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2018
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Enterprise Fund and the
Fiduciary Fund and are in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. As part of the examination, the auditors performed a review and
evaluation of the District's internal control over financial reporting. The results of the
evaluation are discussed in the Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting.



Independent Auditor’s Report on Basic Financial Statements and Internal Control for the fiscal year (cont.)

The auditor's report indicated that they did not identify any deficiencies in internal control
over financial reporting that are material weaknesses.

FISCAL IMPACT:
None

ALTERNATIVES:

None. The District is required by law to have its books and accounts audited every year by
an independent certified public accountant.

RECOMMENDATION:
None

MOTION:
None



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: Z S) M 2ol S/ GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
Yes
/ M. [ owa—

DATE: 11/20/2018 \ ) BOARD INITIATED ITEM: Yes

Originator/Prepared by: Elena Van Loo
Dept: Customer Access & Accessibility \

Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary BARC
ngnature/Date:

Vv, sl s W O

I Status: Routed I Date Created: 11/20/2018 I

N

BART Accessibility Task Force Membership Appointment

PURPOSE:

Request the BART Board of Directors to appoint a nominated candidate, Emily Witkin, to
the BART Access1b111ty Task Force (BATF). .

DISCUSSION:

The BATTF has been in existence since 1975 to advise the BART Board and BART staff on

- accessibility issues at BART. The BATF by-laws provide for the committee to be composed
of up to eighteen members who live or work in the BART service area. The BATF by-laws
also state that to become a member of the committee an interested candidate must attend
three out of four consecutive meetings and then apply for membership. If the candidate is
endorsed by the members of the BATF through a majority vote, then the recommendation
for membership is submitted to the BART Board of Directors for final approval.

Candidate for BATF Membership:

o Emily Witkin, a candidate for membership to the BATF, was endorsed by a majority
vote of the members of the BATF that were present at the November 14, 2018 BATF
Committee meeting.

o This BATF membership recommendation is bemg submitted to the BART Board for
consideration.

o The prospective candidate, if approved by the BART Board, will be officially seated as
a member of the BATF on December 12, 2018 for a term of one year, or until the



BART Accessibility Task Force Membership Appointment (cont.)

BART Board announces appointments and/or re-appointments for a new term,
whichever occurs later. If approved, the BATF will be comprised of 18 members.

FISCAL IMPACT:

Members receive a $15.00 monthly stipend for travel to attend regularly scheduled monthly
committee meetings. Additionally, members are eligible to be reimbursed for the actual cost
of travel for additional pre-approved meetings.

Funds will be budgeted in the Customer Access Department operating budget (Dept.
1102491, Account 681500-Other Non-Professional Services). Funding for services in the
Fiscal Year are included in the Department's existing operating budget. Funding for
subsequent years will be included in the proposed annual operating budget, which is subject
to Board approval.

This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on the unprogrammed District
reserves in the current Fiscal Year.

ALTERNATIVES:
Do not make the appointment.

RECOMMENDATION:
Appoint Emily Witkin to the BART Accessibility Task Force (BATF).

MOTION:

The BART Board accepts the recommendation of the BATF and appoints the nominated
candidate, Emily Witkin, for membership to the BATF for a term beginning December 12,
2018 for one year, or until the Board makes new appointments and/or reappointments for a
new term, whichever occurs later.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

) 29 peN 2o\&
DATE: 11/26/2018 i BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

Originator/Prepared by: Angie West e 1 Counsel Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary BARC
Dept: Office of the CIO \
Pl by o

Signature/Date: ///3 ’(/T(z “/QQ”S{‘ - “/&87“{] : ]QW(}
bt |

Award of Agreement No.6M4607: Mobility as a Service (MaaS) - Payment
Processor

PURPOSE:

To request that the Board authorize the General Manager to award Agreement No. 6M4607
to PayPal Braintree in the estimated amount of $1.4M (subject to the actual transaction
volume) for payment processing services which will allow BART to charge a customer’s
credit or debit card for various digital products and services across multiple channels (e.g.,
mobile and website).

DISCUSSION:

The District's Mobility as a Service (Maas) Program will utilize payment processing services
to power the BART Official App, parking payments and other channels as necessary to
collect payments and report on all transactions. Included in this service will be the ability to
report on all back-office financial details to Treasury including refunds, chargebacks, and
account reconciliation. The payment processing service is a critical element to support the
Feb 11, 2019, 5AM BART opening, when the BART patrons will not have access to parking
payment machines. The BART Official App will be integrated with the payment processing
services to allow patrons to easily pay for the parking fee using their smart phones.

The District requires a commercially available, payment processing service that is easy to
integrate with BART applications and requires minimal configuration. The system will need
to be flexible and scalable to support new technologies and other diverse products and



Award of Agreement No.6M4607: Mobility as a Service (MaaS) - Payment Processor (cont.)

channels. A Request For Proposal (RFP) was issued to private commercial entities that met
this criterion and other valuable components such as experience with other public sector
entities with high transaction volumes, Payment Card Industry compliance, and use of
transaction data encryption.

The Notice to Proposers was emailed on October 5, 2018, to five (5) prospective
Proposers. RFP No. 6M4607 was sent to firms meeting the technical qualifications required
to process digital payments. In response to the RFP, two (2) proposals were received. The
two responsive proposals were reviewed by the BART evaluation team and scored based on
several factors, including the firm’s qualifications, experience and references, proposed
services and project plan and schedule.

As a result of the analysis, PayPal/Braintree was determined to be the top proposer. The
staff has determined that the proposal submitted by PayPal Braintree is responsive and that
its proposal price is fair and reasonable based on industry standards payment processing
services. Additionally, a review of the PayPal/Braintree’s business experience has resulted in
the determination that PayPal Braintree is responsible. PayPal/Braintree has over 254 million
active users in more than 200 countries and has processed over $16B transactions. In 2013,
PayPal acquired leading e-commerce solution for Credit and Debit card payments; Braintree
payments. Braintree provided both payments technology, aka “Gateway”, and banking and
services, aka “Merchant Acquiring” services. Leveraging the power of their dual-sided
network (both consumer and merchant) PayPal has both vertical and horizontal experience
across all facets of payment needs and support infrastructure to accommodate any future
expansions

This multi-year service agreement will provide the District with pricing based on transaction
volume to access PayPal Braintree payment processing engine for fee payments estimated to
be $1.4M for the four-year contract period. During the term of the contract, the District will
be monitoring and evaluating transaction volume and fees to ensure optimal pricing is
applied.

Pursuant to the District’s Non-Federal Small Business Program, the Office of Civil Rights
set a 5% Small Business Prime Preference for this Agreement for Small Businesses certified
by the California Department of General Services (DGS). It was determined that there were
no certified Small Businesses certified by the DGS among the responsive Proposers and,
therefore, the Small Business Prime Preference is not applicable.

Pursuant to the District’s Non-Discrimination Program for Subcontracting, the Availability
Percentages for this Agreement are 5.5% for MBEs and 2.8% for WBEs. PayPal/Braintree
will not be subcontracting any portion of the Work and therefore, the provisions of the
District’s Non-Discrimination Program for Subcontracting do not apply.



Award of Agreement No.6M4607: Mobility as a Service (MaaS) - Payment Processor (cont.)

FISCAL IMPACT:

The subject EDD proposes a four-year contract at a total cost of $1.4M from 12/10/2018 —
6/30/2022. These costs will be partially offset by a corresponding reduction of fees
currently incurred for pre-SAM EZ Rider transactions. Funds will be budgeted in the Office
of Controller/Treasurer operating budget (Cost Center 0302320 - Credit/Debit Fare
Program, Account 602022 - Credit Card and Interchange Fees) as follows:

Funding for services in this Fiscal Year is included in the Department's existing operating
budget. Funding for subsequent years will be included in the proposed annual operating
budget, which is subject to Board approval.

This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on unprogrammed District reserves
~ in the current Fiscal Year.

ALTERNATIVES:

Thealternative to awarding this Agreement would be to reject the proposaland re-advertise
the RFP, which staff believes would not lead to abetter price or more competition.

RECOMMENDATION:

Adoption of the following motion.

MOTION:

The General Manager is authorized to award Agreement No. 6M4607 to PayPal Braintree for
two base years and given authorization to exercise two single year options to extend the
Agreement, at the estimated total cost of $1.4M (subject to the actual transaction volume).



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
30 Nov 201 &
DATE: 11/26/2018 ‘BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No
Originator/Prepared by: Martin Gran Gen Counsel Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary BARC
Dept: Labor Relations - :
. v-
Signature/Pate: ; , ‘m|$ ) \
i 3-%’/&8 \i/zq/‘g[ ] {1l AR [ ] NS
I !

I Status: Routed | Date Created: 11/26/2018 I

Resolution Ratifying the Collective Bargaining Agreement with the BART Police
Officers’ Association

- PURPOSE:

To obtain approval of the attached resolution ratifying the successor Collective Bargaining
Agreement (CBA) between the following San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District and
the BART Police Officers’ Association (BPOA).

DISCUSSION:

The District's CBA with the BPOA was for a five -year period and expired on June 30,

2018. Negotiations for a successor Agreement commenced in February 2018. In November
2018, the parties reached a tentative agreement, subject to member and board ratification, to
a four-year successor CBA.

The tentative agreement provides the BPOA with the same general wage increase that was
provided to the District's other unions at the time of the 2016 contract extension, with an
additional one-time 6% market rate adjustment provided to sworn officers to address the
fact that salaries for BART Police Officers are currently 13% - 20% below the market
average of specified comparator police departments.



Resolution Ratifying the Collective Bargaining Agreement with the BART Police Officers’ Association (cont.)

The District was able to reach an agreement that provides the District with increased
flexibility and efficiency because it: allows the contracting out of background investigations;

- increases officer accountability by lengthening the amount of time disciplinary records are
retained; reduces officer's time off by eliminating two days per year of discretjonary leave;
increases available patrol officers by civilianizing two positions; and limits employees’ ability
to accrue compensatory time off when vacancy rates are high.

Although the prior contract expired in June 2018, the agreed-upon wage increase is not
retroactive; however, employees will receive a one-time payment in recognition of the delay
in all economic increases. In addition, the parties agreed to a number of economic changes,.
the net result of which represents only minimal financial impact; namely, less than 0.5% of
payroll. These include adjustments in pension cost-sharing, as well as modifications to
existing premium pays. ‘A summary of the salient changes in the tentative agreement is-
attached. It is currently anticipated that the BPOA will Vote to ratify this Tentative
Agreement by December 5, 2018.

FISCAL IMPACT: The actual cost for FY 19 is $2.2M because of the delayed ,
nnplementatlon (The annualized ongoing cost of the FY 19 improvements is $3.5M.) For
each successive year of the 4-year CBA, the following General Wage Increases (GWI) will
apply: 2.5% (FY 20); 2.75% (FY 21); and 2.75% (FY 22). Other than GWI, there areno
additional economic improvements for each of those three fiscal years, with the exception
of 1% adjustments to-pension contributions.

ALTERNATIVES: :

Reject the successor CBA. If the Board does not approve the successor CBA, the parties
would remain without a contract and would continue negotiating towards a new successor
CBA.

RECOMMENDATION:

Adoption of the following motion:

MOTION:

The Board approves the attached resolution ratifying the successor Collective Bargaining
Agreement between San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District and BART Police
Officers’ Association (BPOA), July 1, 2018 — June 30, 2022.



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF

THE SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

In the Matter of Ratifying the 2018 - 2022
Collective Bargaining Agreement between the District
and the BART Police Officers’ Association (BPOA)
‘ Resolution No.

BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the San AFrancisco Bay Area Rapid
Transit District hereby ratifies the 2018 - 2022 Collective Bargaining Agreement between
the District and the BART Police Officers’ Association as generally described in the attached

- Summary of Changes, dated November 29, 2018; and

70401v1

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the GeneraIMahager is authorized to execute the

Agreement on behalf of the District.

#i#

Adopted




2018-22 District/BART Police Officer Assoeiation Collecﬁve Bargaining Agreement (CBA)

Summary of Changes from 2013-18

This document represents a summary of important changes negotiated between the District and
the BPOA. While this summary describes the important changes between the expired and
successor CBA, should there be any inconsistency between this summary and the labor
agreement, the language and intent of the labor agreement shall govern.

A The Jollowing provisions are the major cost-drivers of the successor CBA:

Article 11.1 General Wage Increase (GWD): All members shall receive the following
wage increases: 2.5% (FY 19); 2.5% (FY 20); 2.75% (FY 21); and 2.75% (FY 22). The FY
19 increase is effective the first pay period following rat1ﬁcat10n and all subsequent GWIs
are effective on July 1 of the fiscal year. :

Article 11.2 Market Adjustment: There will be a one-time 6% increase for Police
Officers to bring them closer to market average, effective the first pay period followmg
ratification to address the fact that salaries for BART Police Officers are currently 13% -
20% below the market average of specified comparator police departments

Article 1.8 Duration of Agreement: July 1, 2018 — June 30, 2022

B. The following provzszons represent the major non-economic changes:

Article 2.7 Contracting Out: Modified to permit background investigations to be done
_ by out51de agencies through the term of the CBA.

| Artlcle 3.1B & 3.2 Police Accountabllltv Add additional time that dlsc1p11ne will be
held in the employees’ personnel files. Prior disciplines shall be considered for promotions
for 2 years (up from 1 year), and for progressive discipline for 3 years (up from 2 years).

.C. In.addition to the above major cost-drivers, the following economic provi&ions net out to only
minimal costs to the District (i.e., less than 0.5% of payroll):

‘Article 4.5 Holiday Conversion: Currently, the Police Department relies heavily on
overtime to staff holidays. Holiday Conversion converts overtime paid at the holidays to
year-round pay on a cost-neutral basis, thus reducing overtime, CTO accrual and back-fill
COsts. :

Article 4.10__Compensatory Time Off: Modified to provide the Chief with the ability to -
limit Police Officers’ accrual of compensatory time off (CTO) when the sworn vacancy rate
is over 17% to reduce escalating compensatory time-off costs.

Article 4.11 Discretionary Days Off: Eliminates current CBA provision allowmg
employees to take time off work using two days of accurmnulated paid time off per year
outside of the yearly vacation bid process, thus reducing required back-fill.

- BPOA Summary of Changes
November 29, 2018



Article 5.3,5.7 & 6.3 _Insurance: Eliminates District-provided life insurance and long-
term disability benefits and provides that these benefits will be provided through the Union.

Article 5.4 Health Benefit Contributions: Codify that employees will continue to
contribute the $44 per month additional contribution towards health coverage, and apply the
existing 3% annual escalator to that contribution.

Article 6.1 Pension Cost-Share: The following changes to Sworn employee pension
contributions will be incrementally phased in over the term of the CBA:

o Classic Sworn employees will pay more in pension contributions, increasing from
the current 4% cost-share up to a 10% contribution.
o PEPRA Sworn employees (officers hired on or after January 1, 2013) will pay a
lower pension contribution, decreasing from the current 17% to the statutory
. minimum 13% contribution.

Article 7.2 _Sr. Police Officer: Increase pay for Senior Police Officers (by .75% for
Intermediate Sr. Officers and 1.25% for Advanced Sr. Officers) to recognize achievement in
attaining state POST certifications. : '

Article 9.8 Physical Fitness: Cease program of reimbursing employees up to $50 per
mionth for gym membership, as the program was under-utilized.

Article 11.2 Longevity Pay: Increase Longevity Pay to improve retention and recognize
District service. (Increase 10-year and 14-year longevity steps by 1%.)

Article 11.2C  Bilingual Pay: Increase Bilingual Pay from $25 per pay period to $50 pay ‘
period to recognize employees who assume additional duties to help serve our diverse
ridership. '

Article 11.3 Call-Back Time: Reform call-back time language to prevent overlapping
payment of hours that are included both in minimum call-back hours and an employee’s
regularly scheduled hours. '

Article 11.9 Uniforms Maintenance Allowance: Cease paying annual $1050 uniform
maintenance allowance to Police Officers.

Article 11.11 ~ Education Pay: Restructure and increase the maximum Education benefit
by 1.5% to recruit employees with Associate’s and Bachelor’s degrees, as well as to
incentivize current employees to attain higher education.

Article 11.12 . Civilianize Positions: Increase available Patrol Officers by civilianizing
the two positions previously filled by Police Officers: Traffic Officer and Crime Analyst.

BPQOA Summary of Changes
November 29, 2018



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
j i :: ' E 2 2 g W Zo‘ 8 Approve and Forward to the Board
L]

DATE: 8/8/2018 BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No -/ E

Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary BAR
U225 &
”/Zg(’f{ ] [] N

Originator/Prepared by: Raymond Hsu \

Dept: Maintenance and Enginegring Y
M‘/L .M' blm,:l .

Signature/Date: [//28//9") %/ b

Station Emergency Lighting (1511-120)

PURPOSE:

To authorize the General Manager to award Contract No. 1511-120, Station Emergency
Lighting, to SilMan Venture Corporation (SilMan Construction) of San Leandro, CA for the
total bid price of $13,789,020.00.

DISCUSSION:

This is the second of seven phases to replace Station Emergency Lighting systems across
the District. The purpose of this phase, Contract No. 1511-120, is to upgrade the critical
emergency lighting systems at eleven (11) stations within Contra Costa and Alameda

counties: San Leandro (A40); Bay Fair (A50); Hayward (A60); Rockridge (C10); 120 Street
(K10); MacArthur (K30); Downtown Berkeley (R20); North Berkeley (R30); El Cetrito
Plaza (R40); Richmond (R60); and Lake Merritt (A10).

The emergency lighting system switches on automatically when a station experiences a
power outage. The system provides at least ninety minutes of lighting on egress
passageways to allow patrons to safely exit the station. The existing emergency lighting
systems have been in operation for over twenty years, suffer from obsolescence, make
maintenance difficult, and are at or near the end of their useful life.

The scope of work requires the Contractor provide all labor, equipment, material, and
services required for installation, testing, commissioning, and connections of station
emergency lighting and ensure full compliance with the National Fire Protection Association
(NFPA) 101 regulatory requirement in the event of a power failure.



Award of Contract 151I-120, Station Emergency Lighting for Eleven (11) Stations

The District provided an Advance Notice to Bidders for 247 prospective bidders on August
3rd, 2018 and Contract Documents were sent to 24 plan rooms. The Contract was
advertised on August 9, 2018 in local publications and posted to the District’s Procurement
Portal on August 10, 2018. A total of forty-five (45) entities downloaded the Contract
Documents from the BART Procurement Portal. A Pre-Bid Meeting was conducted on
August 29, 2018 with thirteen (13) prospective bidders. Two site tours were conducted on
August 29, 2018, with five (5) prospective bidders and on September 5, 2018 with seven (7)
prospective bidders. One (1) addendum was issued during the bid period.

The Office of Civil Rights conducted a Matchmaking session on September 18, 2018 to help
introduce Local Small Business firms to potential prime contractors.

A total of two (2) bids were received and publicly opened on October 9, 2018. Tabulation of
the Bids, including the Engineer’s Estimate is indicated in the Table 1 as follows:

Table 1: Phase 2: Station Emergency Lighting Bid Prices

San Leandro, CA $13,789,020.00

SilMan Venture Corporation dba SilMan
Construction

District staff determined that SilMan Construction was the lowest, responsive bidder.
SilMan Construction’s Total Bid Price of $13,789,020.00 was found to be fair and
reasonable and consistent with the engineers estimate.

Non-Discrimination Program:

Pursuant to the District’s Non-Discrimination Program for Subcontracting, the Availability
Percentages for this Contract are 18.2% for Minority Business Enterprises (“MBEs”) and
9.3% for Women Business Enterprises (“WBEs”). SilMan Construction did not commit to
both MBE and WBE patticipation; therefore, SilMan Construction was requested to provide
the Office of Civil Rights with supporting documentation to determine if it had discriminated
on the basis of race, national origin, color, gender or ethnicity. Based on the review of the
information submitted by the SilMan Construction, the Office of Civil Rights found no
evidence of discrimination.

Small Business Program:

Pursuant to the District’s Non-Federal Small Business Program, the Office of Civil Rights
set a 25% Local Small Business (LSB) Subcontractor Participation Goal for this Contract.
Bidders who meet the LSB Subcontractor Participation Goal are eligible for an LSB



Award of Contract 151I-120, Station Emergency Lighting for Eleven (11) Stations

Preference of 5% of the lowest responsive Bidder’s Bid, up to a cap of $1.5 Million. The
Office of Civil Rights determined that SilMan Construction committed to subcontracting
0.4% to LSBs. The apparent low Bidder, SilMan Construction, did not meet the LSB
Subcontractor Participation Goal and, therefore, is not eligible for the Bid Preference, but is
still the apparent low Bidder. ‘

FISCAL IMPACT:

Funding of $13,789,020 for award of Contract No. 15II-120 is included in the total project
budget for 15IIRR1, Station Emergency Lighting. The Office of Controller/Treasurer
certifies that funds are currently available to meet this obligation. The following table depicts
funding assigned to the referenced project and is included in totality to track funding history
against spending authority. Funds needed to meet this request will be expended from a
combination of these sources as listed: '

Measure RR

$27,010,696

- TOTAL $27,010,696

As of November 13, 2018, $27,010,696 is the total budget for this project. BART has
~expended $2,108,032, committed $3,573 and reserved $105,839 to date. This action will
commit $13,789,020, leaving an available fund balance of $11,004,232 balance for this

project. '

This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on unprogrammed District Reserves.
ALTERNATIVES:

Reject all bids and re-advertise the Contract.

Rebidding is not likely to result in lower prices.
RECOMMENDATION:

Adopt the following motion.

MOTION:

The General Manager is authorized to award Contract No. 1511-120 Station Emergency
Lighting to SilMan Venture Corporation (SilMan Construction) for the Bid Price of
$13,789,020.00.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
2 { Mov 208 ‘

st s

DATE: 11/16/2018 BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

Controller/Treasurer Districf Secretary

% Ggn

Originator/Prepared by: R. Elliott
Vantrease
Dept: Maintenance and Engineering

Sig“%& l/ 7Xl

I Status: Approved : | Date Created: 11/16/2018

Award of Sole Source Agreement, Elevator-Escalator Remote Monitoring Pilot
Project (Two-Thirds Vote Required)

PURPOSE:

To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to negotiate and execute a Sole
Source Agreement with Integrated Display Systems Inc. for the procurement of an Elevator-
Escalator Remote Monitoring System in an amount not to exceed $475,000.
DISCUSSION:

Beginning in 1995, BART began implementing an Elevator-Escalator Remote Monitoring
System as part of an elevator and escalator upgrade program. At that time no remote
monitoring solutions were available to allow for monitoring of all the variety of equipment
BART maintained. As a result, the benefit of this monitoring was negligible. A reliable
Elevator Escalator remote monitoring system will not only provide Maintenance with real
time information regarding elevator escalator fimctionality thereby minimizing the downtime
of these systems but will also immediately post equipment outage to public website for
customer information.

BART currently maintains 314 elevators and escalators that were procured through fourteen
different manufacturers and range in age from one year to forty-seven years old. There is
only one product available that can reliably monitor all these systems; Integrated Display
Systems Inc. Elevator-Escalator Remote Monitoring system called Lift-Net. This is a
patented system not provided by any other manufacturer.



Award of Sole Source Agreement, Elevator-Escalator Remote Monitoring Pilot Project (Two-Thirds Vote (cont.)

Staff is seeking to enter into direct negotiations with Integrated Display Systems Inc. to
execute an Agreement to implement Lift-Net for 83 high use Elevators and Escalators at six
passenger stations in an amount not to exceed $475,000. The remote monitoring system will
be configured to allow for future expansion of remote monitoring of Elevators and
Escalators at any of the District’s passenger stations. The six stations included in this
Agreement are:

Embarcadero
Montgomery St.
Powell St.

Civic Center

12th St. Oakland
191 St Oakland

AN i

The Procurement Department will review the Contract to confirm compliance with the
District's procurement standards. The Office of the General Counsel will approve the
Agreement as to form. Pursuant to the District’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise
(“DBE”) Program, the Office of Civil Rights is utilizing race and gender-neutral efforts for
Sole Source Contracts. Therefore, no DBE goal was set for this Contract.

FTA Circular 4220.1, Chapter VI, Subparagraph 3.i(1)(b) stipulates that the recipient may
‘make a sole source award under certain circumstances, including when the product
“demonstrates a unique or innovative concept or capability not available from another
‘source” and “patent or data rights restrictions preclude competition”. The Sole Source
procurement of a Lift-Net system is justified under the aforementioned FTA requirements.
The Lifi-Net system implements a communication protocol called the Lifi-Net serial data
protocol. This protocol was developed and copyrighted by Integrated Display Systems Inc.
This protocol is capable of interfacing with multiple manufacturers’ controllers. BART
currently maintains elevator-escalator systems from fourteen different manufacturers
systemwide. The Lift-Net serial data protocol allows for remote monitoring data from all of
these systems to be communicated through one system, Lift-Net. Because this protocol is
proprietary to Integrated Display Systems, Inc. and the product is unique and not available
from another source, BART is precluded from soliciting such a product from any other
source other than Integrated Display Systems, Inc.

Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 20227, the Board may direct the purchase of any
supply, equipment or material without observance of competitive bidding upon a finding by
two-thirds of all members of the Board that there is only a single source of procurement and
that the purchase is for the sole purpose of duplicating or replacing equipment currently in
use. A Sole Source procurement is justified under Section 20227 since the Elevator-
Escalator Remote Monitoring System being provided by Integrated Display Systems, Inc. is
for the sole purpose of replacing the Elevator-Escalator Remote Monitoring System



Award of Sole Source Agreement, Elevator-Escalator Remote Monitoring Pilot Project (Two-Thirds Vote (cont.)

currently in use throughout the District.
FISCAL IMPACT:

Funding of $475,000 is included in the total project budget for 15L.N400, Elevator/ Escalator
Remote Monitoring. The Office of Controller/Treasurer certifies that funds are currently
available to meet this obligation. The following table depicts funding assigned to the
referenced project and is included in totality to track funding history against spending
authority. Funds needed to meet this request will be expended from a combination of these
sources as listed: '

FY 2017 Allocation to Capital | $612,000
TOTAL | § 612,000

As of November 16, 2018, $612,000 is the total budget for this proj ect. BART hés expended
$49,919.90, committed $0 to date. This action will commit $475,000 leaving an available
fund balance of $87,081 balance for this project.

This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on unprogrammed District Reserves.
ALTERNATIVES:

Continue to maintain the systems in the current status which requires station agents,
maintenance workers or patrons to notify of elevator/escalator status and for maintenance to
react to failures as they occur. '

RECOMMENDATION:

Adoption of the following motion.

MOTION:

Pursuant to California Public Contract Code Section 20227, the Board of Directors finds
that Integrated Display Systems, Inc. is the single source for the purchase of an Elevator-
Escalator Remote Monitoring System for the sole purpose of replacing the Remote
Monitoring System currently in use throughout the District.

The Board of Directors authorizes the General Manager to enter into direct negotiations and
to execute an Agreement with Integrated Display Systems, Inc. to provide an Elevator-
Escalator Remote Monitoring System in an amount not to exceed $475,000.

Two thirds vote required.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
Z 8‘ w a@' 8 Yes

/ M. [T e
DATE: 11/6/2018 G BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary

Clis G
“/"8//’5/[ 1| [ ]

Originator/Prepared by: Wahid Amiri

Dept: Extensions

SiinaturEiDQe:Q // /& g}édlg

Change Orders to Contract No. 05HA-100, El Cerrito Del Norte Station
Modernization Project

PURPOSE:

To authorize the General Manager to execute Change Order Nos. 054 and 049 in an
aggregate amount not to exceed $650,000 to Contract No. 05HA-100, El Cerrito Del Norte
Station Modernization Project with Clark Construction Group. -

DISCUSSION:

On February 9, 2017, the Board authorized the General Manager to award Contract No.
05HA-100, El Cerrito Del Norte Station Modernization Project. This project expands the
paid area, upgrades the existing paid area, constructs two new elevators and two new stairs,
provides new LED lighting and associated station modifications. The project also exercised
four options to procure AFC equipment for other stations; relocate the passenger drop off
area and enhance the Ohlone Greenway/bicycle path/hardscape; upgrade the area outside the
paid area; and provide new bus shelters.

During construction, two issues arose which resulted in Change Orders 54 and 49.

New fire alarm system for the station (CO 054) Est.  $250,000

The original design utilized the approach that a new fire alarm system could be installed with
the new facility and then connected to the existing station fire alarm in the existing facility.
However, prior to implementation (which was a few years after the design was completed), -
project staff became aware that the existing system had experienced significant degradation



05HA-100 El Cerrito Del Norte Station Modernization Project

due to water intrusion as well as electrical grounding problems. These underground utility
issues were not apparent during the design phase, but they were discovered during
coordination with Maintenance and Engineering (just ptior to construction). The system had
degraded such that the original design approach to connect the new fire alarm system to the
existing could no longer meet code regulations. Therefore, the whole system will need to be
new. :

Accessibility Improvement Program (CO 049) Est. $400.000

With the passage of Measure RR, some of the District’s Accessibility Improvements can be
implemented through this project. As this change order work is adjacent to the construction
area, the additional scope would result in cost savings, construction efficiencies, faster
delivery and minimize patron and bus service disruption. The project will modify existing
sidewalks and the bus island to meet current ADA codes and pick up construction
efficiencies.

Pursuant to Board Rule 5-2.3, Change Orders involving expenditures greater than $200,000
will require Board approval.

The Office of the General Counsel will approve these Change Orders as to form prior to
execution. The Procurement Department will review these Change Orders for compliance
with procurement guidelines prior to execution.

CAPITAL FISCAL IMPACT:

The total amount of $650,000 for Change Order No. 054 and No. 049 to Contract 05HA-
100 will come from the following projects.

The two tables below depict funding assigned to the referenced project and is included to
track funding history against spending authority. Funds needed to meet this request will be
expended from the following sources:

PROJECT 05HA002 — EI Cerrito Del Norte Station Mod (CO 054)
$250,000 ‘

Proposed Funding
F/G 802A — Measure RR GOB $3,000,000
Total $3,000,000

As of Novembér 21,2018, $3,000.000 is the total budget for this project. BART has



05HA-100 EI Cerrito Del Norte Station Modernization Project

expended and committed $0 to date. This action will encumber $250,000 leaving an available
fund balance of $2,750,000 in this fund source for this project.

PROJECT 15NU002 — Accessibility Improvement Program (CO 049)
$400,000

Proposed Funding ,
F/G 3009, 3013, 3607, 3609 & 352X - Federal funds $4,099,041
F/G 8525, 8526, 8529, 8530 & 850W- Operating Alloc to Capital | $1,024,760
F/G 802A —Measure RR GOB $11,900,000
Total | $17,023,801 |

As of November 21, 2018, $17,023,801 is the total budget for this project. BART has
expended $1,738,706, committed $948,676, and reserved $0.00 to date. This action will
encumber $400,000 leaving an available fund balance of $13,936,419 in these fund sources
for this project.

The Office of Controller/Treasurer certifies that funds are currently available to meet this
obligation.

This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on unprogrammed District reserves.

ALTERNATIVES:

Failure to issue these Change Orders for Contract No. 05HA-100 will cause the work to be
performed in a future contract at a potentially higher cost.

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the Board adopt the following motion:

MOTION:

The General Manager is authorized to execute Change Order Nos. 054 and 049 in an
aggregate amount not to exceed $650,000 to Contract No. 05HA-100, El Cerrito Del Norte
Station Modernization Project.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT
ATTACHMENT #1

CONTRACT NO. 05HA-100 ,
| CHANGE ORDER SUMMARY

BACKGROUND

Name of Contractor:  Clark Construction, LP

Contract No./NTP: 05HA-100 / May 15, 2017

Contract Description:  El Cerrito Del Norte Station Modernization
Percent Complete as of: 11/15/2018 — 23%

Dollars Percent Complete as of:  11/15/2018 — 26%

COST % of Award Cost

CcoO Nos.: 49 and 54

Contract Amount

Original Contract Award Amount $23,200,000.00
Change Orders:

Other than Board Authorized CO’s.  2.55% $690,562.95
Board Authorized CO’s:

Previous Change Orders up to: 48.86% $11,334,603.00

(including
o _ Options)
Change Order 49: - 1.72% $400,000.00
Change Order. 54: 1.08% $250,000.00

Subtotal of All Change Orders 54.63% $12,675,165.95
Revised Contract Amount: :

$35,875,165.95

SCHEDULE

Original Contract Duration: : . 740 Days

Time Extension to Date: - 0 Days

Time Extension for these new Change Orders: To Be Determined
Estimated Revised Contract Duration: 740 Days

SUMMARY REASON FOR THESE CHANGE ORDER

CO 54: Upgrade fire alarm system for the whole station. This is necessary to bring the alarm system to

current building codes.

CO 49: Reconstruct sidewalk and bus zone to comply with ADA requirements. This is necessary to
modify the bus zone which was not included in the original scope of this project.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: 2 g NV 2 o) g GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

. Approve and forward to Board of Directors
Mo Crtastiones

DATE: 11/16/2018 N BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary BARC [6

% , ‘i :LV
laff | W

[] []

Originator/Prepared by: Tracy Johnson -
Dept: Maintenange angd Engineering
Signatuy/Dste:

Contract No.15QH-150, Lafayette Station Site Improvements, Change Order No. 19

[1

PURPOSE:

- To authorize the General Manager to execute Change Order No. 19 to Contract No. 15QH-
150, Lafayette Station Site Improvements, in the amount not to exceed $725,000 which
includes a 107 non-compensable calendar day extension of the Contract duration.

DISCUSSION:

OnMarch 9, 2017 the Board of Directors authorized the General Manager to award Contract
No. 15QH-150, Lafayette Station Site Improvements, to USS Cal Builders, Inc. in the
amount of $4,650,000. This Contract essentially consisted of a complete station site renewal
and provided for the installation of the following; (a) two completely repaved parking lots;
(b) a new storm water management system in compliance with the new water quality
requirements; (c) new efficient LED station lighting; and, (d) a new vehicle and bus drive up
and drop off alignment. ' '

Change Order No. 19, in the amount not to exceed $725,000, is required to complete the
Contract. This Change Order is comprised of multiple elements of work from various
stages of construction, as described below. :

After observing the operation of the partially reconfigured “drop-off” area, it was determined
that significant improvements to safety and functionality could be achieved by modifying the
design plans to better accommodate passengers of cars and busses. This was accomplished
by modifying the curbs and ramps. These modifications were valued at $60,459.59.



Contract No.15QH-150, Lafayette Station Site Improvements, Change Order No. 19

The as-built drawings did not show a steel column embedded in the electrical room wall.
This unforeseen condition required the contractor to reroute the previously installed
conduit. This rework was valued at $3,812.55.

The Contractor replaced a rusting electrical conduit that could not be reused, as stated in the
design drawings, for safety reasons. This additional work was valued at $4,227.15.

An existing catch basin in the parking lot was damaged and could not be reused at stated in
the design drawings. The value of replacing this catch basin was $45,478.20.

The Contractor encountered and replaced existing utilities which were not shown on the
design drawings and were non-compliant with electrical codes. This work was valued at
$11,689.24.

The design elevations for the new ADA ramp did not match the existing conditions. To
comply with the design codes, a new handrail was required to accommodate the 5% slope
on the new ramp. The value of this extra work was $20,667.02.

Premium time was provided to the Contractor to accelerate the paving schedule and
minimize the inconvenience to BART customers. This premium time was an additional
$130,757.17.

The design for the new pavement specified full-depth reclamation asphalt for a stronger,
longer lasting and higher performing final product. Full depth reclamation asphalt allows for
the on-site reuse of materials provided the construction is properly sequenced. However,
the construction at Lafayette station was inadvertently sequenced such that a significant
amount of material was required to be off-hauled. This additional work was valued at
$444,623.34. |

The above additional work results in a time extension of 107 calendar days to the Contract
completion date which is non-compensable due to a concurrent Contractor caused delay of
389 calendar days.

Pursuant to Board Rule 5-2.3, Change Orders involving expenditures greater than $200,000
require Board approval. The Procurement Department will review this Change Order prior
to execution for compliance with procurement guidelines. The Office of General Counsel
will approve the Change Order as to form prior to execution.

FISCAL IMPACT:

Funding in the amount of $725,000 for additional change orders for Contract No. 15QH-150



Contract No.15QH-150, Lafayette Station Site Improvements, Change Order No. 19

is included in the total project budget for FMS# 15QH000 — Repair Sidewalks Systemwide.

The table below lists funding assigned to the referenced project and is included to track
funding history against spending authority. Funds needed to meet this request will be
expended from the following sources:

Proposed Funding
Various State Funds 1,792,415 |
Various Local Funds 2,203,992
Various BART Funds ‘ 16,901,034
TOTAL 20,897,441

As of October 16, 2018, $20,897,441 is the total budget for this project. BART has
expended $16,633,601, committed $982,498, and reserved $1,000,000 to date. This action
will commit $725,000, leaving an available fund balance of $1,556,342 in these fund sources
for this project.

The Office of Controller/Treasurer certifies that funds are currently available to meet this
obligation.

This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on unprogrammed District Reserves.

ALTERNATIVES:

The Board may elect not to authorize the execution of this Change Order. Failure to issue
this Change Order could lead to claims, thus increasing the final cost to the District.

RECOMMENDATION:

Recommend that the Board approve the following motion:

MOTION:

The General Manager is authorized to execute Change Order No. 19 for Contract No.
15QH-150, Lafayette Station Site Improvements, with USS Cal Builders, Inc in the amount
of not to exceed $725,000 and to extend the Contract completion date by 107 calendar days.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY DOCUMENT

ATTACHMENT #1
CHANGE ORDER SUMMARY
BACKGROUND
Name of Contractor: ' USS CAL Builders
Contract No./NTP: 15QH-150/ 5 June 2017
Contract Description: Lafayette Station Site Improvements
Percent Complete as of 11/29/2018 95%
COST % of Award  CO Totals Contract Amount
Original Contract Award Amount $4,650,000.00
Optional Contract Line $168,000.00
Other than Board Authorized C.O.’s 13.08% $608,217.85
Board Authorized Change Orders 00.00% $0.00
Pending Change Order #19 15.52% $721,714.26
Subtotal of all Change Orders (Optional 28.60% $1,329,932.11

Contract Line Number not Included
in this amount)

Revised Contract Amount $6,147,932.11
SCHEDULE

Original Contract Duration: 140 Days

Time Extension to Date: 0 Days

Time Extension Due to Approved C.O.’s: 0 Days

Pending Change Order #19 Time Extension: 107 Days (non-compensable)

Pending Revised Contract Duration: 247 Days

SUMMARY REASON FOR THIS CHANGE ORDER

This contract was Bart’s first attempt to retrofit an existing station to comply with new sustainability best
practices including storm water management and reclaimed pavement. CO No. 19 is comprised of
multiple elements of work including the following: (1) During construction field changes were made to
achieve additional benefits to the customer “drop-off” area; (2) Several unforeseen conditions were
encountered that required us to replace rather than reuse existing underground utilities; (3) To accomplish
reopening the first parking lot in time for the holidays, premium time was provided to the Contractor to
accelerate the paving schedule (4) Extra off-haul of materials was required due to the Contract specifying
a construction sequence that conflicted with optimizing the pavement reclamation. Pavement reclamation
provides for a superior end-product with a longer design life; however, this being the District’s first
attempt to use it we did not recognize this conflict. Consequently, on-site materials needed to be off-
hauled. Change Order No. 19, in the amount not to exceed $725,000, is inclusive of these changes and a
107 Day time extension to the Contract completion date which is non-compensable due to a concurrent
Contractor caused delay of 389 Days.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
/ P 28 Nov Zoi8
M ¢ OtAsAtanwen
DATE: 11/14/2018 BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

Originator/Prepared by: R. Elliott Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary BAR
Vantrease )

Dept: Maintenance and Engineering

S ARR

[ ] [ ] 1\\

| Status: Approved | Date Created: 11/14/2018

Authorize Contract Change Order to Contract No. 6M7220 for the Relocation of
Above Ground Cable Tray in the C55 Interlocking Area

PURPOSE:

To authorize the General Manager to execute a Contract Change Order No. 4 to Contract
No. 6M7220 for the Emergency Restoration, Preventative Maintenance, and Non-Emergency
Repair and Seismic Relocation Work of the Commercial Fiber Optic and Wireless Networks
with Phase 3 Communications, Inc. for a total amount not to exceed $816,000.

DISCUSSION:

On August 28, 2014 the Board authorized the General Manager to award Contract No.
6M7220 to Phase 3 Communications, Inc. for the Base Bid amount of $854,210.
Subsequently, on July 23, 2015 the Board authorized the General Manager to exercise
Options One and Two for a total amount not to exceed $1,708,420.00. The total Contract
amount to date is $2,562,630.

The District has identified vital cabling infrastructure that must be relocated prior to the C55
Interlocking replacement project construction which begins late February 2019. C55
construction is being performed by BART forces and the scope of work to relocate the
cabling infrastructure requires support of Phase 3 Communications, Inc. A change order to
the Phase 3 Communications, Inc. contract for an amount not to exceed $816,000 and a 180
day extension to the contract is required to accommodate this work effort. The extended
contract completion date will be July 7, 2019.



Authorize Contract Change Order to Contract No. 6M7220 for the Relocation of Above Ground Cable Tray (cont.)

The Office of the GeneralCounsel will approve the Change Order as to form.

FISCAL IMPACT:

Funding in the amount of $816,000 for the award of Change Order 04 to Contract No.
6M7220 will come from the following projects.

The two tables below depict funding assigned to the referenced projects and is included to
track funding history against spending authority. Funds needed to meet this request will be
expended from the following sources:

PROJECT: 49GH002 — Train Control Modernization Program
$234,810

Proposed Funding
F/G 8531 —FY17 Operating to Capital Allocation | $2,500,000
F/G 802A —Measure RR GOB $8,000,000
TOTAL | $10,500,000

As of November 13, 2018, $10,500,000 is the total budget for this project. BART has
expended $244,485 committed $951,261 and reserved 0.00 for other action. This action will
commit $234,810 leaving an available fund balance of $9,069,444 in fund resources for this
project.

PROJECT: 15CQ002 — Rails, Ties, Fasteners Phase3

$581,190
v Proposed Funding
F/G 8529 —FY15 Operating to Capital Allocation $197,246
F/G 802A — Measure RR GOB $252,701,708
TOTAL | $252,898,954

As of November 13, 2018, $252,898,954 is the total budget for this project. BART has
expended $61,321,829 committed $55,728,781 and reserved 6,904,476 for other actions.
This action will commit $581,190 leaving an available fund balance of $128,362,679 in fund
resources for this project.

The Office of the Controller/Treasurer certifies that funds are currently available to meet this
obligation. : ‘ '

This action is not anticipated to have any fiscal impact on unprogrammed District Reserves.



Authorize Contract Change Order to Contract No. 6M7220 for the Relocation of Above Ground Cable Tray (cont.)

ALTERNATIVES:

To not authorize the Contract Change Order would cause significant delay in the delivery of
the Measure RR C55 Interlocking Replacement or significant impact to C-Line revenue
service due to damage to weakened infrastructure.

RECOMMENDATION:

Adoption of the following motion.

MOTION:

The General Manager is authorized to execute and Contract Change Order to Contract No.
6M7220, Emergency Restoration, Preventative Maintenance, and Non-Emergency Repair
and Seismic Relocation Work of the Commercial Fiber Optic and Wireless Networks in an
amount not to exceed $816,000 and extend the completion date of the Contract to July 7,
20169.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT
ATTACHMENT #1

CHANGE ORDER SUMMARY
BACKGROUND

Name of Contractor:  Phase 3 Communications, Inc.
Contract No./NTP: 6M7220/October 31, 2014

Contract Description:  Emergency Restoration, Preventative Maintenance, and Non-Emergency Repair
and Seismic Relocation Work of the Commercial Fiber Optic and Wireless
Networks

Percentage Complete as of 12/01/19: 95%

cost : % of Award CO Totals Contract Amount
Original Contract Award Amount ' S 2,562,630.00
Change Orders:
Other than Board Authorized Change Orders 0% SO
Board Authorized Change Orders 0% S0
Pending Change Order #4 32% $816,000.00
Subtotal of all Chahge 6rders 32% $816,000.00 S 816,000.00
Revised Contract Amount : | ) 3,378,630.00
SCHEDULE
Original Contract Duration: 1095 days
Time Extension to Date: 434 dayé

Time Extension Due to Approved COs: 180 days

.Revised Contract Duration: 1709 days

SUMMARY REASON FOR THIS CHANGE ORDER

~ Relocation of vital cabling infrastructure and Commercial Fiber Optic Cables in support of the €55 Track
Replacement Project. '



SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

MEMORANDUM

TO: Board of Directors DATE: November 28, 2018
FROM: General Manager

SUBJECT: Update on BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Program (Measure RR)

At the December 6, 2018 Board meeting, staff will provide an informational briefing on the
Measure RR Program, including accomplishments to date, and short-term, mid-term, and long-
term outlooks. Attached is the “Update on BART Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Program

(Measure RR)” presentation for discussion.

If you have any questions about the document; please contact Robert Powers, Deputy General

Manager at 510-464-6126.

V Grace Crunican

cc: Board Appointed Officers
Deputy General Manager
Executive Staff




EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAIL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

29 NN Zoig
1A m P

DATE: 11/19/2018 . — BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

Originator/Prepared by: Maurice Raﬁray\ GeneraliCounsel Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary BARC
Dept: Extensions
| , &
%‘/ : \ % bGr, m \4?

Signatur€¢/Date: : 4/
g ksl ¢ ot S N
] I

([/28 //K

Project Changes and Fourth Addéndum to the East Contra Costa BART Extension
(eBART Project) Final Environmental Impact Report - Antioch Parking Lot
Expansion

PURPOSE:

To consider the Fourth Addendum to the Final Environmental Impact Report (FEIR)
pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) for the East Contra Costa
BART Extension (eBART Project) evaluating the potential environmental impacts of changes
(Antioch parking lot expansion) to the eEBART Project (Revised Project); find that a
subsequent or supplemental environmental impact report is not necessary based upon the
Addendum; and adopt the Revised Project, consistent with BART’s 2016 Station Access
Policy; and adopt the attached Resolution authorizing the filing of an allocation request with
the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) for $3.61 million of various bridge tolls
as part of the funding plan for the Antioch Station Parking Lot Expansion.

DISCUSSION:

On April 23, 2009, the BART Board of Directors (Board) certified the FEIR, adopted a
Mitigation, Monitoring and Reporting Plan (MMRP) and adopted the eBART Project. The
eBART Project described in the FEIR and adopted by the Board (Adopted Project)
consists of an approximately 10-mile extension of the BART system via a diesel multiple unit
(DMU) starting from the existing Pittsburg/Bay Point BART Station and extendmg in the
median of State Route 4 (SR 4). Commonly known as eBART, the extension is from the
Pittsburg/Bay Point BART Station to a new station at Pittsburg Center in Pittsburg and a
new terminus station at Hillcrest Avenue in Antioch.




Project Changes and Fourth Addendum to the East Contra Costa BART Extension (¢éBART Project) Final En (cont.)

Since eBART opened for revenue service on May 25, 2018, ridership at the stations has
exceeded expectations, especially at the Antioch Station. Currently, the ridership is nearly
double what was originally forecast with around 3,050 daily exits at the station. The success *
of the service has resulted in full occupancy of the 1,038 parking spaces by approximately
6:00 AM and a waitlist for parking of around 1,700. This may limit the ability of some
patrons to access the system, resulting in potentially reduced BART ridership.

BART is proposing to provide additional parking at the Antioch Station to accommodate the
existing parking demand by utilizing a vacant BART-owned parcel located between the
current station parking lot and the Maintenance Facility. The 7.97-acre site would provide
approximately 850 additional, new, spaces.

There is latent demand to use BART, and constraints on station access limit ridership. An

expansion of parking, previously planned at a different location from what is being proposed

in the fourth addendum, would be consistent with the original project EIR which had cleared

parking expansion and BART’s Station Access Policy (adopted June 9th, 2016), which

states that expanded automobile parking may be pursued as a secondary investment at
 stations classified as “auto-dependent.” The station is currently displayed as an auto-
~dependent station.

PROPOSED PARKING EXTENSION:

The parking expansion would add approximately 850 spaces on the 7.97-acre site. The
location of the parking lot is between the existing station parking lot and the DMU
maintenance facility. Auto access would be via two driveways on the north side of the lot
from Slatten Ranch Road. The site would be graded and paved with asphalt. Parking lot
lighting, CCTV (Closed Caption Television Cameras), and emergency phones would be
provided.

Solar panels are planned for the parking lot expansion. They will be similar in size and

capacity to those in the existing parking lot. The Panels would cover approximately 18
percent of the new parking lot area or approximately 40 percent of the planned parking
spaces. The panels would be in the center rows of the parking lot.

As part of MTC'.S allocation request process from eligible transportation project sponsors
for the allocation of Regional Measure 2, Regional Measure 1 and AB 1171 bridge toll funds,



Project Changes and Fourth Addendum tov the East Contra Costa BART Extension (¢éBART Project) Final En (cont.)

the Board of Directors must adopt the attached Resolution of Project Compliance that,
among other things, certifies that the District is authorized to perform the Project for which
funds are requested, that there are no legal impediments to the District applying for the
funds, and that there is no pending or anticipated litigation which might adversely affect the
project or the ability of the District to carry out the Project.

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:

The potential environmental effects of the eBART Project were evaluated under the
California Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.,
CEQA) and presented in a Final EIR. There have been three Addenda to the Final EIR since
its certification by the Board in 2009. The first Addendum analyzed a series of
modifications to the project. A second Addendum analyzed grading outside the original
project footprint. A third Addendum evaluated the then undeveloped area between the
parking lot and Maintenance Facility for use as construction staging and storage area. The
current Addendum, the fourth, evaluated the proposed additional parking on the storage area
for all categories of impact analyzed in the Final EIR (transportation, land use, visual quality,
etc.). The Addendum has not identified any substantial changes in the existing environment,
nor has it identified any new or more severe impacts that would result from the Revised
Project that were not already identified in the Final EIR. Therefore, the Revised Project does
not meet the conditions that would require a subsequent or supplemental EIR. All mitigation
measures included in the adopted MMRP would also apply to the Revised Project. '

All environmental clearance documents are available at:

https://www.bart.gov/about/projects/ecc/environmental

MULTIMODAL ACCESS STRATEGIES:

Additionally, and separate from the parking expansion, BART staff will continue to explore
active access and transit improvements to provide a comprehensive access solution for the
station. .

FISCAL IMPACT:

There is no Fiscal Impact for this EDD.

ALTERNATIVES:



Project Changes and Fourth Addendum to the East Contra Costa BART Extension (eBART Project) Final En (cont.)

The alternative is not to adopt the Revised Project and Addendum to the Final EIR. Failure -
to adopt the Revised Project would preclude the construction of approximately 850 parking

- spaces. This may limit the ability of some patrons to access the system, resulting in
potentially reduced BART ridership.

RECOMMENDATION:

Adoption of the attached Resolutions.

MOTION:

Having reviewed and considered the information contained in the Addendum, and the FEIR,
the BART Board of Directors hereby: '

1. Adopts the attached Resolution, approving the 4th Addendum to the FEIR and adopting
the Revised Project. .

2. Adopts the attached Resolution of Project Compliance authorizing the filing of an
allocation request with the Metropolitan Transportation Commission for Regional Measure 2,
Regional Measure 1, and AB 1171 bridge toll funds in the amount of $3.61 million to support
design of the Revised Project. |



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SAN FRANCISCO BAY
AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

In the Matter of the Approval of a
Resolution of Project Compliance

And Initial Project Report for

Regional Measure 1, Regional

Measure 2 and AB1171 Bridge Toll
Funds for the eBART Project — Parking
Lot Expansion at Antioch Station

Resolution No.

_ WHEREAS, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (“MTC”) is the regional
transportation planning agency for the San Francisco Bay Area pursuant to Government Code
Sections 66500 et seq.; and

WHEREAS, the California Legislature enacted Senate Bill (SB) 916 (Chapter 715,
Statutes 2004), commonly referred to as Regional Measure 2 (“RM2”), identified transportation
proj ects eligible to receive funding under the Regional Traffic Relief Plan; and

WHEREAS MTC is responsible for funding projects eligible for RM2 funds, pursuant to
Streets and Highways Code Section 30914(c) and (d); and

WHEREAS, the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (“BART”) and the
Contra Costa Transportation Authority (“CCTA”) are eligible sponsors of transportation
project(s) in Regional Measure 2, Regional Traffic Relief Plan funds; and

WHEREAS, the East Contra Costa BART Extension — Parking Lot Expansion at Antioch
Station (“Project”) is eligible for consideration in the Regional Traffic Relief Plan of Regional
Measure 2, as identified in California Streets and Highways Code Section 30914(c) or (d); and

WHEREAS, MTC adopted Resolution No. 4137, Revised, which establishes the program
of projects for Regional Measure 1 (“RM1”) 90% Rail Reserve funds; and

WHEREAS, MTC adopted Resolution No. 3434, Revised, which establishes
commitments of Assembly Bill (AB) 1171 bridge toll funds to specific projects and corridors;
and

WHEREAS, MTC has established a process whereby eligible transportation project
sponsors may submit allocation requests for AB1171, RM1, and RM2 bridge toll funds; and

WHEREAS, RM2, RM1, and bridge toll fund allocation requests to MTC must be
submitted consistent with procedures and conditions as outlined in Reg10nal Measure 2 Policy
and Procedures; and




WHEREAS, the RM1, RM2, and AB 1171 bridge toll funds allocation request, sponsored
by BART in the attached Initial Project Report and incorporated herein as though set forth at
length, lists the project, purpose, schedule, budget, expenditure and cash flow plan for which
BART is requesting that MTC allocate bridge toll funds;

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT:

RESOLVED, that BART, and its agents shall comply with the provisions of the
Metropolitan Transportation Commission’s RM2 Policy Guidance (MTC Resolution No. 3636);
and be it further

RESOLVED that BART certifies that the Project is consistent with the Plan Bay Area
2040 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP);

RESOLVED, that the year of funding for any design, right-of-way and/or construction
phases has taken into consideration the time necessary to obtain environmental clearance and
permitting approval for the project; and be it further :

RESOLVED, that the bridge toll-funded phase or ségment is fully funded, and results in
an operable and useable segment; and be it further

RESOLVED, that BART approves the Initial Project Report, dated December 6, 2018;
and be it further

RESOLVED, that BART approves the cash flow plan; and be it further

RESOLVED, that BART has reviewed the project needs and has adequate staffing
resources to deliver and complete the project w1th1n the schedule set forth in the Initial Project
Report; and, be it further

RESOLVED, that BART is an eligible sponsor of projects in the RM 2 Regional Traffic
Relief Plan, Capital Program, in accordance with California Streets and Highways Code
30914(c); and be it further

RESOLVED, that BART is authorized to submit an application for RM2 funds for the
Project in accordance with California Streets and Highways Code 30914(c); and be it further

RESOLVED, that BART certifies that the projects and purposes for which bridge toll
funds are being requested is in compliance with the requirements of the California
Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.), and with the State
Environmental Impact Report Guidelines (14 California Code of Regulations Section 15000 et
seq.); and be it further :

RESOLVED, that there is no legal impediment to BART makmg allocation requests for
bridge toll funds; and be it further

RESOLVED, that there is no pending or threatened litigation which might in any way
adversely affect the proposed project, or the ability of BART to deliver such project; and be it
further



RESOLVED, that BART agrees to comply with the requirements of MTC’s Transit
Coordination Implementation Plan as set forth in MTC Resolution 3866; and be it further

RESOLVED, that BART indemnifies and holds harmless MTC, its Commissioners,
representatives, agents, and employees from and against all claims, injury, suits, demands,
liability, losses, damages, and expenses, whether direct or indirect (including any and all costs
and expenses in connection therewith), incurred by reason of any act or failure to act of BART,
its officers, employees or agents, or subcontractors or any of them in connection with its
performance of services under this allocation of bridge toll funds. In addition to any other
remedy authorized by law, so much of the funding due under this allocation of bridge toll funds
as shall reasonably be considered necessary by MTC may be retained until disposition has been
made of any claim for damages, and be it further

RESOLVED, that BART agrees that, if any revenues or profits from any non-

- governmental use of property (or project) that those revenues or profits shall be used exclusively
for the public transportation services for which the Project was initially approved, either for '
capital improvements or maintenance and operational costs, otherwise the MTC is entitled to a
proportionate share equal to MTC’s percentage participation in the Projects; and be it further

RESOLVED, that assets purchased with bridge toll funds including facilities and
equipment shall be used for the public transportation uses intended, and should said facilities and
equipment cease to be operated or maintained for their intended public transportation purposes
for its useful life, that the MTC shall be entitled to a present day value refund or credit (at MTC’s
option) based on MTC’s share of the Fair Market Value of the said facilities and equipment at
 the time the public transportation uses ceased, which shall be paid back to MTC in the same
proportion that bridge toll funds were originally used; and be it further

RESOLVED, that BART shall pest on both ends of the construction site(s) at least two
signs visible to the public stating that the Project is funded with RM1, RM2 and AB 1171 Toll
Revenues; and be it_further -

RESOLVED, that BART authorizes its (Executive Director, General Manager, or his/her
designee) to execute and submit an allocation request for the construction phase with MTC for
Regional Measure 1, Regional Measure 2 and AB 1171 bridge toll funds in the amount of
$3,614,651, for the project, purposes and amounts included in the Initial Project Report; and be it
further , ,

RESOLVED, that BART’s General Manager, or his/her designee is hereby delegated the
authority to make non-substantive changes or minor amendments to the Initial Project Report
dated December 6, 2018 as he/she deems appropriate.

RESOLVED, that a copy of this Resolution shall be transmitted to MTC in conjunction
with the filing of the Initial Project Report dated December 6, 2018 referenced herein.

#it



BEFOARE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

In the Matter of Adopting
the eBART Revised Project : ‘ Resolution No.

WHEREAS, pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the BART Board of
Directors on April 23, 2009, certified the Final Environmental Impact Report (FEIR) and adopted
the eBART Project (Adopted Project). The Adopted Project consists of an approximately 10-mile
extension of the BART system starting from the existing Pittsburg/Bay Point BART Station and

~ extending in the median of State Route 4 (SR 4)to a new station in Antioch, just east of Hillcrest
Avenue; and

WHEREAS, staff has come before the Board on previous occasions to seek approval of various
eBART Project changes; and

WHEREAS, the design and construction plans have evolved since the Adopted Project and
revised projects were approved in 2009, 2011, and 2013 respectively; and

WHEREAS, a change to the eBART Project is now being contemplated (the Fourth Addendum),
to provide additional parking at the Antioch Station to accommodate the existing parking demand
by utilizing the area between the current station parking lot and the Maintenance Facility for
additional parking. The 7.97-acre site would provide approximately 850 additional, new, parking
spaces. Auto access would be via two driveways on the north side of the lot from Slatten-Ranch
- Road. The site would be graded and paved with asphalt. Parking lot lighting, CCTV (Closed
Caption Television Cameras), and emergency phones would be provided; and

WHEREAS, Section 15164 of the CEQA Guidelines allows a lead agency to prepare an
addendum to a previously certified EIR, rather than a subsequent EIR (SEIR), if some changes
or additions to a project are necessary, as long as none of the conditions described in Section
15162 requiring the preparation of an SEIR have occurred. Section 15162 states that, when an
EIR has been certified, no SEIR shall be prepared for the project unless the lead agency
determines, on the basns of substantial evidence in the light of the whole record, that there are
substantial changes proposed in the project which require major revisions of the previous EIR,
substantial changes occur with respect to the circumstances under which the project is
undertaken, or there is new information of substantial importance regarding new or substantially
more severe significant effects, new mitigation measures or aiternatives, or the feasibility

of mitigation measures or alternatives previously considered; and

WHEREAS, staff has revisited the analysis conducted in the FEIR and evaluated the potential
effects of the changes described in the Fourth Addendum, surrounding circumstances and new
information; and ‘

WHEREAS, based upon the evaluation, none of the conditions described in CEQA Guidelines
Section 156162 requiring the preparation of a SEIR have occurred; and therefore an addendum
is appropriate; and

WHEREAS, CEQA Guidelines Section 15164(d) provides that the lead agency's decision-

making body shall consider an addendum, together with the FEIR, prior to making a decision on
changes to the project.

116849.1



THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the BART Board of Directors, having reviewed and
considered the information contained in the FEIR and the Fourth Addendum for the East Contra
Costa BART Extension (eBART Project):

1) Finds that, on the basis of substantial evidence contained in the FEIR and the Fourth
Addendum and in light of the whole record, that:
(a) there are no substantial changes proposed in the Fourth Addendum that will require
major revisions to the FEIR due to the involvement of new or substantially more severe
significant environmental effects; and
(b) there are no substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under which the
Project changes considered in the Fourth Addendum will be undertaken which will
require major revisions of the FEIR due to the involvement of new or substantially more
severe significant environmental effects; and
(c) there is no new information of substantial importance, which was not known at the
time the FEIR was certified, showing that;
(i) the changes considered in the Fourth Addendum will have new or substantially
more severe significant effects,
(i) mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible would
in fact be feasible and would substantially reduce significant effects of the
changes considered in the Fourth Addendum or
(ii) mitigation measures or alternatives considerably different from those
analyzed in the FEIR would substantially reduce significant effects of the
changes considered in the Fourth Addendum and '
2) Adopts the changes considered in the Fourth Addendum, and
3) Authorizes staff to implement the changes considered in the Fourth Addendum.

116849.1



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

w /) Z9 Nov 2018
DATE: 11/15/l2018 BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

Originator/Prepared by: Maurice Rattray eng l 0 nsel Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary BARC
Dept: Extensions ‘ " ’
Ut an

BART to Antioch - Extend Vehicle Options

PURPOSE: To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to execute a Change
Order to Contract No. 04SF-140, Procurement of eBART Vehicles, with Stadler Bussnang
AG to extend the period to exercise Contract Options No. 1 and No. 2 for the purchase of
up to six (6) additional vehicles;

DISCUSSION: On April 24, 2014, the Board of Directors authorized the General Manager
to award Contract No. 04SF-140 to Stadler Bussnang AG for the purchase of eight diesel
multiple unit (DMU) vehicles for $58,124,419 (plus applicable taxes) to be used in the
operation of the new rail service from Pittsburg Bay Point Station to Antioch in Eastern
Contra Costa County (eBART). The Contract contains two options to purchase additional
DMUs. Option No. 1 is for two DMU vehicles with an un-escalated base price of
$16,640,000 and Option No. 2 is for four DMU vehicles with an un-escalated base price of
$29,200,000. BART also has the right to exercise both Options 1 and 2. These options must
be exercised by April 24, 2019, which is five years from the award of the base Contract.
Stadler has indicated a willingness to extend these options for two years through a change
order subject to adding provisions for exchange rate and tariff adjustments.

Based upon ridership projections, it is currently estimated that two additional DMU vehicles
will be needed in the 2022/23 time period. It is also estimated that four more DMU vehicles
will be required prior to BART running 12-minute headways around 2026. In order to meet
this anticipated need, it will be necessary to extend the Option period referenced above to
allow for the District to secure funding to exercise each of these vehicle Options.

Staff seeks authorization to execute a Change Order to extend the period for the District to
exercise Options No. 1 and No. 2 to purchase up to six (6) additional DMU vehicles from




BART to Antioch - Extend Vehicle Options (cont.)

April 24,2019 to April 24, 2021 with price adjustments per contract plus exchange rate
variations and tariffs.

Pursuant to Board Rule 5-2.3, Change Orders involving potential substantial
alterations in the obligations of either the District or the contractor require Board
approval. The Procurement Department will review this Change Order prior to
execution for compliance with procurement guidelines. The Office of the General
Counsel will approve the Change Order as to form prior to execution.

FISCAL IMPACT: None at this time. BART staff is actively working with state, regional,
and local funding partners to secure funding commitments to enable BART to exercise
Option #1 and/or Option #2. '

ALTERNATIVES: Do not authorize the General Manager to extend and to execute options
to procure additional DMUs. Orice options expire, a new procurement would be required to
purchase any required additional DMU vehicles in the future to support e BART operational
needs. This could potentially lead to increased procurement, operational, and maintenance
costs along with the possibility of having to maintain and operate two incompatible fleets.

RECOMMENDATION: Adopt the following Motion.

MOTION: :

The Board of Directors authorizes the General Manager to execute a Change Order to
Contract No. 04SF-140, Procurement of eBART Vehicles, with Stadler Bussnang AG to
extend the period and modify re-pricing provisions to exercise Contract Options No. 1 and
No. 2 for the purchase of up to six (6) additional vehicles at no cost to the District.




EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: ‘ GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
‘ M . CRA A —
DATE: 11/16/2018 '\ BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

Originator/Prepared by: Kimberly L {|Gen el Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary BARC
Koempel \ "
Dept: Sygtems Devejopment e 4 > -
1L J Chos 6. »\
Slgnature/Dnte ' “/Mf/i/ %\4/0
“,QK}QM(K l'//ég/]g [ ] [ ] [ ] W'
y i y

Approve Millbrae Bart TOD Project and Adopt Findings, SOC, and MMRP for
Project under CEQA

PURPOSE:

To have the Board of Directors: 1) review the Millbrae Station Area Specific Plan Final EIR
(“Final EIR”), which consists of the Draft Environmental Impact Report and responses to
comments on environmental issues and modifications to the Draft EIR, prepared by the City
of Millbrae (“City”), adopt updated Findings, a Statement of Overriding Considerations
(“SOC”) and a Mitigation Monitoring Reporting Plan (“MMRP”) relating to the Millbrae
BART Transit Oriented Development, in accordance with the California Environmental
Quality Act (“CEQA”). 2) approve changes to the Millbrac BART Transit Oriented
Development Project and 3) Delegate to the General Manager the authority to approve
changes to the Millbrae BART Transit Oriented Development in certain circumstances

DISCUSSION:

On February 14, 2013 the Board of Directors authorized staff to enter into an exclusive
negotiation agreement (“ENA”) with Republic Millbrae LLC (“RUP”) regarding transit- .
oriented development on BART property located in the City of Millbrae at the BART Station
and identified in the EIR as the TOD #2 Plan Area (“Project” or “TOD #2 Project). On
October 19, 2014, the 18-month ENA was extended for another 18 months and agam on
April 14, 2016 for another 12 months.

On January 12, 2016, the Millbrae City Council certified the Final EIR and on February 9,
2016 adopted the Millbrae Station Area Specific Plan. At that time, the City did not adopt



Approve Millbrae Bart TOD Project and Adopt Findings, SOC, and MMRP for Project under CEQA

Findings, a Statement of Overriding Considerations, or a Mitigation Monitoring and
Reporting Program for the TOD #2 Project.

On June 23, 2016, the Board of Directors voted to approve the TOD #2 Project and, acting
as a responsible agency under CEQA and after considering the Final EIR, adopted the
Findings, Statement of Overriding Considerations (SOC) and Mltlgatlon Monitoring and
Reporting Program (MMRP) for the TOD #2 Project.

On April 10, 2018, the City of Millbrae approved the TOD #2 Project including changes
from the project evaluated in the Final EIR and adopted Findings, a SOC, and a MMRP.
The Project approved by the City differs from the project approved by the BART Board of
Directors in the following ways:

1. The number of hotel rooms increased to 164, a net increase of 38 units;

2. A net decrease of 5,999 square feet of office space and 2,411 square feet of retail
spaces;

3. The number of residential units increased to 400, a net increase of 24 units. In
addition, the amount of affordable housing units was increased 75 to 100 units.

The Project currently includes 4 buildings. One building includes 151,853 sq. ft. of office
with 22,586 square feet of ground floor retail. The second building contains 300 residential
units with 20 units affordable to moderate income qualified applicants and includes 13,750
sq. ft. of ground floor retail. The third building is a 164-room hotel with 7,840 square feet of
ground floor retail. There is an 80-unit veteran’s preferred affordable housing building. The
Project also includes enhanced pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure and a new plaza that will
be maintained and activated by the development.

The only difference between the project approved by the City of Millbrae and the Project
currently being proposed to the BART Board of Directors relates to the amount of BART
parking. The final EIR project description included 317 surface spaces for BART in
addition to the existing BART parking garage. The City-approved Project included an
increase in BART surface parking to 392. However, as the design for the development has
progressed it has become infeasible to include that much BART surface parking. The exact
number of BART surface parking is still under negotiation but will be closer to the original
317 spaces contemplated in the EIR.

The Project site is in an area that is the subject of the Millbrae Station Area Specific Plan
(“MSASP”). The MSASP analyzed a mix of uses that includes office, restaurant/retail,
residential, and hospitality. The MSASP is intended to “provide the vision and strategies to
guide in the creation of the Millbrae’s new economic center, including vibrant, diverse and
sustainable transit-oriented developments at and around the station”. The related Final EIR
serves as a program-level document that analyses the potential impacts of adopting and
implementing the MSASP and its buildout potential, along with the associated General Plan



Approve Millbrae Bart TOD Project and Adopt Findings, SOC, and MMRP for Project under CEQA

and Zoning amendments. The Final EIR also serves as a project-level document that
analyzes the potential impacts of constructing and operating the TOD #2 Project.

On April 10, 2018 the City of Millbrae took the following actions related to the Project:

» Approved a resolution making findings concerning significant impacts of the project,
adopting a statement of overriding considerations and adopting a Mitigation Monitoring
and Reporting program, based on a final Environmental Impact Report certified by the
city council on January 12, 2016, all in accordance with the California Environmental
Quality Act (CEQA); :

o Approved the development agreement for the Project to grant increases in development
intensities and other benefits to the Project in exchange for community benefits
including the provision of affordable housing and specific timeframe for construction
of a hotel on property located in the transit-oriented development zone of the Millbrae
station area specific plan; and

¢ Adopted resolutions approving the Site Development Plan to allow construction of
four new structures, a Conditional Use Permit for Commercial Lodging in Building 6B,
and a Vesting Tentative Map to allow the merger and subdivision of existing parcels
totaling 16.9 Acres into six parcels, including 4 development parcels, a parcel for the
existing Millbrae Intermodal Station and Parking Garage, and a parcel for a surface
parkmg lot.

BART is a responsible agency under CEQA for the TOD #2 Project. As a responsible
agency, BART must consider the Final EIR prepared by the City and reach its own
conclusions regarding the adequacy of those portions of the EIR relating to the TOD #2
Project. In June 2016, the Board of Directors and BART staff reviewed the Final EIR as
certified by the City, and the Board of Directors adopted Findings, Statement of Overriding
Considerations and a Mitigation Monitoring Reporting Program for the Project. However,
because the project has changed since the Board took action and the City has approved the
revised TOD #2 project as the lead agency under CEQA, staff is recommending that the
Board of Directors review the Final EIR and reach its own conclusions regarding the
adequacy of those portions of the EIR relating to the revised TOD #2 Project and adopt
updated Findings, a Statement of Overriding Considerations (“SOC”) and a Mitigation
Monitoring Reporting Plan (“MMRP”) which conform to the actions that the City of
Millbrae took on April 10, 2018. '

BART staff has reviewed the Final EIR and prepared Findings, an SOC, and an MMRP for
the revised Project which can be found along with the Final EIR on BART's website at
https://www .bart.gov/about/business/tod/millbrae

Currently BART and RUP are in negotiations on a Lease Option Agreement. The current
development schedule anticipates construction to begin in summer of 2019.



Approve Millbrae Bart TOD Project and Adopt Findings, SOC, and MMRP for Project under CEQA

FISCAL IMPACT:

There is no fiscal impact from the proposed action.

ALTERNATIVES:

If the BART Board determines that evidence of CEQA compliance is inadequate, additional
analysis would be required to address any deficiencies identified by the Board.

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the Board ad(ipt the following Motion.

MOTION:

After review and consideration of the Final EIR certified by the City of Millbrae on February
9, 2016 and the actions taken by the City on April 10, 2018, the Board:

1) Adopts the Findings, Statement of Overriding Con51derat10n and Mitigation Monitoring
and Reporting Program for the TOD #2 Project;

2) Finds that changes or alteratlons have been required in, or incorporated into, the project
which mitigate or avoid 51gmﬁcant effects on the environment;

3) Finds that for the 51gmﬁcant and unavoidable effects of the TOD #2 Project identified in
the final EIR, specific economic, legal, social, technological or other considerations make
mitigation measures or alternatives identified in the EIR infeasible and specific overriding
econormic, legal, social, technological or other benefits of the project outweigh the significant
effects on the environment, as identified in the Final EIR and the Statement of Overriding
Considerations;

4) Approves changes to the TOD #2 Project;

5) Delegates to the General Manager or her designees the decision to approve or disapprove
any additional modifications to TOD #2 Project as described in the Project Description
contained in the Final EIR, based upon the General Manager or her designee’s determination
that appropriate environmental analysis of such modifications has been performed by the
City of Millbrae as lead agency pursuant to CEQA and that such environmental analysis



Approve Millbrae Bart TOD Project and Adopt Findings, SOC, and MMRP for Project under CEQA

concludes that the modifications will not result in any new significant environmental effects

not considered in the Final EIR or a substantial increase in the severity of previously
identified significant effects.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

WM7 2% wou Zo8

DATE: 11/19/2018

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary BARC
NM

”m!ﬂ[ ] L] [ ]

Originator/Prepared by: Amanda Cruz
Dept: Gov't & Community Relations

U [20lg \

szturemate: Z %

| status: Routed | Date Created: 11/19/2018 |

2019 Federal and State Legislative Advocacy Program

PURPOSE:
To review, discuss, and seek approval of the District’s 2019 Federal and State Legislative
Advocacy Program.

DISCUSSION:

BART's federal and state advocacy efforts are guided by annual goals adopted by the Board
of Directors. The goals reflect BART’s legislative priorities and provide guidance for the
District's activities in Washington, D.C. and Sacramento. The program is intended to be
broad to give BART the flexibility to pursue legislative and administrative opportunities that
may present themselves during the year, and to respond in an expeditious manner to the
dynamic political and policy environments at the federal and state level. The following
summarizes proposed federal and state goals BART plans to actively pursue in 2019.

PROPOSED FEDERAL ADVOCACY PROGRAM:

Secure an appropriation and Full Funding Grant Agreement (FFGA) for BART’s
Transbay Corridor Core Capacity Project (Core Capacity Project) within the
Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) Capital Investment Grant (CIG) Program
BART’s Core Capacity Project is applying for a total of $1.25 billion in CIG funding and
has requested $50 million in FY19 and $100 million in FY20 budget appropriations. FY19
appropriations for Transportation, Housing and Urban Development are currently being
negotiated and CIG funding is anticipated to be at or above levels authorized in the Fixing
American’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act.



2019 Federal and State Legislative Advocacy Program

BART has been secking FTA approval for entry into Engineering since late 2017 and
advocacy efforts will continue towards securing a FFGA by the end of 2019. BART will
leverage support from its Congressional delegation, transit, business, labor, and other Bay
Area stakeholders to ensure the Core Capacity Project does not experience further delays
and is given full and fair consideration by the FTA and Administration.

Advocate for maintaining or increasing funding to support public transit security and
safety programs; pursue grants that allow BART to enhance its safety and security
initiatives

For FY19, the BART Board approved the advancement of a Safety and Security Action
Plan. The Action Plan includes a series of proposals that will boost the visible presence of
police and employees in the system, enhance BART’s already robust network of surveillance
cameras, increase public safety outreach, and more.

To support initiatives within the Action Plan, BART will continue advocacy efforts focused
on maintaining and increasing funding for all transit security programs within the Department
of Homeland Security and pursue grant funding for priority projects. BART will also
actively explore grant opportunities through the Department of Transportation, Department
of Justice, and other federal agencies.

Educate Congressional delegation regarding ongoing efforts to address quality of
life on BART; seek support for programs or policies to assist transit agencies in
responding to quality of life issues
Quality of life on BART is a strategic focus in FY 19 with substantial resources committed to
addressing the interrelated issues of fare evasion, homelessness, cleanliness, and safety.
'BART will work to educate members and their staff on efforts to improve the rider
experience, employee work environment, and local partnerships. BART will also work with
the American Public Transportation Association (APTA) as they take a leadership role in
helping transit agencies address issues such as homelessness and mental health, BART may
wish to engage in innovative programs that include transit agencies and learn from best
practices utilized by other public agencies nationally.

Engage in advocacy efforts to advance a federal infrastructure initiative with a
specific focus on new funding mechanisms for transit and investment in workforce
development

President’s Trump’s “Rebulldmg Infrastructure in America” proposal seeks to utilize $200
billion in federal funds to leverage $1.5 trillion in new investment over the next ten years for
highways, public transit, airports, goods movement, and telecommunications. Members of
Congress have also discussed variations on this proposal, seeking to provide immediate
funding for infrastructure investment while exploring potential long-term, sustainable funding
streams for transportation. President Trump has stated infrastructure is an area where he
could work with the incoming Democratic majority.

N
]



2019 Federal and State Legislative Advocacy Program

BART will continue to advocate to the Administration, Congress, and key policy and fiscal
committees for an infrastructure proposal that includes new federal funding for public
transit. BART will work with APTA, the Metropolitan Rail Discussion Group, California
Transit Association, and other advocacy groups to support a package that prioritizes the
replacement of aging infrastructure, addresses growing demand for new or expanded
service, and includes funds for innovative mobility and workforce development.

Advocate for robust transit funding in a federal surface transportation

reauthorization bill

The FAST Act is set to expire at the end of FY 2020. To ensure that the next federal surface
~ transportation reauthorization benefits public transit, BART will work with national and

statewide organizations to advocate for a long-term authorization at funding levels no less

than what is included in year five of the FAST Act. BART will support restoring Highway

Trust Fund solvency and raising new revenues to support transit programs long-term.

PROPOSED STATE ADVOCACY PROGRAM:

Pursue state transit funding through formulaic and competitive grant programs;
monitor state budget and identify new funding opportunities that may support
BART’s operations or capital investment needs

In November, California voters rejected Proposition 6, which sought to repeal Senate Bill 1
(SB 1) and impede future efforts to generate vital transportation funding. BART opposed
Proposition 6 and will continue efforts to protect state transportation funding from being
eliminated, repealed, or diverted within the state budget.

With SB 1 dollars continuing to flow in accordance with the FY19 State Budget, BART will
educate and engage the new Administration, agency executives, state commissioners,
members of the Legislature, and key committees to gain support for critical infrastructure
projects such as the Core Capacity Project and other District initiatives with identified
funding needs. BART will continue to pursue SB 1-related grants and other possible

- funding administered by the Department of Transportation, Energy Commission, Air
Resources Board, Department of Housing and Community Development, Workforce

- Development Board, and Office of Emergency Services.

Advocate for additional, more flexible funding for public transit through the Cap and
Trade Program |

BART will support efforts to strengthen the Cap and Trade program as a source of
transportation funding and monitor the state budget process closely for opportunities to
increase the amount of annual auction proceeds directed to transit investments. BART will
also support efforts to restructure the Affordable Housing and Sustainable Communities
Program in a way that would enable more direct investment in transportation improvements
such as transit-oriented development to further the state’s climate change goals.



2019 Federal and State Legislative Advocacy Program

Educate the new Administration, state departments, and members of the Legislature
on new and ongoing efforts to bolster transit security, and improve rider safety
Within the past year, violent crimes committed on BART have necessitated additional
measures to further enhance safety and security. The Legislature has been supportive of
previous efforts at BART to address violent crimes and promote safety through granting
BART the authority to create a prohibition order program. As BART continues its
implementation of the Safety and Security Action Plan, staff will update members of the
Legislature on any progress, seek input, and dlscuss potential areas in which the state may
support various initiatives.

Monitor implementation of new housing legislation and seek out funding
opportunities for affordable housing and transit-oriented development (TOD)
With the passage of Proposition 1 in November, $4 billion in state general obligation bonds
was approved for affordable housing and veterans housing programs. This includes $150
million for TOD, specifically loans and grants to local governments and developers for
housing projects near transit stations; and $300 million in grants for infill infrastructure that

- supports high-density affordable and mixed-income housing. BART will monitor first-year
program implementation and seek to identify ways in which funding can be used to support
BART’s goals within existing TOD and Affordable Housing Policies. BART may also wish
to support legislation that seeks to address the housing crisis within the region and
specifically look at efforts lead by the Commitiee to House the Bay Area, or CASA, as
convened by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission.

Continue to engage in statewide efforts to address homelessness and mental health
needs

Last session, BART supported several bills that sought to address the state’s homelessness
crisis through planning, prevention and emergency aid. BART may wish to continue
supporting legislation and budget appropriations that bolster locally administered programs
for specific homeless or at-risk populations, especially those funded through the Homeless
Emergency Aid Program. With the passage of Proposition 2, the No Place Like Home
Program, in November, BART may also wish to monitor how the state plans to accelerate
the issuance of $2 billion in bond funds to help provide housing for individuals experiencing
mental illness who are homeless or at risk of homelessness.

Pursue and pass necessary BART-sponsored legislation
As necessary, BART will seek to introduce and pass sponsored legislation that addresses a
specific problem or goal as identified by the Board and/or staff.

Monitor and respond to legislation that directly impacts BART
BART will ensure that the District’s interests are represented in any legislative effort that
could directly impact the District. This may include bills introduced in the current session as



2019 Federal and State Legislative Advocacy Program

well as bills that were recently enacted.

FISCAL IMPACT:
N/A

ALTERNATIVES:
The Board could decline to support the 2019 Federal and State Legislative Advocacy
Program.

RECOMMENDATION:
For the Board to approve the followmg motion.

MOTION:
The Board approves the 2019 Federal and State Legislative Advocacy Pro gram as
presented by staff,



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
. ‘ z l 28 W 20‘8 Approve and forward to Board
M. i SUASA—
DATE: 11/15/2018 BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No

Originator/Prepared by: Susan Shaffer Controller/TreaSurer District Secretary BARC
Dept: Real Estate and Property

Development

‘ | / ZWMZ[ N «\4)“
. / ZA//B H/H//& 1] l',ﬂl’«[ ] [ ] M\\’V

{

North Concord/Martinez Station Transit Oriented Development Exclusive
Negotiating Agreement Award '

PURPOSE:

To authorize the General Manager or her designee to execute an Exclusive Negotiating
Agreement (ENA) with Brookfield Residential/Novin Development Corporation for Transit-
Oriented Development (TOD) at the North Concord/Martinez BART station.

DISCUSSION:

BART owns approximately 20 acres at the North Concord/Martmez BART station
consisting of a parking lot and the transit center (the “BART Property”). Currently, BART
staff is engaged with the City of Concord and the community in developing the Concord
Community Reuse Project Specific Plan (“Specific Plan”), initiated in 2017, which includes
the BART Property. The Specific Plan and EIR and associated entitlemerits are expected to
be completed in mid- to late-2019. The Specific Plan will establish zoning and environmental
clearance for the former Concord Naval Weapons Station (the "Base"), the BART Property,
and the former Coast Guard property to the south of BART. Through a competitive
selection process, the City of Concord had previously selected FivePoint to be the City's
master developer for the larger Base Reuse site (exclusive of the BART Property).
FivePoint will develop Phase I of the former Base, and the City of Concord has selected
DeNova Homes to redevelop the former Coast Guard property.

The BART Property is a key area within the Specific Plan boundaries, but its development
interests are not represented by a developer. Given that the Specific Plan encompasses a
very large area in comparison to the BART Property, and is being advanced by and funded
by the master developer team, BART staff believed that bringing on BART’s own
development team to have input on the Specific Plan, especially in regard to the BART




North Concord/Martinez Station Transit Oriented Development Exclusive Negotiating Agreement Award (cont.)

Property, would best facilitate achievement of a successful TOD project on BART Property
in line with BART’s TOD and Affordable Housing policies. For this reason and to ensure
that the BART policies will be implemented on the BART Property, BART initiated an early
developer solicitation process to advance the development of the BART Property. Based
on the anticipated draft Specific Plan and BART policies, the District is seeking a financially
feasible, mixed-use development, featuring commercial office, both affordable and market-
rate housing and commumty-engaged design, with a focus on active access and a sustainable
long-term parking strategy.

Staff presented updates to the Board on the Specific Plan process and the preliminary goals
and objectives for TOD on the BART Property in October 2017 and June 2018. On August
13, 2018, BART staff released a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for developer teams. On
October 5, 2018, BART received three submittals in response to the RFQ.

An evaluation committee comprised of nine individuals from BART, Contra Costa County,
County Connection, and Economic and Planning Systems (a BART economic on-call
consultant) reviewed the written proposals. Although BART’s original intent was to include
City of Concord staff and Community Advisory Committee members on the evaluation
panel, the City of Concord’s attorney determined that these parties had a conflict of interest,
so no one from the City participated in the evaluation process. All three development teams
were invited to participate in oral interviews on November 13, 2018. These teams were:

e Brookfield Residential/Novin Development Corporation ("Brookfield/Novin")
e Essex Property Trust, Inc. ("Essex")
e The Mlchaels Organization / The Republic Family of Companies ("Mlchaels")

Proposals were scored in the following categories:

. Dzrect relevant qualifications and experience of Developer Team. Experience with:
‘master planning and mixed-use development; negotiating and executing complex land
transactions; public agency partnerships, particularly transit; and large-scale
infrastructure investment.

o Preliminary development concept and proposed project approach. Demonstration
that: concept meets BART’s goals and objectives for site while being sensitive to
community transition; approach addresses real estate market context, development
phasing and finance, and community concerns; development concept is compatible
with the City’s Area Plan; and proposed approach shows overall innovation and
creativity.

e Financial capability of Developer Team, including lender references. Demonstrated
ability to secure funding and financing for a long term, multi-phase project; and
provided lender references.

e Roles and responsibilities of Developer Team. Provided organizational chart that
meets required disciplines with relevant project manager experience; and Small



North Concord/Martinez Station Transit Oriented Development Exclusive Negotiatipg Agreement Award (cont.)

Business (SB) participation commitment percentage.

While all proposals were strong, the Brookfield/Novin team performed more strongly than
the others, particularly on the basis of:

» Assembling a strong local development team, which includes prime consultants

e Proposed project alignment with the Area Plan

» Strength of financial partner in Brookfield Res1dent1a1 and demonstrated commitment
to the project

 Innovative and strategic approach to creatmg an artist district as part of the plan

proposal

Extensive experience with multiple public agencies and large multi-phased projects

Strong proposed community engagement approach

Creative phasing and parking approaches

Past history of working with adjacent developers to finance infrastructure and create

community cohesiveness

Given the strength of the Brookfield/Novin developer team, staff requests authorization to
» enter into an ENA for a period of 24 months with Brookfield/Novin to advance a transit-
 oriented development project at North Concord/Martinez BART station. If staff determines
' that Brookfield/Novin have substantially met the terms of the ENA, but are not ready to
return to the Board with a project and ground lease option at the end of the 24-month ENA
period, the motion includes authorization to extend the ENA term with Brookfield/Novin for
an additional 24 months.

FISCAL IMPACT:

If approved, BART Real Estate and Property Development Department staff will work with
the selected developer to execute an ENA and initiate work on development scoping. BART
staff time (0.5-0.75 FTE) is programmed into the operating budget and the FY 2019 work
plan already. BART will receive a $100,000 ENA fee to compensate some BART staff time
and consultant and legal fees during the term of this ENA, with a provision in the ENA that
this amount will be increased to compensate for BART’s expenses as negotiated. This
action will not have any impact on unprogrammed District reserves.

- The ground lease terms and ridership increases are yet to be negotiated, but staff will ensure
that the combination of the ground lease and off- or reverse-commute ridership revenues
result in a net positive fiscal impact to BART. The BART Board will review the terms of the
deal at key milestones to monitor its fiscal impact and ultimately approve the deal terms.



North Concord/Martinez Station Transit Oriented Development Exclusive Negotiating Agreement Award (cont.)

ALTERNATIVES:

1. Do not authorize staff to proceed with an ENA. Staff will not pursue the North
Concord/Martinez TOD further without direction from the Bvoard.

2. Authorize staff to proceed with a different team.

RECOMMENDATION:

Adopt the following Motion:

MOTION:

Authorize the General Manager or her designee to enter into an Exclusive Negotiating
Agreement (ENA) with the development team comprised of Brookfield Residential/Novin
Development Corporation for a term of 24 months, with authorization to extend the ENA
term an additional 24 months if key deliverables are met, to advance transit-oriented
development at the North Concord/Martinez Station.



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:

79 Novw Zot §

M. Ve
DATE: 11/15/2018

BOARD INITIATED ITEM: Yes

Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary

’Wéu/

u[zg//[x/]

Originator/Prepared by: Catherine
Westphall

Dept: Marketing and Research
. S
Al /

ignature/Date:

Nov. 22 2018

[1]

Advertising Content Guidelines

PURPOSE.:
To seek approval and Board adoption of revised Advertising Content Guidelines.

DISCUSSION:
In light of controversial advertisements that appeared on BART in 2018, members of the
Board have asked for reconsideration of BART’s advertising guidelines.

The purpose of the potential changes to the Guidelines is to maintain BART advertising
space as a nonpublic forum to meet District objectives related to safety and security,
providing a welcoming environment, maintaining and increasing ridership and ad revenue,
avoiding unintentional association with viewpoints expressed in ads, and reducing the
diversion of resources from other BART objectives. New guidelines, if adopted, will apply
to all new ad sales beginning 30 days after the date of adoption.

On November 15, 2018, two options were presented to the Board as an informational item.
Staff recommends adoption of Option A as the more comprehensive of the two Options, A
and B. Minor clarifications have been made to Option A to more inclusively allow ads
related to: '

o BART programs, products, services, or partnerships (Option A, section A.2);
e Museums, theaters, or galleries (Option A, section A.3.c);

Visual or performing arts, fairs, or festivals (Option A, section A.3.g);
Planetariums (Option A, section A.3.q); and

Government-designated historic sites (Option A, section A.3.s).




Advertising Content Guidelines

FISCAL IMPACT:

The District currently has an Agreement with OUTFRONT Media to sell advertising in the
BART system and in several MUNI Metro stations. Under the current Agreement - which
expires June 30, 2029 - OUTFRONT forecasts payments to the District totaling $272
million. Of this total, $160 million are base payments and the balance depends on sales
volume. It is anticipated that Option A would have a small impact on these revenues to the
District (less than 2%)).

ALTERNATIVES:

1. The Board could adopt Option B as an alternative; however, staff recommends Option A
as the more comprehensive of the two options.

2. Alternatively, the Board could reject both options, and keep the current Advertising
Content Guidelines or direct staff to prepare additional options for Board consideration.

RECOMMENDATION:
Adopt Advertising Content Guidelines Option A.

MOTION: .
That the Board adopt Advertising Content Guidelines Option A, to be applied to all new ad
sales beginning 30 days after the date of adoption.



BART ADVERTISING CONTENT GUIDELINES — OPTION A

OBJECTIVE

Through these guidelines, the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (‘BART”), in keeping
with its primary function as a provider of public transportation, does not intend to convert its
property into an open public forum for public discourse, debate, or expressive activity. In furtherance
of the discrete and limited objectives described below, BART shall retain control over the nature of
advertisements accepted for posting in the BART system, and maintain its advertising space as a
nonpublic forum with limited content neutral subject matter restrictions. In setting its advertising
standards, BART seeks to meet the following goals and objectives:

(a) Maintain a secure and orderly operating environment;

(b) Maintain a safe and welcoming environment for all BART passengers, including minors
who use the BART system, without regard to race, color, marital status, sexual
orientation, religion, national origin, ancestry, age, sex, gender identity, disability,
medical condition, or veterans’ status, and avoid claims of discrimination from the

- public; o
(¢) Maintain and increase ridetship and fare revenue;

(d) Avoiding unintentional appearance of favoritism, association with, or bias towards any
group, movement, or viewpoint; :

(e) Preserve the marketing potential of the advertising space by avoiding content that the
community could view as inappropriate or harmful to the public;

(f) Increase advertising revenue to help support BART service to the public;
() Avoid imposing demeaning or disparaging messages on a captive audience; and

(h) Reduce the diversion of resources from BART objectives caused by controversy
surrounding advertisements.

BART retains the unqualified right to display, on or in its facilities, advertisements and notices that

- pertain to BART operations and promotions, consistent with the provisions of its agreement with the
Advertising Contractors. Promotional materials may include, but not be limited to, internal marketing
collateral, BART branding campaigns, and co-promotional campaigns with third parties. Consistent
with the status of the BART premises to which this policy pertains as a nonpublic forum, BART does
not accept free public service announcements. These Guidelines shall be effective upon adoption and
shall be enforced to the degree that it does not impair the obligations of any executed contract. BART
reserves the right, from time to time, to suspend, modify, or revoke the application of any or all of
these Guidelines as it deems necessary to comply with legal mandates, facilitate its primary
transportation function, to ensure the safety or security of BART customers and BART facilities, or
to fulfill the goals and objectives referred to herein. All provisions of these Guidelines shall be
deemed severable. ‘ ‘

For purposes of understanding the meaning of advertisements, BART may refer to information
beyond the advertisement including, but not limited to, dictionaries, reviews by authoritative bodies,

BART Advertising Content Guidelines
l|Page



or public information regarding the advertiser. BART shall assess whether an independent,
reasonably prudent person, knowledgeable of BART’s customer profile and using prevailing
community standards, would believe that the advertisement complies with the provisions of these
Guidelines. In the case of advertisements that use double entendres or multiple interpretations, all
meanings of the advertisement must comply with these Guidelines. BART reserves the right, in all
circumstances, to require that an advertisement in the BART system include a disclaimer indicating
that such advertising is paid for by the advertiser, stating that "The views expressed in this
advertisement do not reflect the views of BART," or a similar statement, and BART may set
minimum size standards for the disclaimer to ensure legibility.

ADVERTISING STANDARDS

A. Permitted Advertising Categories :
The BART system is limited to only the following categories of advertising:

1. Commercial Advertising. Paid communications from a for-profit entity or entities.

2. Governmental Advertising. Paid communications from public entities created by
government action with the intent to advance a specific government purpose as well as
communications from BART related to BART programs, products, services, or partnerships.

3. Public Service Announcements. Paid communications from any entity not described under
Sections Al or A2 of these guidelines which promotes or furnishes any of the following
goods or services:

a. The prevention or treatment of an illness, injury, condition, or syndrome recognized
by the most recent Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (“DSM") or the Centers for
Disease Control (“CDC”); _

The recruitment or solicitation of participants for medical, psychological, or
behavioral studies; '
Museums, theaters, or galleries which are open to the general public;
Licensed or accredited pre-K through 12 education programs or services;
Colleges or universities that have received regional or statewide accreditation;
Vocational or trade programs; ' '
Visual or performing arts, fairs, or festivals, provided that the venue or event is open
to the general public and has a valid operating permit issued by a governmental
entity;
Environmental matters;
Provision of services and programs that provide support to low income citizens,
victims of abuse, families, youth, immigrants, historically disadvantaged populations,
senior citizens, veterans, people identifying as LGBT, or people with disabilities;
Solicitation by broad-based contribution campaigns which provide funds to -
multiple charitable organizations;
Diet or nutrition;
Sporting events, sporting activities, or services related to sports;

. Travel services, information, or promotion;
Licensed farmers markets, public botanical gardens, or public parks;
Commercial or professional trade organizations;

e

M E @ o Ao

S

-

BART Advertising Content Guidelines
2|Page



Credit unions, investment entities, or financial services;
Zoos, planetariums, or aquariums;

Governmentally funded public broadcast entities; or
Govemment-des1gnated historic sites.

“ 5o

B. Prohibited Advertising Categories

Notwithstanding any provisions in Section A of these Guidelines advertising content that falls into
one or more of the following categories is prohibited in the BART system based on 1ncons1stency
with the goals and Ob_]CCthCS described above: :

1. Political or Public Issue Content. Any material that, when viewed as a whole, can
reasonably be regarded as directly

Supporting or opposmg a political party;

Supporting or opposmg any political or judicial office holder

Supporting or opposing a proposed ballot measure;

Supporting or opposmg a law, ordinance, regulation, or proposed legislation;

Supporting or opposmg a constitutional amendment or amendments; .

Supporting or opposing an active governmental investigation;

Supporting or opposing ongoing civil litigation;

Supporting or opposing ongoing criminal prosecution;

Supporting or opposing a judicial ruling or rulings;

Supporting or opposing a strike, walkout, boycott, protest, divestment, embargo, or

groupings thereof;,

Supporting or opposmg the election of any candidate or group of candldates

Supporting or opposing a policy or policies of a named or identified governmental,

business, or nonproﬁt entity other than the policies of the advertiser itself;

. Supporting or opposing any foreign nation or group of nations or any policy of a

foreign nation or group of nations other than the policies of the advertiser itself;

n. Depicting an image or images of one or more living political or judicial figures or
depicting an image of one or more political or judicial figures that have died within
the last five (5) years;

0. Referring to one or more living political or judicial figures or referring to one or
more political or judicial figures that have died within the last five (5) years; or

p. Using a slogan, symbol, slogans, or symbols associated w1th any prohibited category
of this section B1.

D@ the ae o

=

=

2. Rehglous Content. Any material that, when v1ewed as a whole, can reasonably be regarded
as directly:
a. Promoting or opposing any religion, atheism, spmtual bellefs or agnostlcism
inclusive of images depicting religious iconography occupying 15% or more of any
advertisement frame.

‘BART Advertlsmg Content Guidelines
3|Page



~ 3. Obscene or Vulgar Content. Any material that, when viewed as a whole can reasonably be
regarded as:
a. Meeting the standards for obscenity as set forth in the California Penal Code Section
311 0r .
b. Utlllzmg words, text, symbols, or images recognized by the communlty as extremely
vulgar, indecent, or profane for display in a public setting that includes minors.

4. Unlawful, Unsafe, or Dlsruptlve Content. Any materlal that depicts or, when viewed as a
whole can reasonably be regarded as encouraging or promoting any of the following:

The sale, use, possession, or distribution of goods or services that are unlawful;

A contest or contests that violate applicable law;

Unlawful or unsafe behavior;

Detrimental actions to the maintenance and safe operation of public transportation; or

Graffiti or vandalism.

oo o

5. False, Misleading, or Tortious Content. Any material that depicts or, when viewed as a
whole, can reasonably be regarded as:

False or fraudulent;

Deceptive or misleading;

Copyright, trademark, or patent infringement;

Constituting a tort of libel, trade libel, public disclosure of private facts, intrusion into

private matters, misappropriation of a person’s name or likeness, or depiction in a

. false light; or

e. BART graphics, logos;, or representatlons without the express written consent of
BART, or which implies or declares an endorsement by BART, its directors,
management, or employees, of any service, product, or point of Vlew w1thout prior
written authorization by BART.

oo

6. Content Advertising Specified Goods or Services. Any materlal that directly advertises any
of the following categories of goods or services:

a. Alcohol, or any material that depicts the consumption of alcoholic beverages or signs
of excessive alcohol intoxication;

b. Firearms or non-firearm weapons; 4 :

c. Tobacco, or depictions of tobacco-related products, e-cigarettes, products that
simulate smoking, or products that resemble tobacco products; or

d. “Adult”-oriented goods or services, including the use of brand names, trademarks, or
slogans, for goods or services rated “X” or NC-17 by the Motion Picture Association
of America (“MPAA”), adult book stores, adult video stores, nude dance clubs, adult
telephone services, adult internet sites, or escort services.

Notwithstanding items 6.a. and 6.c. above, depictions of tobacco products or alcohol -

* consumption are permissible to the extent that the purposes of such depictions are non-
commercial and are otherwise advancing a scientific, medical, journalistic, artistic, or public
health objective.

BART Advertlsmg Content Guidelines
4|Page



7. Inappropriate, Offensive, or Violent Content. Any material that, when viewed as a whole,
can reasonably be regarded as depicting or describing any of the following:
a. A graphic or realistic dead, mutilated, or disfigured human body or bodies;
b. A graphic or realistic human body part or body parts in a state of mutilation,
dismemberment, decomposition, or disfigurement; '
c. A fetus or fetuses in a state of mutilation, dismemberment, decomposition, or
disfigurement;
Human or animal excrement, vomit, or graphlc depictions of blood or viscera;
_An act of animal abuse as defined in California Penal Code Section 597;
The act of killing, mutilating, or disfiguring human beings or animals;
Genocide, mass-murder, or war crimes recognized under the laws and customs of
war; :

. Weapons or violent implements, if either appear to be aimed or pointed at the viewer;
Images of firearms, non-firearm weapons, or threatening sharp-edged device in the
foreground of an image or occupying 15% or more of any advertisement image or
frame;

Graphic violence or graphic sexual harassment;

Denigrating public transportation or the mission of BART;

Graphic images that, under contemporary community standards, would be reasonably
considered extremely frightening to minors or the elderly; or »

m. Material that is 1nsult1ng, degrading, disparaging, demeamng, or disrespectful; or ‘

material that belittles or is dismissive of genocide, war crimes, or slavery that is so
objectionable under contemporary community standards as to make it reasonably
foreseeable that the material will result in harm to (including loss of rldershlp)
disruption of, or interference with the transportation system.

S @me A

Lo e

- ADVERTISING PROGRAM ADMINISTRATION

'(2) BART may, from time to time, select “Advertising Contractors” who shall be responsible for the
daily administration of BART’s advertising programs, in a manner consistent with these Guldelmes
and with the terms and conditions of their agreements with BART.

(b) BART shall designate an employee as its “Contract Administrator” to be the prlmary contact for
the Advertlsmg Contractors on issues related to advertising content. Questions regarding the terms,
provisions, and requirements of these Guidelines shall be addressed initially to the Contract
Administrator.

(c) The Advertising Contractors shall comply with these Guidelines, and shall review all advertising
with reference to them. If there is any question as to whether a proposed advertisement falls into a
prohibited category--as outlined in these Guidelines--the Advertising Contractors shall refer that
advertisement to the Department Manager of Marketing and Research, or their designee for review
and consideration. The Department Manager of Marketing and Research or their designee shall
determine whether the proposed advertising will be accepted. In the event that the advertising is
rejected, the advertiser may request in writing that the decision be reconsidered. Upon such request,
the Department Manager of Marketing & Research shall consult with BART’s Office of the General
Counsel and with the Assistant General Manager for External Affairs, or the officer designated by
the General Manager for this purpose. The Assistant General Manager for External Affairs or
General Manager designee, on the basis of such consultation, shall determine whether the proposed
advertising will be accepted or rejected. .

BART Advertising Content Guidelines
5|Page



BART ADVERTISING CONTENT GUIDELINES — OPTION B

OBJECTIVE

Through these guidelines, the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (“BART”), in keeping
with its primary function as a provider of public transportation, does not intend to convert its
property into an open public forum for public discourse, debate, or expressive activity. In furtherance
of the discrete and limited objectives described below, BART shall retain control over the nature of
advertisements accepted for posting in the BART system, and maintain its advertising space as a
nonpublic forum with limited content neutral subject matter restrictions. In setting its advertising
standards, BART seeks to meet the following goals and objectives:

(2) Maintain a secure and orderly operating environment;

(b) Maintain a safe and welcoming environment for all BART passengers, including minors
who use the BART system, without regard to race, color, marital status, sexual
orientation, religion, national origin, ancestry, age, sex, gender identity, disability,
medical condition, or veterans’ status, and avoid claims of discrimination from the
public;

(c) Maintain and increase rldershlp and fare revenue;

- (d) Avoiding unintentional appearance of favorltlsm assomatlon with, or bias towards any
group, movement, or viewpoint; .

(e) Preserve the marketing potential of the advertising space by avoiding content that the
community could view as inappropriate or harmful to the public;

(f) Increase advertising revenue to help support BART service to the public;
() Avoid imposing demeaning or disparaging messages on a captive audience; and

(h) Reduce the diversion of resources from BART objectives caused by controversy
surrounding advertisements.

BART retains the unqualified right to display, on or in its facilities, advertisements and notices that
pertain to BART operations and promotions, consistent with the provisions of its agreement with the
Advertising Contractors. Promotional materials may include, but not be limited to, internal marketing
collateral, BART branding campaigns, and co-promotional campaigns with third parties. Consistent
with the status of the BART premises to which this policy pertains as a nonpublic forum, BART does
not accept free public service announcements. These Guidelines shall be effective upon adoption and
shall be enforced to the degree that it does not impair the obligations of any executed contract. BART
reserves the right, from time to time, to suspend, modify, or revoke the application of any or all of
these Guidelines as it deems necessary to comply with legal mandates, facilitate its primary
transportation function, to ensure the safety or security of BART customers and BART facilities, or
to fulfill the goals and objectives referred.to herein. All provisions of these Guidelines shall be
deemed severable. - '

For purposes of understanding the meaning of advertisements, BART may refer to information
beyond the advertisement including, but not limited to, dictionaries, reviews by authoritative bodies,

BART Advert1s1ng Content Guidelines
1|Page-



or public information regarding the advertlser BART shall assess whether an 1ndependent
reasonably prudent person, knowledgeable of BART’s customer profile and using prevallmg
community standards, would believe that the advertisement complies with the provisions of these
Guidelines. In the case of advertisements that use double entendres or multiple interpretations, all
meanings of the advertisement must comply with these Guidelines. BART reserves the right, in all
circumstances, to require that an advertisement in the BART system include a disclaimer indicating
that such advertising is paid for by the advertiser, stating that "The views expressed in this
advertisement do not reflect the views of BART," or a similar statement, and BART may set
mlmmum size standards for the disclaimer to ensure leglblhty :

ADVERTISING STANDARDS

Prohibited Advertising Categories
Advertising content that falls into one or more of the followmg categories is prohibited in the BART

system based on inconsistency with the goals and objectlves described above:

1. Obscene or Vulgar Content. Any materlal that, when viewed as a whole, can reasonably be
regarded as:
- a. Meeting the standards for obscenity as set forth in the Cahforma Penal Code Sectlon
. 31L;0r
b. Utilizing words, text, symbols, or images recognized by the community as extremely
" wvulgar, indecent, or profane for display in a public setting that includes minors.

2. Unlawful, Unsafe, or Disruptive Content. Any material that depicts or, when viewed as a
- whole, can reasonably be regarded as encouraging or promoting any of the following:

The sale, use, possession, or distribution of goods or services that are unlawful;

A contest or contests that violate applicable law;

Unlawful or unsafe behavior; '

Detrimental actions to the maintenance and safe operation of public transportatlon or

Graffiti or vandalism. ’ '

oo

3. False, Misleading, or Tortious Content. Any material that depicts or, when viewed as a
whole, can reasonably be regarded as:
‘ False or fraudulent;

Deceptive or misleading;

Copyright, trademark, or patent infringement;

Constituting a tort of libel, trade libel, public disclosure of private facts, intrusion into

private matters, mlsapproprlatlon of a person’s name or likeness, or depiction in a

false light; or

e. BART graphics, logos, or representations without the express written consent of
BART, or which implies or declares an endorsement by BART, its directors,
management, or employees, of any service, product or point of view, without prlor
written authorization by BART.

e TP g

BART Advertlsmg Content Guidelines
2|Page



4. Content Advertising Specified Goods or Services. Any material that directly advertises any
of the following categories of goods or services:

a. Alcohol, or any material that depicts the consumption of alcoholic beverages or signs
of excessive alcohol intoxication; '

b.  Firearms or non-firearm weapons;

c. Tobacco, or depictions of tobacco-related products, e-cigarettes, products that
simulate smoking, or products that resemble tobacco products; or

d. “Adult”-oriented goods or services, including the use of brand names, trademarks, or
slogans, for goods or services rated “X” or NC-17 by the Motion Picture Association
of America (“MPAA”), adult book stores, adult video stores, nude dance clubs, adult
telephone services, adult internet sites, or escort services.

Notwithstanding items 4.a. and 4.c. above, depictions of tobacco products or alcohol
consumption are permissible to the extent that the purposes of such depictions are non-
commercial and are otherwise advancing a scientific, medical, Joumahstxc artistic, or public
health objective.

5. Inappropriate, Offensive, or Violent Content. Any material that, when viewed as a whole,
can reasonably be regarded as depicting or describing any of the following:
a. A graphic or realistic dead, mutilated, or disfigured human body or bodies;
b. ‘A graphic or realistic human body part or body parts in a state of mutilation,
dismemberment, decomposition, or disfigurement; -
c. A fetus or fetuses in a state of mutilation, dismemberment, decomposition, or
disfigurement;
Human or animal excrement, vomit, or graphic depictions of blood or viscera;
An act of animal abuse as defined in California Penal Code Section 597;
The act of killing, mutilating, or disfiguring human beings or animals;
Genocide, mass-murder, or war crimes recognized under the laws and customs of
war; : :
Weapons or violent implements, if either appear to be aimed or pointed at the viewer;
Images of firearms, non-firearm weapons, or threatening sharp-edged device in the
foreground of an image or occupylng 15% or more of any advertisement image or
frame;
Graphic violence or graphic sexual harassment
Denigrating public transportation or the mission of BART; , ,
Graphic images that, under contemporary community standards, would be reasonably -
considered extremely frightening to minors or the elderly; or
m. Material that is insulting, degrading, disparaging, demeaning, or disrespectful; or
material that belittles or is dismissive of genocide, war crimes, or slavery that is so
objectionable under contemporary community standards as to make it reasonably
foreseeable that the material will result in harm to (including loss of ridership),
disruption of, or interference with the transportation system.

~ 5 @ o A

—

BART Advertlsmg Content Guidelines -
3|Page



ADVERTISING PROGRAM ADMINISTRATION

(a) BART may, from time to time, select “Advertising Contractors” who shall be responsible for the
daily administration of BART’s advertising programs, in a manner consistent with these Guidelines
and with the terms and conditions of their agreements with BART.

(b) BART shall designate an employee as its “Contract Administrator” to be the primary contact for
the Advertising Contractors on issues related to advertising content. Questions regarding the terms,
provisions, and requirements of these Guidelines shall be addressed initially to the Contract
Administrator.

(c) The Advertising Contractors shall comply with these Guidelines, and shall review all advertising
‘with reference to them. If there is any question as to whether a proposed advertisement falls into a
prohibited category--as outlined in these Guidelines--the Advertising Contractors shall refer that
advertisement to the Department Manager of Marketing and Research, or their designee for review
and consideration. The Department Manager of Marketing and Research or their designee shall
determine whether the proposed advertlsmg will be accepted. In the event that the advertising is
rejected, the advertiser may request in writing that the decision be reconsidered. Upon such request,
the Department Manager of Marketing & Research shall consult with BART’s Office of the General
Counsel and with the Assistant General Manager for External Affairs, or the officer designated by
the General Manager for this purpose. The Assistant General Manager for External Affairs or
General Manager designee, on the basis of such consultatlon shall determine whether the proposcd
advertising w1ll be accepted or rejected.

BART Advertising Content Guidelines
4|Page



EXECUTIVE DECISION DOCUMENT

GENERAL MANAGER APPROVAL: GENERAL MANAGER ACTION REQ'D:
] z 9 Noy ZOG& Approve and Forward to the Board
JZE A
DATE: 11/8/2018 BOARD INITIATED ITEM: No
Originator/Prepared by: Joseph Basuino enegal Counsel Controller/Treasurer| District Secretary

Dept: Real Estate and Property

Development

@‘m‘ém\/
Si% ”/Dz;»;m- /-26-18 !l/@q/,g C1] “/MM)[ ] [ ]
. —

I Status: Routed I Date Created: 11/8/2018 . I

Award of Agreement 6M4604, Stationary Engineering Services for 101 8th Street,
Oakland, CA ('"MetroCenter'")

PURPOSE: v
To obtain Board authorization for the General Manager to award Agreement 6M4604,
Stationary Engineering Services, to ABM Industry Groups LLC.

- DISCUSSION:

BART purchased the Joseph P. Bort MetroCenter from the Metropolitan Transportation
Commission (“MTC”) on June 22, 2017. At the time of the sale, the building

systems maintenance staff was comprised of MTC employees. These employees were re-
assigned to MTC’s new office located at 375 Beale St., San Francisco, CA after the sale.

The Metro Center is a four-story office building of approximately 118,000 square feet of
gross area. The building has the typical equipment found in similar office buildings including
but not limited to: chillers, condensing units, vane air flow valves, boilers, water heaters, air
handling units, air conditioning for server rooms, sewage pumps, storm water pumps, fire
alarms, fire sprinklers, elevators, and other related equipment. Operation, maintenance,

. repair, and spare part management requires individuals specifically trained to manage this
type of facility.

The third floor and portions of the first and second floors of the building are used as
BART's police headquarters. The police dispatch center occupies a portion of the ground
floor. The rest of the second floor is being occupied by the Building Manager and
Maintenance and Engineering staff, as well as Transportation staff. A majority of the first



6M4604, Stationary Engineering, MetroCenter

floor is rented to one non-profit organization, Asian Health Services. A commercial kitchen
is located on the first floor but it is closed. Due to the police operations, this building is in
operation 24 hours per day, 365 days per year.

Because of the 24 hour use of the building, its critical importance to police operations and
the building's age, two stationary engineers, also known as building engineers, are needed to
operate and maintain the infrastructure, systems and equipment for the building. The scope
of the work requires a chief level and journey level stationary engineer to work split shifts so
that there will be coverage in place for approximately 12 hours per day, Monday through
Friday.

This contract specifically applies to the Joseph P. Bort MetroCenter. The Scope of Work
for this contract includes, but is not limited to labor to install, repair, maintain, and manage
the building infrastructure and related equipment.

It should be noted that in September 2018, the BART Board selected a transit-oriented
(TOD) development team that is eventually expected to dismantle the MetroCenter building
and construct high-rise development on the site. Investments and staffing for the
MetroCenter are taking that into account.

The District, through the efforts from the Contract Administration Division and the Office of
Civil Rights, provided advanced notice to seven hundred twenty-two (722) prospective
bidders on September 6, 2018. The potential Contract was advertised in several
publications, starting September 7, through September 20, 2018 and posted to the BART
Procurement Portal on September 7, 2018. A Pre-Proposal Meeting was held on September
20, 2018. A total of 16 firms downloaded copies of the Request of Proposal.

On October 16, 2018, the District received a total of 2 propdsals, which are shown in Table
1 below:

Table 1
Proposer Proposal Prices (Corrected)
ABM Industry Groups LLC (""ABM”)
Base 3 Years: $1,391,586.00
Option Year 4: . $ 505,117.00
Option Year 5: $ 522,486.00
Total Proposal Price: $2,419,189.00
ABLE Services: _
Base 3 Years: $2,555,844.30
Option Year 4: . $ 929,140.02
Option Year 5: $ 979,224.84
Total Proposal Price: $4,464,209.16




6MA4604, Stationary Engineering, MetroCenter

District staff reviewed and evaluated both proposals and determined that ABM was the
lowest responsive proposer. ABM's proposal price was 45.6% below
the proposed price submitted by the next lowest proposer, ABLE Services.

Pursuant to the District's Non-Federal Small Business Program, the Office of Civil Rights set
a 5% Small Business Prime Preference for this Agreement for Small Businesses certified by
the California Department of General Services ("DGS"). It was determined that there were
no certified Small Businesses certified by the DGS among the responsive Proposers and,
therefore, the Small Business Prime Preference is not applicable.

Pursuant to the District's Non-Discrimination Program for Subcontracting, the Availability
Percentages for this Agreement are 5.5%for MBEs and 2.8% for WBEs. ABM will not be
subcontracting any portion of the Work and therefore, the provisions of the District's Non-
Discrimination Program for Subcontracting do not apply.

FISCAL IMPACT:

The subject EDD proposes a five (5) year Stationary Engmeermg contract at a total cost of
$2,426,717 from January 1, 2019 — December 31, 2023. Funds will be budgeted in the Real
Estate and Property Development operating budget (Department 1011275-RE&PD Financial
Admin, account 681300- Professional & Technical Services) as follows:

Proposed Funding
FY19* $232,762.33
FY 20 $ 465,524.67
FY 21 $ 465,524.67
FY 22 $ 485,606.83
FY 23 $515,071.50
FY24* $262,227.00
Total $2,426,717.00
*FY19 and FY24 funding is not for a full Fiscal Year. Funding is expected to begin 1/1/19.

Funding for services in this Fiscal Year are included in the Department’s existing operating
budget. Real Estate and Property Development will be requesting additional ongoing
funding for subsequent years to be mcluded in the proposed annual operating budget, which
is subject to Board approval.

This action is not anticipated to have any Fiscal Impact on unprogrammed District reserves
in the current Fiscal Year.



6M4604, Stationary Engineering, MetroCenter

ALTERNATIVES: v
Do not approve the current agreement and have a combination of BART staff and outside
vendors implement building repairs as components break down.

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the Board adopt the following Motion.

MOTION:

The General Manager is authorized to award Agreement No. 6M4604, Stationary Engineering
Services, in the amount not to exceed $1,396,574 to ABM Industry Groups LLC, pursuant
to notification to be issued by the General Manager and subject to the District's Protest
Procedures. The General Manager is also authorized to exercise the option for Year 4 in the

amount not to exceed $505,689 and the option for Year 5 in the amount not to exceed
$524,454.



SAN FRAN CISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

MEMORANDUM

TO: Board of Directors DATE: November 28, 2018
FROM: General Manager
SUBJECT: Assembly Bill 2923 Implementation Plan Update

On September 30, 2018, Governor Brown signed Assembly Bill 2923, co-authored by
Assemblymembers David Chiu and Timothy Grayson. At the Dec. 6, 2018 Board meeting, staff
will provide an overview of the bill, what this means for the BART Transit-Oriented
Development Program and an initial implementation approach. Attached is the presentation for
discussion.

If you have any questions, please contact Carl. Holmes, Assistant General Manager, Planning,
Development and Construction at (510) 464-7592.

g rom ;
‘ér/Grace Crunican

cc: Board Appointed Officers
Deputy General Manager
Executive Staff

Attachment



Before the Board of Directors of the
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Resolution Commending
THOMAS M. BLALOCK, P.E.
For Meritorious Service
ResolutionNo._

WHEREAS, Thomas M. Blalock served as a member of the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay Area
Rapid Transit District from December 6, 1994, to December 7, 2018, tied for the longest tenure for an elected
representative on the Board, and his service included terms as President in 2000, 2009, and 2015, and Vice
President in 1999, 2008 and 2014; and -

WHEREAS, the notable service of Director Blalock included terms as Chairperson of the Board’s Administration
Committee, Engineering and Operations Committee, and Planning, Public Affairs, Access, and Legislation
- Committee, as well as Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and member on numerous other committees of the Board,;
and _

WHEREAS, Director Blalock expertly represehted the District on transportation Boards throughout the region,
including the Capitol Corridor Joint Powers Authority, the San Joaquin Joint Powers Author1ty, the Altamont
Commuter Express, and the Alameda County Transportation Commission; and

WHEREAS, during Director Blalock’s long and distinguished career as an engineer he served as City Engineer
and as Public Works Director for the City of Fremont; and he has earned recognition from the American Society
of Civil Engineers, serving as President of the San Francisco Section and receiving the Harland Bartholomew
Award; he received the Samuel A. Greely Award from the American Public Works Association in 1991, chaired
the City of Fremont’s Downtown Planning Advisory Committee in 1996, and received the Award of Distinction
from his alma mater of San Jose State University in 2000; and

WHEREAS, Director Blalock’s wisdom and steadfast determination guided the District through financial cycles
both robust and belt-tightening to successful implementation of fiscally responsible projects such as the two.
systemwide rehabilitation programs, the Farthquake Safety Program, and the development of the Fleet of the
Future; and .

WHEREAS, Director Blalock’s tenure on the Board oversaw momentous expansion of the system in the counties
of Alameda, Contra Costa, and San Mateo, including Extensions to Pittsburg/Bay Point, Dublin/Pleasanton, the
San Francisco Airport extension to Millbrae, the Oakland Airport Connector, and BART to Antioch; and

WHEREAS, as a champion of the expansion of BART to the Silicon Valley, Director Blalock has tirelessly shared
his vision and expertise, resulting in construction of the long-awaited extension into Santa Clara County, and the
opening of the beautiful Warm Springs/South Fremont Station in 2017,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid
Transit District does hereby take public cognizance of the immeasurable contributions Mr. Blalock has made to
the citizens of the South Bay and to the cause of public transportation, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a suitably engrossed copy of this Resolution be tendered to Thomas M.
Blalock as a token of the high esteem in which Director Blalock is held by the members of the San Francisco Bay
Area Rapid Transit District Board of Directors.

Adopted by the Board of Directors
of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
December 6, 2018

ATTEST:

Patricia K. Williams Robert Raburn
District Secretary ' : President



Before the Board of Directors of the
SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Resolution Commending
JOEL KELLER
For Meritorious Service
' Resolution No.

WHEREAS, Joel Keller served as a member of the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid
Transit District from December 14, 1994, to December 7, 2018, and his service included terms as President in
. 2002, 2005, and 2014, and Vice President in 1998, 2001, 2004, and 2013; and

WHEREAS, the distinguished service of Director Keller included terms as Chairperson of the Board’s
Administration Committee, Engineering and Operations Committee, and Strategic Planning Committee, as
well as Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and member on numerous other committees of the Board, including
serving for decades on the Capitol Corridor Joint Powers Authority Board and playing an instrumental role in
the formation of the BART Police Citizen Review Board; and

WHEREAS, Director Keller’s dedication to the citizens of Eastern Contra Costa County included serving as
Mayor of Antioch, a member of Antioch City Council, Commissioner of the Delta Protection Commission,
Chair of both the Contra Costa Transportation Authority Board and Contra Costa Mayor's Conference, the
founding Chair of Delta 2000, and a Board member of Association of Bay Area Governments, Delta Diablo
Sanitation District, Tri-Delta Transit, Highway 4 By-Pass Authority, United Way of the Bay Area, and
Transplan; and

WHEREAS, Director Keller’s guidance and foresight were instrumental in the successful completion of major

programs of improvement for the District, resulting in public support and funding for a $1.2 billion renovation

of the system in the mid-1990s, the Earthquake Safety Program in 2004, and in 2016 the passage of Measure
-RR, a $3.5 billion bond measure to fund the Safety, Reliability, and Traffic Relief Program; and

WHEREAS, Director Keller’s strong leadership during his tenure on the Board has contributed immeasurably
to amazing expansion of the District’s services, with extensions built to the San Francisco International
Airport, Oakland International Airport, Dublin/Pleasanton, Warm Springs/South Fremont, and Pittsburg/Bay
Point; and _ :

WHEREAS, through participation in countless community events, meetings, and presentations, Director
Keller proudly officiated at the opening of the long-awaited BART to Antioch extension;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid
Transit District does hereby take public cognizance of the immeasurable contributions Mr. Keller has made to
the citizens of the District and to the cause of public transportation; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a suitably engrossed copy of this Resolution be tendered to Joel Keller as
a token of the high esteem in which Director Keller is held by the members of the San Francisco Bay Area
Rapid Transit District Board of Directors.

Adopted by the Board of Directors '
of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
December 6, 2018

ATTEST:

Patricia K. Williams Robert Raburn
District Secretary President




SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA
RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Annual Financial Report

For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Certified
Public
Accountants






SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Table of Contents
Page(s)
Independent AUditor’s REPOIL...........cooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii ettt e et e e eettee e setaeeeesnbreeesenraeaeesnsaeeesnns 1
Management’s Discussion and ANALYSIS ............ccccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 3
Basic Financial Statements
Proprietary Fund — Enterprise Fund
Statements Of NEt POSITION ........oiuiiiiiiieieee ettt ettt ettt et eteeeeens 14
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net POSition..........cccceccveeveieeeviieenveeecveeennn. 17
Statements Of Cash FIOWS.......ccuiiiiiiiiiiieiee ettt 18
Fiduciary Fund — Retiree Health Benefit Trust
Statements Of Trust Net POSTHON ...c.cocueiuiiiiiiiiieiieiee e 20
Statements of Changes in Trust Net POSTHON. .......coeeoieririiniiniiienecseeee e 21
Notes to Financial Statements
1. Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies........c..cccevereevenennenne. 22
2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and INVEStMENTS ..........ccveerireiiieeiieeeie e e e eveeeieeeseveeeveeesenee e 28
3. Receivables and Other ASSELS .......cccivieiierieieieiee ettt see st e ee e eneenea 38
T O o) QN1 USSR 39
5. Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities .........ccccoviririeniniiiiniiieicneceeeeceeese e 41
6. LoNG-TerMm DEDL......coiiiiiiiiiiie et ettt e et e e tbe e s beeebbeessseeenraeessseeennes 42
7. RiSK MaNQ@EIMENL.......ccciiiiiiiieiieiieseeseeeee et e eteebeeteeseessaestaessaessseesseesseesseesssesssensseenseenses 55
8. Federal Capital Contributions and Operating Financial AsSiStance..........c.ccecevereeenencennens 56
9. State and Local Operating and Capital Financial ASSiStance.........c.ccceeeeveeevveerveencreeennveennne. 57
10. Employees’ Retirement BEenefits.........cccvierciiieiiiiiiiiriie ettt 60
11. Money Purchase Pension PIan ............ccccccveciiiiiiiienienieniecieceeieeee et 75
12. Other Postemployment Benefits.........cccccueieciiiiiieiiiecieeeiie ettt ettt 76
13. Board of DireCtors” EXPEISES. . ....ccvuierierieeieereeiiesieereereesteeseresresssessseesseesssesssesssesssesssesssens 96
14. Related Organizations and Joint Venture Projects .........c.ccoecvvvevirciierienienienie e 96
15. Commitments and CONtINGENCIES........c.eeevirerieerierreerieerieesresresreareesseesseesssesssesseesseesseessaens 101
Required Supplementary Information
Defined Benefit Pension Plan
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios ............ccccoeeveeeviiienieeineenne, 103
Schedule of Employer Pension CONtribULIONS .........c..covervieiieriieniienieniesresreereesseeseesssesenesenas 105
Other Postemployment Benefits
Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios..........cccceeveeviieecieeniee e, 107

Schedule of Employer OPEB ContribUtioNsS..........cccvecviiiiiiierieeriiesieeseesreere e eveeseesenesenesenas 110





Certified
Public
Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors of the San Francisco
Bay Area Rapid Transit District
Oakland, California

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Enterprise Fund and the Retiree Health
Benefit Trust Fund of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the District) as of and for the
years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Macias Gini & O'Connell LLP
2121 N. California Boulevard, Suite 750
Walnut Creek, CA 94596 www.mgocpa.com





Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the Enterprise Fund and the Retiree Health Benefit Trust Fund of the District
as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash
flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis, the schedule of changes in net pension liability and related ratios, the schedule of
employer pension contributions, the schedule of changes in net Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB)
liability and related ratios, and the schedule of employer OPEB contributions identified in the
accompanying table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB), who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency
with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
November 26, 2018 on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the District’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
District’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Mac/'ats é!:hf /C(/ @ )&Mz// @

Walnut Creek, California
November 26, 2018





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Introduction

The following discussion and analysis of the financial performance and activity of the San Francisco Bay
Area Rapid Transit District (the District) provide an introduction and understanding of the basic financial
statements of the District for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. This discussion was prepared by
management and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes thereto, which
follow this section.

The District is an independent agency created in 1957 by the legislature of the State of California for the
purpose of providing an adequate, modern, interurban mass rapid transit system in the various portions of
the metropolitan area surrounding the San Francisco Bay. The District started its revenue operations in
September 1972. It presently owns a 121-mile, 48-station system serving the four counties of Alameda,
Contra Costa, San Francisco and San Mateo. The governance of the District is vested in a Board of
Directors composed of nine members, each representing an election district within the District.

The Financial Statements

The basic financial statements provide information about the District’s Enterprise Fund and the Retiree
Health Benefit Trust. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB).

Overview of the Enterprise Fund Financial Statements

The Statements of Net Position reports assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and the difference as net position. The entire equity section is combined to report total net
position and is displayed in three components - net investment in capital assets; restricted net position; and
unrestricted net position.

The net position component net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowings attributable to the acquisition,
construction or improvements of those assets.

Restricted net position consists of assets where constraints on their use are either (a) externally imposed by
creditors (such as debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or
(b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Unrestricted net position consists of net position that does not meet the definition of restricted or net
investment in capital assets. This net position component includes net position that has been designated by
management for specific purposes, which in the case of the District include allocations to fund capital
projects, and other liabilities, which indicate that management does not consider them to be available for
general operations.

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position consist of operating and nonoperating
revenues and expenses based upon definitions provided by GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions, as amended by GASB Statement No. 36, Recipient
Reporting for Certain Shared Nonexchange Revenues, and GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial
Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments, as amended by
GASB Statement No. 37, Basic Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for State
and Local Governments: Omnibus. Accordingly, significant recurring sources of the District’s revenues,
such as capital contributions, are reported separately, after nonoperating revenues and expenses.





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Statements of Cash Flows are presented using the direct method and include a reconciliation of operating
loss to net cash used in operating activities.

Financial Highlights

In fiscal year 2015, the District implemented required changes to accounting and reporting for pensions. In
2017, the District also implemented required changes in accounting and reporting for OPEB. Due to limited
available information, fiscal year 2016 amounts were not restated for GASB 75.

Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

A summary of the District’s Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position for fiscal
years 2018, 2017 and 2016 is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

2018 2017 2016

Operating revenues $ 546,614 $ 547,100 $ 545800
Operating expenses, net (992,816) (908,065) (834,746)

Operating loss (446,202) (360,965) (288,946)
Nonoperating revenues, net 410,173 365,962 292,586
Capital contributions 233,728 342270 328,123
Special item (20,486) - -

Change in net position 177,213 347,267 331,763
Net position, beginning of year, as restated 6,374,621 6,027,354 6,017,192
Net position, end of year $ 6,551,834 $ 6,374,621 $ 6,348,955

Operating Revenues

In fiscal year 2018, operating revenues decreased slightly by $486,000. Passenger fares decreased by
$3,891,000 in the current fiscal year due to 2.2% decline in average weekday trips from 423,395 average
weekday trips in fiscal year 2017 to 414,166 average weekday trips in fiscal year 2018. Total passenger
trips in fiscal year 2018 declined by 2.9% from 124,200,000 passenger trips in fiscal year 2017 to
120,600,000 passenger trips in fiscal year 2018. The decrease in passenger fares in fiscal year 2018 were
offset mainly by (1) increase of $1,054,000 in parking revenue mainly from the full year operation of the
Warm Springs Station in fiscal year 2018 compared to three months in fiscal year 2017, and from parking
revenues generated in Antioch Station and eBART Pittsburg Center Station (eBART), which opened in
May 2018; (2) increase of $1,773,000 in advertising revenue primarily from increase in the minimum
annual guaranteed amount per advertising agreement and from train wrap advertising; and (3) increase of
$1,009,000 in fines and forfeitures due to approved citation fee increase implemented in January 2017.

In fiscal year 2017, operating revenues increased by $1,300,000 primarily due to (1) an increase of
$1,567,000 in parking revenue due to higher parking rates implemented at some stations during fiscal year
2017; (2) increase in other revenue of $2,000,000 from settlements received from Pacific Gas & Electric
and from Penn Machine; (3) increase of $510,000 in traffic fines; (4) increase of $582,000 in advertising
revenue; (5) increase of $634,000 in fees and permits; and offset by (6) a slight decrease of $3,909,000 in
passenger fares principally due to decrease in ridership; average weekday ridership in fiscal year 2017 was
423,395 trips, a decrease of 2.3% from the prior fiscal year.





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Operating Expenses, Net

In fiscal year 2018, net operating expenses increased by $84,751,000 primarily due to (1) an increase of
$59,956,000 in net salaries and benefits from (a) an increase of $25,630,000 in employee wages from an
additional 227 net positions hired in fiscal year 2018 and from wage increases per contractual labor
agreements; (b) an increase of $1,176,000 in health insurance expense due to increase in the number of
employees insured as well as slight increase in insurance premium, offset by a 3% increase in employee
contribution which started on January 1, 2018; (c¢) an increase of $12,783,000 in overtime primarily due to
pre-opening work on the new eBART extension, which opened in May 2018, and from work related to
capital projects that are done during non-business hours, which required occasional station closures and
additional personnel to minimize disruptions or inconvenience to passengers; (d) increase of $41,412,000
in net pension expense recognized based on actuarially determined valuation under the GASB 68
requirement; e) increase of $4,834,000 in other benefits for costs of leave benefits earned, medicare
contributions and other expenses that moved in tandem with increase in wages; and offset by (f) net decrease
of $2,757,000 in other postemployment benefit expenses associated with the adoption of GASB 75 which
requires recognition of postemployment benefit expenses based on actuarially determined valuation; (g) no
lump sum payment was due in fiscal year 2018 which resulted in a savings of $1,785,000; (h) a decrease
in labor expenses of $21,337,000 from increase in labor reimbursements charged to capital grants; (2) an
increase of $27,905,000 in depreciation expense primarily from catch up depreciation related to the change
in the estimated economic life of existing rail fleet; (3) decrease of $3,011,000 in miscellaneous expenses
primarily due to election expenses and settlements related to safety issues incurred in fiscal year 2017; (4)
increase of $1,094,000 in traction power due to higher transmission costs, offset by lower price of
electricity; (5) decrease of $1,042,000 in rent expense due to one time savings from discounted rent for the
Lakeside lease and ongoing rent savings due to the purchase of the Metro Center building; (6) decrease of
$3,823,000 in uninsured public liability insurance due to catch up made in fiscal year 2017 to shore up the
self-insured reserves to align with the actuarial valuation; (7) increase of $5,674,000 in provision for
obsolete inventories; and (8) decrease of $3,250,000 in professional and technical services mostly from
reduction in escalator and elevator repairs and strategic maintenance related expenses.

In fiscal year 2017, net operating expenses increased by $73,319,000 primarily due to (1) an increase of
$76,054,000 in salaries and benefits principally from (a) an increase of $31,851,000 in employee wages
from an additional 295 net positions hired in fiscal year 2017 as a result of initiative to fill existing vacancies
and to fill new positions related to the opening of the Warm Springs Extension and eBART Extension, and
from wage increases per contractual labor agreements; (b) an increase of $3,495,000 in health insurance
expense due to increase in the number of employees insured as well as slight increase in insurance premium;
(c) net increase of $11,078,000 in other postemployment benefit expenses associated with the adoption of
GASB 75 which requires recognition of postemployment benefit expenses based on actuarially determined
valuation; (d) increase of $36,117,000 in net pension expense recognized based on the GASB 68
requirement ; and offset by (e) a decrease of $4,852,000 in overtime as part of cost cutting measures
implemented in fiscal year 2017 to balance the budget due to decrease in passenger fares from lower
ridership; and (f) decrease of $1,712,000 in lump sum annual payments to employees based on ridership
performance in fiscal year 2017; (2) a decrease of $4,575,000 in depreciation expense due to higher expense
recognized in fiscal year 2016 from catch up in depreciation recognized for assets capitalized in fiscal year
2016 related to completed projects, which include among others the Oakland Airport Connector and a
portion of the Seismic Upgrade Project; (3) a decrease in labor expenses of $13,039,000 from increase in
labor reimbursements charged to capital grants; (4) increase of $5,120,000 in general liability insurance
due to higher claims and to bring the reserve balance to actuarially determined amount; (5) increase of
$5,095,000 in rental expense from a combination of rent escalation in existing lease agreements and due to
lower expense recognized in fiscal year 2016 from a one-time adjustment associated with closing the
remaining unamortized balance of a deferred rent account established under a prior accounting
pronouncement; and (6) increase of $2,620,000 in miscellaneous expenses primarily from election related
expenses.





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Nonoperating Revenues, Net

In fiscal year 2018, nonoperating revenues, net, increased by $44,211,000 primarily from (1) an increase
of $15,976,000 in property tax revenue earmarked based on required debt service payments for the General
Obligation Bonds; (2) an increase of $4,079,000 in property tax revenue for general operations due to
continued rise in property valuations in the San Francisco Bay Area; (3) an increase of $10,697,000 or
about 4.3% in sales tax revenue provided by the strong economy in the San Francisco Bay Area; (4) increase
of $8,341,000 in interest income due to higher interest rates earned from investments; (5) increase of
$4,170,000 due to decrease in debt issuance expense since there was only a single bond issuance in fiscal
year 2018 compared to three bond issuances in fiscal year 2017; (6) increase of $52,548,000 in net non-
operating revenue due to non-payment of contribution to MTC for BART car replacement program in fiscal
year 2018 since there were no preventive maintenance grant received in fiscal year 2018; and offset by (7)
decrease of $22,333,000 in operating financial assistance principally from (a) decrease of $ 57,783,000 in
federal financial assistance primarily due to absence of $56,548,000 in preventive maintenance grant
received in fiscal year 2017; offset by (b) an increase of $16,690,000 in State Transit Assistance revenue
partially attributable from the passage of Senate Bill 1 (SB1) which provided new formula-based funding
for public transit and the receipt of $6,102,000 in STA grant funds dedicated for “state of good repair”; and
(c) an increase of $18,417,000 from the sale of low carbon fuel system credits; (8) a decrease of $4,423,000
due to increase in interest expense principally from the full year recognition of interest expense on the
Measure RR bonds which were issued in June 2017; and (9) decrease of $24,839,000 due to gain from
exchange of property recognized in fiscal year 2017 and $0 in the current fiscal year.

In fiscal year 2017, nonoperating revenues, net, increased by $73,376,000 primarily from (1) an increase
of $4,275,000 in operating financial assistance principally from a $4,000,000 Federal Transit
Administration (FTA) grant allocated to an operating preventive maintenance project; (2) an increase of
$39,778,000 in property tax revenue earmarked based on required debt service payments for the General
Obligation Bonds; (3) an increase of $3,536,000 in property tax revenue for general operations due to
continued rise in property valuations in the San Francisco Bay Area; (4) an increase of $5,638,000 or about
2.3% in sales tax revenue as the economy in the San Francisco Bay Area continues to expand; (5) increase
0f $995,000 in interest income due to slightly higher interest rates earned from investments (6) an increase
of $17,555,000 in gain from exchange of property associated with the land swap with McArthur Transit
Community Partners, LLC; (7) a decrease of $7,794,000 in interest expense principally from lower
outstanding principal balances of Sales Tax Revenue Bonds and Measure AA General Obligation Bonds
and from lower interest rates due to refunding; and offset by (8) increase of $3,874,000 in debt issuance
costs associated with the issuances of the 2017 Measure AA General Obligation Refunding Bonds, 2016A
Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, and the first series of Measure RR General Obligation Bonds (see
Note 6); and (9) an increase of $2,372,000 in the amount of transfer made to the Metropolitan
Transportation Commission (MTC) for restricted account established to fund the District’s rail car
replacement project (see Note 8).

Capital Contributions

The revenues from capital contributions relate to grants and other financial assistance received by the
District from federal, state and local agencies to fund capital projects. The District receives mostly
reimbursement-type grants of which the District has to first incur eligible costs under the provider’s
program before qualifying for the grant resources. Revenues from capital contributions are recognized at
the time when the eligible project costs are incurred.

In fiscal year 2018, revenue from capital contributions decreased by $108,542,000 primarily from (1) net
decrease of $2,466,000 in funding from Alameda County Transportation Commission (ACTC) Measure B
as project expenses for the Warm Springs Extension (Warm Springs) continued to wind down due to
completion of the extension in March 2017, offset by increase in expenditures for the Livermore Extension





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

which was discontinued in the current fiscal year (see Note 4); (2) decrease of $21,422,000 in funding
received from East Contra Costa Transportation Regional Fee and Financing Authority (ECCRFFA) due
to completion of eBART; (3) decrease of $41,822,000 in Regional Measure funds received from MTC
primarily due to the winding down of expenses incurred for e BART and Warm Springs; (4) net decrease
0f $6,300,000 in Bridge Toll funds received for expenses incurred associated with the Livermore Extension
and other miscellaneous projects, offset by increase in grants received for eBART; (5) decrease of
$17,756,000 in grants received from Valley Transportation Authority (VTA) for the Hayward Maintenance
Complex Project (HMC); (6) decrease of $1,562,000 in grants received from Union City for the Union City
Intermodal Project; (7) decrease of $2,780,000 from funds received from Sprint due to completion of the
Radio System Re-banding Project in previous year; (8) net decrease of $9,877,000 received from the High
Speed Passenger Train Bond Funds due to decrease in amount expended for HMC offset by increase in
project costs incurred for the Rail Car Procurement Project; (9) net decrease of $26,433,000 received from
the FTA; and offset by (10) net increase of $ 4,673,000 in Measure J funds received from Contra Costa
Transportation Authority (CCTA) principally for El Cerrito Del Norte Gateway and the Concord Intermodal
Project; offset by decrease in funding for e(BART which was completed in May 2018; (11) increase of
$2,069,000 from ACTC Measure F for the Berkeley Plaza Improvement Project; (12) net increase of
$1,838,000 in San Francisco County Transportation Authority Proposition K funds received for the Balboa
Eastside Improvement Project; (13) net increase of $3,527,000 in Proposition 1B Public Transportation,
Modernization, Improvement, and Service Enhancement Account (PTMISEA) funds received attributable
primarily for expenses incurred in various stations modernization projects; (14) increase of $8,001,000 in
funds received from the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) and from the State’s Proposition 1B
Security grants for various security related projects; and (15) increase of $1,572,000 in funds received from
the State Water Resources Control Board for the Lafayette Parking project.

In fiscal year 2017, revenue from capital contributions increased by $14,147,000 primarily from (1) a net
increase in revenue of $8,902,000 from grants received from the State of California mostly due to (a) an
increase of $24,611,000 in High Speed Passenger Train Bond Funds grants received for the rail car
procurement and HMC projects; (b) a decrease of $11,208,000 from various projects funded by PTMISEA;
(c) a decrease of $2,840,000 in security related grants funded by the State; (d) $3,102,000 increase in
funding for the Union City Phase 2 Intermodal project; and (e) a decrease of $4,665,000 in other grants
received from the California Department of Transportation for the Warm Springs Extension project due to
completion of the project in fiscal year 2017; (2) an increase of $25,339,000 due to funds received from
ECCRFFA offset by a decrease of $1,597,000 in CCTA Measure J funds for e BART; (3) an increase of
$12,635,000 for the HMC project funded by VTA; (4) an increase of $5,816,000 from San Francisco
Municipal Transportation Agency for reimbursements received for joint use projects for various stations in
San Francisco;(5) an increase of $3,392,000 from Sprint for the 800Mhz radio project; (6) a net increase
of $8,055,000 in MTC Regional Measure 2 and ACTC Measure B funding for Warm Springs; and offset
by (7) anet decrease of $9,224,000 from federal fund sources primarily due to (a) a decrease of $5,753,000
in DHS grants revenue for security related projects; and (b) a decrease of $3,471,000 from slightly lower
utilization of grants funded by the FTA; (8) a decrease of $4,731,000 in grants received from Union City
for the Phase 2 Intermodal project; and (9) a net decrease of $35,999,000 from funds received from ACTC
Measure B funds , CCTA Measure J funds, from City of Pittsburg, and from Regional Measure 1 and AB
1171 received from MTC for eBART as it gets closer to completion.

The major additions in fiscal years 2018 and 2017 to capital projects are detailed on page 11.





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Special Item

The special item reported in fiscal year 2018 is related to the project costs, excluding the cost of land
acquired, incurred through June 30, 2018, associated with the proposed Livermore Extension. At its May
24, 2018 Board meeting, the BART Board voted not to advance the Proposed Conventional BART
Extension to Livermore. The Board also voted to not advance the DMU/EMU Alternative, Express
Bus/BRT Alternative or the Enhanced Bus Alternative. The cumulative costs of the Livermore Extension
Project associated with conceptual engineering and project level environment impact report incurred
through June 30, 2018, which amounts to $20,486,000, were written off and recognized as a special item
loss from discontinued project (see Note 4).

Condensed Statements of Net Position

A comparison of the District’s Statements of Net Position as of June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 is as
follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

2018 2017 2016

Current assets $ 1,589,289 $ 1,744,906 $ 1452232
Noncurrent assets - capital assets, net 7,960,289 7,710,216 7,378,033
Noncurrent assets - other 12,179 26,479 11,485

Total assets 9,561,757 9,481,601 8,841,750
Deferred outflow of resources 250,274 180,037 74,318
Current liabilities 365,685 383,995 339,134
Noncurrent liabilitics 2,824,587 2,862,106 2,178,331

Total liabilities 3,190,272 3,246,101 2,517,465
Deferred inflow of resources 69,925 40,916 49,648
Net position

Net investment in capital assets 6,586,781 6,246,653 6,055,965

Restricted 156,387 190,612 214,849

Unrestricted (191,334) (242,644) 78,141

Total net position $ 6551834 $ 6,374,621 $ 6348955

Current Assets

In fiscal year 2018, current assets decreased by $155,617,000 primarily from (1) decrease of $95,206,000
in cash equivalents and investments held from the proceeds of the Measure AA General Obligation Bonds
(GOB-AA) for payments of seismic upgrade related expenses; (2) decrease of $76,890,000 held in cash
equivalent and investments from the proceeds of the 2017 Measure RR General Obligation Bonds (GOB-
RR) for payments of various project expenses; (3) decrease of $37,440,000 from funds held by the Trustee
for debt service of GOB-RR ($19,062,000) and outstanding sales tax revenue bonds ($22,067,000) due to
utilization of funds set aside in a reserve fund for debt service, generated from issuance of the GOB-RR
in fiscal year 2017, and primarily from absence of need to set aside funds for debt service for the 2010 Sales
Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds since those bonds were defeased in fiscal year 2018, offset by increase in
funds held for debt service of GOB-AA (8$3,689,000); (4) decrease of $5,657,000 in inventory balance
primarily due to provision for obsolescence; and offset by (5) increase of $37,805,000 in cash and cash
equivalent and current investment due to timing of payment of vendor invoices; (6) increase of $15,647,000
in capital grants receivable due to timing in receiving the funds from the funding agencies and the amount
of project expenses incurred that were required to be billed; (7) increase of $5,343,000 in property tax
receivables; and (8) increase of $1,292,000 in interest receivables from investments held.

8





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

In fiscal year 2017, current assets increased by $292,674,000 principally from (1) net increase of
$295,686,000 in current cash & cash equivalents and current investments primarily accounted for by (a) an
increase of $334,569,000 representing the balance of net proceeds received from issuance of GOB-RR; (b)
a net increase of $24,765,000 in cash and cash equivalents earmarked for the debt service of Measure AA
General Obligation Bonds; offset by (¢) a decrease of $15,628,000 in cash and cash equivalents from the
proceeds of the GOB-AA for payments of seismic upgrade related expenses; and (d) a decrease of
$14,739,000 in cash and cash equivalents and current investments due to shift in investments with longer
maturity in order to earn higher yield on investments; and (e) a decrease of $33,281,000 in cash and cash
equivalent and current investment due to timing of payment of vendor invoices; (2) an increase of
$9,312,000 in materials and supplies inventory of which $1,936,000 is for new spare parts of the new trains
for the eBART extension, and the remaining increase of $7,376,000 was due to timing in the usage of
supplies; and offset by (3) a decrease of $11,554,000 in capital grants receivable due to timing in billing
and collections.

Noncurrent Assets - Other

In fiscal year 2018, noncurrent assets — Other decreased by $14,300,000 primarily from maturity of long-
term investments held in fiscal 2017. All investments held in the current fiscal year were classified as
current assets.

In fiscal year 2017, noncurrent assets — other increased by $14,994,000 primarily from an increase of
$14,739,000 in non-current investments due to a shift in investment strategy to obtain higher yield.

Current Liabilities

In fiscal year 2018, current liabilities decreased by $18,310,000 primarily due to (1) a decrease of
$3,116,000 in payables to vendors and contractors due to timing in receiving and paying of invoices; (2)
an increase of $6,969,000 in payables to employees due to $1,500,000 increase in dental insurance reserves
and timing in the remittances of payroll taxes and benefits; (3) an increase of $1,192,000 in the accruals of
compensated absences estimated to be paid in the following fiscal year; (4) an increase of $2,887,000 in
interest payable primarily due to five months accrual of interest on outstanding GOB-RR in fiscal year 2018
compared to one month accrual in fiscal year 2017; (5) a decrease of $77,130,000 in principal balances of
outstanding Sales Tax Revenue and General Obligation Bonds for debt service payments made during the
fiscal year; and (6) an increase of $50,835,000 in current portion of outstanding balances of Sales Tax
Revenue and General Obligation Bonds reclassified from long-term debt based on debt service schedules.

In fiscal year 2017, current liabilities increased by $44,861,000 primarily due to (1) an increase of
$5,989,000 in payables to vendors and contractors due to timing in receiving and paying of invoices; (2)
an increase of $1,427,000 in payables to employees due to timing in paying the payroll at the end of the
fiscal year and in the remittances of payroll taxes and benefits; (3) an increase of $1,231,000 in the accruals
of compensated absences estimated to be paid in the following fiscal year; (4) a decrease of $1,245,000 in
interest payable due to decrease in outstanding Sales Tax Revenue Bonds and Measure AA General
Obligation Bonds; (5) a decrease of $27,225,000 for payments made during the fiscal year of principal
balances of outstanding Sales Tax Revenue and General Obligation Bonds; (6) an increase of $77,130,000
in current portion of outstanding balances of Sales Tax Revenue and General Obligation Bonds reclassified
from long-term debt based on debt service schedules; (7) an increase of $1,568,000 in current reserves
required for workers compensation and general liability insurance; (8) an increase of $1,613,000 in
unearned revenue related to passenger fare and parking; and (9) a decrease of $15,459,000 in the current
portion of advances from grantors based on projected fund utilization for fiscal year 2018.





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Noncurrent Liabilities

In fiscal year 2018, noncurrent liabilities decreased by $37,519,000 principally from (1) a decrease of
$1,230,000 in payables to vendors and contractors due to timing in receiving and paying of invoices; (2) a
decrease of $457,000 in payables to employees due to timing in the utilization of accrued compensated
absences; (3) a decrease of $3,959,000 in liabilities for Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) primarily
from decrease in unfunded liability for the Survivor’s Benefit Program; (4) an increase of $91,052,000 in
net pension liability from a combination of factors including reduction in the discount rate used for the
actuarial valuation from 7.65% in fiscal year 2017 to 7.15% in fiscal year 2018; (5) a net decrease of
$4,902,000 in balance of unamortized issue premium from issuance of bonds consisted of (a) an increase
of $24,813,000 from the issuance of the 2017A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds; offset by (b) a
decrease of $13,505,000 in the balance of unamortized bond issue premium due to reclassification to
deferred interest associated with the defeased sales tax revenue bonds (see Note 6); and (c) a decrease of
$16,211,000 for amortization of the bond issue premium in fiscal year 2018; (6) a net increase of
$26,295,000 in noncurrent balances of bonds payable due to the lower amount reclassified to current
liability for Sales Tax Revenue and General Obligation Bonds in fiscal year 2018 ($50,835,000) compared
to fiscal year 2017 ($77,130,000); (7) a decrease of $305,070,000 in principal balance of bond obligations
due to debt service payment and defeasance of Sales Tax Revenue Bonds and General Obligation Bonds,
offset by increase of $185,505,000 from the issuance of the 2017A and 2017B Sales Tax Revenue
Refunding Bonds; (8) a decrease of $27,422,000 in the noncurrent portion of advances from grantors as
funds are expended on capital projects; (9) a decrease of $1,122,000 primarily due to amortization of
prepayments received from long-term fiber optics contracts; (10) an increase of $1,794,000 in unearned
revenue for funds received from San Mateo County Transit District (SamTrans), representing 2% of
Measure A half-cent sales tax imposed in San Mateo County as part of the Tri-Party Financial Agreement
associated with the operation of the SFO Extension (see Note 9); and (11) an increase of $2,556,000 in
noncurrent portion of reserves required for workers compensation and general liability insurance.

In fiscal year 2017, noncurrent liabilities increased by $683,775,000 principally from (1) a decrease of
$634,000 in payables to vendors and contractors due to timing of receiving and paying of invoices; (2) an
increase of $2,592,000 in payables to employees due to timing in the utilization of accrued compensated
absences; (3) an increase of $317,346,000 in liabilities for Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) due
to adoption of GASB 75 in the current fiscal year, which requires full recognition of the obligations per
actuarial calculations; (4) an increase of $147,228,000 in net pension liability primarily due to lower return
on investments; (5) a net increase of $41,984,000 in unamortized premium from issuance of bonds consisted
of (a) an increase of $56,837,000 in balance of unamortized bond issue premium from the issuance of the
2017 Measure AA General Obligation Refunding Bonds, GOB-RR and the 2016A Sales Tax Revenue
Refunding Bonds in fiscal year 2017; offset by (b) a decrease of $2,467,000 in the balance of unamortized
issue premium due to reclassification to deferred interest associated with the defeased bonds (see Note 6);
and (c) a decrease of $12,386,000 for amortization of the bond issue premium in fiscal year 2017; (6) a net
decrease of $49,905,000 for portion reclassified to current liability for Sales Tax Revenue and General
Obligation Bonds; (7) a decrease of $215,455,000 in principal balance of bond obligations due to debt
service payment and defeasance of Sales Tax Revenue Bonds and General Obligation Bonds, offset by
increase of $468,535,000 from the issuance of the 2016A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, 2017
Measure AA General Obligation Refunding Bonds, and GOB-RR; (8) a decrease of $2,830,000 in the
noncurrent portion of advances from grantors as funds are expended on capital projects; (9) a decrease of
$25,815,000 in unearned revenue, upon recognition of income after the District transferred the title to the
land subject to an exchange agreement to MacArthur Transit Community Partners, LLC, (see Note 14);
(10) a decrease of $1,243,000 in unearned revenue primarily due to amortization of prepayments received
from long-term fiber optics contracts; (11) an increase of $1,652,000 for funds received from SamTrans,
representing 2% of Measure A half-cent sales tax imposed in San Mateo County, as part of the Tri-Party
Financial Agreement regarding the operation of the SFO Extension (see Note 9); and (12) an increase of
$1,074,000 in noncurrent portion of reserves required for workers compensation and general liability
insurance.

10





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Capital Assets

Details of the capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, as of June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 are as
follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

2018 2017 2016

Land and easements § 631,156 $ 631,156 $ 624,090
Stations, track, structures and improvements 5,206,092 4,883,453 4,249,176
Buildings 16,757 18,273 8,201
Revenue transit vehicles 120,326 83,841 104,480
Other 822,149 821,924 679,384
Construction in progress 1,163,809 1,271,569 1,712,702

Total capital assets $ 7,960,289 $ 7,710,216 $ 7,378,033

The District’s capital assets before depreciation and retirements showed a net increase of $490,599,000 in
fiscal year 2018 and $523,571,000 in fiscal year 2017. There were no major retirements on depreciable
assets in fiscal year 2018 and 2017. In fiscal year 2018, the District wrote-off the cumulative to date costs
incurred associated with the Livermore Extension Project due to the Board’s decision not to pursue the
extension. The cumulative charges related to the Livermore Extension amounting to $20,486,000 as of
June 30, 2018 were reclassified from construction in progress and recorded as a special item loss from
discontinued project.

Additions in capital assets, net of costs written off associated with the Livermore extension, included capital
expenditures for the acquisition and/or major improvements related to the following assets (dollar amounts
in thousands):

2018 2017
Guideway $ 257,108 $ 278871
Passenger stations 78,078 67,677
Maintenance & administration buildings 55,932 108,942
Revenue transit vehicles 55,209 45,023
Communication and Information systems 13,737 11,934
Automatic fare collections and other equipment 10,363 12,769

$ 470427 $ 525216

Additions to Guideway and passenger stations included among others, the costs associated with (1)
Transbay Tube Retrofit Project which is designed to ensure that the Transbay Tube remains structurally
sound in the event of a very large and very rare earthquake; (2) the e BART Extension Project which opened
on May 26, 2018; and (3) the Warm Springs Extension project, which opened on March 25, 2017. A
significant portion of the additions to maintenance & administration buildings are related to the new
Hayward Maintenance Complex, which is being constructed to accommodate the much larger and more
technologically advanced new rail fleet. The additions to revenue transit vehicles are associated with the
project cost to procure and replace the existing rail cars.

The District has entered into contracts for the construction of various facilities and equipment totaling
approximately $2,898,000,000 at June 30, 2018 and $2,750,000,000 at June 30, 2017.

11





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt

The outstanding balance of total long-term debt (including current portion but excluding unamortized
balance of bond premium/discounts) as of June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 are as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

2018 2017 2016
Bonds payable from and collateralized by
a pledge of sales tax revenues $ 528810 $ 595,060 $ 629,620
General Obligation Bonds 837,820 891,135 603,495
Total long-term debt $ 1,366,630 $ 1,486,195 $ 1,233,115

Total long-term debt in fiscal year 2018 decreased by $119,565,000 due to (1) an increase of $185,505,000
from the issuance in December 2017 of the 2017A and 2017B Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds; offset
by (2) decrease of $227,940,000 in outstanding sales tax revenue bonds due to refunding from the proceeds
of the 2017A and 2017 Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds and from other District sources, consisted of
the following: (a) full defeasance of $115,095,000 remaining outstanding balance of 2010 Sales Tax
Revenue Refunding Bonds; (b) partial defeasance in the amount of $26,820,000 of the 2012A Sales Tax
Revenue Refunding Bonds; and (c) partial defeasance in the amount of $86,025,000 of the 2012B Sales
Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds; (3) a decrease of $23,815,000 due to principal payments of current
outstanding Sales Tax Revenue Bonds; and (4) a decrease of $53,315,000 due to payment of current
outstanding General Obligation Bonds.

Total long-term debt in fiscal year 2017 increased by $253,080,000 due to (1) an increase of $468,535,000
from bonds issued in fiscal year 2017: (a) $300,000,000 from the first issuance of 2017 Measure RR General
Obligation Bonds; (b) $84,735,000 from issuance of 2017 Measure AA General Obligations Refunding
Bonds; and (c¢) $83,800,000 from issuance of 2016A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds; and offset by
(2) a decrease of $94,450,000 from defeasance of 2006A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds from the
proceeds, including premiums, of the 2016A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds; (3) a decrease of
$93,780,000 from partial defeasance of 2007 Measure AA General Obligation Bonds from the proceeds,
including premium, of the 2017 Measure AA General Obligations Refunding Bonds; (4) a decrease of
$23,910,000 due to principal payments of current outstanding Sales Tax Revenue Bonds; and (5) a
decrease of $3,315,000 due to payment of current outstanding General Obligation Bonds.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets

On June 14, 2018, the District’s Board of Directors adopted a balanced operating budget of $922,179,000
and a capital budget of $1,354,894,000 for the Fiscal Year 2019.

The fiscal year 2019 budget for operating sources is $4,637,000 higher than the fiscal year 2018 budget
with projected operating revenue, State Transit Assistance (STA), property tax, and sales tax growth
contributing to the increase despite declines in ridership. In fiscal year 2018 total ridership declined by
3.0% and was 4.2% below budget. The ridership estimate for fiscal year 2019 reflects a forecast of no
growth in core system ridership, an increase in ridership due to the first full year of BART to Antioch
service, and a reduction in ridership due to the 5 AM system opening as part of the Transbay Tube Seismic
Retrofit Project. STA revenue is projected to grow by $11,188,000 due to the passage of Senate Bill 1
(SB1), which provides for new formula-based funding sources for public transit and augments the existing
STA program. In order to serve current crowded trains and future increases in ridership due to the opening
of SVBX, the District is continuing its investment in its aging rail vehicle fleet and infrastructure and
expanding shop capacity.

12





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

The fiscal year 2019 Adopted Budget supports the District’s continued efforts to reinvest in the system.
However, limited funds were available for additional new programs as revenues are constrained due
mainly to the continuing decline in ridership growth and associated passenger revenue, which comprises
87% of BART’s total operating revenue. Sales tax revenue is estimated to increase by 4.8%
($12,164,000) in fiscal year 2019 compared to fiscal year 2018 budget. Property tax revenue is budgeted
to increase by 10.8% ($4,573,000) in fiscal year 2019 compared to fiscal year 2018 budget due to
continued rising property values stemming from the Bay Area’s strong housing market. BART continues
investment in our aging infrastructure in fiscal year 2019, at a level of self-help that is among the highest
for a transit operator in the nation. Over the past five years, BART has reinvested over $600,000,000 of
operating funds into critical projects such as new rail cars and station renovation. The fiscal year 2019
Capital Budget also prioritizes reinvestment, with 73% of the $1,354,894,000 budget programmed to
system reinvestment projects.

The current operating budget supplies critical funding to capital programs. In addition, BART’s Board of
Directors dedicated all incremental revenue generated from the 2014-2020 productivity-adjusted inflation-
based fare increase program towards high priority capital projects, including the Rail Car Replacement
Program, Hayward Maintenance Complex, and Train Control Modernization Program. In fiscal year 2019,
this amount is budgeted at $42,863,000. The fiscal year 2019 operating budget includes $22,256,000 for
“baseline” State of Good Repair allocation, which includes local match on capital grants, repair of buildings
and facilities, and tools and equipment. The budget also includes the following smaller categories of
allocations: $3,725,000 for stations and access improvements, and $7,611,000 for other initiatives,
including control UPS renovation, information technology, Millbrae tail track, homelessness initiatives,
and pigeon abatement. Additionally, in fiscal year 2019 the District allocated over $30,000,000 to a variety
of other uses, including fixed assets acquisition, reserves, and sustainability. Despite these investments, the
District must aggressively seek other funding sources to increase capital resources in order to maintain
reliability. The BART Capital Improvement Program has identified a wide variety of system infrastructure
funding needs.

A full $995,366,000 (73%) of capital expenditures next year are directed to System Renovation including
the New Car Program, the Hayward Maintenance Complex, station modernization, replacement of train
control system, traction power, trackway renovation and other capital projects. The Earthquake Safety
Program, which represents 8% of the fiscal year 2019 capital budget, will focus on the Transbay Tube
seismic retrofit project. Other capital work on essential security upgrades, life safety improvements, service
and capacity enhancements, and ADA/system accessibility improvements will also continue.

Contacting the District’s Financial Management

The District’s financial report is designed to provide the District’s Board of Directors, management,
investors, creditors, legislative and oversight agencies, citizens and customers with an overview of the
District’s finances and to demonstrate its accountability for funds received. For additional information
about this report, please contact Rosemarie Poblete, Controller-Treasurer, at 300 Lakeside Drive, P.O. Box
12688, Oakland, California 94604.

13





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Enterprise Fund
Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2018 and 2017
(dollar amounts in thousands)

Assets
Current assets
Unrestricted assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Government receivables
Receivables and other assets
Materials and supplies

Total unrestricted current assets

Restricted assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables and other assets

Total restricted current assets
Total current assets

Noncurrent assets
Capital assets
Nondepreciable
Depreciable, net of accumulated depreciation
Unrestricted assets
Investments
Receivables and other assets
Restricted assets
Investments
Receivables and other assets
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Losses on refundings of debt
Pension related
Pension contribution subsequent to measurement date
Net differences between projected and actual earnings
Differences between actual and expected experience
Changes in assumptions
Other Post Employment Benefits related
Differences between actual and expected experience
Changes of assumptions
Total deferred outflows of resources

2018 2017
414,050 336,042
305,963 310,438
143,377 127,730

31,159 27,691
39,529 45,185
934,078 847,086
375,812 287,416
274,381 608,041
5,018 2,363
655,211 897,820
1,589,289 1,744,906
1,794,965 1,902,725
6,165,324 5,807,491
- 13,422
142 169
- 1,317
12,037 11,571
7,972,468 7,736,695
9,561,757 9,481,601
21,806 17,769
68,202 58,386
24,812 97,875
3,529 6,007
103,379 -
138 -
28,408 -
250,274 180,037

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

14





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Enterprise Fund
Statements of Net Position, continued
June 30, 2018 and 2017
(dollar amounts in thousands)

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Unearned revenue
Current portion of long-term debt
Self-insurance liabilities

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Unearned revenue
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Self-insurance liabilities, net of current portion
Net other postemployment benefits liability
Net pension liability
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Pension related
Differences between actual and expected experience
Changes in assumptions
Other Post Employment Benefits related
Net differences between projected and actual earnings
Differences between actual and expected experience
Changes of assumptions
Total deferred inflows of resources

Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for debt service and other liabilities
Unrestricted

Total net position

2018 2017
$ 237,744 $ 229,812
56,601 57,005

50,835 77,130

20,505 20,048
365,685 383,995
44,689 46,376
178,113 205,423
1,481,390 1,579,562
38,459 35,903
376,433 380,392
705,503 614,450
2,824,587 2,862,106
3,190,272 3,246,101
2,486 2,518

10,070 19,285

9,997 8,209

29,277 -

18,095 10,904

69,925 40,916
6,586,781 6,426,653
156,387 190,612
(191,334) (242,644)

$ 6551834 $ 6374621

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

15





This Page Intentionally Left Blank.

16





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Enterprise Fund
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017
(dollar amounts in thousands)

2018 2017
Operating revenues
Fares $ 481,783 485,674
Other 64,831 61,426
Total operating revenues 546,614 547,100
Operating expenses
Transportation 219,590 209,335
Maintenance 333,840 302,699
Police services 68,166 64,236
Construction and engineering 30,139 26,700
General and administrative 228,768 200,376
Depreciation 219,782 191,877
Total operating expenses 1,100,285 995,223
Less - capitalized costs (107,469) (87,158)
Net operating expenses 992,816 908,065
Operating loss (446,202) (360,965)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Transactions and use tax - sales tax 257,883 247,185
Property tax 119,218 99,163
Operating financial assistance 54,736 77,069
Contribution for BART car replacement funding exchange program - (52,548)
Investment income 12,088 3,747
Interest expense (32,846) (28,423)
Gain from exchange of property - 24,839
Other expense, net (906) (5,070)
Total nonoperating revenues, net 410,173 365,962
Change in net position before capital contributions and special item (36,029) 4,997
Capital contributions 233,728 342,270
Special Item
Loss from discontinued project - Livermore Extension (20,486) -
Change in net position 177,213 347,267
Net position, beginning of year 6,374,621 6,027,354
Net position, end of year $ 6,551,834 6,374,621

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

17





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Enterprise Fund
Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017
(dollar amounts in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers

Payments to employees

Other operating cash receipts

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Transactions and use tax (sales tax) received
Property tax received

Financial assistance received

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Transactions and use tax (sales tax) received

Property tax received

Capital grants received

Expenditures for facilities, property and equipment
Principal paid on long-term debt

Payments of long-term debt issuance and service costs
Proceeds from issuance of General Obligation Bonds
Proceeds from issuance of Sales Tax Revenue Bonds
Deferred interest paid for defeased bonds

Interest paid on long-term debt

Contribution for BART car replacement funding exchange program
Deposit refunded

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale and maturity of investments
Purchase of investments

Investment income (loss)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to

the Statements of Net Position
Current, unrestricted assets - cash and cash equivalents
Current, restricted assets - cash and cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017
483,896 $ 485,901
(203,606) (209,360)
(514,193) (482,696)
62,581 60,682
(171,322) (145,473)
212,253 196,725
42,961 42,775
50,948 79,712
306,162 319,212
45,630 50,461
70,913 57,490
197,413 332,945
(486,512) (516,964)
(305,070) (215,455)

(906) (5,070)

- 429,717
210,319 95,655
(18,904) (955)
(44,808) (40,865)
- (52,548)
(466) (283)
(332,391) 134,128
710,565 138,395
(357,835) (525,593)
11,225 3,416
363,955 (383,782)
166,404 (75,915)
623,458 699,373
789,862  $ 623,458
414,050 $ 336,042
375,812 287,416
789,862  $ 623,458

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

18





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Enterprise Fund
Statements of Cash Flows, continued
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017
(dollar amounts in thousands)

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash
used in operating activities
Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
used in operating activities:
Depreciation
Provision for inventory obsolescence
Amortization of deferred charges and leasehold improvements
Accrual of employee retirement and post employment obligations
Amortization of deferred ground lease
Net effect of changes in
Receivables and other assets
Materials and supplies
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Self-insurance liabilities
Unearned revenue

Net cash used in operating activities

Noncash transactions

Capital assets acquired with a liability at year-end

Increase in fair value of investments

Amortization of long-term debt premium and discount

Bond premium reclassed to losses on refunding of debt

Amortization of loss on early debt retirement

Property exchanged with MacArthur Transit Community Partners, LLC
Gain from exchange of property

2018 2017
(446,202) (360,965)
219,782 191,877

3,790 187

285 228
49,903 25,823
(552) (552)
(2,034) 2,014
1,866 9,312)
(683) 2,770
3,014 2,643
(491) (186)
(171,322) (145,473)
102,828 98,786
(488) (842)
(16,211) (12,386)
(13,505) (2,467)
1,361 1,186
- (976)

- 24,839

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

19





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Retiree Health Benefit Trust

Statements of Trust Net Position

June 30, 2018 and 2017
(dollar amounts in thousands)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables and other assets

Investments
Domestic common stocks
Domestic preferred stocks
U.S. Treasury obligations
Money market mutual funds
Mutual funds - equity
Corporate obligations
Foreign stocks
Foreign obligations

Total investments
Total assets
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Pending trades payable
Total liabilities

Net position restricted for retiree health benefits

2018 2017
1,351 1,092
10,404 11,041
171,282 157,994
11 11
91,535 73,793
26,927 20,652
- 220
13,848 15,874
9,839 8,726
- 936
313,442 278,206
325,197 290,339
153 205
19,193 19,983
19,346 20,188
305,851 270,151

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

20





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Retiree Health Benefit Trust
Statements of Changes in Trust Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

(dollar amounts in thousands)

Additions
Employer contributions

Investment income
Interest income
Net appreciation in fair value of investments
Investment expense
Net investment income
Total additions
Deductions
Benefit payments
Legal fees
Audit fees
Insurance expense
Administrative fees
Total deductions
Increase in trust net position
Net position restricted for retiree health benefits
Beginning of year

End of year

2018 2017
35,569 28,912
5,550 4,785
18,408 22,277
(479) (534)
23,479 26,528
59,048 55,440
23,095 22,396
9 2
16 16
22 26
206 252
23,348 22,692
35,700 32,748
270,151 237,403
305,851 270,151

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

21





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Reporting Entity

The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (the District) is a public agency created by the legislature
of the State of California in 1957 and regulated by the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District Act,
as amended, and subject to transit district law as codified in the California Public Utilities Code. The
disbursement of funds received by the District is controlled by statutes and by provisions of various grant
contracts entered into with federal, state and local agencies.

Basis of Accounting and Presentation

The basic financial statements provide information about the District’s Enterprise Fund and the Retiree
Health Benefit Trust Fund (the Trust). Separate statements for each fund category — proprietary and
fiduciary — are presented. The basic financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses
are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Revenues from
property taxes are recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied; revenue from sales taxes are
recognized in the fiscal year when the underlying exchange takes place; revenue from grants is recognized
in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied; and revenue from investments is
recognized when earned.

The Enterprise Fund, a proprietary fund, distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating
items. The District’s operating revenues are generated directly from its transit operations and consist
principally of passenger fares. Operating expenses for the transit operations include all costs related to
providing transit services. These costs include labor, fringe benefits, materials, supplies, services, utilities,
leases and rentals, and depreciation on capital assets. All other revenues and expenses not meeting these
definitions are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

The Trust, a fiduciary fund, is used to account for assets held by the District as a trustee to pay retiree health
care premiums. The assets of the Trust cannot be used to support the District’s programs.

Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the District considers all highly liquid investments with a
maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Investments

The District records investment transactions on the trade date. Investments in nonparticipating interest-
earning investment contracts (e.g. nonnegotiable certificates of deposits and guaranteed investment
contracts) are reported at cost and all other investments are at fair value. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The District measures its investments at fair value and categorizes its fair value
measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. As
a matter of policy, the District usually holds investments until their maturity.

Restricted Assets

Certain assets are classified as restricted assets on the statement of net position because their use is subject
to externally imposed stipulations, either by certain bond covenants, laws or regulations or provisions of
debt agreements.

22





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Capital Grants/Contributions

The District receives grants from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and other agencies of the U.S.
Department of Transportation, the State of California, and local transportation funds for the acquisition of
transit-related equipment, improvements and preventative maintenance. Capital grants receivables
represent amounts expected from governmental agencies to reimburse the District for costs incurred for
capital projects (Notes 8 and 9) and are reported as government receivables on the statement of net position.

Materials and Supplies
Materials and supplies consist primarily of replacement parts for the system and rail vehicles, which are
stated at cost using the average-cost method. Materials and supplies are expensed as consumed.

Bond Discounts, Premiums and Losses on Refunding

The bond discounts, premiums and losses on refunding, are deferred and amortized over the term of the
bonds as a component of interest expense. The unamortized portion of these items, except the losses on
refunding, which are reported as deferred outflows of resources, are presented as an adjustment of the face
amount of bonds payable.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are stated at cost or at acquisition value of donated assets and depreciated using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from 3 to 80 years. The District’s policy
is to capitalize acquisitions of capital assets with a cost of $5,000 or more and a useful life of more than
one year, and all costs related to capital projects, regardless of amounts. Upon disposition, costs and
accumulated depreciation/amortization are removed from the accounts and resulting gains or losses are
included in operations.

The District capitalizes as intangible capital assets, internally generated intangibles such as computer
software. Easements and rights-of-way are capitalized and recorded as part of land and are not amortized
as they have indefinite useful lives while computer software is amortized over a period of 20 years.

Major improvements and betterments to existing facilities and equipment are capitalized. Costs for
maintenance and repairs that do not extend the useful life of the applicable assets are charged to expense as
incurred. The District capitalizes certain interest costs, net of interest income related to tax-free borrowings
until the assets are ready for their intended use. The amount capitalized is the difference between the
interest costs and interest income associated with the applicable tax-free borrowings. Amounts capitalized
were net interest expense of $14,964,000 in fiscal year 2018 and $15,461,000 in fiscal year 2017.

Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue consists of (1) prepayments of revenues related to license fees paid by
telecommunication companies for the use of the District’s right of way for wireless accessibility to their
customers; (2) estimated passenger tickets sold but unused; (3) advances received from grant agreements;
(4) prepayments of ground lease revenues (Note 15); and (5) value of property received in exchange for the
District’s property not yet transferred at the end of the fiscal year.

23





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are reported and accrued as a liability in the period incurred. Compensated absences
have a total balance of $65,728,000 as of June 30, 2018 and $64,992,000 as of June 30, 2017 and are shown
in the statements of net position in accounts payable and other liabilities (see Note 5) as follows (dollar
amounts in thousands):

2018 2017
Current liabilities $ 21,322 $ 20,130
Noncurrent liabilities 44,406 44,862
Total $ 65,728 $ 64,992

Pollution Remediation

The recognition of pollution remediation obligations (including contamination) address the current or
potential detrimental effects of existing pollution by estimating costs associated with participating in
pollution remediation activities, such as site assessments and cleanups. There are no known material
remediation obligations that the District is currently or potentially involved in.

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets include capital assets net of accumulated depreciation and outstanding
principal balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Net
position is restricted when constraints are imposed by third parties or by law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation and include amounts restricted for debt service and other liabilities. All
other net position is unrestricted. Generally, the District’s policy is to spend restricted resources first when
an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position is available.

Transactions and Use Tax (Sales Tax) Revenues

The State of California legislation authorizes the District to impose a 0.5% transaction and use tax within
District boundaries, which is collected and administered by the State Board of Equalization. Of the amounts
available for distribution, 75% is paid directly to the District for the purpose of paying operating expenses,
except for the portion that is paid directly to trustees to cover principal and interest payments of maturing
sales tax revenue bonds. The remaining 25% is allocated by the MTC to the District, the City and County
of San Francisco, and the Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District for transit services. The District records
the total transactions and use taxes earned (including amounts paid to the trustees) as nonoperating revenue.

Property Taxes, Collection and Maximum Rates

The State of California Constitution Article XIII.A provides that the general purpose maximum property
tax rate on any given property may not exceed 1% of its assessed value unless an additional amount for
general obligation debt has been approved by voters. Assessed value is calculated at 100% of market value
as defined by Article XIII.A and may be adjusted by no more than 2% per year, unless the property is sold
or transferred. The State Legislature has determined the method of distribution of receipts from a 1% tax
levy among the counties, cities, school districts and other districts, such as the District.

24





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The District receives an allocation of property tax revenues for transit operations. Additionally, beginning
in fiscal year 2006, the District received property tax allocations for the debt service payments on the 2005,
2007, 2013 and 2015 and 2017 Measure AA General Obligation Bonds. Beginning in fiscal year 2018, the
District also received property tax allocation for the debt service of Measure RR General Obligation Bonds.
As required by the law of the State of California, the District utilizes the services of each of the three BART
Counties of Alameda, Contra Costa and San Francisco for the assessment and collection of taxes for District
purposes. District taxes are collected at the same time and on the same tax rolls as county, school district
and other special district taxes. Property taxes are recorded as revenue in the fiscal year of levy. Assessed
values are determined annually by the Assessor’s Offices of City and County of San Francisco, County of
Alameda and County of Contra Costa on January 1, and become a lien on the real properties at January 1.
The levy date for secured and unsecured properties is July 1 of each year. Secured taxes are due November
1 and February 1 and are delinquent if not paid by December 10 and April 10, respectively. Unsecured
property tax is due on July 1 and becomes delinquent after August 31.

Operating Financial Assistance
Financial assistance grants for operations from federal, state and local agencies are reported as nonoperating
revenue in the period in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied (Notes 8 and 9).

Collective Bargaining
Approximately 84% of the District’s employees are subject to collective bargaining. The current bargaining
units consist of the following:

American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees (AFSCME), Local 3993
Amalgamated Transit Union (ATU), Local 1555

Service Employees International Union (SEIU), Local 1021

BART Police Officers Association (BPOA)

BART Police Managers Association (BPMA)

Capitalized Costs

The District initially charges employee salaries, wages and benefits to operating expenses by functional
expense category. Labor costs included in those amounts that are associated with capital projects are
subsequently adjusted to be included in the cost of the related capital asset. This adjustment is reflected in
the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position as a reduction of operating expenses. The
amounts of $107,469,000 and $87,158,000 were capitalized during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
District’s Pension Plans (Plans) and additions to/deductions from the Plans’ fiduciary net position have
been determined on the same basis as they are reported by California Public Employees’ Retirement System
(CalPERS). For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when currently due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.

25





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain
reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

In fiscal year 2018, economic useful lives of revenue vehicles were re-evaluated which warranted the
reduction in economic useful lives of the rehabilitated cost of A and B cars and original cost of C-1 and C-
2 cars. The remaining lives as re-evaluated is between 0-72 months beginning fiscal year 2018. The District
recognized additional depreciation expense in the amount of $27,016,000 from re-evaluating the useful
lives of the old fleet cars.

Reclassification and Presentation

Certain reclassifications of prior year’s balances have been made to conform with the current year
presentation. The reclassifications have no effect on the financial position, results of operations, or cash
flows.

New Accounting Pronouncements Adopted

In March 2016, GASB issued Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements (GASB 81), to
improve accounting and financial reporting for irrevocable split-interest agreements by providing
recognition and measurement guidance for situations in which a government is a beneficiary of the
agreement. This statement requires that a government that receives resources pursuant to an irrevocable
split-interest agreement recognize revenues, assets, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources. GASB 81
is effective for the District’s fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. This statement did not have a significant
impact to the District’s financial statements.

In March 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017. The objective of the statement is to
address practice issues that have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB
Statements. The statement addresses a variety of topics including issues related to blending component
units, goodwill, fair value measurement and application, and postemployment benefits (pensions and other
postemployment benefits). The requirements of this statement are effective for the District’s fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018. This statement did not have a significant impact to the District’s financial statements.

In May 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues. The primary
objective of the statement is to improve consistency in accounting and financial reporting for in-substance
defeasance of debt by providing guidance for transitions in which cash and other monetary assets acquired
with only existing resources — resources other than the proceeds of the refunding debt — are placed in an
irrevocable trust for the sole purpose of extinguishing debt. The requirements of this statement are effective
for the District’s fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. This statement did not have a significant impact to the
District’s financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements That Have Not Been Adopted

In November 2016, the GASB issued Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations. The
statement addresses accounting and financial reporting for certain asset retirement obligations (AROs). An
ARO is a legally enforced liability associated with the retirement of a tangible capital asset. A government
that has legal obligations to perform future asset retirement activities related to its tangible capital assets
should recognize a liability based on the guidance in this statement. The requirements of this statement are
effective for the District’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.

26





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities. The statement establishes
criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. The focus of the criteria
generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the
beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. Separate criteria are included to identify fiduciary
component units and postemployment benefit arrangements that are fiduciary activities. The requirements
of this statement are effective for the District’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2020.

In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. The objective of the statement is to improve the
accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments. This statement requires recognition of certain
lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as
inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes
a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the
right to use an underlying asset. Under this statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and
an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred
inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the consistency of information about governments’ leasing
activities. The requirements of this statement are effective for the District’s fiscal year ending June 30,
2021.

In April 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, Including Direct
Borrowings and Direct Placements. The primary objective of the statement is to improve the information
that is disclosed in notes to governmental financial statements related to debt, including direct borrowings
and direct placements. This statement requires that additional information related to debt be disclosed in
the financial statement notes, including unused lines of credit; assets pledged as collateral for the debt; and
terms specific in debt agreements related to significant events of default with finance-related consequences,
significant termination events with finance-related consequences, and significant subjective acceleration
clauses. The requirements of this statement are effective for the District’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.

In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Costs Incurred Before the End
of a Construction Period. The objectives of the statement are to enhance the relevance and comparability
of information about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and to simplify
accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period. This statement requires that
interest costs incurred at the end of a construction period be recognized as an expense in the period in which
the cost is incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus. As
a result, interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period will not be included in the historical
cost of a capital asset reported in a business-type activity or enterprise fund. The requirements of this
statement are effective for the District’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2021.

In August 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests — An Amendment of GASB
Statements No. 14 and No. 61. The primary objectives of this Statement are to improve the consistency and
comparability of reporting a government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization and to
improve the relevance of financial statement information for certain component units. It defines a majority
equity interest and specifies that a majority equity interest in a legally separate organization should be
reported as an investment if a government’s holding of the equity interest meets the definition of an
investment. A majority equity interest that meets the definition of an investment should be measured using
the equity method, unless it is held by a special-purpose government engaged only in fiduciary activities, a
fiduciary fund, or an endowment (including permanent and term endowments) or permanent fund. Those
governments and funds should measure the majority equity interest at fair value. The requirements of this
Statement are effective for the District’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2020.

27





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments
A. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments of the Enterprise Fund

Cash, cash equivalents and investments are reported in the Enterprise Fund as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

2018 2017
Unrestricted Restricted Total Unrestricted Restricted Total

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents § 414,050 § 375,812 § 789,862 § 336,042 §$ 287416 § 623,458

Investments 305,963 274,381 580,344 310,438 608,041 918,479
Noncurrent assets

Investments - - - 13,422 1,317 14,739

Total $ 720,013 $ 650,193 $ 1,370,206 § 659,902 $ 896,774 $ 1,556,676

Investment Policy

The California Public Utilities Code, Section 29100, and the California Government Code (CGC), Section
53601, provide the basis for the District’s investment policy. To meet the objectives of the investment
policy — (1) preservation of capital, (2) liquidity, and (3) yield — the investment policy, approved by the
Board of Directors, specifically identifies the types of permitted investments, as well as any maturity limits
and other restrictions. The following table presents the authorized investment, requirements, and
restrictions per the CGC and the District’s investment policy:

Maximum Maximum % Maximum % with Minimum
Maturity (1) of Portfolio One Issuer Rating (2)
Investment Type CGC District CGC Dis trict CGC District CGC District
U.S. Treasury Obligations (bills, bonds, or notes) 5 years 5 years None None None None None None
U.S. Agencies 5 years 5 years None None None None None None
Bankers' Acceptances 180 days 180 days 40% 40% 30% 30% None None
Commercial Paper (3) 270 days 270 days 25% 25% 10% 10% P1 P1
Negotiable Certificates 5 years 5 years 30% 30% None None None None
Repurchase Agreements 1 year 1 year None None None None None None
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 92 days 90 days 20% 20% None None None None
Local Agency Investment Fund N/A N/A None 20% None None None None
Non-Negotiable Time Deposits 5 years 5 years 30% 30% None None None None
Medium Term Notes/Bonds (3) 5 years 5 years 30% 30% None None A A
Municipal Securities of California Local Agencies 5 years 5 years None None None None None None
Mutual Funds N/A N/A 20% 20% 10% 10% AAA AAA
Notes, Bonds, or Other Obligations 5 years 5 years None None None None None None
Mortgage Pass-Through Securities 5 years 5 years 20% 20% None None AAA AAA
Financial Futures (3) N/A N/A None None None None None None

Footnotes

(1) In the absence of a specified maximum, the maximum is 5 years.

(2) Minimum credit rating categories include modifications (+/-).

(3) District will not invest in these investment types unless specifically authorized by the Board.

28





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2018 and 2017

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued)

Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements

The District must maintain required amounts of cash and investments with fiscal agents under the terms of
certain debt issues. These funds are unexpended bond proceeds and funds set aside for debt service. The
table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for investments held by fiscal agents. The
table also identifies certain provisions of these debt agreements:

Maximum
Maximum Minimum Credit Percentage of Maximum Investment
Authorized Investment Type Maturity Quality Portfolio In One Issuer
Securities of the U.S. Government and its
agencies None None None None
Housing Authority Bonds or project
notes issued by public agencies or
municipalities fully secured by the U.S. None None None None
Obligations of any state, territory, or
commonwealth of the U.S. or any agency
or political subdivisions thereof None Aal/AA+ None None
Collateralized time deposits None A-1 None None
Commercial paper None Aaa/AAA None None
Repurchase agreements None None None None
Money market mutual funds None None None None
Investment agreements None Aal/AA+ None None
Other investments approved by the
Board that will not adversely affect
ratings on bonds None None None None
Corporate bonds, notes, and debentures None Aal/AA+ None None
Local Agency Investment Fund None None None None

29





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued)

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.
One of the District’s primary objectives is to provide sufficient liquidity to meet its cash outflow needs,
however, the District does not have any policies specifically addressing interest rate risk, except as outlined
in the CGC. A summary of investments by type of investments and by segmented time distribution as of
June 30, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Less
2018 Than 1 1-5

Money market mutual funds* $ 141,899 § 141,899 § -

U.S. Treasury 685,673 685,673 -

U.S. government agencies 54,247 54,247 -

Commercial paper 51,353 51,353 -

Foreign government bonds 69,671 69,671 -

Certificates of deposit 867 867 -

Total investments 1,003,710 1,003,710  $ -
Deposits with banks 363,246
Imprest funds 3,250
Total cash and investments _$ 1,370,206
Investment Maturities (in Years)
Less
2017 Than 1 1-5

Money market mutual funds* $ 414,387 $ 414,387 $ -
U.S. Treasury 502,770 502,770 -
U.S. government agencies 39,109 39,109 -
Commercial paper 237,344 237,344 -
California municipal bonds 6,136 6,136 -
Foreign government bonds 34,639 20,005 14,634
Certificates of deposit 865 760 105

Total investments 1,235,250 $ 1,220,511 $ 14,739
Deposits with banks 318,432
Imprest funds 2,994

Total cash and investments $ 1,556,676

* weighted-average maturity

30





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued)

Credit Risk

The District’s credit rating risk is governed by Section 53601 of the CGC which, among others, limits
investments in money market mutual funds to those funds with the highest evaluations granted by the rating
agencies, which is AAAm. The District has investments in U.S. Treasury and government agencies, and
in money market mutual funds. There are no investment limits on the securities of U.S. Treasury or certain
U.S. government agencies that are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States government. The
following is a summary of the credit quality distribution for securities with credit exposure as rated by
Standard & Poor’s, Fitch Ratings and/or Moody’s as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 (dollar amounts in

thousands):

Money market mutual funds
U.S. Treasury

U.S. government agencies
Commercial paper

Foreign government bonds
Certificates of deposit

Total investments
Deposits with banks
Imprest funds

Total cash and investments

Money market mutual funds
U.S. Treasury

U.S. government agencies
Commercial paper
California municipal bonds
Foreign government bonds

Certificates of deposit

Total investments

Deposits with banks
Imprest funds

Total cash and investments

31

Credit Ratings
2018 AAA AA A Not Rated
$§ 141899 § 89,120 § - $ 52,779 § -
685,673 685,673 - - -
54,247 54,247 - - -
51,353 - - 51,353 -
69,671 69,671 - - -
867 - - - 867
1,003,710 § 898,711 § - $ 104,132 § 867
363,246
3,250
8 1370206
Credit Ratings
2017 AAA AA A Not Rated
§ 414387 § 359,553 § - $ 54834 § -
502,770 502,770 - - -
39,109 39,109 - - -
237,344 - - 237,344 -
6,136 - 6,136 - -
34,639 34,639 - - -
865 - - - 865
1,235250 $ 936,071 § 6,136 § 292,178 § 865
318,432
2,994
$ 1556676





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued)

Fair Value Hierarchy

The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure fair value
of the assets. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in an active market for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are
significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs (the District does
not value any of its investments using Level 3 inputs).

All of the District’s investments fall under the Marketable/Actively traded assets category. The custodian
banks rely on the pricing by nationally known vendors. In the event that a particular category is not priced
by the primary pricing vendor, the custodian banks engage a secondary vendor or other sources.

The following is a summary of the fair value of investments of the District as of June 30, 2018 and June

30, 2017 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Investments at

Fair Value Level 6/30/2018 (Level 1) (Level 2) 6/30/2017 (Level 1) (Level 2)
Money market mutual funds $ 141,899  $ - $ 141,899 $§ 414,387 $ - $ 414,387
U.S. Treasury 685,673 685,673 - 502,770 502,770 -
U.S. government agencies 54,247 - 54,247 39,109 - 39,109
Commercial paper 51,353 - 51,353 237,344 - 237,344
California municipal bonds - - - 6,136 - 6,136
Foreign government bonds 69,671 - 69,671 34,639 - 34,639
Total investments at fair value 1,002,843 $ 685673 $ 317,170 1,234,385 $ 502,770 $ 731,615

Excluded from FMV hierarchy

reporting
Certificate of deposit 867 865
Total investments $ 1,003,710 $ 1,235,250

Investments valued at $685,673,000 in fiscal year 2018 and $502,770,000 in fiscal year 2017 are classified
in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. This asset category mainly consists of U.S Treasury securities which
are valued using Institutional Bond quotes, i.e., quoted market prices in active markets.

Total investments valued at $317,170,000 in fiscal year 2018 and $731,615,000 in fiscal year 2017 are
classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Fair value was determined using Matrix Pricing techniques
maintained by various pricing vendors. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’
relationship to benchmark quoted prices.

32





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued)

Concentration of Credit Risk

The District does not have a policy to limit investments in any one issuer to no more than 5% of the total
portfolio. However, the District is required to disclose investments that represent a concentration of 5% or
more of investments in any one issuer other than U.S. Treasury obligations. At June 30, 2018 and 2017,
the District did not have investments in any one issuer other than U.S. Treasury obligations that exceeded
5% of the District’s total investment portfolio.

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits

For deposits, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the District’s deposits may
not be returned. The CGC Section 53652 requires California banks and savings and loan associations to
secure governmental deposits by pledging government securities as collateral. The market value of pledged
securities must equal at least 110% of the District’s deposits. California law also allows financial
institutions to secure governmental deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of
150% of the District’s total deposits. Such collateral is considered to be held in the District’s name.

Custodial Credit Risk - Investments

For investments, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a failure of the counterparty, the District
may not be able to recover the value of its investments. The exposure to the District is limited as the
District’s investments are held in the District’s name by a third-party safe-keeping custodian that is separate
from the counterparty or in the custody of a trust department, as required by bond covenants.

B. Investments of the Retiree Health Benefit Trust

Investment Policy

The investment objective of the Trust is to achieve consistent long-term growth for the Trust and to
maximize income consistent with the preservation of capital for the sole and exclusive purpose of providing
benefits to participants and their beneficiaries and defraying reasonable expenses of administering the Trust.
The District’s Board of Directors establishes the general investment policy and guidelines for the Trust.
Allowable investments under the Trust investment guidelines include:

e (Cash equivalents such as U.S. Treasury bills, money market mutual funds, short-term interest fund
(STIF) trusts, commercial paper rated A1/P1, banker’s acceptances, certificates of deposits and

repurchase agreements;

e Fixed income securities, which include U.S. agency and corporation bonds (including Yankees)
and preferred stock and Rule 144A issues, and mortgage or asset-backed securities; and

e Equity securities, including U.S. traded common, preferred stocks and convertible stocks and
bonds, including American Depository Receipts.

33





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Trust’s investment policies mitigate exposure to changes in interest rates by requiring that the assets
of the Trust be invested in accordance with the following asset allocation guidelines:

Asset Class Minimum Maximum Preferred
Equity securities 45% 70% 60%
Fixed income securities 25% 45% 35%
Cash equivalents 3% 10% 5%

Fixed income securities have the following maturity restrictions: (1) maximum maturity for any single
security is 40 years, and (2) the weighted average portfolio maturity may not exceed 25 years.

A summary of investments by type of investments and by segmented time distribution as of June 30, 2018
and 2017 is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Less More
2018 Than 1 1-5 6-10 Than 10
U.S. Treasury obligations $ 91,535 § 4957 § 23990 § 38862 § 23,726
Money market mutual funds* 26,927 26,927 - - -
Corporate obligations 13,848 1,958 6,575 2,309 3,006
Investments subject to interest rate risk 132310 $§ 33842 $ 30,565 § 41,171 § 26,732
Domestic common stocks 171,282
Domestic preferred stocks 11
Foreign stocks 9,839
Total investments $313,442

34





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued)

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Less More
2017 Than 1 1-5 6-10 Than 10
U.S. Treasury obligations $ 73,793 § 11,158 § 20,196 § 26,243 § 16,196
Money market mutual funds* 20,652 20,652 - - -
Corporate obligations 15,874 2,117 8,826 3,053 1,878
Foreign obligations 936 936 - - -
Investments subject to interest rate risk 111,255 § 34863 $ 29,022 § 29296 $ 18,074
Domestic common stocks 157,994
Domestic preferred stocks 11
Mutual funds - equity 220
Foreign stocks 8,726
Total investments $ 278,206

* Weighted-average maturity

35





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued)

Credit Risk

The Trust’s credit risk policy is defined in its Statement of Investment Policy approved by the District’s
Board of Directors. The policy states that the Board recognizes that some risk is necessary to produce long-
term investment results that are sufficient to meet the Trust’s objectives and that the Trust’s investment
managers are expected to make reasonable efforts to control risk. The investment policy requires that all
of the Trust’s assets be invested in liquid securities, defined as securities that can be transacted quickly and
efficiently for the Trust, with minimal impact on market prices. The investment policy also demands that
no single investment shall exceed five percent of the total Trust assets, at market value, except obligations
of the U.S. government, short-term money market funds, index funds and other diversified commingled
accounts; and for actively managed equity accounts, where, for issues that comprise more than 4% of the
account’s stated benchmark, the limit shall be 125% of the weight of the common stock benchmark.

The following is a summary of the credit quality distribution for securities with credit exposure as rated
by Standard & Poor’s and/or Moody’s as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Credit Ratings
2018 AAA AA A BBB Not Rated

U.S. Treasury obligations $ 91,535 $ - $ 91,535 § - $ - $ -
Money market mutual funds 26,927 26,927 - - - -
Corporate obligations 13,848 2,110 881 7,089 2,878 890

Investments subject to credit risk 132,310  $§ 29,037 $ 92416 $ 7,089 $§ 2,878 § 890
Domestic common stocks 171,282
Domestic preferred stocks 11
Foreign stocks 9,839

Total investments $ 313,442

Credit Ratings
2017 AAA AA A BBB

U.S. Treasury obligations $ 73,793 $ 73793 $ - $ - $ -
Money market mutual funds 20,652 20,652 - - -
Corporate obligations 15,874 2,596 1,234 7,346 4,698
Foreign obligations 936 - - 936 -

Investments subject to credit risk 111255 § 97,041 $ 1234 § 8282 $§ 4,698
Domestic common stocks 157,994
Domestic preferred stocks 11
Mutual funds - equity 220
Foreign stocks 8,726

Total investments $ 278,206

36





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued)

Fair Value Hierarchy

The Trust categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure fair value
of the assets. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in an active market for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are
significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs (the Trust does
not value any of its investments using Level 3 inputs).

All of the Trust investments fall under the Marketable/Actively traded assets category. The custodian bank
relies on the pricing by nationally known vendors. In the event that a particular category is not priced by

the primary pricing vendor, the custodian bank engages a secondary vendor or other sources.

The following is a summary of the fair value hierarchy of the fair value of investments of the Trust as of
June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Fair Value Hierarchy

Investments by

Fair Value Level 6/30/2018 (Levell) (Level2) (Level3) 6/30/2017 (Levell) (Level?2)
Domestic common stocks $ 171,282 $ 171234 § - $ 48 $ 157994 §$ 157994 §$ -
Domestic preferred stocks 11 11 - - 11 11 -
Foreign stocks 9,839 9,839 - - 8,726 8,726 -
Money market mutual funds 26,927 - 26,927 - 20,652 - 20,652
U.S. Treasury obligations 91,535 74,457 17,078 - 73,793 51,062 22,731
Corporate obligations 13,848 - 13,848 - 15,874 - 15,874
Foreign obligations - - - - 936 - 936

Total investments at fair value 313,442 $ 255541 $ 57853 $§ 48 27798 $ 217,793 § 60,193
Investment measured at Net Asset Value
Mutual funds - equity - 220

Total investments $ 313442 $ 278,206

Investments classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy valued at $255,541,000 and $217,793,000 in
fiscal year 2018 and 2017, respectively, are valued using quoted prices in active markets.

Investments amounting to $57,853,000 in fiscal year 2018 and $60,193,000 in fiscal year 2017 are classified
under Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and are valued using Matrix pricing, which is used to value
securities based on the securities’ relationship to benchmark quoted prices.

Investments amounting to $48,000 in fiscal year 2018 is classified under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
using value obtained from issuer or determined by US Bank Specialty Assets unit.

Mutual fund-equity totaling $220,000 in 2017 are valued using the Net Asset Value (NAV) methodology.
Per GASB72, the government entity should be permitted to calculate the fair value of certain investments
that do not have a readily determinable fair value using a practical expedient method based on the
investment’s NAV per share. A mutual fund may include several different underlying investments. The
NAV is derived from the value of these investments, accrued income, anticipated cash flows (maturities),
management fees and other fund expenses. Certain investments within the fund may be deemed
unobservable and not readily determined in an active market.

37





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

2. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments (Continued)

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Trust’s investment policies mitigate exposure to concentration of credit risk by diversifying the
portfolio and limiting investments in any one issuer to no more than 5% of the total portfolio. As of June
30, 2018, no single issuer comprised more than 5% of the total portfolio for the Trust.

Custodial Credit Risk — Investments

For investments, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a failure of the counterparty, the Trust
may not be able to recover the value of its investments. The exposure to the Trust is limited as the Trust’s
investments are in the custody of a third-party custodian that is separate from the counterparty.

3. Receivables and Other Assets

The District reports the following aggregated accounts as receivables and other assets in the statements of
net position as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 (dollar amounts in thousands):

2018 2017
Interest receivable - other investments $ 3,727 $ 2,376
Deferred charges 169 197
Deposit for power supply 12,037 11,571
Off-site ticket vendor receivable 1,642 2,659
Capitol Corridor Joint Powers Authority receivable (Note 14) 1,640 1,510
Property tax receivable 6,500 1,157
Prepaid expenses 18,238 13,883
Imprest deposits for self-insurance liabilities 2,465 1,975
Other 2,390 7,755
Allowance for doubtful accounts (452) (1,289)
Total receivables and other assets $ 48356 $ 41,794
Current, unrestricted portion $ 31,159 $ 27,691
Current, restricted portion 5,018 2,363
Noncurrent, unrestricted portion 142 169
Noncurrent, restricted portion 12,037 11,571
Total receivables and other assets, as
presented in the basic financial statements $ 48356 $§ 41,794

38





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2018 and 2017
Capital Assets
Changes to capital assets during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 were as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):
Additions Retire ments
Lives and and
(Years) 2017 Transfers Transfers 2018

Capital assets, not being depreciated
Land and easements N/A $ 631,156 - 3 - 3 631,156
Construction in progress N/A 1,271,569 490,599 (598,359) 1,163,809

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 1,902,725 490,599 (598,359) 1,794,965
Capital assets, being depreciated
Tangible asset
Stations, track, structures and improvements 8-80 6,198,596 420,767 - 6,619,363
Buildings 5-80 20,938 - - 20,938
System-wide operation and control 20 687,756 28,094 (50) 715,800
Revenue transit vehicles 10-30 1,123,559 78,217 - 1,201,776
Service and miscellaneous equipment 3-20 405,504 2,935 (1,885) 406,554
Capitalized construction and start-up costs 30 98,305 - - 98,305
Repairable property items 30 493302 46,626 (15) 539913
Intangible asset
Information systems 20 58,844 1,234 - 60,078

Total capital assets, being depreciated 9,086,804 577,873 (1,950) 9,662,727
Less accumulated depreciation (3,279,313) (220,040) 1,950 (3,497,403)

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 5,807,491 357,833 - 6,165,324

Total capital assets, net $ 7710216 848432 §  (598359) $ 7960289

On May 26, 2018, the BART Antioch extension began carrying riders in East Contra Costa County. The
new service between the Pittsburg/Bay Point Station and Antioch is 10 miles long, adds two new stations,
and provides much needed congestion relief on State Route 4. The extension uses a different type of train
called a Diesel Multiple Unit (DMU). The DMUs run on their own tracks in the median of State Route 4
and connect with the existing BART system at a Transfer Platform just east of the Pittsburg Bay Point
Station.

In fiscal year 2018, the cumulative costs of the Livermore Extension Project incurred associated with
conceptual engineering and project level environment impact report through June 30, 2018, which amounts
to $20,486,000, were written off and recognized as a special item loss from discontinued project. At its
May 24, 2018 Board meeting, the BART Board voted to certify the BART to Livermore Extension Project
Final Environmental Impact Report, but to not advance the proposed conventional BART Extension to
Livermore. The Board also voted to not advance the DMU/EMU Alternative, Express Bus/BRT Alternative
or the Enhanced Bus Alternative.

39





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Capital Assets (Continued)

Changes to capital assets during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 were as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

Additions Retirements
Lives and and
(Years) 2016 Transfers Transfers 2017

Capital assets, not being de preciated
Land and easements N/A $ 624,090 $ 8042 § 976) $ 631,156
Construction in progress N/A 1,712,702 525,236 (966,369) 1,271,569

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 2,336,792 533,278 (967,345) 1,902,725
Capital assets, being depreciated
Tangible asset
Stations, track, structures and improvements 8-80 5,469,838 728,758 - 6,198,596
Buildings 5-80 10,732 10,206 - 20,938
System-wide operation and control 20 635,287 52,469 - 687,756
Revenue transit vehicles 10-30 1,123,559 - - 1,123,559
Service and miscellaneous equipment 3-20 361,695 44,498 (689) 405,504
Capitalized construction and start-up costs 30 98,305 - - 98,305
Repairable property items 30 375,261 118,041 - 493,302
Intangible asset
Information systems 20 54,488 4,356 - 58,844

Total capital assets, being depreciated 8,129,165 958,328 (689) 9,086,804
Less accumulated depreciation (3,087,924) (191,877) 488 (3,279,313)

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 5,041,241 766,451 (201) 5,807,491

Total capital assets, net $ 7378033 § 1299729 § (967546) $ 7,710,216

On March 25, 2017, the Warm Springs Extension Project (WSX) commenced revenue service. WSX is a
5.4-mile BART extension south from the Fremont BART Station into the Warm Springs District of
Fremont. There were two major construction contracts for WSX, the Fremont Central Park Subway
Construction Contract (Subway) and the Design-Build Line, Track, Station and Systems Contract (LTSS).
The Subway contract, which constructed a cut and cover subway structure through Fremont Central Park
and beneath a portion of Lake Elizabeth and the operating Union Pacific Rail Road (UPRR) freight track
along the park’s east side, was completed in 2013. The LTSS contract includes the final design and
construction of the Warm Springs / South Fremont Station, the remaining trackway including the tie-in at
the Fremont Station, and the transit systems (traction power, electrification, train control, and
communications) for the entire extension, and provisions for a future station in Irvington.

The District has entered into contracts for the construction of various facilities and equipment totaling
approximately $2,898,000,000 at June 30, 2018 and $2,700,000,000 at June 30, 2017.

40





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities

The District reports the following aggregated payables as accounts payable and other liabilities in the
statements of net position as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 (dollar amounts in thousands):

2018 2017

Payable to vendors and contractors $ 147,275 $ 151,622

Employee salaries and benefits 42,096 35,127

Accrued compensated absences 65,728 64,992

Accrued interest payable 27,334 24,447

Liabilities at the end of year 282,433 276,188
Less: noncurrent portion (44,689) (46,376)

Net current portion $ 237,744 $ 229,812

41





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2018 is summarized as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

Payments/
2017 Additions Amortization 2018
2010 Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds $ 118,140 - $ (118,140) §
2012A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds 119,665 - (29,425) 90,240
2012B Sales Tax Revenue Bonds 102,215 - (88,605) 13,610
2015A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds 171,240 - (15,585) 155,655
2016A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds 83,800 - - 83,800
2017A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds - 118,260 - 118,260
2017B Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds - 67,245 - 67,245
2007B General Obligation Bonds - Measure AA 4,050 - (4,050) -
2013C General Obligation Bonds - Measure AA 225,545 - (19,815) 205,730
2015D General ObligationRefunding Bonds - Measure AA 276,805 - (1,050) 275,755
2017E General Obligation Refunding Bonds - Measure AA 84,735 - - 84,735
2017A General Obligation Bonds - Measure RR 300,000 - (28,400) 271,600
1,486,195 185,505 (305,070) 1,366,630
Add (less):
Original issue premiums and discounts, net 170,497 24814 (29,716) 165,595
Long-term debt, net of accumulated accretion and
debt-related items 1,656,692 $§ 210,319 $  (334,786) 1,532,225
Less: current portion of long-term debt (77,130) (50,835)
Net long-term debt $ 1,579,562 $ 1,481,390

42





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt (Continued)

Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2017 is summarized as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

Payments/

2016 Additions Amortization 2017
2006A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds $ 95840 $ - $  (95840) § -
2010 Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds 121,065 - (2,925) 118,140
2012A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds 121,305 - (1,640) 119,665
2012B Sales Tax Revenue Bonds 104,770 - (2,555) 102,215
2015A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds 186,640 - (15,400) 171,240
2016A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds - 83,800 - 83,800
2007B General Obligation Bonds - Measure AA 101,145 - (97,095) 4,050
2013C General Obligation Bonds - Measure AA 225,545 - - 225,545
2015D General Obligation Refunding Bonds - Measure AA 276,805 - - 276,805
2017E General Obligation Refunding Bonds - Measure AA - 84,735 84,735
2017A General Obligation Bonds - Measure RR - 300,000 - 300,000

1,233,115 468,535 (215,455) 1,486,195
Add (less):

Original issue premiums and discounts, net 128,513 56,837 (14,853) 170,497
Long-term debt, net of accumulated accretion and
debt-related items 1,361,628 $§ 525372 $  (230,308) 1,656,692
Less: current portion of long-term debt (27,225) (77,130)
Net long-term debt $ 1,334,403 $ 1,579,562

43





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt (Continued)

2006 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (the 2006A Refunding Bonds)

On November 30, 2006, the District issued the 2006 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, with a
principal amount of $108,110,000 to advance refund a portion of the 2001 Bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of $102,560,000. The 2006A Refunding Bonds are special obligations of the District,
payable from and secured by a pledge of sales tax revenues. In August 2016, the remaining outstanding
principal balance of $94,450,000 were refunded from the proceeds of the 2016A Refunding Bonds.

2010 Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (the 2010 Refunding Bonds)

On May 5, 2010, the District issued the 2010 Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, with a principal amount
of $129,595,000 to provide sufficient funds to refund a portion of the 1998 Bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of $143,825,000, to fund a deposit to the 2010 Refunding Bonds Reserve Account in the
bond reserve fund and to pay costs of issuance of the 2010 Refunding Bonds. The District funded from its
own funds the Bond Reserve Fund in the amount of $14,202,000. The 2010 Refunding Bonds are special
obligations of the District, payable from and secured by a pledge of sales tax revenues. In December 2017,
the remaining outstanding principal balance of $115,095,000 were refunded using the funds set aside in the
Bond Reserve Fund, along with other District funds, and from the proceeds of the 2017 Series A and 2017
Series B Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds.

2012 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (the 2012A Refunding Bonds)

On October 4, 2012, the District issued the 2012 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, with a
principal amount of $130,475,000 and a premium of $23,439,000 to provide sufficient funds, along with
$10,690,000 in other District funds, to refund $51,605,000 principal amount of the Association of Bay Area
Governments BART SFO Extension Bond (Airport Premium Fare), 2002A Bonds, to refund the remaining
balance of the 2001 Bonds with an aggregate principal amount of $41,745,000, to refund $63,615,000
principal amount of the 2006 Bonds, and to fund costs of issuance of the 2012A Refunding Bonds. The
2012A Refunding Bonds are special obligations of the District, payable from and secured by a pledge of
sales tax revenues. In December 2017, a portion of the 2012A Refunding Bonds in the amount of
$26,820,000 were refunded from the proceeds of 2017 Series A and 2017 Series B Sales Tax Revenue
Refunding Bonds. At June 30, 2018, the 2012A Refunding Bonds consist of serial bonds amounting to
$66,655,000 with interest rates ranging from 4.0% to 5.0% with various maturity dates from 2018 to 2033,
and a term bond with interest rate of 5% in the amount of $23,585,000 with maturity dates from 2033 to
2037.

2012 Series B Sales Tax Revenue Bonds (the 2012B Bonds)

On October 4, 2012, the District issued the 2012 Series B Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, with a principal
amount of $111,085,000 to provide financing for the Oakland International Airport Connector Project and
to fund the costs of issuance. The 2012B Bonds are special obligations of the District, payable from and
secured by a pledge of sales tax revenues. In December 2017, a portion of the 2012B Bonds in the amount
of $86,025,000 were refunded from the proceeds of the 2017 Series A and 2017 Series B Sales Tax Revenue
Refunding Bonds. At June 30, 2018, the 2012B Bonds consist of serial bonds amounting to $13,610,000
with interest rates ranging from 1.712% to 2.677% with various maturity dates from 2018 to 2023.

44





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt (Continued)

2015 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (the 2015A Refunding Bonds)

In October 2015, the District issued the 2015 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, with a
principal amount of $186,640,000 and a premium of $31,350,000 to, along with other District funds,
provide sufficient funds to (1) refund $231,250,000 principal amount of the District’s 2005 Refunding
Bonds; (2) refund $720,000 principal amount of the District’s 2006 Bonds; and (3) fund costs of issuance
associated with the 2015A Refunding Bonds. The 2015A Refunding Bonds are special obligations of the
District, payable from and secured by a pledge of Sales Tax Revenues derived from a transaction and use
tax levied by the District in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco.
At June 30, 2018, the 2015A Refunding Bonds consist of serial bonds amounting to $155,655,000 with
interest rates ranging from 4.0% to 5.0%, with various maturity dates from 2018 to 2035.

2016 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (the 2016A Refunding Bonds)

In August 2016, the District issued 2016 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, with a principal
amount of $83,800,000 and a premium of $11,855,000 to provide sufficient funds, along with other District
funds, to (1) refund $94,450,000 principal amount of the District’s 2006A Refunding Bonds, and (2) to
fund costs of issuance associated with the 2016A Refunding Bonds. The 2016A Refunding Bonds are
special obligations of the District, payable from and secured by a pledge of Sales Tax Revenues derived
from a transaction and use tax levied by the District in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City
and County of San Francisco. At June 30, 2018, the 2016A Refunding Bonds consist of serial bonds
amounting to $83,800,000 with interest rates ranging from 2.125% to 5.0%, with various maturity dates
from 2018 to 2037. The refunding resulted in economic gain of $19,083,000 and cash flow savings of
$19,136,000.

2017 Series A and 2017 Series B Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (the 2017A Green Bond
Refunding Bonds and 2017B Green Bond Refunding Bonds)

In December 2017, the District issued 2017 Series A Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds with a principal
amount of $118,260,000 and 2017 Series B Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds with a principal amount
of $67,245,000 to provide sufficient funds, along with other District funds, to (1) refund all of the
outstanding principal balance amounting to $115,095,000 of the District’s 2010 Sales Tax Refunding
Bonds, refund a portion of outstanding principal balance amounting to $26,820,000 of the District’s 2012
Series A Sales Tax Refunding Bonds, and refund a portion of outstanding principal balance amounting to
$86,025,000 of the District’s 2012 Series B Sales Tax Revenue Bonds and 2) fund costs of issuance
associated with the 2017 Series A and 2017 Series B Refunding Bonds. The 2017A Green Bond Refunding
Bonds and 2017B Green Bond Refunding Bonds are special obligations of the District, payable from and
secured by a pledge of Sales Tax Revenues derived from a transaction and use tax levied by the District in
Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco. At June 30, 2018, the
2017A Green Bond Refunding Bonds consist of serial bonds amounting to $118,260,000 with interest rates
ranging from 3% to 5.0%, with various maturity dates from 2024 to 2035; the 2017B Green Bond Refunding
Bonds consist of serial bonds amounting to $67,245,000 with interest rates ranging from 1.911 % to 2.621%
with various maturity dates from 2019 to 2024. The refunding resulted in economic gain of $22,554,000
and cash flow savings of $65,267,000.

2007 Measure AA General Obligation Bonds (the 2007B Measure AA GO Bonds)

On July 25, 2007, the District issued the 2007 Series B Measure AA General Obligation Bonds (Election
of 2004), with a principal amount of $400,000,000. The 2007B Measure AA GO Bonds constitute the
second issue of the total authorized amount of general obligation bonds issued pursuant to the Measure AA
duly authorized by at least two-thirds of the qualified voters of the District. The 2007B Measure AA GO
Bonds were issued to finance earthquake safety improvements to BART facilities in the three BART

45





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt (Continued)

Counties, including strengthening tunnels, bridges, overhead tracks and the underwater Transbay Tube. The
2007B Measure AA GO Bonds are general obligations of the District payable from and secured solely by
ad valorem taxes upon all property subject to taxation by the District levied in Alameda and Contra Costa
Counties and the City and County of San Francisco. No other revenues of the District are pledged to the
payment of the 2007B Measure AA GO Bonds. In October 2015, a portion of the 2007B Measure AA GO
Bonds, in the amount of $265,735,000, were advance refunded from the proceeds of the 2015D Measure
AA GO Bonds. In June 2017, a large portion of the remaining outstanding 2007B Measure AA GO Bonds,
in the amount of $93,780,000, were refunded from the proceeds of the 2017E Measure AA GO Bonds. In
fiscal year 2018, the remaining outstanding 2007B Measure AA GO Bonds which amounts to $4,050,000
was fully paid.

2013 Measure AA General Obligation Bonds, Series C (the 2013C Measure AA GO Bonds)

On November 21, 2013, the District issued the 2013 Series C Measure AA General Obligation Bonds, with
a principal amount of $240,000,000. The 2013C Measure AA GO Bonds are general obligations of the
District, payable from and secured solely by ad valorem taxes upon all property subject to taxation by the
District, without limitation as to rate or amount (except for certain personal property which is taxable at
limited rates) levied in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco. No
other revenues of the District are pledged to the payment of the 2013C Measure AA GO Bonds. The 2013C
Measure AA GO Bonds constitute the third issue of general obligation bonds issued pursuant to the Measure
AA authorization to provide financing for earthquake safety improvements to District facilities in the Three
District Counties, including strengthening tunnels, bridges, overhead tracks, the underwater Transbay Tube
and the Berkeley Hills Tunnel.

At June 30, 2018, the 2013C Measure AA GO Bonds consist of $185,605,000 in serial bonds due from
2019 to 2034 with interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.00%, and term bonds totaling $20,125,000 with interest
of 5% due in 2038. The serial bonds maturing on or after August 1, 2024 are subject to redemption prior to
their respective stated maturities, at the option of the District, from any source of available funds, as a whole
or in part, on any date on or after August 1, 2023, at the principal amount called for redemption, without
premium, plus accrued interest. The term bonds are also subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on
August 1 beginning 2034, at the principal amount, without premium, plus accrued interest.

2015 Measure AA General Obligation Bonds Refunding Series D (the 2015D Measure AA Refunding
GO Bonds)

In October 2015, the District issued the 2015 Series D Measure AA Refunding General Obligation Bonds,
with a principal amount of $276,805,000 and a premium of $42,300,000. The 2015D Measure AA
Refunding GO Bonds are general obligations of the District, payable from and secured solely by ad valorem
taxes upon all property subject to taxation by the District, without limitation as to rate or amount (except
for certain personal property which is taxable at limited rates) levied in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties
and the City and County of San Francisco. No other revenues of the District are pledged to the payment of
the 2015D Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds. The purpose of the 2015D Measure AA Refunding GO
Bonds is to apply the proceeds and refund $34,680,000, principal amount of the District’s 2005A Measure
AA Refunding GO Bonds and to advance refund $265,735,000 principal amount of the District’s 2007B
GO Bonds, and to pay costs of issuance of the 2015D Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds. The refunded
bonds were issued to finance earthquake safety improvements to the District facilities, including aerial
trackway structures, overhead and underground trackway structures, stations and administrative,
maintenance, and operations facilities, and to finance additional retrofits to facilitate rapid return to service
after an earthquake or other disasters

46





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt (Continued)

At June 30, 2018, the 2015D Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds consist of $275,755,000 in serial bonds
due from 2019 to 2036 with interest ranging from 2.0% to 5.00%. The serial bonds maturing on or after
August 1, 2026 are subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, at the option of the
District, from any source of available funds, as a whole or in part, on any date on or after August 1, 2025,
at the principal amount of such 2015D Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds called for redemption, together
with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption, without premium. If less than all of the
2015D Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds are called for redemption, the 2015D Measure AA Refunding
GO Bonds shall be redeemed in inverse order of maturities (or as otherwise directed by the District), and if
less than all of the 2015D Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds of any given maturity are called for
redemption, the portions of 2015D Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds of a given maturity shall be
determined by lot.

2017 Measure AA General Obligation Bonds Refunding Series E (the 2017E Measure AA
Refunding GO Bonds)

In June 2017, the District issued the 2017 Series E Measure AA Refunding General Obligation Bonds, with
a principal amount of $84,735,000 and a premium of $9,341,000. The 2017E Measure AA Refunding GO
Bonds are general obligations of the District, payable from and secured solely by ad valorem taxes upon all
property subject to taxation by the District, without limitation as to rate or amount (except for certain
personal property which is taxable at limited rates) levied in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the
City and County of San Francisco. No other revenues of the District are pledged to the payment of the
2017E Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds. The purpose of the 2017E Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds
is to apply the proceeds, together with other District funds, to current refund $93,780,000, principal amount
of the District’s 2007B Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds and to pay costs of issuance of the 2017E
Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds. The refunded bonds were issued to finance earthquake safety
improvements to the District facilities, including aerial trackway structures, overhead and underground
trackway structures, stations and administrative, maintenance, and operations facilities, and to finance
additional retrofits to facilitate rapid return to service after an earthquake or other disasters.

At June 30, 2018, the 2017E Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds consist of $84,735,000 in serial bonds due
from 2019 to 2038 with interest ranging from 4.0% to 5.00%. The serial bonds maturing on or after August
1, 2036 are subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, at the option of the District,
from any source of available funds, as a whole or in part, on any date on or after August 1, 2027, at the
principal amount of such 2017E Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds called for redemption, together with
interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption, without premium. If less than all of the 2017E
Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds are called for redemption, the 2017E Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds
shall be redeemed in inverse order of maturities (or as otherwise directed by the District), and if less than
all of the 2017E Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds of any given maturity are called for redemption, the
portions of 2017E Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds of a given maturity shall be determined by lot. The
refunding resulted in economic gain of $13,165,000 and cash flow savings of $15,370,000.

After the issuance of the 2005A, 2007B, 2013C, 2015D, and the 2017E Measure AA GO Bonds, the

remaining Measure AA General Obligation Bonds that can be issued by the District as authorized under
Measure AA is $240,000,000.

47





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt (Continued)

2017 Measure RR General Obligation Bonds (the 2017A Measure RR GO Bonds)

In June 2017, the District issued the 2017 Series A Measure RR General Obligation Bonds with an
aggregate principal amount of $300,000,000 and a premium of $35,641,000. The 2017A Measure RR GO
Bonds were issued in 2 series, 2017A-1 Measure RR Bonds in the amount of $271,600,000 and 2017A-2
Measure RR Bonds (Federally Taxable) in the amount of $28,400,000. The 2017A Measure RR GO Bonds
are part of a $3,500,000,000 authorization approved at an election held on November 8, 2016 (Election of
2016), by over two-thirds of the qualified voters of the District voting on a ballot measure (“Measure RR”)
titled “BART Safety, Reliability and Traffic Relief” to keep BART safe; prevent
accidents/breakdowns/delays; relieve overcrowding; reduce traffic congestion/pollution; and improve
earthquake safety and access for seniors/disabled by replacing and upgrading 90 miles of severely worn
tracks, tunnels damaged by water intrusion; 44-year old train control systems; and other acquisition or
improvement of real property. The 2017A Measure RR GO Bonds constitute the first issue of general
obligation bonds being issued pursuant to the Measure RR authorization. Proceeds from the 2017A Measure
RR Bonds will be applied to (1) finance the projects described in Measure RR, and (2) pay a portion of the
debt service on the 2017A Measure RR Bonds through February 1, 2018, including the debt service in full
of the 2017A-2 Bonds.

The 2017A Measure RR GO Bonds are general obligations of the District, payable from and secured solely
by ad valorem taxes upon all property subject to taxation by the District, without limitation as to rate or
amount (except for certain personal property which is taxable at limited rates) levied in Alameda and Contra
Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco. No other revenues of the District are pledged to
the payment of the 2017A Measure RR GO Bonds.

At June 30, 2018, the outstanding principal balance of 2017A-2 bonds were fully paid. The remaining
outstanding principal balance of $271,600,000 related to the 2017A-1 Measure RR GO Bonds consist of
$140,480,000 in serial bonds due from 2019 to 2038 with interest ranging from 2.0% to 5.00%, a
$58,500,000 term bond with interest of 4% maturing in 2043, and a $72,620,000 term bond with interest of
5% maturing in 2048. The 2017A-1 serial bonds maturing on or after August 1, 2028 are subject to
redemption prior to their respective stated maturities, at the option of the District, from any source of
available funds, as a whole or in part, on any date on or after August 1, 2027, at the principal amount of
such 2017A-1 Measure RR GO Bonds called for redemption, together with interest accrued thereon to the
date fixed for redemption, without premium. If less than all of the 2017A-1 Measure RR GO Bonds are
called for redemption, the 2017A-1 Measure RR GO Bonds shall be redeemed in inverse order of maturities
(or as otherwise directed by the District), and if less than all of the 2017A-1 Measure RR GO Bonds of any
given maturity are called for redemption, the portions of 2017A-1 Measure RR GO Bonds of a given
maturity shall be determined by lot. The 2017A-1 Term Bonds maturing on August 1, 2042 and August 1,
2047 are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption beginning August 1, 2038, at a redemption price
equal to the principal amount to be redeemed (without premium), together with interest accrued thereon to
the date fixed for redemption.

48





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt (Continued)

After the issuance of the 2017A Measure RR GO Bonds, the remaining Measure RR General Obligation
Bonds that can be issued by the District as authorized under Measure RR is $3,200,000,000.

Measure RR proceeds, uses and balances are listed below (dollar amounts in thousands):

2017A GO Bond Proceeds $ 300,000
Project fund Expenditures:

Fiscal year 2017 $ 17,892

Fiscal year 2018 87435 105,327
Remaining proceeds - 6/30/2018 $ 194,673

The following are the major projects and related expenditures funded by proceeds of Measure RR through
June 30, 2018:

Cumulative
Expenditures
through

Project Description June 30, 2018
15CQ002 Rails, Ties,Fasteners Phase 3 $ 41,071
15EJRR1 34.5 KV AC Cable Replacement 15,413
ISEKRR1 TP-Switch Stations & Gap Break 12,363
15CQ001 Rails, Ties, Fasteners Phase 2 7,363
15TC002 Renewal of Tunnels & Structures 5,141
15LK002 San Francisco Escalator Replacement 2,488
15EJ400 Traction Power Cables- M Line 2,280
151IRR1 Stations, Emergency Lighting 1,686
09EK300 Emergency Generator -TBT 1,500
15ELRR1 MPR Install & Rectifier Rehab 1,219
15EK 600 Substation for Core Capacity 1,198
79NKRR1 Train Control Room UPS System 1,062
15EK400 Replace Substation RRY DC House 1,008
96DARRI1 FTA Core Capacity 1,000
54RR002 M&E Bond Projects-Wet Fire Protection 708
15AA001 Tunnel Lighting Replacement 681
15QH000 Repair Sidewalks SWD 633
54RR001 Mechnical Engineering 624
11FE001 EMS New Platform Elevator 612
111IA002 Civic Center Platform Stairs 518

Others 6,759

Total $ 105,327

Total Project costs reimbursed from bond proceeds since inception through June 30, 2018 amounted to
$92,677,000.

49





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt (Continued)

Defeased Bonds

On various dates, the District issued bonds to refund certain outstanding sales tax revenue bonds previously
issued by the District. In October 2015, $231,250,000 aggregate principal amount of the District’s 2005
Refunding Bonds, and $720,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2006 Bonds were refunded from the
proceeds of the 2015A Refunding Bonds. In October 2015, $34,680,000 aggregate principal amount of the
District’s 2005A Measure AA GO Bonds, and $265,735,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2007B
Measure AA GO Bonds were refunded from the proceeds of the 2015D Measure AA Refunding GO Bonds.
In August 2016, $94,450,000 principal amount of the District’s 2006A Refunding Bonds were refunded
from the proceeds of the 2016A Refunding Bonds. In June 2017, $93,780,000 principal amount of the
District’s 2007B Measure AA GO Bonds were refunded from the proceeds of the 2017E Measure AA
Refunding GO Bonds. In fiscal year 2018, the 2017A Green Bond Refunding Bonds and 2017B Green
Bond Refunding Bonds were issued in December 2017 to refund all of the outstanding principal balance
amounting to $115,095,000 of the District’s 2010 Sales Tax Refunding Bonds, refund a portion of
outstanding principal balance amounting to $26,820,000 of the District’s 2012 Series A Sales Tax
Refunding Bonds, and refund a portion of outstanding principal balance amounting to $86,025,000 of the
District’s 2012 Series B Sales Tax Revenue Bonds.

On the above described defeasances, the District placed in irrevocable trusts, the required amounts to pay
the future debt service payments on the defeased bonds. The advance refunding met the requirement of the
in-substance debt defeasance, and the defeased bonds were removed from the District’s long-term debt.
Accordingly, the trust accounts assets and liabilities for the defeased bonds are not included in the District’s
financial statements.

The outstanding principal balance of the defeased Sales Tax Revenue Bonds is $227,940,000 as of June 30,
2018 and $0 as of June 30, 2017. The outstanding principal balance of the defeased Measure AA General
Obligation Bonds is $0 as of June 30, 2018 and $359,515,000 as of June 30, 2017.

Arbitrage Bonds

The District is subject to certain bond covenants, including the rules set forth by IRS Code Section 148a,
which requires that interest earned on the proceeds of a tax-exempt bond issuance does not exceed the
interest expense related to those bonds, which qualifies those bonds as arbitrage bonds. Any excess interest
income is subject to a 100% tax and is payable to the Federal Government. The District has recorded an
estimated arbitrage liability with a balance amounting to $4,000 in fiscal year 2018 and 2017, which is
included in accounts payable and other liabilities in the statements of net position.

50





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt (Continued)

Pledge of Revenue to Repay Sales Tax Revenue Bonds

The District issues sales tax revenue bonds primarily to finance a portion of its capital projects. The sales
tax revenue bonds are special obligations of the District, payable from and secured by a pledge of sales tax
revenues derived from a seventy-five percent (75%) portion of a transactions and use tax levied by the
District in Alameda and Contra Costa Counties and the City and County of San Francisco in an amount
equal to one-half of one percent (0.5%) of gross retail receipts. The sales tax revenue bonds outstanding as
of June 30, 2018 consist of the 2012A Refunding Bonds, the 2012B Bonds, 2015A Refunding Bonds, the
2016A Refunding Bonds, the 2017A Green Bond Refunding Bonds, and the 2017B Green Bond Refunding
Bonds. Interest on the sales tax revenue bonds are payable on January 1 and July 1 of each year, and the
principal is payable on July 1 of the scheduled year until 2037. The total principal and interest remaining
on these sales tax revenue bonds is $734,595,000 as of June 30, 2018 ($870,148,000 as of June 30, 2017),
which is 10.86% in 2018 (8.94% in 2017) of the total projected sales tax revenues of $6,767,067,000 as of
June 30, 2018 covering the period from fiscal year 2019 through fiscal year 2037 based on the last
scheduled bond principal payment as of June 30, 2018 ($9,733,052,000 as of June 30, 2017 covering the
period from fiscal year 2018 through fiscal year 2043 based on the last scheduled bond principal payment
as of June 30, 2017).

The pledged sales tax revenues recognized in fiscal year 2018 was $257,883,000 ($247,185,000 in fiscal

year 2017) as against a total debt service payment of $45,630,000 in fiscal year 2018, and $50,460,000 in
fiscal year 2017.

51





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt (Continued)
Debt Repayments

The following is a schedule of long-term debt principal and interest payments required as of June 30,
2018 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Sales Tax Revenue Bonds

2012A Refunding Bonds 2012B Bonds 2015A Refunding Bonds
Year ending

June 30: Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2019 $ 3,045 $ 4346 $ 2,615 $ 284 $ 15815 $ 7,308
2020 3,255 4,204 2,660 236 7,405 6,807
2021 3,565 4,051 2,715 178 7,785 6,427
2022 3,865 3,903 2,775 111 2,675 6,166
2023 4,175 3,721 2,845 38 2,795 6,029
2024-2028 19,705 15,781 - - 72,870 22351
2029-2033 29,045 9,741 - - 36,575 5,508
2034-2038 23,585 2,267 - - 9,735 493
$ 90,240 $ 48,014 $ 13,610 $ 847 $ 155655 $ 61,089

2016A Refunding Bonds 2017A Refunding Bonds 2017B Refunding Bonds

Year ending

June 30: Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2019 $ - $ 3,204 $ - $ 5,700 $ 1,200 $ 1,614
2020 3,135 3,126 - 5,652 8,200 1,506
2021 3,300 2,965 - 5,652 8,795 1,328
2022 3,465 2,796 - 5,652 15,995 1,042
2023 3,640 2,618 - 5,652 17,995 623
2024-2028 21,180 10,180 60,540 21,195 15,060 197

2029-2033 25,565 6,047 44,590 6,988 - -

2034-2038 23,515 1,710 13,130 387 - -

$ 83,800 $ 32,646 § 118260 $ 56,878 $ 67,245 $ 6,310

52





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Long-Term Debt (Continued)

Debt Repayments

Total Sales Tax Revenue Bonds
(in thousands)

Year ending

June 30: Principal Interest
2019 $ 22,675 $ 22456
2020 24,655 21,531
2021 26,160 20,602
2022 28,775 19,670
2023 31,450 18,682

2024-2028 189,355 69,704

2029-2033 135,775 28,283

2034-2038 69,965 4,857

$528,.810 $205,785

53





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2018 and 2017
6. Long-Term Debt (Continued)
2013C 2015D 2017E
Measure AA Measure AA Measure AA
General Obligation Refunding General General Obligation
Bonds Obligation Bonds Bonds
Year ending
June 30: Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2019 $18,050 § 9318 $ 1,085 $ 12,307 $ 4455 $ 3,745
2020 18,100 8,566 1,115 12,269 5,220 3,525
2021 18,185 7,760 1,165 12,223 6,125 3,242
2022 18,365 6,942 8,235 12,118 - 3,089
2023 10,985 6,268 9,235 11,897 - 3,089
2024-2028 51,850 23,695 63,685 51,890 - 15,443
2029-2033 43,080 11,871 103,865 31,409 - 15,443
2034-2038 27,115 2,973 87,370 5417 68,935 12,243

$ 205,730 § 77393 $§ 2757755 $§ 149,530 $ 84735 $ 59,819

2017A Measure RR Total

Year ending General Obligation Bonds General Obligation Bonds

June 30: Principal Interest Principal Interest
2019 $ 4570 § 12113 $ 28,160 $ 37,483
2020 4,750 11,927 29,185 36,287
2021 4,940 11,708 30415 34,933
2022 5,185 11,455 31,785 33,604
2023 5,445 11,271 25,665 32,525
2024-2028 29,980 53,215 145,515 144,243
2029-2033 38,070 44,889 185,015 103,612
2034-2038 47,540 35,271 230,960 55,904
2039-2043 58,500 24,188 58,500 24,188
2044-2048 72,620 9,432 72,620 9,432

$ 271,600 $ 225469 $ 837,820 $§ 512211

54





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Risk Management

The District is partially self-insured for workers’ compensation, public liability and property damage
claims. The self-insured retention for workers’ compensation is $4,000,000 per accident and the limit of
liability is $10,000,000. The self-insured retention for public liability and property damage is $5,000,000
for any one occurrence. Claims in excess of self-insured retentions are covered up to a total of $145,000,000
by insurance policies. There have been no settlement amounts during the past three years that have
exceeded the District’s insurance coverage.

The self-insurance programs are administered by independent claims adjustment firms. Claim expenses and
liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be
reasonably estimated. Liabilities are discounted at a 3% rate, in part, upon the independent adjustment
firms’ estimate of reserves necessary for the settlement of outstanding claims and related administrative
costs, and include estimates of claims that have been incurred but not yet reported, including loss adjustment
expenses. Such reserves are estimated by professional actuaries through June 30 and are subject to periodic
adjustments as conditions warrant.

The estimated liability for insurance claims at June 30, 2018 is believed to be sufficient to cover any costs
arising out of claims filed or to be filed for accidents occurring through that date. At June 30, 2018
and 2017, the estimated amounts of these liabilities were $58,964,000 and $55,951,000, respectively.

Changes in the reported liabilities since the beginning of the respective fiscal years are as follows (dollar
amounts in thousands):

2018 2017
Liabilities at beginning of year $ 55,951 $ 53,308
Current year claims and changes in estimates 17,996 20,063
Payments of claims (14,983) (17,420)
Liabilities at the end of year 58,964 55,951
Less current portion (20,505) (20,048)
Net noncurrent portion $ 38,459 $ 35,903

55





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

8. Federal Capital Contributions and Operating Financial Assistance

The U.S. Department of Transportation and other federal agencies provide capital funding to the District
for construction projects, planning and technical assistance. Cumulative information for grants which were
active during the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 are summarized as follows (dollar amounts in

thousands):
2018 2017
Total approved project costs $ 1,385,237 $ 1,582,012
Cumulative amounts of project costs incurred and earned $ 921,226 $ 1,068,825
Less: approved federal allocations received (870,562) (1,033,906)
Government receivables - Federal $ 50,664 $ 34919

The District’s fleet replacement project consisting of construction for the A, B, C1 and C2 fleet replacement
was formally launched in 2013. To set aside funding for this program, the District and MTC, on May 24,
2006, entered into the BART Car Replacement Funding Exchange Agreement. Under the agreement, MTC
agrees to program federal funds to eligible BART projects that are ready to be delivered within the year of
MTC’s programming action. In exchange for MTC programming funds for ready-to-go BART projects,
the District will deposit an equal amount of local unrestricted funds into a restricted account established to
fund BART’s car replacement program. MTC is the exclusive administrator of the restricted account and
any withdrawal of funds from the account requires prior approval from the MTC Commission and the
District’s Board. In accordance with the agreement, MTC allocated Federal Section 5307 and 5337 Grants
for $0 in fiscal year 2018 and $52,548,000 in fiscal year 2017 to fund the District’s preventive maintenance
expenses. The District remitted to MTC the full amount of $52,548,000 in fiscal year 2017 the equivalent
amount of its own funds, which were deposited by MTC to the restricted account. The federal grant is
shown as nonoperating revenue — operating financial assistance and the District’s remittance to MTC is
shown as nonoperating expense in the District’s financial statements. The restricted account for BART’s
car replacement program held by MTC, which is excluded from the District’s financial statements, reported
a balance of $385,307,000 as of June 30, 2018 and $381,528,000 as of June 30, 2017.

56





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

9. State and Local Operating and Capital Financial Assistance

The District is eligible to receive local operating and capital assistance from the Transportation
Development Act Funds (TDA). There was no TDA capital and operating assistance received in fiscal years
2018 or 2017. The District may also be entitled to receive state operating and capital assistance from the
State Transit Assistance Funds (STA). These funds are allocated by MTC based on the ratio of the District’s
transit operation revenue and local support to the revenue and local support of all state transit agencies.
The District was awarded STA operating allocations, which amounted to $490,000 in fiscal year 2013,
$99,000 in fiscal year 2014, $17,697,000 in fiscal year 2015, $15,429,000 in fiscal year 2016, $9,135,000
in fiscal year 2017 and $26,822,000 in fiscal year 2018. In addition, the allocation for fiscal 2016 was
increased by $990,000 in fiscal year 2017. Of these allocations, $ 26,878 was earned in fiscal year 2018
and $10,187,000 was earned in fiscal year 2017. The District received an STA capital grant of $329,000 in
fiscal year 2017 and $10,248,000 in fiscal year 2018. The District earned $334,000 of STA capital revenues
in fiscal year 2018 and none was earned in fiscal year 2017.

Beginning in fiscal year 2015, the District has applied and received an allocation from the Low Carbon
Transit Operations Program (LCTOP). The LCTOP is one of several programs established by the California
Legislature in 2014 through Senate Bills 862 (SB 862) and 852 (SB 852). The source of funds for LCTOP
is from the state’s Cap-and-Trade Program annual proceeds and was created to provide operating and capital
assistance for transit agencies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and improve mobility, with a priority on
serving disadvantaged communities. Eligible projects and programs include new or expanded bus or rail
services, expanded intermodal transit facilities, equipment acquisition, fueling, maintenance and other
operating costs. The District received an allocation of $1,596,000 in fiscal year 2015, $4,477,000 in fiscal
year 2016 and $2,066,000 in fiscal year 2017 and $5,636,000 in fiscal year 2018. Funds allocated in fiscal
year 2018, 2017 and 2016 have been set aside for the acquisition of new rail car and will be earned as
revenue when capital expenditures are incurred, thus no expenditures and revenue were recognized in fiscal
year 2018 and 2017. The District earned in full the fiscal year 2015 allocation in fiscal year 2016.

The District receives Paratransit funds provided to cities and transit operators from Alameda County
Transportation Commission (ACTC) Measure B funds to be used for services aimed at improving mobility
for seniors and persons with disabilities. Beginning in April 2015, the ACTC also allocated to the District
Measure BB funds to supplement the funding needed for the paratransit program. Additional Measure BB
funds were also allocated to the District for transit operations, maintenance and safety programs. ACTC is
the administrator of both Measure B and BB funds. The District’s revenues that relate to the Measure B
funds were $2,143,000 in fiscal year 2018 ($1,983,000 in fiscal year 2017). Revenues from Measure BB
funds for transit operations were $729,000 in fiscal year 2018 ($674,000 in fiscal year 2017), and for
paratransit operations, were $2,188,000 in fiscal year 2018 ($2,022,000 in fiscal year 2017). The District
also received annual assistance for its paratransit program from the Contra Costa Transportation Authority
Measure J funds. Revenues from Measure J funds received in fiscal year 2018 were $171,000 ($84,000 in
fiscal year 2017).

57





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

State and Local Operating and Capital Financial Assistance (Continued)

On February 28, 2007, the District, San Mateo County Transit District (SamTrans), and MTC entered into
a Tri-Party Financial Agreement establishing the operational and financial arrangement regarding the
BART San Francisco International Airport Extension. To fund the operating costs of the SFO Extension,
the agreement provided that (1) the District will receive up-front funding of $24,000,000 from MTC and
$32,000,000 from SamTrans from their shares of Proposition 1B funds; (2) the District will also receive
2% of the San Mateo County half cent sales tax, Measure A, which was reauthorized by the voters of San
Mateo County in 2004, for 25 years beginning in fiscal year 2009; this amount is currently equal to
approximately $1,600,000 per year; and (3) MTC shall allocate to the District additional STA revenue-
based funds beginning in fiscal year 2009, which would otherwise be available for allocation to SamTrans
as a result of the completion of the Traffic Congestion Relief Program projects, in an amount of $801,000
annually. The above funds will be used first to cover any operating deficit on the SFO Extension and then
to complete SamTrans’ funding commitment of $145,000,000 to the District’s Warm Springs Extension
Project. In December 2013, MTC adopted Resolution No. 4123, the Transit Core Capacity Challenge Grant
Program, which re-directs the $145,000,000 of SFO Net Operating Revenues to BART's New Railcar
Procurement Program.

The up-front funding of $24,000,000 from MTC was allocated to the District in 2008 in the form of
Regional Measure 2 (RM2) revenues as local match to capital projects funded by the Transit Capital
Priorities Program. For the purpose of the Tri-Party Agreement, the District made up-front deposits
equivalent to the RM2 revenues in the reserve account and is currently being reimbursed by MTC with
RM2 revenues, as the funds are earned. At June 30, 2018, the District has received the full amount from
MTC. SamTrans' $32,000,000 contribution was funded with approximately $22,500,000 in Proposition 1B
funds and $9,500,000 in a direct allocation.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the balance of the reserve account is as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

2018 2017
Reserve account at beginning of year $ 36,486 $ 34,655
Received/accrued 3,018 2,596
Add: Interest earnings 155 36
Total 39,659 37,287
Less: Amount used to cover SFO Extension operating shortfall (801) (801)
Reserve account at end of year $ 38,858 $ 36,486

In accordance with the Tri-Party Financial Agreement, the District recognized contributions in fiscal year
2018 of $2,594,000 from SamTrans ($2,452,000 in fiscal year 2017) and $424,000 from MTC ($144,000
in fiscal year 2017).

PTMISEA Grants

The Highway Safety, Traffic Reduction, Air Quality, and Port Security Bond Act of 2006, approved by the
voters as Proposition 1B on November 7, 2006, includes a program of funding in the amount of $4 billion
to be deposited in the Public Transportation Modernization, Improvement and Service Enhancement
Account (PTMISEA). Of this amount, $3.6 billion in the PTMISEA is available to project sponsors in
California for allocation to eligible public transportation projects.

58





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2018 and 2017

State and Local Operating and Capital Financial Assistance (Continued)

The District has cumulatively received a total grant amount of $354,526,000 in PTMISEA grant funds to
fund various BART capital projects. The grants received are in the form of cash for $349,011,000 and

reimbursement grants for $5,515,000.

The following schedules show the changes in activities related to the PTMISEA grant funds during the

fiscal years 2018 and 2017 (dollar amounts in thousands):

2018

eBART Extension

Ashby Elevator

Station Modernization
Seismic Retrofit

Oakland Airport Connector
Warm Springs Extension
Balboa Park Eastside
Berkeley Station Entrance
Access Improvements
Station Signage1

Train Control

2017

eBART Extension

Ashby Elevator

Station Modernization
Seismic Retrofit

Oakland Airport Connector
‘Warm Springs Extension
Balboa Park Eastside
Berkeley Station Entrance
Access Improvements
Station Signagel

Train Control

Grant Fund Grant Fund
Balance at Grants Project Costs Balance at
Beginning of Year Received Incurred End of Year
567 $ - $ 300 $ 267
212 - 243 3D’
99,529 (58) 19,299 80,172
(405) - . (405) *
(54) - - (54 *
102 58 160 -
3,291 - 2,440 851
3,373 - 1,863 1,510
3,257 - 1,686 1,571
911 - 587 324
7,806 - 3,942 3,864
118,589 $ - $ 30,520 $ 88,069
Grant Fund Grant Fund
Balance at Grants Project Costs Balance at
Beginning of Year Received Incurred End of Year
2,490 $ - $ 1,923 $ 567
262 - 50 212
109,914 1,287 11,672 99,529
(405) - - (405) °
(54) - - (54)°
159 350 407 102
8,323 - 5,032 3,291
4,111 - 738 3,373
3,740 - 483 3,257
1,349 - 438 911
13,428 - 5,622 7,806
143,317 $ 1,637 $ 26,365 $ 118,589

! This grant is on a reimbursement basis.

2 Covered by interest earnings.

3 New grants of $1,637,000 received in fiscal year 2017, net of $350,000 reallocated to Warm Springs

Extension

4 Amount was reallocated from Station Modernization.

59





10.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

State and Local Operating and Capital Financial Assistance (Continued)

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the unused portion of PTMISEA grant funds received in cash are shown on
the statements of net position as a component of unearned revenues as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

2018 2017
Cash Available, end of year $ 88,462 $ 118,028
Less: noncurrent portion (59,082) (25,316)
Net current portion $ 29,380 $ 92,712

At the end of fiscal year 2018, the PTMISEA funds had earned interest income of $3,749,000 from
inception, of which $1,127,000 was earned in fiscal year 2018 and $528,000 in fiscal year 2017.

Employees’ Retirement Benefits

Plan Description

All eligible employees participate in the Public Employees’ Retirement Fund (the Fund) of CalPERS under
the Miscellaneous Plan and the Safety Plan of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District. The
Fund is an agent multiple-employer defined benefit retirement plan that acts as a common investment and
administrative agent for 3,093 local public agencies and school districts within the State of California. The
Fund provides retirement, disability, and death benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age and
compensation. Most employees become eligible for benefits after five years of service and 50 years of age
(age 52 for employees hired after January 1, 2013, see paragraph below.) These benefit provisions and all
other requirements are established by State statute and District contractual agreements.

Pursuant to the California Public Employees' Pension Reform Act 0of 2013 (PEPRA), new members, defined
as active members first hired on or after January 1, 2013, or who were hired after a break in service of more
than six months, are required to contribute 50% of the "normal" pension cost. That amount is currently
13% of covered payroll for safety and 6.25% of covered payroll for miscellaneous. Represented employees
were exempt from this provision; however, as a result of a court decision, they were determined to be
covered effective December 30, 2014. There is currently a pending District Court case related to PEPRA's
impact on represented employees which could alter the applicability of PEPRA to represented employees
in the future.

Copies of CalPERS’ annual financial report may be obtained from their Executive Office by writing or
calling the Plan: California PERS, P.O. Box 942709, Sacramento, CA 94229-2709, (916) 326-3420. A
separate report for the District’s plan is not available.

Benefits Provided

The District provides service retirement and disability retirements, annual cost of living adjustments and
death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries. Benefits are based on
years of credited service, equal to one year of full time employment. Members with five years of total
service are eligible to retire at age 50 with statutorily reduced benefits. The death benefit is as follows:
The Basic Death Benefit for Miscellaneous employees and for Safety employees, it is the 4™ level of 1959
Survivor Benefit.

60





10.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

The Plan’s provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2018, are summarized as follows:

Miscellaneous Plan Safety Plan

Prior to On or After Prior to On or After
Hire date January 1, 2013 January 1, 2013 January 1, 2013 January 1, 2013
Benefit formula 2.0% @ 55 2.0% @ 62 3.0% @ 50 2.70% @ 57
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years
Benefit payments Monthly for life Monthly for life Monthly for life Monthly for life
Retirement age 55 62 50 57
Monthly benefits, as a percentage

of eligible compensation 2.0% 2.0% 3.0% 2.7%

Required employee contribution rate 6.90% 6.25% 9.18% 13.00%
Required employer contribution rate: 7.93% 7.93% 24.71% 24.711%

Starting fiscal year 2018, in addition to the contributions noted above, employer contributions include additional
unfunded liability payments, details of which are listed below (dollar amounts in thousands):

Unfunded
Plan Liability Payme nts
Miscellaneous Plan $ 26,868
Safety Plan 6,915
Total $ 33,783

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Miscellaneous
June 30, 2018 Plan Safety Plan
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 2,797 296
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 167 12
Active employees 3,387 180
Total 6,351 488
Miscellaneous
June 30, 2017 Plan Safety Plan
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 2,694 286
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 188 10
Active employees 3,290 186
Total 6,172 482

61





10.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

Contributions

Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the employer
contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and shall be
effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. Funding contributions for the Plan is
determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CalPERS. The actuarially determined rate is the
estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an
additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The District is required to contribute the
difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees.

For fiscal year 2018, the average employee contribution rate for the Miscellaneous Plan is 6.904% and for
the Safety Plan is 9.177% of their annual covered payroll. For employer’s contribution, beginning in fiscal
year 2018, CalPERS collects the employer contribution toward the plan’s unfunded liability as a dollar
amount instead of the prior method, which is based on a contribution rate. The District’s actuarially
determined employer contribution rate to cover the normal cost in fiscal year 2018 was 7.93% and 24.71%
for Miscellaneous and Safety Plans, respectively, of annual covered payroll for the District’s employees.
Annual covered payroll amounted to $337,130,000 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 for the District’s
employees. The District’s total employer contribution in fiscal year 2018 amounted to $68,202,000,
consisted of $34,419,000 for normal cost and $33,783,000 for payment of unfunded liability.

For fiscal year 2017, the average employee contribution rate for the Miscellaneous Plan was 6.987% and
for the Safety Plan was 9.021% of their annual covered payroll. The District’s employer required
contribution for fiscal year 2017 based on actuarially determined rate was 16.38% and 56.47% for
Miscellaneous and Safety Plans, respectively, of annual covered payroll for the District’s employees.
Annual covered payroll amounted to $309,590,000 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. The total
employer contributions paid by the District in fiscal 2017 was $58,386,000.

Net Pension Liability

The District’s net pension liability for the Plans is measured as the total pension liability, less the pension
plan’s fiduciary net position. The plans’ net pension liability as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 were measured
as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 (measurement date), using an annual actuarial valuation of June 30, 2016 and
2015, respectively. A summary of principal assumptions and methods used to determine the net pension
liability is shown below.

62





10.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2018 and 2017

Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

Actuarial Assumptions

The June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 total pension liabilities were based on the following actuarial methods

and assumptions:

Reporting date
Measurement date
Valuation date
Actuarial cost method
Actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate
Inflation
Payroll growth
Projected salary increase

Investment rate of returnl

Mortality rate table2

Miscellane ous Safe ty
June 30, 2018 June 30, 2018
June 30, 2017 June 30, 2017
June 30, 2016 June 30, 2016

Entry Age Normal Cost Entry Age Normal Cost

7.150% 7.150%

2.75% 2.75%

3.00% 3.00%

3.20% to 12.20% depending
on Age, Service and Type
of Employment
7.50%

Derived using
CalPERS' Membership

3.70% to 15.00% depending
on Age, Service and Type
of Employment
7.50%

Derived using
CalPERS' Membership

1 Net of pension plan investment and administrative expenses, including inflation

2 The probabilities of mortality are based on 2014 CalPers Experience Study for the period from 1997 to 2011.
Pre-retirement and Post-retirement mortality rates include 20 years of projected mortality improvement using
Scale BB published by the Society of Actuaries.

63





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

Mis cellane ous Safe ty
Reporting date June 30, 2017 June 30, 2017
Measurement date June 30, 2016 June 30, 2016
Valuation date June 30, 2015 June 30, 2015
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Cost Entry Age Normal Cost
Actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate 7.65% 7.65%
Inflation 2.75% 2.75%
Payroll growth 3.00% 3.00%
Projected salary increase 3.20% to 12.20% depending 3.70% to 15.00% depending
on Age, Service and Type on Age, Service and Type
of Employment of Employment
Investment rate of returnl 7.50% 7.50%
Derived using Derived using
CalPERS' Membership CalPERS' Membership
Mortality rate table2 Data for all Funds Data for all Funds

1 Net of pension plan investment and administrative expenses, including inflation

2 The probabilities of mortality are based on 2010 CalPERS Experience Study for the period from 1997 to 2007.
Pre-retirement and Post-retirement mortality rates include 5 years of projected mortality improvement using
Scale AA published by the Society of Actuaries.

The underlying mortality assumptions and other actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015 and 2014
valuations were based on the results of a January 2014 actuarial experience study for the period from 1997
to 2011. The Experience Study report can be obtained on the CalPERS’ website.

Notes to Actuarial Assumptions

In 2014, CalPERS completed a 2-year asset liability management study, incorporating actuarial
assumptions and strategic asset allocation. On February 19, 2014, the CalPERS Board of Administration
adopted relatively modest changes to the current asset allocation that will reduce the expected volatility of
returns. The adopted asset allocation is expected to have a long-term blended return that continues to
support a discount rate assumption of 7.65 percent. The Board also approved several changes to the
demographic assumptions that more closely align with actual experience. The most significant of these is
mortality improvement to acknowledge the greater life expectancies in its members and expected continued
improvements. The new actuarial assumptions were first used in the June 30, 2014 valuation to set the
Fiscal year 2016-17 contribution for public agency employers. The increase in liability due to the new
actuarial assumptions is amortized over a 20-year period with a 5-year ramp-up/ramp-down in accordance
with Board policy.

64





10.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)
Discount Rate

The latest GASB 68 report, which is based on the June 30, 2016 valuation date, used a discount rate of
7.15%. The prescribed discount rate assumption adopted by the CalPERS Board on December 21, 2016 is
7.375% compounded annually (net of investment and administrative expenses) as of 6/30/2016. The Board
also prescribed that the assumed discount rate will reduce to 7.25% compounded annually (net of expenses)
as of 6/30/2017, and 7.0% compounded annually (net of expenses) as of 6/30/2018. These further changes
to the discount rate assumption are not reflected in the determination.

The discount rate used to measure the pension liability at June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 is 7.15% and
7.65% respectively. To determine whether the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a
discount rate for each plan, CalPERS stress tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that
would be different from the actuarially assumed discount rate. Based on the testing, none of the tested
plans run out of assets. Therefore, the discount rate is adequate and the use of the municipal bond rate
calculation is not necessary. The long-term expected discount rate of 7.15% is applied to all plans in the
Public Employees Retirement Fund. The stress test results are presented in a detailed report called “GASB
Crossover Testing Report” that can be obtained at CalPERS website under the GASB 68 section.

65





10.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

Long-term rate of Return

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and long-
term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flow. Such cash flows were
developed assuming that both members and employers will make their required contributions on time and
as scheduled in all future years. Using historical returns of all the funds’ asset classes, expected compound
returns were calculated over the short term (first 10 years) and the long-term (11-60 years) using a building
block approach. Using the expected nominal returns for both short- term and long term, the present value
of benefits was calculated for each fund. The expected rate of return was set by calculating the single
equivalent expected return that arrived at the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the one
calculated using both short-term and long-term returns. The expected rate of return was then set equivalent
to the single equivalent rate calculated above and rounded down to the nearest one quarter of one percent.

The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class. The rate of return was
calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset allocation.

The target allocation for the June 30, 2017 measurement date was as follows:

Miscellaneous & Safety Plans

New Interim 5 -Year 10 - Year
Target Return Return
Asset Class Allocation 1 Years 1-10 Years 11+
Public Equity 46% 11.60% 4.30%
Global Fixed Income 20% 0.03 0.07
Inflation Sensitive 9% (0.02) -
Private Equity 8% 0.12 0.09
Real Assets 13% 0.10 0.01
Liquidity 4% 0.00 0.01
Total 100%

(1) effective October 1, 2016

(2) The Total Plan level includes Multi-Asset class, Absolute Return Strategies, transition, and plan level portfolios.

These assets do not have targets because they are not components of the Total Fund Policy benchmark.

66





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)
The target allocation for the June 30, 2016 measurement was as follows:

Miscellaneous & Safety Plans

Real Real
New Return Return
Strategic  Years 1 - Years
Asset Class Allocation 10 (a) 11+ (b)
Global Equity 51% 5.25% 5.71%
Global Debt Securities 20% 0.99 2.43
Inflation Assets 6% 0.45 3.36
Private Equity 10% 6.83 6.95
Real Assets 10% 4.50 5.13
Infrastructure and Forestland 2% 4.50 5.09
Liquidity 1% (0.55) (1.05)

Total 100%

(a) An expected inflation of 2.5% was used for this period

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan as of the June 30, 2017 measurement date,
calculated using the discount rate of 7.15%, as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were

calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower (6.15%) or 1 percentage-point higher
(8.15%) than the current rate (dollar amounts in thousands):

Discount Rate - 1% Current Discount Discount Rate + 1%

(6.15%) Rate (7.15%) (8.15%)
Miscellaneous Plan
Plan's Net Pension
Liability (Asset) $ 861,762 $ 574,909 $ 334,078
Safety Plan
Plan's Net Pension
Liability (Asset) $ 175,902 $ 130,594 $ 93,434

67





10.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

The following presents the net pension liability of the Plan as of the June 30, 2016 measurement date,
calculated using the discount rate of 7.65%, as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were

calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower (6.65%) or 1 percentage-point higher
(8.65%) than the current rate (dollar amounts in thousands):

Discount Rate - 1% Current Discount Discount Rate + 1%

(6.65%) Rate (7.65%) (8.65%)
Miscellaneous Plan
Plan's Net Pension
Liability (Asset) $ 753,713 $ 499,114 $ 284,915
Safety Plan
Plan's Net Pension
Liability (Asset) $ 154,865 $ 115,336 $ 82,795

68





10.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued
CalPERS financial report.

Change in Net Pension Liability

The following table shows the changes in the net pension liability for the year ended June 30, 2018, based
on measurement date of June 30, 2017 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Miscellaneous Plan Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)
Balance at June 30, 2017 $ 2,117,291 $ 1,618,177 $ 499,114
Changes during the year:
Service cost 45,264 - 45,264
Interest on the total pension liability 157,621 - 157,621
Changes of assumptions 120,524 - 120,524
Differences between expected and
actual experience (1,484) - (1,484)
Net Plan to Plan resource movement - 12 (12)
Contributions from the employer - 47272 (47,272)
Contributions from the employees - 20,144 (20,144)
Net investment income - 181,091 (181,091)
Benefit payments, including refunds
of employee contributions (108,947) (108,947) -
Administrative expense - (2,389) 2,389
Net Changes 212,978 137,183 75,795
Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 2,330,269 $ 1,755360  $ 574,909

69





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

Safety Plan Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)
Balance at June 30, 2017 $ 296,142  § 180,806  $ 115,336
Changes during the year:
Service cost 7416 - 7416
Interest on the total pension liability 22274 - 22274
Changes of assumptions 18,632 - 18,632
Differences between expected and
actual experience 745 - 745
Net Plan to Plan resource movement - (14) 14
Contributions from the employer - 11,742 (11,742)
Contributions from the employees - 2,165 (2,165)
Net investment income - 20,183 (20,183)
Benefit payments, including refunds (15,408) (15,408) -
of employee contributions - - -
Administrative expenses - (267) 267
Net Changes 33,659 18,401 15,258
Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 329,801 $ 199207  §$ 130,594

Total of Miscellaneous and Safety Plans
Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)
Balance at June 30, 2017 $ 2413433  $ 1,798983  § 614,450
Changes during the year:
Service cost 52,680 - 52,680
Interest on the total pension lLability 179,895 - 179,895
Changes of assumptions 139,156 - 139,156
Differences between expected and
actual experience (739) (739)
Plan to Plan resource movement - 2 2
Contributions from the employer - 59,014 (59,014)
Contributions from the employees - 22309 (22,309)
Net investment income - 201,274 (201,274)
Benefit payments, including refunds
of employee contributions (124,355) (124,355) -
Administrative expense - (2,656) 2,656
Net Changes 246,637 155,584 91,053
Balance at June 30,2018 $ 2,660,070 $ 1,954,567 $ 705,503

70





10.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

The following table shows the changes in the net pension liability for the year ended June 30, 2017 (dollar
amounts in thousands):

Miscellaneous Plan Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)
Balance at June 30, 2016 $ 2,027,925 $ 1,656,526 371,399
Changes during the year:
Service cost 37,959 - 37,959
Interest on the total pension liability 152,757 - 152,757

Changes of assumptions - - -
Differences between expected and

actual experience 1,193 - 1,193
Plan to Plan resource movement - (1) 1
Contributions from the employer - 38,283 (38,283)
Contributions from the employees - 18,174 (18,174)
Net investment income - 8,747 (8,747)
Benefit payments, including refunds

of employee contributions (102,543) (102,543) -
Administrative expense - (1,009) 1,009

Net Changes 89,366 (38,349) 127,715
Balance at June 30, 2017 $ 2,117,291 $ 1,618,177  $ 499,114

71





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

Safety Plan Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)
Balance at June 30, 2016 $ 278,727  $ 182904  $ 95,823
Changes during the year:
Service cost 6,491 - 6,491
Interest on the total pension liability 21,340 - 21,340

Changes of assumptions - - -
Differences between expected and

actual experience 4,387 - 4,387
Plan to Plan resource movement - 1 (1)
Contributions from the employer - 10,038 (10,038)
Contributions from the employees - 1,854 (1,854)
Net investment income - 924 (924)
Benefit payments, including refunds
of employee contributions (14,803) (14,803) -
Administrative expenses - (112) 112

Net Changes 17415 (2,098) 19,513
Balance at June 30, 2017 $ 206,142  $ 180,806 % 115336

Total of Miscellaneous and Safe ty Plans
Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)
Balance at June 30, 2016 $ 2,306,652  $ 1,839430  § 467,222
Changes during the year:
Service cost 44,450 - 44,450
Interest on the total pension liability 174,097 - 174,097
Changes of assumptions - - -
Differences between expected and
actual experience 5,580 - 5,580
Plan to Plan resource movement - - -
Contributions from the employer - 48,321 (48,321)
Contributions from the employees - 20,028 (20,028)
Net investment income - 9,671 (9,671)
Benefit payments, including refunds
of employee contributions (117,346) (117,346) -
Administrative expense - (1,121) 1,121
Net Changes 4 106,781 (40,447) 147,228
Balance at June 30, 2017 $ 2413433 § 1,798983  § 614,450

72





10.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the District incurred a pension expense of $112,982,000 and
$67,246,000, respectively.

At June 30, 2018, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions from the following sources (dollar amounts in thousands):

Miscellaneous Plan Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date $ 56,040 $ -

Changes of assumptions 90,393 (9,364)

Differences between actual and expected experience 596 (2,486)

Net differences between projected and actual earnings

on plan investments 22,307 -
Total $ 169,336 $ (11,850)

Safe ty Plan

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date $ 12,162 $ -

Changes of assumptions 12,986 (706)

Differences between actual and expected experience 2,933 -

Net differences between projected and actual earnings

on plan investments 2,505 -
Total $ 30,586 $ (706)

Total Miscellaneous and Safety

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date $ 68,202 $ -

Changes of assumptions 103,379 (10,070)

Differences between actual and expected experience 3,529 (2,486)

Net differences between projected and actual earnings

on plan investments 24,812 -
Total $ 199,922 $ (12,556)

73





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

At June 30, 2017, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions from the following sources (dollar amounts in thousands):

Miscellaneous Plan Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date $ 46,709 $ -
Changes of assumptions - (17,167)
Differences between actual and expected experience 895 (2,518)
Net differences between projected and actual earnings
on plan investments 88,062 -
Total $ 135,666 $ (19,685)

Safety Plan

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date $ 11,677 $ -

Changes of assumptions - (2,118)

Differences between actual and expected experience 5,112 -

Net differences between projected and actual earnings

on plan investments 9,813 -
Total $ 26,602 $ (2,118)

Total Miscellaneous and Safety

Pension contributions subsequent to measurement date $ 58,386 $ -

Changes of assumptions - (19,285)

Differences between actual and expected experience 6,007 (2,518)

Net differences between projected and actual earnings

on plan investments 97,875 -
Total $ 162,268 $ (21,803)

The District recognized the $58,386,000 deferred outflow for pension contribution after the measurement
date in fiscal year 2017 as reduction of pension liability in fiscal year 2018. The $68,202,000 deferred
outflow for pension contribution after the measurement date in fiscal year 2018 will be recognized as a
reduction of net pension liability in fiscal year 2019.

74





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

10. Employees’ Retirement Benefits (Continued)

11.

The deferred inflow and deferred outflow of resources as of June 30, 2018 related to pensions will be
recognized in future pension expense as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

Measurement Period  Miscellaneous Plan Safety Plan
Year Ending Deferred Outflows/ Deferred Outflows/
June 30, (Inflows) of resources  (Inflows) of resources
2019 $ 19,722 $ 7,074
2020 55,632 9,281
2021 39,522 2,844
2022 (13,428) (1,483)
2023 - -
Thereafter - -
Total $ 101,448 $ 17,716

Payable to the Pension Plan

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the District had $3,790,000 and $0 contributions payable outstanding to the
pension plan, respectively.

Money Purchase Pension Plan

Most District employees participate in the Money Purchase Pension Plan (MPPP), which is a supplemental
retirement defined contribution plan. In January 1981, the District’s employees elected to withdraw from
the Federal Social Security System (FICA) and established the Money Purchase Pension Plan. The District
contributes an amount equal to 6.65% of eligible employees’ annual compensation (up to $29,700 after
deducting the first $133 paid during each month) up to a maximum annual contribution of $1,868 for all
employees except those represented by BPOA and BPMA pursuant to their labor agreements effective
January 1, 2010. An additional contribution to the MPPP equal to 1.627% of eligible compensation is
provided to all employees except for represented sworn police officers. Payment of this additional
contribution was also suspended for all CalPERS eligible individuals, with various effective dates, pursuant
to labor agreements and District policy as a cost saving measure. These payments resumed on July 1, 2013.
However, under the latest labor agreements with ATU, SEIU, and AFSCME, the District retained 0.0888%
of the 1.627% contribution. The District also retained this same amount for non-represented employees.
In addition, the District retained $37 per month of the 1.627% for ATU, SEIU, and AFSCME employees
who elected medical to pay for medical premiums.

The annual compensation limit subject to the additional contribution is established by the Internal Revenue

Code Section 401(a) (17). Each employee’s account is available for distribution upon such employee’s
termination.

75





11.

12.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2017 and 2016

Money Purchase Pension Plan (Continued)

The District’s total expense and funded contribution for this plan for the years ended June 30, 2018 and
2017 were $10,962,000 and $10,286,000 respectively. The MPPP assets at June 30, 2018 and 2017
(excluded from the accompanying financial statements) per the plan administrator’s unaudited reports were
$336,394,000 and $315,742,000, respectively. At June 30, 2018, there were approximately 219 (221 in
2017) participants receiving payments under this plan.

The plan issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required
supplementary information. This report may be obtained by writing or calling: BART Investments Plans
Committee, 300 Lakeside Drive, Oakland, California 94612, (510) 464-6238.

Other Postemployment Benefits

In addition to the retirement benefits described in Notes 10 and 11, and specified in the District’s contractual
agreements, the District provides certain other postemployment benefits (“OPEB”) to employees, which
may include medical benefits to retirees and surviving spouses, retiree life insurance, survivor dental and
vision benefits, and medical benefits to survivors of active employees. Most employees who retire directly
from the District or their surviving spouses are eligible for medical benefits if the employee retires at or
after age 50 with a minimum of 5 years of service with the District, elects to take an annuity from CalPERS
and makes a timely election of retiree medical.

In compliance with GASB requirements, the District accounts for OPEB on an accrual basis and created
the Retiree Health Benefit Trust. The purpose of establishing the Trust is to facilitate the provision of
medical benefits and other health and welfare benefits (“retiree medical benefits™) for the qualifying retirees
of the District; to provide the means for financing the costs and expenses of operating and administering
such benefits; to hold Trust assets for the sole and exclusive purpose of providing benefits to participants
and beneficiaries; and to defray the reasonable expenses of administering the Trust and designated plans.
Assets placed into the Trust cannot be used for any other purposes and are not available to satisfy general
creditors of the District. Under California state law, the restrictions on the use of any proceeds from
liquidation of the Trust are significant enough to render the Trust effectively irrevocable. The Trust is
administered by one or more Trustees appointed by the District’s Board of Directors. Currently, the Board
has appointed the District’s Controller-Treasurer as the Trustee. The Trust issues a publicly available
audited financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information. The
financial report may be obtained by writing to Retiree Health Benefit Trust, San Francisco Bay Area Rapid
Transit District, 300 Lakeside Drive, P.O. Box 12688, Oakland, California 94604.

Currently, the Trust covers the funding only for the “retiree medical benefits”, which include retiree medical
benefits and medical benefits provided to widows and widowers of retirees. It does not fund the “additional
OPEB” which includes the retiree life insurance premiums or the cost to the District of additional benefits
available to survivors of employees and retirees who, at the time of hire, elected to contribute to a survivor
health benefit program. Survivors of employees and retirees who elected this program and who continue
to contribute are eligible for medical, dental and vision coverage at a cost of $15/mo. The District is
currently in process of establishing a new trust for the additional OPEB.

76





12.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Basis of Accounting

The financial statements of the Trust are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Beginning with
fiscal year 2017, the Trust implemented the GASB Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans, which established the accounting and financial
reporting standards for plans that provide OPEB. The Trust recognizes contributions from the District in
accordance with the provisions contained on the District collective bargaining agreements, as described
briefly in the following discussion.

Method Used to Value Investments
Investments are reported at fair value as determined by the financial institutions, which have custody of the
investments based on fair value measurements under GASB 72.

Funding Policy and Long-Term Contract for Contributions

The District’s current collective bargaining agreements with its unions (CBA) describe the District’s
funding commitments to the Trust. Beginning fiscal year 2008, the District funded the Trust with a “ramp
up” (increasing) percentage of the “full” annual required contribution (ARC) in addition to funding the pay-
as-you-go amount outside of the Trust every year for the following six years. Including fiscal years 2007
and 2008, this “ramp-up” contribution funded an eight-year period covering fiscal years 2006 through 2013.
The CBAs include the baseline “ramp-up” percentages, which is the minimum amount that the District is
committed to contribute to the Trust during the “ramp-up” period. The District commissions an actuarial
study of the retiree medical insurance plan liabilities and funding needs, including the ARC, every year.
The revised “ramp-up” percentage became the basis of the District’s contribution to the Trust, except when
it was less than the baseline “ramp-up” percentage. In addition, in fiscal year 2009 the District contributed
into the Trust a lump sum make up payment reflecting the amounts it would have contributed for fiscal
years 2006 and 2007, which was actuarially calculated at $14,629,000.

Beginning in fiscal year 2014, the District contributed to the Trust each pay period an amount equal to the
full GASB compliant ARC. Also, effective on July 1, 2013, retiree medical insurance premiums and related
administration fees are paid by the Trust.

Funding Policy

Employer contributions to the retiree health benefits plan are actuarially determined and amounted to
$35,569,000 for fiscal year 2018 (including $4,196,000 implied subsidy). The actuarial valuation for fiscal
year 2016 was used to determine the actuarially determined contribution for fiscal year 2018. The District
also paid in fiscal year 2018 survivor benefits and life insurance premiums, on a pay as you go basis,
amounting to $329,000 and § 679,000 (including $547,000 implied subsidy), respectively.

Employer contributions to the retiree health benefits plan are actuarially determined and amounted to
$28,912,000 for fiscal year 2017 (including $3,900,000 implied subsidy). The actuarial valuation for fiscal
year 2015 was used to determine the actuarially determined contribution for fiscal year 2017. The District
also paid in fiscal year 2017 survivor benefits and life insurance premiums, on a pay as you go basis,
amounting to $346,000 and $ 685,000 (including $542,000 implied subsidy), respectively.

The District does not charge any administration cost to the Retiree Health Benefit Trust. For calendar years

2018 and 2017 most retirees paid $143.93 and $137.79 per month, respectively, for their share of the
medical premium and the balance is paid by the District.

71





12.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)
GASB 75

Effective June 30, 2017, the District adopted GASB 75 where the District recognizes a liability as the
employees earn benefits by providing services. Changes to OPEB liability are recognized immediately as
OPEB expenses or deferred outflows/inflows of resources.

The Net OPEB liability is measured as the difference between the District’s total OPEB liability (for Retiree
Medical Plan, Survivor Benefit and Retiree Life Insurance) and the plan’s fiduciary net position, as of the
measurement date.

Employer’s Net OPEB Liability
The net OPEB liability as of June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 for the Retiree Medical Benefit, Survivor

Benefit and Retiree Life Insurance totals $ 376,433,000 and $ 380,392,000, respectively, detail of which is
presented below (dollar amounts in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending 6/30/2018 6/30/2017

Measurement Date 6/30/2018 6/30/2017

Retiree Medical Benefits

Total OPEB Liability (TOL) $ 611,682 $ 573,597
Fiduciary Net Position (FNP) (305,851) (270,151)
Net OPEB Liability $ 305,831 $ 303,446

Survivor Benefit Plan

Total OPEB Liability (TOL) $ 35,093 $ 42,456
Fiduciary Net Position (FNP) - -
Net OPEB Liability $ 35,093 $ 42,456

Retiree Life Insurance

Total OPEB Liability (TOL) $ 35,509 $ 34,490
Fiduciary Net Position (FNP) - -
Net OPEB Liability $ 35,509 $ 34,490

Total

Total OPEB Liability (TOL) $ 682,284 $ 650,543

Fiduciary Net Position (FNP) (305,851) (270,151)
Net OPEB Liability $ 376,433 $ 380,392

78





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)
Significant Actuarial Assumptions Used in Calculating the Total OPEB Liability

The total OPEB liability were determined by actuarial valuations as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 using the
following actuarial assumptions:

Retiree Medical Benefits
June 30, 2018 Measurement Date

Valuation date June 30, 2017
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Cost
Actuarial assumptions:

Discount rate 6.50%

Plan assets projected to be sufficient to pay all benefits from the '

Long -term investment rate of return  6.50% at June 30, 2018

General inflation 2.75% per annum
Contribution Policy Employer contributes full ADC
Mortality, disability, termination, CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study
retirement
Mortality improvement Mortality projected fully generational with
Scale MP-17
Health care costs trend rate Non- Medicare-7.5% for 2019, decreasing to an ultimate rate of

4.0% in 2076 and later years
Medicare- 6.5% for 2019, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.0%

for 2076 and later years
Healthcare participation for Medical coverage: 98% of safety and 88% of Miscellaneous
future retirees future retirees elect coverage

Retirees not eligible for BART Medical Subsidy: 60% participate
Spouse Coverage: varies by bargaining unit, 56% to 90%
10% of waived retirees under age 65 on valuation date
assumed to elect coverage at 65
Assumptions based on study of recent retiree

79





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)
Significant Actuarial Assumptions Used in Calculating the Total OPEB Liability
Retiree Medical Benefits

June 30, 2017 Measurement Date

Valuation date June 30, 2016
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Cost

Actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate 6.75% based on Crossover Test

Long -term investment rate of return

on investments 6.75%
General inflation 3% per annum
Crossover test assumptions Employer contributes full ADC

Mortality, disability, termination,
retirement CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study

Mortality improvement Mortality projected fully generational with Scale MP-14 modified to
converge to ultimate improvements in

Health care costs trend rate Pre- Medicare- 6.5% for 2018 decreasing to 5.0% for 2021 and later
Medicare- 6.7% for 2018, decreasing to 5% for 2021 and later

Healthcare participation for Medical coverage: 98% of safety and 88% of Miscellaneous
future retirees future retirees elect coverage
Retirees not eligible for BART Medical Subsidy: 60% participate
Spouse Coverage: varies by bargaining unit, 56% to 90%
Assumptions based on study of recent retiree experience

80





12.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Significant Actuarial Assumptions Used in Calculating the Total OPEB Liability

Survivor Benefit Plan

June 30, 2018 Measurement Date

Valuation date June 30, 2017
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Cost

Actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate 3.87%

Long term investment rate of return
on investments N/A at 6/30/2018

General inflation 2.75% per annum

Mortality, retirement, disability,

termination CalPERS 1997-2011 experience study
Mortality improvement Mortality projected fully generational with Scale MP-17
Salary Increases Aggregate- 3%

Merit- CalPERS 1997-2011 experience study

Trend Dental - 3.75% per year
Non-Medicare- 7.5% for 2019, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.0% in
2076 and later years
Medicare- 6.5% for 2019, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.0% in 2076
and later years

Participation Current covered employees and retirees will continue paying premium
for coverage.
Future retirees will elect to be covered by District retiree healthcare
benefits

81





12.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Significant Actuarial Assumptions Used in Calculating the Total OPEB Liability

Survivor Benefit Plan

June 30, 2017 Measurement Date

Valuation date June 30, 2016
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Cost

Actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate 3.58%

Long term investment rate of return
on investments N/A at 6/30/2017

Municipal bond rate 3.58% based on the Bond Buyer 20-year
General Obligation Index as of 6/30/2017

General inflation 3% per annum

Mortality improvement Mortality projected fully generational with Scale MP-14, modified to
converge to ultimate improvements in 2022

Trend Dental and Vision- 4% per year
Pre- Medicare- 6.5% for 2018, decreasing to 5% for 2021 and later
Medicare- 6.7% for 2018, decreasing to 5% for 2021 and later

Participation Current covered employees and retirees will continue paying premium
for coverage.
Future retirees will elect to be covered by District retiree healthcare
benefits.

82





12.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Significant Actuarial Assumptions Used in Calculating the Total OPEB Liability

Retiree Life Insurance

Valuation date
Actuarial cost method

Actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate

Long term investment rate of return
on investments

Municipal Bonds

General inflation

Mortality, disability, termination,
retirement

Mortality improvement

Trend

Salary increases

Life insurance participation for
future retirees

Benefit Valued

June 30, 2018 Measurement Date

June 30, 2017

Entry Age Normal Cost

3.87%

N/A at 6/30/2018

3.87% based on the Bond Buyer 20-year
General Obligation index as of 6/30/2018

2.75% per annum

CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study

Mortality projected fully generational with
Scale MP-17

Not applicable for this life insurance benefit

Aggregate 3% merit increases based on CalPERS 1997-2011
Experience Study

100%

Valuation based on death benefit payable, not premiums
No administrative expense included

&3





12.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Significant Actuarial Assumptions Used in Calculating the Total OPEB Liability

Retiree Life Insurance
June 30, 2017 Measurement Date

Valuation date June 30, 2016
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Cost

Actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate 3.58%

Long term investment rate of return
on investments N/A at 6/30/2017

Municipal bond rate 3.58% based on the Bond Buyer 20-year
General Obligation Index as of 6/30/2017

General inflation 3% per annum

Mortality, disability, termination,
retirement CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study

Mortality improvement Mortality projected fully generational with
Scale MP-14, modified to converge to ultimate
improvements in 2022

Trend Not applicable for this life insurance benefit

Salary increases 3.25% plus merit increases based on CalPERS 1997-2011
Experience Study

Life insurance participation for future
retirees 100%

84





12.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in Assumptions

Retiree Medical Benefits

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Retiree Medical Benefits Plan as of the June 30, 2018
measurement date, calculated using the discount rate of 6.50%, and healthcare trend rate of 7.5% for non-
Medicare and 6.5% for Medicare, decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.0%, as well as what the net OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower or 1 percentage-
point higher than the current rate (dollar amounts in thousands):

Discount Rate

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase
(5.50%) Rate (6.50%) (7.50%)
Net OPEB liability $ 388,366 $ 305,831 $ 237,792

Health care costs trend rate
1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase

Net OPEB liability $ 221,470 $ 305,831 $ 409,217

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Retiree Medical Benefits Plan as of the June 30, 2017
measurement date, calculated using the discount rate of 6.75%, and healthcare trend rate of 6.6% decreasing
to 5.0%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is
1 percentage-point lower or 1 percentage-point higher than the current rate (dollar amounts in thousands):

Discount Rate

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase
(5.75%) Rate (6.75%) (7.75%)
Net OPEB liability $ 382,865 $ 303,446 $ 238,470

Health care costs trend rate

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase
(5.6% decreasing (6.6% decreasing (7.6% decreasing
to 4.0%) to 5.0%) to 6.0%)
Net OPEB liability $ 222,457 $ 303,446 $ 403,345

85





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

12. Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in Assumptions

Survivor Benefit

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Survivor Benefit Plan as of the June 30, 2018
measurement date, calculated using the discount rate of 3.87%, and healthcare trend rate of 7.5% for non-
Medicare and 6.5% for Medicare decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.0%, as well as what the net OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower or 1 percentage-
point higher than the current rate (dollar amounts in thousands):

Discount Rate
1% Increase
(4.87%)

Current Rate
Rate (3.87%)

1% Decrease
2.87%)

Net OPEB liability $ 42,742 $ 35,093 $ 29,291

Health care costs trend rate

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase

Net OPEB liability $ 29,213 $ 35,093 $ 43,127

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Survivor Benefit Plan as of the June 30, 2017
measurement date, calculated using the discount rate of 3.58%, and healthcare trend rate of 6.7% decreasing
to 5.0%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is
1 percentage-point lower or 1 percentage-point higher than the current rate (dollar amounts in thousands):

Discount Rate

1% Decrease
(2.58%)

Current Rate
Rate (3.58%)

1% Increase
(4.58%)

Net OPEB liability $ 53,538

Health care costs trend rate
1% Decrease
(5.7% decreasing
to 4.0%)

$ 42,456

Current Rate
(6.7% decreasing
to 5.0%)

$ 34,266

1% Increase
(7.7% decreasing
to 6.0%)

Net OPEB liability $ 41,154

86

$ 42,456

$ 43,967





12.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in Assumptions

Retiree Life Insurance

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Retiree Life Insurance Plan as of the June 30, 2018
measurement date, calculated using the discount rate of 3.87%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower or 1 percentage-point higher
than the current rate. Healthcare trend rates are not applicable to the Retiree Life Insurance Plan (dollar
amounts in thousands):

Discount Rate

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase
(2.87%) Rate (3.87%) (4.87%)
Net OPEB liability $ 42,180 $ 35,509 $ 30,275

Change in Healthcare Trend Rate

1% Decrease Current Trend 1% Increase

Net OPEB liability $ 35,509 $ 35,509 $ 35,509

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Retiree Life Insurance Plan as of the June 30, 2017
measurement date, calculated using the discount rate of 3.58%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower or 1 percentage-point higher
than the current rate. Healthcare trend rates are not applicable to the Retiree Life Insurance Plan (dollar
amounts in thousands):

Discount Rate

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase
(2.58%) Rate (3.58%) (4.58%)
Net OPEB liability $ 41,472 $ 34,490 $ 29,076

OPEB Expense for Fiscal Year

For the year ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the District recognized OPEB expense of $42,328,000
($44,801,000 in fiscal year 2017) details of which follow (dollar amounts in thousands):

OPEB Expense
Retiree
Medical
Benefit Survivor Benefit Life Insurance Total
Fiscal year 2018 $ 39,748 $ 1,179 $ 1,401 $ 42328
Fiscal year 2017 $ 40,098 $ 3,095 $ 1,608 $ 44 801

87





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)
Employees covered by Benefit Terms*

At June 30, 2018 reporting date, the following numbers of employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Retiree
Medical Retiree Life
Benefits Survivor Benefits Insurance
Inactives currently
receiving benefits 2,492 237 -
Inactives entitled to but not
yet receiving benefits 524 949 2,383
Active Employees 3,790 2,369 3,642
Total 6,806 3,555 6,025

At June 30, 2017 reporting date, the following numbers of employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Retiree
Medical Retiree Life
Benefits Survivor Benefits Insurance
Inactives currently
receiving benefits 2,118 175 -
Inactives entitled to but not
yet receiving benefits 571 922 2,316
Active Employees 3,553 2,208 3,553
Total 6,242 3,305 5,869

*Coverage count based on the GASB 75 Accounting Information report prepared by actuary.

88





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources (dollar amounts in thousands):

Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2018 Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Retiree Medical Benefits
Differences between actual and

expected experience $ - $ 28,414
Changes of assumptions 28,408 -
Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on plan investments - 9,997
Employer contributions made subsequent

to measurement date - -

Total $ 28,408 $ 38,411

Survivor Benefit Plan
Differences between actual and

expected experience $ - $ 863
Changes of assumptions - 14,233
Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on plan investments - -
Employer contributions made subsequent

to measurement date - -

Total $ - $ 15,096

Retiree Life Insurance
Differences between actual and

expected experience $ 138 $ -
Changes of assumptions - 3,862
Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on plan investments - -

Employer contributions made subsequent

to measurement date - -

Total $ 138 $ 3,862

Combined Plan Totals $ 28,546 $ 57,369

89





12.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2018 and 2017

Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2017

Retiree Medical Benefits

Differences between actual and

expected experience
Changes of assumptions

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Deferred Outflows of
Resources

Deferred Inflows

Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on plan investments
Employer contributions made subsequent

to measurement date

Total

Survivor Benefit Plan

Differences between actual and

expected experience

Changes of assumptions

Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on plan investments
Employer contributions made subsequent

to measurement date

Total

Retiree Life Insurance

Differences between actual and

expected experience
Changes of assumptions

Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on plan investments

Employer contributions made subsequent

to measurement date

Total

Combined Plan Totals

of Resources

$ -
8,209
N/A

$ 8,209
$ -
6,383
N/A

$ 6,883
$ -
4,021
N/A

$ 4,021

$ 19,113

90





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

12. Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB as
of June 30, 2018 will be recognized in future OPEB expense as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

Year Ending Deferred Outflows/
June 30, (Inflows) of resources

Retiree Medical Benefits

2019 $ (3,013)
2020 (3,013)
2021 (3,014)
2022 (961)
2023 )
Thereafter -

Survivor Benefit

2019 $ (2,480)
2020 (2,480)
2021 (2,480)
2022 (2,480)
2023 (2,480)
Thereafter (2,696)

Retiree Life Insurance

2019 $ (1,021)
2020 (1,021)
2021 (1,021)
2022 (572)
2023 (89)
Thereafter -

91





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)
Net OPEB Liability/(Asset)

The following tables shows the changes in the net OPEB liability for the years ended June 30, 2018 and
2017 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Retiree Medical Benefits Increase (Decrease)
Total OPEB Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)
Balance at June 30, 2017* $ 573597 % 270,151  $ 303,446
Changes for the year
Service cost 21,777 - 21,777
Interest 39,409 - 39,409
Difference between expected and actual
experience (35,022) - (35,022)
Change of assumptions 35,015 - 35,015
Contributions from the employer - 35,569 (35,569)
Net investment income - 23,448 (23,448)
Benefit payments, including refunds*** (23,095) (23,095) -
Administrative expense - (223) 223
Net Changes 38,084 35,699 2,385
Balance at June 30, 2018 ** $ 611,681 $ 305850 % 305,831

* Previous measurement date June 30, 2017
** Measurement date June 30, 2018
*** Includes $ 4,196,000 implied subsidy benefit payments for fiscal year 2018

92





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

12. Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Retiree Medical Benefits Increase (Decrease)
Total OPEB Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)
Balance at June 30, 2016* $ 537,873 $ 237,404 $ 300,469
Changes for the year
Service cost 21,143 - 21,143
Interest 36,977 - 36,977
Contributions from the employer - 28912 (28,912)
Net investment income - 26,497 (26,497)
Benefit payments, including refunds *** (22,396) (22,396) -
Administrative expense - (266) 266
Net Changes 35,724 32,747 2977
Balance at June 30, 2017 ** $ 573,597 $ 270,151 $ 303,446

* Previous measurement date June 30, 2016
** Measurement date June 30, 2017
*** Includes $ 3,900,000 implied subsidy benefit payments

93





12.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2018 and 2017

Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Survivor Benefit Plan

Balance at June 30, 2017**
Changes for the year
Service cost
Interest

Increase (Decrease)

Difference beween expected and actual

experience
Change of assumptions
Contributions from the employer
Benefit payments, including refunds
Net Changes
Balance at June 30, 2018 ***

Survivor Benefit Plan

Balance at June 30, 2016*
Changes for the year
Service cost
Interest
Change of assumptions
Contributions from the employer
Benefit payments, including refunds
Net Changes
Balance at June 30, 2017 **

Total OPEB Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)
$ 42,456 $ - $ 42,456
2,071 - 2,071
1,588 - 1,588
(1,017) (1,017)
(9,676) - (9,676)
- 329 (329)
(329) (329) -
(7,363) - (7,363)
$ 35,093 $ - $ 35,093
Increase (Decrease)
Total OPEB Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)
$ 46,590 $ - $ 46,590
2,559 - 2,559
1,396 - 1,396
(7,743) - (7,743)
- 346 (346)
(346) (346) -
(4,134) - (4,134)
$ 42456 $ - 8 42456

* Previous measurement date June 30, 2016

** Measurement date June 30, 2017
*** Measurement date June 30, 2018

94





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

12. Other Postemployment Benefits (Continued)

Retiree Life Insurance Increase (Decrease)
Total OPEB Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)
Balance at June 30, 2017** $ 34,490 $ - $ 34,490
Changes for the year
Service cost 1,158 - 1,158
Interest 1,264 - 1,264
Difference between expected and actual
experience 167 - 167
Change of assumptions (891) - (891)
Contributions from the employer - 679 (679)
Benefit payments, including refunds **** (679) (679) -
Net Changes 1,019 § - 1,019
Balance at June 30, 2018 *** $ 35509  § - 8 35,509
Retiree Life Insurance Increase (Decrease)
Total OPEB Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)
Balance at June 30, 2016* $ 37,588 $ - $ 37,588
Changes for the year
Service cost 1,401 - 1,401
Interest 1,101 - 1,101
Difference beween expected and actual experience
Change of assumptions (4915) - (4915)
Contributions from the employer - 685 -
Benefit payments, including refunds **** (685) (685) (685)
Net Changes (3,098) $ - (3,098)
Balance at June 30,2017 ** $ 34490 $ - $ 34,490

*Previous measurement date June 30, 2016

**Measurement date June 30, 2017

***Measurement date June 30, 2018

**#*Includes implied subsidy benefit payments of $547,000 in fiscal year 2018 and $542,000 in fiscal
year 2017

95





13.

14.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Board of Directors’ Expenses

Total Directors’ expenses, consisting of travel and other business related expenses, for the years ended June
30, 2018 and 2017 amounted to $23,900 and $18,900, respectively.

Related Organizations and Joint Venture Projects

Capitol Corridor Joint Powers Authority

The Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement dated December 31, 1996, between the District and five other
transportation authorities in surrounding counties (Agencies) provided for the creation of the Capitol
Corridor Joint Powers Authority (CCJPA), a public instrumentality of the State of California. The CCJPA
was formed for the purpose of administering and managing the operation of the Capitol Corridor Rail
Service as part of the California intercity passenger rail system. The District is the managing agency of
CCJPA and in that capacity, it provides all necessary administrative support to CCJPA. CCJPA entered
into an Interagency Transfer Agreement with the State of California and assumed administration and
operation commencing on July 1, 1998. The initial term of the Interagency Transfer Agreement was for
three years beginning July 1, 1998 and was extended for three additional years effective July 1, 2001. In
2004, State legislation was enacted that eliminated the sunset date of the Interagency Transfer Agreement,
which now exists indefinitely.

The governing board of CCJPA consists of sixteen members, of which six members are from the District
and two members are from each of the five other Agencies. Neither the District nor the other Agencies are
responsible for any debt, liabilities and obligations of CCJPA and the District would not be entitled to any
of CCJPA’s net assets should it terminate.

The District charged the CCJPA a total of $3,967,000 for marketing and administrative services during
fiscal year 2018 and $3,561,000 during fiscal year 2017. In addition, CCJPA reimburses the District for its
advances for capital project expenditures, overhead and other operating expenses. Reimbursements for
expenses incurred by the District on behalf of and in providing services to the CCJPA are netted against the
corresponding expense in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. Unreimbursed
expenses and advances for capital project costs from CCJPA amount to $1,640,000 and $1,510,000 as of
June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. All unreimbursed expenses and advances are included as current
receivables and other assets in the statements of net position. As the District has no ownership involvement
or ongoing financial interest or responsibility in CCJPA, its financial statements include only amounts
related to the services and advances it provides to CCJPA.

East Bay Paratransit Consortium

In 1994, the District and the Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District (AC Transit) executed an agreement
establishing the East Bay Paratransit Consortium (the Consortium). The purpose of the Consortium is to
enable the District and AC Transit to jointly provide paratransit services in the overlapping service area of
the District and AC Transit. Revenues and expenditures for the Consortium are split 31% and 69% between
the District and AC Transit, respectively, except the program coordinator’s expenses, which are split 50/50
starting in 2011. The District’s financial statements reflect its portion of revenues and expenditures as
operating activities. The District supported the project primarily through its own operating funds, with
some financial assistance from Alameda County Measure B and BB funds and from the Contra Costa
Transportation Authority Measure J funds (Note 9). The District has no equity interest in the Consortium.

96





14.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Related Organizations and Joint Venture Projects (Continued)

Pleasant Hill BART Station Leasing Authority

In July 2004, the District, the County of Contra Costa (County) and the Contra Costa County
Redevelopment Agency (Agency) entered into a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement (JPA Agreement) to
create the Pleasant Hill BART Station Leasing Authority (Pleasant Hill Authority). In 2012, the Agency
was dissolved by California Assembly Bill ABx1 26, and the Pleasant Hill Authority now consists of the
District and Contra Costa County. The Pleasant Hill Authority was created as a means of accomplishing
the cooperation and coordination among the agencies to provide for the development of a mixed-used transit
village located at BART’s Pleasant Hill/Contra Costa Centre Station, which includes rental residential,
retail and a future office development. The original lease to the Pleasant Hill Authority was for a 99-year
term expiring on May 14, 2105. All subsequent leases will be conterminous with the May 14, 2105 date.

On June 30, 2009, the District received as ground lease payments for the full term of the lease, a cash base
rent of $99 and a noncash base rent in the form of a newly constructed parking structure located at the
Pleasant Hill BART station. The District accepted the completion of the new parking structure and became
its new owner effective June 30, 2009. The replacement parking garage was recorded as a capital asset at a
value of $51,236,000, which is its final construction cost as reported by its developer. As a result of the
Agency’s funding of the replacement parking garage, future sublease revenue will be split between the
County and BART at 75% and 25%, respectively, after defeasance of Agency’s final incremental
contribution to the parking garage project.

The Pleasant Hill Authority is a public entity separate from any member and as such its debts, liabilities
and obligations shall not be the debts, liabilities and obligations of any of the members. The governing body
of the Pleasant Hill Authority is a Board of Directors consisting of four persons — two each from the County
and the District.

Richmond Redevelopment Agency or Successor Agency

On April 11, 2002, the District entered into a Disposition and Development Agreement with Richmond
Redevelopment Agency and Richmond Transit, LLC for the development of a mixed use transit village on
the property owned by the Redevelopment Agency, the City of Richmond and BART.

The transit village will be developed in two phases. The first phase has been completed and consists of the
development of the townhouses on the western side of the tracks, and a parking structure that includes retail
space incorporated within the structure (the “Phase One Improvements™).

The second phase will consist of the development of additional housing and the improvement of Nevin
Avenue and the Nevin Avenue walkway on the eastern side of the Tracks (the “Phase Two Improvements”).

The District had agreed to issue grant deeds to the developer pertaining to two parcels with approximate
total size of 245,070 square feet in both the West side and the East side for the development projects. The
agreement states that in exchange for the parcels, the Richmond Redevelopment Agency, at their expense,
will construct a parking structure on the West side of BART’s property, and transfer ownership of the
garage to the District upon completion. The transfer of maintenance and responsibility to the District of
the parking structure, which consisted of 750 parking spaces and approximately 9000 +/- square feet of
commercial space, occurred in September 2014. As of June 30, 2017, only the parcel on the West side of
the development project has been transferred by the District to the developer. The transfer of the parcel on
the East side will occur upon the request of the City of Richmond and/or their designated developer once
all prerequisites are met. Prerequisites include a fully entitled East Side development project. The transfer
could occur in in fiscal year 2019 or later.

97





14.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Related Organizations and Joint Venture Projects (Continued)

The District allocated the value of the garage, which amounted to $36,260,000, between the two parcels.
The total cost of the structure was recorded as part of capital assets. A gain of $6,012,000 was recognized
in fiscal year 2015 pertaining to the value allocated to the West side parcel that was transferred to the
developer, after deducting the cost. The allocated value pertaining to the East side parcel amounting to
$30,110,000 was recognized as unearned revenue, pending the transfer, and is shown as part of noncurrent
unearned revenue.

MacArthur Transit Village

On July 29, 2010, the District entered into a Purchase and Lease Option agreement with MacArthur Transit
Community Partners LLC (Developer) pertaining to the development of the MacArthur Transit Village, a
mixed-use, transit-oriented project, including affordable and market rate housing, retail/commercial and
community space and replacement parking adjacent to the MacArthur BART Station.

The District owned a portion of the project’s real property totaling approximately 7.76 acres that has been
used to develop the project.

As a consideration for the purchase of parcels totaling 198,642 square feet and 99 year ground lease of a
34,404 square foot parcel, the Developer constructed a parking garage structure, funded in part by the
Oakland Redevelopment Agency, with 450 BART parking spaces and approximately 5,200 square feet of
retail spaces. The parking structure was completed and transferred to the District in September 2014. In
addition to the parking structure, the project includes transit improvements to the BART station’s plaza and
frontage road. These improvements are also the responsibility of the Developer as part of the consideration
for the land. The total value of the garage and the improvements amounted to $27,596,000 and were
recognized as part of depreciable capital assets. $1,780,000 of the consideration was allocated to the 99
year term ground lease; and was recorded as deferred ground lease prior to 2017. The land transfers to the
master developer’s designated assignee developers have occurred on December 29, 2016 for Parcels A and
C1 and on June 29, 2017 for Parcel B. The District recognized a gain from exchange of property of
$24,839,000 resulting from the completion of required land transfers.

Using the City of Oakland Redevelopment Agency funds, the project acquired two parcels under the
District’s name which were used for the construction of the BART Garage Structure. The total consideration
paid by the City of Oakland for the two parcels was $5,121,000. The costs of these parcels were recorded
by the District as non-depreciable capital assets. The District also recognized a revenue (donated income)
equivalent to the value of the land received.

South Hayward Transit Oriented Development

On June 18, 2012, the District and JMJ Development LLC (Developer) entered into an Option Agreement
for a Transit Oriented Development (TOD). That agreement also includes the right to purchase
approximately 1.65 acres of land from the District. The right to purchase was exercised in fiscal year 2014
for a total consideration of $692,000. Grant deed for the transfer was issued on October 8, 2014. The
District recognized a gain of $620,000 from this sale.

An Option Agreement between the District and the Developer provided further consideration to the District
of a transfer benefit fee (TBF) which guarantees the District a perpetual revenue stream. The TBF amounts
to a 1% assessment against successive transfers of each of the development units (i.e. unit sales) or a 1%
annual assessment against Gross Annual Rental Revenue from rental of the units. A total of 206 market
rate rental units were completed in 2017. This does not have an impact on the financial statements for the
year ended June 30, 2017. TBF commences accrual in October 2019, the first anniversary of the project
stabilization date.

98





14.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Related Organizations and Joint Venture Projects (Continued)

South Hayward BART Station Access Authority

On September 1, 2011, the District entered into a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement with the City of
Hayward which provided for the creation of a public entity known as the South Hayward BART Station
Access Authority (South Hayward JPA). The purpose of the South Hayward JPA is to manage and
administer parking and access within the boundaries of the South Hayward JPA in an equitable and orderly
fashion in order to promote transit-oriented development, support access to the station by District patrons,
maximize BART ridership and protect the neighborhoods surrounding the South Hayward Station.

The governing board of the South Hayward JPA consists of four members, two each from the governing
Board of the District and from the City of Hayward, appointed by the governing board of the District and
the Hayward City Council, respectively. Neither the District nor the City of Hayward is responsible for
any debt, liabilities and obligation of the South Hayward JPA.

The parking fees and traffic citation fees collected by the District for the South Hayward Station are
transferred to the South Hayward JPA to cover maintenance and other expenses. Parking fees collected in
fiscal year 2018 amounts to $547,000 ($537,000 in fiscal year 2017) and traffic citation fees collected in
fiscal year 2018 amounts to $30,000 ($27,000 in fiscal year 2017). The District and the City of Hayward
are entitled to reimbursement of operating and/or capital expenses incurred for the benefit of the South
Hayward JPA. Net revenues will be used by the South Hayward JPA to implement parking and access
projects in line with the objectives set forth in the Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement.

Regional Administrative Facility Corporation (RAFC)

The Regional Administrative Facility Corporation (RAFC) was incorporated in the State of California on
March 23, 1983 for the purposes of administering, operating, preserving, and controlling common areas
and certain easements of the property known as the Regional Administrative Facility Project under the
Condominium Plan and Declaration of Covenants, Condition, and Restrictions established by the following
three owner occupants of the Project: the District, MTC, and the Association of Bay Area Governments
(ABAG) (through its Association of Bay Area Governments Public Office Building Corporation).

Under the above Plan and Declaration, RAFC exercises a custodial responsibility on behalf of the owner
occupants to discharge operational obligations and to assess sufficient amounts to meet all required
expenditures of the common areas and certain easements of the Project.

On January 27, 2017, the District entered into a Purchase Agreement with MTC for the acquisition of land
and building located at 101 Eight Street, Oakland, California. As of June 22, 2017, the District is the sole
owner of the property. The District paid a total amount of $18,224,000 net of assets and liabilities assumed
as a result of the purchase. The District assumed ownership of RAFC to be able to continue the utilization
of existing procurement contracts. For fiscal year 2018, RAFC was managed by the District’s Real Estate
group. Formal dissolution of RAFC is expected to occur in fiscal year 2019.

99





14.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Related Organizations and Joint Venture Projects (Continued)

Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority (VTA)

The BART Silicon Valley Extension (SVX) Program (formerly referred to as the Silicon Valley Rapid
Transit, or SVRT Project) is a planned 16-mile extension of the regional BART system from BART’s Warm
Springs Station in Fremont, which opened in March, 2017, to the cities of Milpitas, San Jose and Santa
Clara in the County of Santa Clara. The SVX Program is being financed and implemented by VTA in
coordination with BART per the VTA - BART Comprehensive Agreement executed on November 19,
2001. The Comprehensive Agreement outlines the roles and responsibilities of the two agencies concerning
the design, construction, financing, operation and maintenance of this extension. BART and VTA currently
are negotiating an Operations and Maintenance Agreement which will more particularly describe their
rights and responsibilities related to the ongoing operation of SVX upon commencement of revenue
service.

The 16-mile extension is planned to include: six stations - one in Milpitas, four in San Jose and one in the
city of Santa Clara; a five-mile tunnel in downtown San Jose and provision of a yard and shops at the end
of the line in Santa Clara. The capital cost for the six station extension is estimated at $7.1 billion in Year-
Of-Expenditure (“YOE”) dollars. Construction of SVX is being implemented in phases.

The first phase, The Silicon Valley Berryessa Extension Project (“SVBX”), is under construction and
comprises a 10-mile extension of BART service with two stations — one in Milpitas and one in San Jose at
Berryessa Road. The first phase, with an estimated capital cost of $2.42 billion in YOE dollars, was granted
a FTA Full Funding Grant Agreement in March of 2012. SVBX is expected to start revenue service by the
end of calendar year 2019.

The second phase, the Silicon Valley Santa Clara Extension Project (“SVSX™), is entering the design phase
and will comprise 6-miles of the extension with four stations. VTA intends to submit to FTA an application
for a Full Funding Grant Agreement in late 2019 and SVSX is forecasted to start Revenue service by 2026.

In order to accommodate the new extension, among other things, BART is constructing a revenue vehicle
primary maintenance facility at BART’s Hayward Yard, is adding 60 new cars to the revenue vehicle fleet
and is enlarging its Transit Operations Facility. BART expects to procure additional revenue vehicles in
connection with SVSX and make other improvements to the core BART system as needed to accommodate
the extension.

VTA has full financial responsibility for SVX project costs, including BART’s costs, and the ongoing
operating, maintenance and capital costs caused by operation of SVX, both those that occur within and/or
outside Santa Clara County.

100





15.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

The District is involved in various lawsuits, claims and disputes, which for the most part are normal to the
District’s operations. It is the opinion of the District’s management that the costs that might be incurred in
the disposition of these matters, if any, would not materially affect the District’s financial position.

Power Purchases

The District purchases electrical power for self-consumption at multiple points of delivery such as Traction
Power, Passenger Station Power and Miscellaneous Power from the Northern California Power Agency
(NCPA). Power purchase contracts with the NCPA are in place through December 31, 2019, with a total
remaining contract value of $19,730,000 as of June 30, 2018.

Operations and Maintenance Agreement for the Oakland International Airport Connector

On October 1, 2010, the District entered into an Operations and Maintenance Contract with Doppelmayr
Cable Car, Inc, to operate and maintain the OAC for an amount not to exceed $4,907,000 (base service
payment in 2009 dollars) annually for a period of twenty (20) years from revenue service date, subject to
annual escalation based on Consumer Price Index. Total operating expenses incurred under this agreement
amounts to $6,242,000 in fiscal year 2018 ($6,014,000 in fiscal year 2017). As part of the contract, the
District is also required to deposit to a reserve account, the amount of $768,000 annually, subject to
escalation, for Capital Asset Replacement Program (CARP). The District allocated to the CARP reserve
account $951,000 in fiscal year 2018 and $922,000 in fiscal year 2017. The CARP will cover all major
maintenance and rehabilitation expenditures during the term of the Operations and Maintenance
agreement. The OAC started revenue operations on November 22, 2014

Lease Commitments
The District leases certain facilities under operating leases with original terms ranging from one to fifty
years with options to renew.

Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating leases with initial or remaining lease terms
of over one year at June 30, 2018 are as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

Operating

Year ending June 30: Leases
2019 $ 17,261
2020 17,167
2021 16,899
2022 4,182
2023 3,273
2024-2028 15,430
2029-2033 12,500
2034-2038 12,500
2039-2043 12,500
2044-2048 12,500
2049-2053 12,292

Total minimum rental payments $ 136,504

101





15.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30,2018 and 2017

Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

Rent expenses under all operating leases were $12,279,000 and $13,680,000 for the fiscal years ended
June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Fruitvale Development Corp.

On October 1, 2001, the District entered into a ground lease agreement with Fruitvale Development
Corporation (FDC) pertaining to 1.8 acres of land for the purpose of constructing thereon portions of a
mixed-use development project commonly known as the Fruitvale Transit Village, which consists of
approximately 250,000 square feet of commercial, community service and residential improvements. The
lease agreement became effective December 9, 2003 and continues through January 31, 2077.

The terms of the lease require FDC to pay the District a Base Rent and a Percentage Rent. The Base Rent
is a fixed amount determined at the inception of the lease subject to periodic CPI adjustments. Percentage
Rent is calculated equal to 15% of annual net revenues, as defined in the ground lease agreement.

The District provided FDC a Rent Credit with an initial amount of $7,247,000, to acknowledge its assistance
in obtaining grants for the construction of a Replacement BART Commuter Parking Garage near the
Fruitvale Transit Village. The initial Rent Credit earned interest on the outstanding balance at simple
interest based on the prime rate and can only be applied to satisfy the Base Rent.

In October 2010, there was a second amendment to the ground lease agreement, which recalculated the
initial Rent Credit available to FDC as it relates to the replacement parking. The amount of the Replacement
Parking Rent Credit was revised to $4,642,000, after a payment of $5,500,000 coming from the proceeds
of the sale of land at the Fruitvale BART Station to the City of Oakland Redevelopment Agency. The
second amendment also stated that no interest shall accrue on the revised Replacement Parking Rent Credit
and that beginning on December 1, 2003 and continuing throughout the term of the ground lease, base rent
and percentage rent shall be subtracted from the Replacement Parking Rent Credit balance, until there is no
longer a positive Replacement Parking Rent Credit. The offset base rent for fiscal year 2018 and fiscal year
2017 amounted to $169,000 each year. The percentage rent offset for fiscal year 2018 is $24,000 ($0 in
fiscal year 2017). The remaining balance in the Replacement Parking Rent Credit was $2,560,000 as of
June 30, 2018 ($2,753,000 as of June 30, 2017).

Based on the agreement, FDC shall not be under any obligation to make any cash payment to the District
for base rent at any time that the Replacement Parking Rent Credit still has a positive balance.

102





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

June 30, 2018 and 2017

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios (dollar amounts in thousands)

(Last 10 years*)

Miscellaneous

Total pension liability
Service cost
Interest on total pension liability
Changes of assumptions
Differences between expected and actual experience
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee
contributions

Net change in total pension liability
Total pension liability - beginning
Total pension liability - ending

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions - Employer

Contributions - Employee

Plan to Plan resource movement

Net investment income

Benefit payments, including refunds of employee
contributions

Administrative expense
Net change in fiduciary net position
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning

Plan fiduciary net position - ending
Plan net pension liability - ending

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability

Covered payroll**

Plan net pension liability as a percentage of
covered payroll

2018 2017 2016 2015

45264 37,959 6151 8 36,182
157,621 152,757 146,226 139,031
120,524 0 (L773) ;
(1,484) 1,193 (4,807) .
(108,947) (102,543) (95,653) (89.968)
212978 89,366 49,144 86,145
2,117,291 2,027,925 1,978,781 1,892,636
2,330,269 2,117,291 2027925 $ 1,978,781
4707 38,283 32466 S 28,276
20,144 18,174 17818 21,375
12 o (36) ;
181,091 8,747 37,388 251,137
(108,947) (102,543) (95,653) (89.968)
(2,389) (1,009) (1,865) -
137,183 (38,349) (9.882) 210,820
1,618,177 1,656,526 1,666,408 1,455,588
1,755,360 1,618,177 1656526  $ 1,666,408
574,909 499,114 37139 S 312,373
75.33% 76.43% 81.69% 84.21%
285,848 264,024 246901 $ 240,171
201.12% 189.04% 150.42% 130.06%

* Fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 was the first year of implementation of GASB 68, therefore only four

years of information is shown.
** Based on actuarial report

103





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios (dollar amounts in thousands)
(Last 10 years*) (Continued)

Safety
2018 2017 2016 2015
Total pension liability
Service cost $ 7416 $ 6,491 $ 5,935 $ 5,790
Interest on total pension liability 22,274 21,340 20,099 18,885
Changes of assumptions 18,632 - (4,942) -
Differences between expected and actual experience 745 4387 4,794 -
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (15,408) (14,803) (14,140) (13,199)
Net change in total pension liability 33,659 17,415 11,746 11,476
Total pension liability - beginning 296,142 278,727 266,981 255,505
Total pension liability - ending $ 329801 $ 296,142 § 28721 $ 266,981
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - Employer $ 11,742 $ 10,038 $ 9,428 $ 7442
Contributions - Employee 2,165 1,854 1,917 2,817
Plan to Plan resource movement (14) 1 1 -
Net investment income 20,183 924 4,015 27,150
Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions (15,408) (14,803) (14,140) (13,199)
Administrative expense (267) (112) (206) -
Net change in fiduciary net position 18,401 (2,098) 1,015 24210
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 180,806 182,904 181,889 157,679
Plan fiduciary net position - ending $ 199,207 $ 180,306 $ 182,904  $ 181,889
Plan net pension liability - ending $ 130,594 § 115336  § 95823  $ 85,092
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability 60.40% 61.05% 65.62% 68.13%
Covered-employee payroll** $ 20420 S 19738 § 17,941 $ 17,377
Plan net pension liability as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 639.54% 584.33% 534.10% 489.68%

* Fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 was the first year of implementation of GASB 68, therefore only four
years of information is shown.
** Based on actuarial report

104





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Notes to Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios:

Benefit changes - The figures above do not include any liability impact that may have resulted from plan
changes which occurred after the June 30, 2016 valuation date. This applies to voluntary benefit changes
as well as any offers of Two Years Additional Service Credit (a.k.a. Golden Handshakes).

Changes in assumptions — In 2017, the accounting discount rate was reduced from 7.65% to 7.15%. In
2016, there were no changes in assumptions. In 2015, amounts reported reflect an adjustment of the
discount rate from 7.5% (net of administrative expense) to 7.65% (without a reduction for pension plan
administrative expense. In 2014, amounts reported were based on the 7.5% discount rate.

Schedule of Employer Pension Contributions (dollar amounts in thousands)
(Last 10 years*)

Miscellaneous Safety
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Actuarially determined contribution ~ $ 56,040 § 46,709 § 39,768 $ 32,756 § 28213 § 12,162 § 11,677 § 10658 $§ 9,512 § 7423

Contributions in relation to the
actuarially determined contribution (56,040)  (46,709) (39,768)  (32,756)  (28213) (12,162)  (11,677)  (10,658) (9,512) (7,423)

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -8 - S - S -8 - $ - S - $ - $ - $

Covered-employee payroll ** $ 315184 § 288,637 § 265778 § 245593 § 226,893 § 21,946 § 20953 § 20410 § 19,741 § 17,077

Contribution as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 17.78% 16.18% 14.96% 13.34% 12.43% 55.42% 5573%  5222%  48.18%  43.47%

Net of administrative expenses

* Fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 was the first year of implementation of GASB 68; therefore, only five
years of information is shown.
** Based on actual payroll

105





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Notes to Schedule of Pension Contributions

The actuarial methods and assumptions used to set the actuarially determined contributions for fiscal years
2018 and 2017 were derived from the June 30, 2015 and 2014 funding valuation reports, as presented below:

Actuarial cost method
Amortization method/period
Asset valuation method
Inflation

Projected salary increase

Payroll growth

Investment rate of returnl

Retirement age

Mortality !

I Pre-retirement and Post-retirement mortality rates include 20 years of projected mortality improvement using

Miscellaneous

Safety

Entry Age Normal Cost
Level percentage of payroll
Market Value of Assets
2.75%

3.20% to 12.20% depending
on Age, Service and Type
of Employment

3%

7.50%, net of Pension Plan
Investment & Administrative
Expenses; includes inflation

Derived using CalPERS'
Membership

Based on the 2014 CalPERS
Experience Study for the
period from 1997 to 2011

Based on the 2014 CalPERS
Experience Study for the
period from 1997 to 2011

Scale BB published by the Society of Actuaries.

106

Entry Age Normal Cost
Level percentage of payroll
Market Value of Assets
2.75%

3.70% to 15.00% depending
on Age, Service and Type
of Employment

3%

7.50%, net of Pension Plan
Investment & Administrative
Expenses; includes inflation

Derived using CalPERS'
Membership

Based on the 2014 CalPERS
Experience Study for the
period from 1997 to 2011

Based on the 2014 CalPERS
Experience Study for the
period from 1997 to 2011





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
June 30, 2018 and 2017

OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios (dollar amounts in thousands):
(Last 10 years *)

Retiree Medical Benefits

Total OPEB liability FY 2018 FY 2017
Service cost $ 21,777 $ 21,143
Interest 39,409 36,977
Difference beween expected and actual experience (35,022) -
Change of assumptions 35,015 -
Benefit payments, including refunds ** (23,095) (22,396)

Net changes in total OPEB liability 38,084 35,724

Total OPEB liability- beginning 573,597 537,873

Total OPEB liability- ending $ 611,681 $ 573,597

Fiduciary net position

Contributions from the employer $ 35,569 $ 28,912
Net investment income 23,448 26,497
Benefit payments, including refunds ** (23,095) (22,396)
Administrative expense (223) (266)
Net changes in total fiduciary net position 35,699 32,747
Total fiduciary net position- be ginning 270,151 237,404
Total fiduciary net position- ending $ 305,850 $ 270,151
Net OPEB liability $ 305,831 $ 303,446
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total OPEB liability 50.00% 47.10%
Covered employee payroll $418,573 $372,887

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered employee
payroll 73.07% 81.38%

* This schedule is intended to show information for the past ten years. Additional years will be displayed as they

become available.
** Includes implied subsidy benefit payments of $4,196,000 in fiscal year 2018 and $3,900,000 in fiscal year 2017.

107





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios (dollar amounts in thousands):
(Last 10 years *)

Survivor Benefit Plan

Total OPEB liability FY 2018 FY 2017
Service cost $ 2,071 $ 2,559
Interest 1,588 1,396
Difference beween expected and actual experience (1,017) -
Change of assumptions (9,676) (7,743)
Benefit payments, including refunds (329) (346)

Net changes in total OPEB liability (7,363) (4,134)

Total OPEB liability- beginning 42,456 46,590

Total OPEB liability- ending $ 35,093 $ 42,456

Fiduciary net position
Contributions from the employer $ 329 $ 346
Benefit payments, including refunds (329) (346)

Net changes in total fiduciary net position - -
Total fiduciary net position- beginning - -

Total fiduciary net position- ending $ - $ -
Net OPEB liability $ 35,093 $ 42,456
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the

total OPEB liability 0.00% 0.00%
Covered employee payroll $ 418,573 $ 372,887

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee
payroll 8.38% 11.39%

* This schedule is intended to show information for the past ten years. Additional years will be
displayed as they become available

108





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios (dollar amounts in thousands):
(Last 10 years *)

Retiree Life Insurance

Total OPEB liability FY 2018 FY 2017
Service cost $ 1,158 $ 1,401
Interest 1,264 1,101
Difference beween expected and actual experience 167 -
Change of assumptions (891) (4915)
Benefit payments, including refunds ** (679) (685)

Net changes in total OPEB liability 1,019 (3,098)

Total OPEB liability - be ginning 34,490 37,588

Total OPEB liability - ending $ 35,509 $ 34,490

Fiduciary net position
Contributions from the employer ** $ 679 $ 685
Benefit payments, including refunds ** (679) (685)

Net changes in total fiduciary net position - -
Total fiduciary net position - beginning - -

Total fiduciary net position - ending - -

Net OPEB liability $ 35,509 $ 34,490
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the

total OPEB liability 0.00% 0.00%
Covered employee payroll $ 418,573 $ 372,887

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered employee
payroll 8.48% 9.25%

* This schedule is intended to show information for the past ten years. Additional years will be
displayed as they become available.

** Includes implied subsidy benefit payments $547,000 in fiscal year 2018 and $542,000 in fiscal
year 2017

109





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Schedule of Employer OPEB Contributions (dollar amounts in thousands):

(Last 10 years *)

Retiree Medical Benefits

Actuarially determined contribution (ADC)
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contribution
Contribution deficiency /(excess)

Covered payroll **

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll

Survivor Benefit Plan

Actuarially determined contribution (ADC)
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contribution
Contribution deficiency /(excess)

Covered payroll **

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll

Fiscal year

Fiscal year

2017/2018 2016/2017
$ 35,569 $ 28,912
(35,569) (28,912)
$ - $ -
$ 418,573 $ 372,887
8.50% 7.75%
Fiscal year Fiscal year
2017/2018 2016/2017
$ - $ 3,138
(329) (349)
$ (329) $ 2,789
$ 418,573 $ 372,887
0.08% 0.09%

* This schedule is intended to show information for the past ten years. Additional years will be

displayed as they become available.
** Based on actual payroll

110





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Schedule of Employer OPEB Contributions (dollar amounts in thousands):
(Last 10 years *)

Retiree Life Insurance

Fiscal year Fiscal year
2017/2018 2016/2017
Actuarially determined contribution (ADC) $ 3,071 $ 2,450
Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution (679) (685)
Contribution deficiency /(excess) $ 2,392 $ 1,765
Covered payroll ** $ 418,573 $ 372,887
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 0.16% 0.18%

* This schedule is intended to show information for the past ten years. Additional years will be
displayed as they become available.
** Based on actual payroll

111





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)
June 30, 2018 and 2017

Notes to Schedule of Employer Contribution

Methods and Assumptions for Actuarially Determined Contribution for fiscal years 2018 and 2017
follows:

Retiree Medical Benefits

Valuation date June 30, 2016

Actuary Bartel Associates, LLC

Actuarial cost method Entry Age, level percentage of payroll

Amortization Method Level percent of payroll

Amortization Period 17- year fixed period for fiscal year 2018

Asset Valuation Method Market value of asset

Discount Rate 6.75%

General Inflation 3.00%

Medical Trend Increase from Prior Year
Year Non-Medicare Medicare
2016 Actual Premiums
2017 Actual Premiums
2018 6.5% 6.7%
2019 6.0% 6.1%
2020 5.5% 5.6%
2021 5.0% 5.0%

Mortality CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study

Mortality Improvement Mortality projected fully generational Scale MP-2014

modified to converge to ultimate rates in 2022

112





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

June 30, 2018 and 2017

Notes to Schedule of Employer Contribution

Methods and Assumptions for Actuarially Determined Contribution for fiscal year 2017 follows:

Retiree Medical Benefits

Valuation date

Actuary

Actuarial cost method
Amortization Period
Asset Valuation Method
Discount Rate

General Inflation

Other Assumptions

Other

June 30, 2015

Keenan/TCS Associates

Entry Age, level percentage of payroll

Level percent of payroll over closed 18 year period

Market value, no smoothing

6.75%

2.75%

Same as for determining total OPEB liability, except for rates of retirement,
medical trend, future retiree participation, and assumed spouse

coverage percent.

The implied subsidy was not included i this valuation

113





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

June 30, 2018 and 2017

Notes to Schedule of Employer Contribution

Methods and Assumptions for Actuarially Determined Contribution for fiscal year 2018 follows:

Survivor Benefits
Valuation date

Actuary

Cost method

Amortization Method
Amortization Period

Future New entrants
Valuation Assets

Discount Rate

General Inflation

Mortality, withdrawal, disability

Medical Trend

Aggregate salary increases
Dental and Vision Trend

Retiree Contribution Increase

Basis for Assumptions

June 30, 2016

Bartel Associates, LLC

Entry Age Normal

Level percent of payroll

21-year fixed (closed) period beginning June 30, 2016
Closed group, no new hires

Equal to Ditrict's reserves

4.0% - for Present Value of Benefits

3.0%

CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study

Mortality projected fully generational Scale MP-2014

modified to converge to ultimate rates in 2022

Increase from Prior Year

Year  Non- Medicare Medicare
2016 Actual Premiums

2017 Actual Premiums

2018 6.5% 6.7%
2019 6.0% 6.1%
2020 5.5% 5.6%
2021+ 5.0% 5.0%

3.25%. Used for level percent of payroll amortization only
4.0% annual increases

$75/month contribution: 3% annually
$37/month contribution: no fiture increase

No experience study performed for this plan

CalPERS experience studies used, since covered employees are also in CalPERS plans
Mortality improvement based on slightly modified Society of Actuaries table
Participation and coverage based on plan experience

114





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

June 30, 2018 and 2017

Notes to Schedule of Employer Contribution

Methods and Assumptions for Actuarially Determined Contribution for the fiscal year 2018 follows:

Retiree Life Insurance
Valuation date
Actuary

Funding Policy

General Inflation
Discount Rate

Payroll Increase

Cost Method
Amortization Method

Amortization Period

Mortality, Disability, Withdrawal

Service Retirement

Benefits Valued

Basis for Assumptions

June 30, 2016
Bartel Associates, LLC

No current pre-funding
Benefit paid from BART funds

3.0%
4.0%

Aggregate Increases - 3.25%
Mertit Increases - CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study

Entry Age Normal
Level percent of payroll

30-year fixed (closed) period beginning July 1, 2004
17- years remaining in July 1, 2017

CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study
Mortality projected fully generational Scale MP-2014
modified to converge to ultimate rates in 2022

CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study
Safety: Expected Retirement Age: 54
Miscellaneous: Expected Retirement Age: 60.2

Valuation based on death benefits payable.
No administrative expense included

No experience study performed for this plan
CalPERS experience studies used since covered employees
are also in CalPERS plans.

Mortality improvement based on slightly modified Society
of Actuaries table

Inflation based the Plan's very long time horizon

115





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

June 30, 2018 and 2017

Notes to Schedule of Employer Contribution

Methods and Assumptions for Actuarially Determined Contribution for fiscal year 2017 follows:

Retiree Life Insurance

Valuation date
Actuary

Funding Policy

General Inflation
Discount Rate
Payroll Increase
Cost Method
Amortization Method

Amortization Period

Mortality, Disability, Withdrawal

Service Retirement

Benefits Valued

June 30, 2015
Keenan/TCS Associates

No current pre-funding
Benefit paid from BART funds

2.8%

4.25%

Aggregate Increases - 3.0%
Entry Age Normal

Level percent of payroll

30-year fixed (closed) period beginning July 1, 2004
18- years remaining in July 1, 2016

CalPERS 1997-2011 Experience Study
Post-retirement mortality projected with 20 years Scale BB
Miscellaneous withdrawal: "Milliman 2012"

Safety: 150% of CalPERS 1997-2007 Experience Study
Expected Retirement Age: 52.7

Miscellaneous: Milliman 2012 Table

Expected retirement Age: 62.2

Non-represented employees hired after December 31, 2012 have
0% probability for retirement prior to age 52

Valuation based on death benefits payable.

116





		Untitled








SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA
RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Report to the Board of Directors

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

Certified
Public
Accountants






SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA
RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Report to the Board of Directors
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Table of Contents

Page(s)
TrANSIMITEAL LLETEET ...ttt sttt sttt e st saeese et sbe et e ebeeneesaeebeeneenaeas 1
Required COMMUNICALIONS ........cciiiiiiieii ettt ettt sttt et seesaesteeseeseeareentesaeeneeneeaneeneenes 2
Current Year RECOMMENUALIONS. ........couiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ens 5
Status of Prior Year ReCOMMENUALIONS. .........couiiiiiiiiieeie ettt see e e 5

Summary of Uncorrected Financial Statement MisStatemMents ..........cccocvevvvviieneseece e 6





Certified
Public
Accountants

To the Board of Directors of the San Francisco
Bay Area Rapid Transit District
Oakland, California

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the Enterprise Fund and the Retiree
Health Benefit Trust Fund of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District (District) as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2018, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, we considered the District’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis
for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our
opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the
District’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and was
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. Given these
limitations during our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Professional auditing standards require auditors to communicate with the audit committee, or its equivalent,
on a number of subjects. The Required Communications section of this report satisfies these requirements.
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board of Directors,
and others within the organization, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than
these specified parties.

Mhcias G c‘/ OComel (5P

Walnut Creek, California
November 26, 2018

Macias Gini & O'Connell LLP
2121 N. California Boulevard, Suite 750
Walnut Creek, CA 94596 www.mgocpa.com





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA
RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Report to the Board of Directors
Year Ended June 30, 2018

REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS

Significant Audit Findings

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The
significant accounting policies used by the District are described in Note 1 to the District’s financial
statements. As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, the District implemented the
following Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements in 2018: GASB
Statement No. 81 — Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements, GASB Statement No. 85 — Omnibus
2017, and GASB Statement No. 86 — Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues. These statements did
not have significant impacts on the District’s financial statements.

We noted no transactions entered into by the District during the year for which there is a lack of
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the
financial statements in the proper period.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and
are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and
assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of
their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting
the financial statements were:

Fair value of investments. The District’s investments are generally at fair value, which is
defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The District’s
investments are valued and classified using the fair value hierarchy established by GASB
Statement No. 72, based on guidance from its custodian banks.

= Useful life estimates for capital and intangible assets. The estimated useful lives of capital and
intangible assets were based on management’s estimate of the economic lives of the assets.

= Estimated claims liabilities. Reserves for estimated claims liabilities were based on actuarial
evaluations using historical loss, other data, and attorney judgment about the ultimate outcome
of claims.

Accrual of compensated absences. The accrual for compensated absences is based on the
unused sick leave, vacation, and holiday time earned by employees and their salary rates as of
June 30, 2018.

Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) Plans. The contribution
requirements, net pension liability and related pension amounts of the pension plans, and the
net OPEB liability and related OPEB amounts of the OPEB plans were based on actuarially
determined studies.





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA
RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Report to the Board of Directors
Year Ended June 30, 2018

REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS (Continued)

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Policies (continued)

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the accounting estimates described
above in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the District’s financial statements taken
as a whole.

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to
financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements are
related to investments, long-term debt, defined benefit pension benefits, and postemployment
healthcare benefits and other postemployment benefits as discussed in notes 2, 6, 10 and 12,
respectively, to the financial statements.

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent and clear.
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our
audit.

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified
during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate
level of management. The attached schedule summarizes the uncorrected misstatements of the
financial statements. Management has determined that their effects are immaterial, both
individually and in the aggregate, to the District’s financial statements taken as a whole. In
addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by
management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the District’s financial
statements taken as a whole.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting,
or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the
financial statements or to the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements
arose during the course of our audit.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated November 26, 2018.





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA
RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Report to the Board of Directors
Year Ended June 30, 2018

REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS (Continued)

VI.

VII.

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation
involves application of an accounting principle to the District’s basic financial statements or a
determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those financial statements,
our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the
consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other
accountants.

Other Audit Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the District’s auditors.
However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our
responses were not a condition to our retention.

Other Matters

VIII.

Required Supplementary Information

We applied certain limited procedures to the management’s discussion and analysis, the schedules
of changes in net pension liability and related ratios, the schedule of employer pension
contributions, the schedules of changes in net OPEB liability and related ratios, and the schedules
of employer contributions for the OPEB plans, which are required supplementary information (RSI)
that supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of
management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information
for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit
the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.

Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements

Our responsibility for other information in documents containing the financial statements and our
report does not extend beyond the financial information identified in our audit report. We do not
have an obligation to perform any procedures to corroborate other information contained in these
documents. The District will include its financial statements and our report in its annual report.
However, we will read the other information in District’s annual report and consider whether such
information, or its manner of presentation, is materially inconsistent with information, or the
manner of its presentation, appearing in the financial statements.





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA
RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Report to the Board of Directors
Year Ended June 30, 2018

CURRENT YEAR RECOMMENDATIONS
None
STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR RECOMMENDATIONS

None





SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA
RAPID TRANSIT DISTRICT

Report to the Board of Directors

Year Ended June 30, 2018

SUMMARY OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS

Impact of Uncorrected Misstatements on Enterprise Fund Financial Statement Captions - Increase (Decrease)

Statements of Net Position

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Assets and Liabilities Nonoperating

Description (Nature) Deferred Outflowns Deferred Inflows Ending Beginning Operating Operating Revenues, Net and
of Audit Differences of Resources of Resources Net Position Net Position Revenues Expenses Capital Contributions
Uncorrected misstatements

To adjust sales taxrevenues fromthe cash

basis to accrual basis. $ 38405729 $ - 3 38405729 $ 47070070 $ - - (8,664,341)
Total uncorrected misstatements $ 38405729 $ - $ 38405729 $ 47070070 $ - - (8,664,341)
Financial statement amounts $ 9812031000 $ 37260197000 $ 6551,834000 $ 6,374621,000 $ 546,614,000 $ 992,816,000 $ 643,901,000
Impact as a percentage of financial
statement amounts 0.39% 0.00% 0.59% 0.74% 0.00% 0.00% -1.35%







B AR T BELAGUREEAAEUELIIAAET (o
Traffic Relief Program

(Measure RR) Update

December 6, 2018





Agenda

* February 10, 2018 Board Workshop:
Program Update provided to Board

* June 20, 2018 Board Meeting:
Bond Oversight Committee Annual Report provided to Board

* Accomplishments to Date

* Program Update
—Hiring
—Small Business
—OQutreach

* Mid-Term & Long-Term Outlook





e @ | Major Accomplishments to Date

* S132.5M expended. On target to surpass the S300M 1st tranche
work objective by June 2020.

* 82% of all RR expenditures have been spent on the Renew Track &
Renew Power programs:

— RENEW TRACK

22/90 miles of rail replaced (14.5 miles replaced Jan 17-June ‘18)
68/214 miles of rail reprofiled (Jan ‘17-June ‘18)
1030 ft of new restraining rail installed (June ‘18)

— RENEW POWER

4/100 miles of cable installed — Downtown Oakland
(Washington St to 19th St) installation in progress

(Jan “17-June ‘18)

4/43 rectifiers renewed systemwide (Jan ‘17-June ‘18)

Traction power substation replaced in Richmond Yard (June ‘18)





e @ | Major Accomplishments to Date (cont’d)

* Held 58 small business outreach events. 21% of RR expenditures
on contracted work have gone to small businesses.

* Hired 206 positions out of the 309 FY18-19 headcount goal.

* Secured additional space on the 8th Floor, populated by RR staff.
e Secured Hayward warehouse to house RR inventory.

e Established the Bond Oversight Committee (BOC) and held five

BOC meetings. The first BOC Annual Report was completed and
presented to the Board in June 2018.





Bond Progress # of Positions FY18 SUMMARY

FILLED/Pre-employment 2060 * FY18 Head-count goal was 162
Recruiting 101 e+ By year-end 90% of those positions
Pending Post 2 were hired/selected

309

Pending Post,
2

CURRENT PROGRESS

Recruiting, 101

FY18+19 Head-count goal is 309

Bond measure to date:
206 selected/hired

FILLED/Pre-

emp, 206 On target to meet FY19 goal






e o f| Program Update — Small Business

R Total RR Total RR SB > # of SB fotal RR AR >8
g Commitments | Commitment Commitment Contracts Payments on | Payments | Payment

% RR Contracts to SBs %

Renew Track $39,623,183  $7,989,342 20% 46 $14208,951 $1,790,084  13%

Renew Power $142,657,318  $75,707,108 53% 129 $25,889,206 $8,645236  33%

Repair Tunnels &

o $59,857,035  $7,786,683 13% 46 $15,029,137  $938,435 6%

Renew Mechanical $14,465,578  $2,275,053 16% 24 $797,115 $420259  53%

Replace Train o

Control/Increase Capacity 5555,394 59,699 2 4 >0 >0 o

Renew Stations $4,108,146 $1,801,617 44% 11 $2200,621  $495,845 23%

Expand Safe Access t

S')c(:t?gns ate Access to $3,925,268 $1,376,440 35% 44 $1133,972  $240,878 21%

Design/Engineer t

R:ﬁfv';/ C':f\':/'jiirg © $5,697,420 $1,509,231 26% 13 $1592336  $342,395  22%

Total $270,890,243  $98,455,174 36% 314 $60,851,338 $12,873,132 21%

Notes: All amounts are based on RR fund percent only. Amounts are updated to October 31, 2018. Includes formal contracts only; does not include
informal purchases or work performed by BART’s own forces. SB totals include DBEs, MSBEs, SBs, and LSBs. Sources: RR commitments are based on RR
Requisitions report, Procurement Sealed Bids Report and PeopleSoft Work Plans application. RR% for each project is based on Financial Analysts’ report,
RR Funds / Total Project Budget. Payments based on PeopleSoft and VPT.





*58 outreach events have been held throughout the Bay Area since
inception (September 2017)

— 38 events (2018); 20 events (2017)
— Targeted advertisements for Small Businesses by industry and location

— OCR staff has participated in 12 workshops, fairs, or events organized by
other organizations or agencies

*Over 600 participants have attended outreach events representing a
variety of business types

* Positive survey responses received from participants

— 80% of surveys stated that participants are more likely to bid on BART work
after attending the event





tx] Program Update — Next Steps

* Additional roll-out of programs to assist small businesses
— Mentor-Protégé Program: has its first participants with several additional contracts
in the pipeline
— Small Business Supportive Services: soon to provide comprehensive services to
Small Businesses (five-year agreement)

* Upcoming events (in development)
— Building to Bid: The purpose of this outreach event is to navigate Small Businesses
through BART’s bidding process to increase bid preparedness
— Power Pitch: LGBTBE firms will receive technical assistance and have the
opportunity to introduce their businesses and products to BART representatives






Benefits

Summary of
|nveStmentS $ Millions Crowding

Safety Reliability | +Traffic Relief

TRAFFIC CONGESTION, AND $335 10%
EXPAND OPPORTUNITIES TO
SAFELY ACCESS STATIONS

Design and engineer future
projects to relieve crowding, in- $200 6%
crease system redundancy,

and reduce traffic congestion

REPAIR AND REPLACE / / /
CRITICAL SAFETY $3,165 90%

INFRASTRUCTURE

Renew track $625 18% / /

Renew power infrastructure $1,225 35% / /

Repair tunnels and structures $570 16% / ‘/

Renew mechanical infrastructure $135 4% / /

Renew stations $210 6% / / /
Replace train control and other

major system infrastructure to $400 12% ‘/ / /
increase peak period capacity

RELIEVE CROWDING, REDUCE / / /

N

Expand opportunities to safely $135 4% /
access stations

N
N

TOTAL $3,500 | 100%






=
oc
Ll
i
~
@)
T
(25
(o]0
=
i ®)
c
Q
Q.
V)
od
Q
Q.
@)
o
V)
|
o Ll
o =
25
>
%U
0 2
=0
-

—
o
~
o
~
w
c
=
=
S
.
£
]
X
L
2
o]
Q
c
c
L
o
|
@
b

BART Measure RR Program - SHORT-TERM (3

$300.00

——Baseline =——Actual = =Forecast

$250.00

Planned $300M
Scope Complete

Projected $300M
Scope Complete

Dec 2019 - Current

\
\
\
\
\
% \
\

m \
o
o
o | INEL
c
=
3
>
o]
o
o
o
v
o
c
Q
Q
(7]
o)
)
)
[ o
Q
€
Q
=
=
o
Q
o
*

S S S

o o o

g 5 g

U U U

(suorjjiw) aane|nwn) - moj4 ysed

Actual Completed

Scope thru Oct 2018

8
o
[Fal
%2

$0.00

10

(Fiscal Year Quarter) - Month/Calendar Year





$9.00

IDB ncnlf Measure RR — Self-Perform vs. Contract

INCREMENTAL (Monthly) thru FY18

BART Measure RR Program - FY18
Baseline vs. Actual Cash Flow (Incremental - Per Month)

M Baseline - Contracted B Actual - Contracted

Baseline - Self-Performed = Actual - Self-Performed

-J-LIll."i]

7/2017  8/2017  9/2017  10/2017 11/2017 12/2017  1/2018  2/2018  3/2018  4/2018  5/2018  6/2018
(FY18Q1) (FY18Ql) (Fy18Ql) (FY18Q2) (FY18Q2) (FY18Q2) (FY18Q3) (Fvi8Q3) (FY18Q3) (FY18Q4) (Fy18Q4) (FY18Q4)

Month/Calendar Year
(Fiscal Year Quarter) 11





T Measure RR Cashflow (S Millions) —
s (S )

Mid-Term & Long-Term Outlook

Forecast Expenditures % Expended
Expended out of Total
Program SHORT-TERM MID-TERM LONG-TERM (thru Oct 2018) Bond
(thru June 2020) (thru 2025) (thru End of Bond) Investment
Renew Track $190 $400 $625 $60.2 10%
Renew Power )
Infrastructure $125 $608 $1,225 $49.0 4%
Repair Tunnels & $24 $268 $570 $7.9 1%
Structures
Renew Mechanical $23 $65 $135 $4.1 3%
Replace Train 0
Control/Increase Capacity 220 >286 >400 224 1%
Renew Stations $21 $148 $210 $2.6 1%
Exp:f\nd Safe Access to $15 86 $135 $2.6 2%
Stations
Design/Engineer to Relieve 0
Crowding $22 S69 $200 $3.7 2%
Total $440 $1,930 $3,500 $132.5 4%

12






ba Renew Track

STATUS & MILESTONES

EXPENDED Thru 10/2018: $60.2
FORECAST Thru 6/2020: $190
FORECAST Thru 2025: $400

FORECAST Thru End: $625

STATUS — Renew Track
# Projects in Planning # Projects in Design # Projects in Bid/Award # Projects in Construction # Projects Completed TOTAL # Projects
0 6 11 0 2 19
MILESTONES
SHORT-TERM MID-TERM LONG-TERM
ThruJune 2020 Thru 2025 Thru End of Bond

v’ Design complete
v’ €35 interlock
v R65 interlock
v’ Construction complete
v/ M03 interlock
v’ Rail relay — 22 miles
v’ C55, Phase 1
v’ Restraining rail replacement — M103
* Construction complete
— (€25, C55 & C35 interlocks
— Oakland Yard project
* Design complete
— System joint elimination construction
— A65/A75/A77 interlocks
* Continue DF pad installation

* Design complete
— K-Line interlocks
— Richmond Yard turn outs
— Friction modification implementation
* Construction complete
— C25 interlock
— A65/A75/A77 interlocks
— Rail relay of 40 miles
— R65 interlocks
— DF pad installation
— Restraining rail replacement — C101,
C102
* Begin construction of system joint
elimination

* Construction complete
— K-Line interlocks
— System joint elimination
— Richmond Yard turn outs
* Begin implementation friction
modification

13






l'n Renew Power

STATUS & MILESTONES

EXPENDED Thru 10/2018: $49.0
FORECAST Thru 6/2020: $125

FORECAST Thru 2025: $608
FORECAST Thru End: $1,225

STATUS — Renew Power Infrastructure

# Projects in Planning # Projects in Design # Projects in Bid/Award # Projects in Construction # Projects Completed TOTAL # Projects
1 15 2 6 1 25
MILESTONES
SHORT-TERM MID-TERM LONG-TERM
Thru June 2020 Thru 2025 Thru End of Bond

v Design complete — Station Fire Alarm Replacement — Phase 2
v’ Construction in progress for 34.5 kV cable
v K-Line & M-Line
v' Awarded
v" M-Line 34.5 kV Cable Replacement
v’ San Leandro Traction Power Substation Replacement
v Tunnel Lighting M-Line
v’ Station Emergency Lighting Ph 2 to BOD 11/2018
v" Install complete traction power substation in Richmond Yard
* Design complete 34.5 kV cable replacement
— A, C&R-Lines
— Willow Pass Road high voltage bulk supply transformer
— Multi-functional protective relays and rectifiers
— Cast coil transformers & differential protection schemes
— Uninterruptible Power Supplies (UPS) — 24 Train Control Rooms
* Installation complete
— M-Line tunnel lighting
¢ Begin installation
— Station Fire Alarm Replacement — Phase 2
— Third rail replacement — A-Line
— Transbay Tube (TBT) emergency generator

* Installation complete
— Station Emergency Lighting — Phase 2
— Tunnel lighting — TBT & Walnut Creek
tunnel
— TBT emergency generator
— Station Fire Alarm Replacement — Ph 2
— Met G generator replacement
— Cast coil transformer & differential
protection
— Traction power substations at Civic
Center & Montgomery
— Willow Pass Road high voltage bulk
supply transformer replacement
* Continued construction
— 34.5 kV cable replacement —
systemwide
— Traction power substation replacement
— systemwide

* Construction complete

— 34.5 kV cable
replacement —
systemwide

— Traction power
substation
replacement —
systemwide

14






ba Renew Mechanical

STATUS & MILESTONES

EXPENDED Thru 10/2018: $4.1
FORECAST Thru 6/2020: $23
FORECAST Thru 2025: $65

FORECAST Thru End: $135

STATUS — Renew Mechanical

# Projects in Planning # Projects in Design # Projects in Bid/Award # Projects in Construction # Projects Completed TOTAL # Projects
0 5 2 0 0 7
MILESTONES
SHORT-TERM MID-TERM LONG-TERM

Thru June 2020

Thru 2025

Thru End of Bond

v Awarded Coverboard Enhancement contract
v’ Procurement of Standpipe contract (L-Line
tunnel)
* Design complete
— Fire hose cabinets, L-Line tunnel & yard fire
services
— Turntables & vacuum system
— Backflow preventers, sewage pumps &
rotoclones
— LMA Liebert unit
* Installation complete — Coverboard
enhancement systemwide

* Installation complete
— Turntable replacement (OCY, ORY),
vacuum system (OKS) & hydraulic
truck lift cylinders (OHY, ORY)
— Fire protection systemwide (yards,
stations & L-Line tunnel)
— HVAC & control tower replacement
(OCY, ORY)
— LMA Liebert unit
* Continued installation — Storm water
treatment systemwide

* Installation complete
— LMA computer room fire
protection
— Transbay Tube dampers
overhaul
* Continued installation — Storm
water treatment systemwide

15






ba Tunnels & Structures

STATUS & MILESTONES

EXPENDED Thru 10/2018: $7.9

FORECAST Thru 6/2020: $24
FORECAST Thru 2025: $268

FORECAST Thru End: $570

STATUS — Repair Tunnels & Structures

# Projects in Planning # Projects in Design # Projects in Bid/Award # Projects in Construction # Projects Completed TOTAL # Projects
8 8 1 4 0 21
MILESTONES
SHORT-TERM MID-TERM LONG-TERM
ThruJune 2020 Thru 2025 Thru End of Bond

v’ Rehabilitation complete — Platform edge —
MacArthur Station
v' Design complete — Aerial fall protection A-
Line
* Advertise & award
— Caldecott BART Tunnel (CBT) Creep Repair
— Safety Barriers — systemwide
— M-Line Water Intrusion (Phasel)
— M-Line Aerial Fall Protection
* Retrofit complete
— Transbay Tube (TBT) internal seismic — invert
tube segments 21-53
— TBT internal — electrical substations
complete at pump stations #3 & #4
— Substation exterior walls - systemwide

* Design complete

Aerial fall protection on C, R &L Lines
Renew catwalks on aerials (A-Line)
Rehab expansion joints (aerial
structures)

Water intrusion through trackway &
platform joints at stations on C & R-
Lines

Slope stabilization — MW012

* Construction complete

CBT Creep Repair

Safety Barriers

M-Line Water Intrusion (Phasel)
M-Line Aerial Fall Protection
TBT internal retrofit

Slope stabilization — MW012

* Construction complete

— Aerial fall protection on C, R
&L-Lines

— Renew catwalks on aerials
(A-Line)

— Rehab expansion joints
(aerial structures)

— Water intrusion through
trackway & platform joints at
stations on C & R-Lines

16






b Replace Train Control

STATUS & MILESTONES

EXPENDED Thru 10/2018: $2.4

FORECAST Thru 6/2020: $20
FORECAST Thru 2025: $286

FORECAST Thru End: $400

STATUS - Replace Train Control / Increase Capacity

# Projects in Planning # Projects in Design # Projects in Bid/Award # Projects in Construction # Projects Completed TOTAL # Projects
0 0 1 0 0 1
MILESTONES
SHORT-TERM MID-TERM LONG-TERM
Thru June 2020 Thru 2025 Thru End of Bond

v' Completed supplemental qualification of systems
equipment installers
v' Completed pre-proposal meetings
v' Completed outreach to local, small & DBE businesses
v’ Prequalified Communication Based Train Control (CBTC)
system providers & CBTC system equipment installers (9-mo
delay due to protest & reopen installer contractor
gualification)
v Received technical proposals
* |dentify competitive range & issue Best and Final Offer (BAFO)
* Award to CBTC supplier
* Issue enabling works contracts (new switch & station power
supply)
* Issue CM & DSDC Contracts
* Update & prepare BART Integrated Computer System (ICS) for
the new Automated Train Supervision (ATS) System
* Mobilize co-located project team (BART, Consultant, CBTC
System Supplier)

* Develop new Automatic Train
Supervision (ATS) system

* Prove CBTC on the test track

* Integrate new CBTC equipment on
all vehicles

* Install CBTC equipment on the
revenue trackway

* Train operators, controllers &
maintainers on the new CBTC
system and equipment

* Begin migration and operation of
the new CBTC system into revenue
service

* Complete migration
through the Transbay Tube
(TBT) and the Oakland Wye

* Increase the frequency of
service through the TBT

* Complete the CBTC
Contract






ba Renew Stations

STATUS & MILESTONES

EXPENDED Thru 10/2018: $2.6

FORECAST Thru 6/2020: $21
FORECAST Thru 2025: $148

FORECAST Thru End: $210

STATUS — Renew Stations

# Projects in Planning # Projects in Design # Projects in Bid/Award # Projects in Construction # Projects Completed TOTAL # Projects
0 0 2 1 0 3
MILESTONES
SHORT-TERM MID-TERM LONG-TERM

Thru June 2020

Thru 2025

Thru End of Bond

v’ Advertised
v’ Escalator contract
v’ 19th St Station Modernization
* Award & begin construction
— Escalator contract
— 19th St Station Modernization
* Construction complete — El Cerrito del Norte
Modernization
* Prepare Station Modernization conceptual plan
at 2 stations

* Continued construction — Escalator
contract

* Construction complete — 19th St Station
Modernization

* Construction complete —
Escalator contract

18






EXPENDED Thru 10/2018: $2.6

I BART Station Access FORECAST Thru 6/2020: $15

STATUS & M”_ESTON ES FORECAST Thru 2025: $86

FORECAST Thru End: $135

STATUS - Expand Safe Access to Stations

# Projects in Planning # Projects in Design # Projects in Bid/Award # Projects in Construction # Projects Completed TOTAL # Projects
4 13 0 5 0 22
MILESTONES
SHORT-TERM MID-TERM LONG-TERM
Thru June 2020 Thru 2025 Thru End of Bond
v Aivanci.ng design _ _ * Design complete — AIP Phases 4 | ¢ Construction complete
A.ctlve access at multiple statlc_)ns and 5 — Active access
v’ Bicycle stair channels at 7 stations i i .
v’ Accessibility Improvement Projects (AIP) Phase 1&2 * Construction Complete prOJects/secure bike
v/ Ongoing construction — Active access projects at 2 stations — Regional trail connections parking
v' Planning/design secure bike parking 5 stations & modernize 2 bike stations — AIP Phases 1 and 2 — AIP Phases 4 and 5
Inltla.\ted hearing loop mstal!atlon of agent booths at 3 stations & Customer « Design & construction — AIP fare gate audio
Service Center at Lake Merritt L i
v’ Initiated platform edge tile replacement at 6 stations complete — AIP Phase 3 modifications
* Construction complete * Continued construction — — Complete station PA system
— El Cerrito del Norte Active access projects/secure improvements Phase 3
- NIIaCArthlurbb o _ bike parking * Design & construction
~ Elevator lobby LED lights -10 stations . * Implement complete — AIP Phase 6
— Station Public Address (PA) system improvements pilot o .
« Begin construction — Wayfinding and real time * Implement
— Regional trail connections arrival information — Wayfinding and real time
* Implement/modernize secure bike parking and bike stair channels at — Safe Routes to BART projects arrival information
multiple stations — Dynamic intermodal/drop- — Safe Routes to BART
* Advance Safe Routes to BART progrz?m off redesign projects
* Intermodal / Passenger drop off design S . Ki . D . dal/d
e Complete hearing loop installation at agent booths — Strategic parking expansion - ynamlc.lntermo al/drop-
* Strategic parking expansion off redesign 19






b’ Relieve Crowding

STATUS & MILESTONES

EXPENDED Thru 10/2018: $3.7
FORECAST Thru 6/2020: $22
FORECAST Thru 2025: $69

FORECAST Thru End: $200

STATUS - Design / Engineer to Relieve Crowding

# Projects in Planning # Projects in Design # Projects in Bid/Award # Projects in Construction # Projects Completed TOTAL # Projects
3 3 2 0 0 8
MILESTONES
SHORT-TERM MID-TERM LONG-TERM
Thru June 2020 Thru 2025 Thru End of Bond

v' Advertised
v’ Civic Center Platform Stairs
v New Transbay Rail Crossing — Strategic Advising and
Program Management
v’ Advancing design
v' Embarcadero Station Platform Elevator
v’ Platform Screen Door Pilot program
v HMC Phase 2
v’ Core Capacity Project PM - completed environmental &
submitted all materials for FTA entry to engineering
* Award — New Transbay Rail Crossing — Strategic Advising
and Program Management
* Award & begin construction
— Civic Center Stair Platform
* Advertise & award
— Embarcadero Station Platform Elevator
— Platform Screen Door Pilot at 12th St Station
* Complete HMC Phase 2 - Trackwork procurement

* Construction complete
— Embarcadero Station Platform
Elevator
— Platform Screen Door Pilot at
12th St Station
— HMC Phase 2
* New Transbay Rail Crossing —
Advertise, award & begin work on
Planning/ Environmental contract
* Platform Screen Door Pilot
program —Prioritize future
locations based upon Pilot
outcomes
* Core Capacity project — Project
implementation

* New Transbay Rail Crossing
— TBD based upon funding
and results of prior work

* Platform Screen Door Pilot
program — based upon
funding/pilot results: Install
at downtown stations &
other locations TBD

* Core Capacity project —
Project completion

20






e 12/21/18 — Bond Oversight Committee Meeting

* Under Development:

— Planning of second tranche — Fine-tune scope,
schedule, and budget for mid-term project activities

—Standardized RR Program Reporting

—Earned Value Management

21






BART to Antioch (eBART) Capacity
Improvements

- A

| j*& ' '
-
:ﬂ; NI

w P

54
-
T
ISS .|
'SS "
- - |

BART Board Meeting
December 6, 2018





=  Qverview
= Station Parking Expansion
= Change Order for Vehicles

= Motions

December 6, 2018 BART Board Meeting 2





o Antioch Station Ridership (Exits):

Projected and Actual

4,100

3,050
2,270
1,575
2015 - Opening 2030 - Horizon 2018 - Opening 2018 - Actual
Projected (2009) Projected (2016)

December 6, 2018 BART Board Meeting 3





l:n Surface Parking Expansion and Other
Access Improvements

NEW LOT
850 STALLS e

PROPOSED ANTIOCH PARKING

~UN:S‘| Il: ———

Pedestrlan access

I IVIP ROVE \VE E NTS s ?_tat"’”

December 6, 2018 BART Board Meeting





I =: n:nlf On-site Access Improvements to the Existing

Surface Lot

F"

-

M -

AL ;:—‘:E
T E{E
0 '\ ///”

— I Modifications will:

_ * Improve ADA location

~* |mprove circulation/

‘Relocated Telcated passenger flow
Bike Lockers * Minimize potential
Patron Drop-off conflicts

December 6, 2018 BART Board Meeting 5





10T dug.

o Antioch New Parking Lot

Additional Elements

= Site Lighting

= Cameras (CCTV)

=  Emergency call boxes
= Landscaping

=  Solar Panels/PPA*

o -
| J‘I &k

”’\! gwgﬂﬁ%g‘/_—\%u T
/E it S| E %Amm‘uﬂ%'? .

|E Mt 5| g r'b'-"ﬁ“
D) U—‘LJ_JJ_IJLU % ‘ - TR TR TR

f‘r‘ﬁr'%”.rh
;M‘%l“

'—@;

LEGEND
LANDSCAPE (SLOPED AREA 2:1)

[ SHRUB(TREE LANDSCAPE “WITHIN BIORETENTION

0 NATIVE PLANTING WITHIN BIORETENTION

————
—_—m——
—

C__1  Solar Panels (PPA)

December 6, 2018

* Separate procurement through Purchase Power Agreement (PPA)

BART Board Meeting

:“:—":‘i—‘—-—o—.i...,
T e
B =
6





* The Addendum to the FEIR for the Revised Project
concluded that there are:

* No substantial changes to the environment
* No new or more severe impacts

* Therefore, the Revised Project does not meet the
conditions that would require a subsequent or
supplemental EIR.

December 6, 2018 BART Board Meeting 7





Project Budget and Proposed Funding Plan

Budget:

e BART to Antioch Project Original Adjusted Budget: $524.9M
e Estimated Cost at Completion: $510.7M

* Remaining Funds: $14.17M

* Estimated Cost of Surface Lot: Approx. $16.0M

Funding Plan:

Agency Funding ($ millions)
BART 4.30

MTC 3.61

CCTA Measure J eBART Category 3.26

East Contra Costa Regional Fee and Financing Authority (ECCRFFA) 3.00

Sub Total 14.17 (remaining funds)
CCTA Measure J Access Funds: 1.82

TOTAL 16.00

December 6, 2018 BART Board Meeting 8





b Preliminary Antioch Parking Lot

Schedule

* Winter 2018: Requested Board action
* Spring 2019: Advertise
 Summer/Fall 2019: Construction

* Summer/Fall 2020: Open surface lot

December 6, 2018 BART Board Meeting 9





m Vehicles:

Stadler Contract Options Provisions

e Stadler’s contract provides options for additional
vehicles that will expire April 2019
* Two-vehicle option
* Four-vehicle option

 Stadler has agreed to extend this period for two
additional years to exercise the options with
modified pricing provisions at no additional cost to
the District

December 6, 2018 BART Board Meeting 10





» 2022/2023 — Two (2) new vehicles projected to be needed
no later than this based on updated ridership projections

— Current cost estimate: Approximately $21 M*

e 2025 — Four (4) additional vehicles projected to be needed
to meet BART switching from 15 to 12 min headways

— Current cost estimate: Approximately $40 M*

* Funding plan currently envisions partnership with Contra
Costa Transportation Authority (CCTA), Metropolitan
Transportation Commission (MTC) and BART.

* Cost estimate subject to producer price index, exchange rate and additional tariffs

December 6, 2018 BART Board Meeting 11





tn Motion:
Station Parking Expansion

Having reviewed and considered the information
contained in the Addendum, and the FEIR, the
BART Board of Directors hereby:

1) Adopts the attached Resolution, approving the
4th Addendum to the FEIR and adopting the
Revised Project

2) Adopts the attached Resolution of Project
Compliance authorizing the filing of an
allocation request with the Metropolitan
Transportation Commission ($S3.61M)

December 6, 2018 BART Board Meeting 12





223 Motion:
b Change Order for Vehicles

e Authorize the General Manager to execute a
Change Order with Stadler to extend the time
period to exercise contract options from April
2019 to April 2021

December 6, 2018 BART Board Meeting 13






Millbrae Station Transit-
2.l Oriented Development
(TOD)

i

1 1
mE 1 :
N

mi B

i o

vio Al
-
1]
] 8

¥y
Al

il (ll
o

—————

December 6, 2018
BART Board of Directors





ool Presentation Overview

a & WD

Gateway at Millorae TOD Project
Overview

Project Entitlement Status
Access and Circulation
Next Steps

Proposed Board Motions:

Final Environmental Impact
Report (FEIR) actions and Project
approval

Real Estate Deal Terms Update
(closed session)

BART Planning, Development & Construction Department

Pittsburg/ Pittsburg
Bay Point  Center

Richmond

MNarth Concord/Martinez Antioch

El Cerrito del Norte -4
El Cerrito Plaza 4
North Berkeley “{
Downtown Berkeley 4

Pleasant Hill/
Contra Costa Centre

Concord

Walnut Creek

Lafayette

West My~ MacArthur
Oakland iy~ 19th St/Oakland
' J' 12th St/Oakland City Center

- Lake Merritt

Embarcadero _gF=

Montgomery St #7 4 L
Powell St Fruitvale
b, Coliseun

Civic Center/ / Che
- 5an Leandro
WY Bay Fair Dublin/

4 16th St Mission Castro Valley Pleasanton

24th St Mission Oakland

City gigt¢ Glen Park International \\ \West Dublin/
i Ealboa Park Airport (OAK) Hayward  plageantan
Colma South Hayward
e San Francisco
SFnLrth.San International Union City
randisco @ Airport (SFO)
5an Bruno =y . PP
won-r | gl = B3R e S ¥y, | afterépm
before 9 pm ! Fremont i, e SAT-SI.ﬁvI

illbrae oy MON-FRI =D alf day
before & pm 9
Warm Springs/

@ BART 2018 South Fremont





BART Planning, Development & Construction Department






Gateway at Millbrae (TOD #2) Site
Plan

dadh ool 8

SITE 6A 'g
i : EXISTING PARKIN G GARAGE VETERAN'S - .
hawr REFERRED o S
; FFORDABL “ E w
HOUSING il X
(D I UNITS = m g : E ]
! il - —
[0 R
§
1=
L“',ﬁ
wrrrrren e = [ y any =1
| .
| SITE 68 q
I- ] | RESIDENCE INN :
:‘:":‘:Dﬂ H:' by MARRIOTT =
B e ' 8
FICE 151,5 - E 2 M e = : ;|
22,534 sf l
o
: o
L [T . Iail
B o — I & 3
= = .
= NI =
- __ay e
— |

i | RETA 13,749 5 F
& | HIEE -
| | — ! !
it b “itgsl (fge — “
1 : é d l : 1 P HOTEL ROOMS
EHiy - - 164
i i i TAIL

i i
i i
£ "I: \u '|I z L-'
:e“ L | bk ﬁ ........
= == i m e = . —N — I;‘:__

BART Planning, Development & Construction Department





mw Gateway at Millbrae (TOD #2
ol Boad Ackons

Summary of Board Actions

» Approved Exclusive Negotiation Agreement (ENA) with RUP —
February 2013

» Approved two ENA extensions — October 2014 & April 2016

» Approved Project and delegated to the General Manager the
decision to approve or disapprove any project modifications
subject to CEQA analysis — June 2016

« Authorized General Manager to execute Option Agreement
with Republic Millorae LLC for a 99-year ground lease — June
2016

» Adopted the Findings, Statement of Overriding Considerations
and Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program — June 2016

BART Planning, Development & Construction Department 4





w Gateway at Millbrae (TOD #2
bt actons

City of Millbrae Actions

e Millbrae Station Specific Area Plan and FEIR
Approval — February 2016

e Planning and Zoning Approval — December 2017

 City Council Approval — April 2018

¢ Site Development Plan, Development Agreement,
Conditional Use for Hotel, and Tentative Vesting Map

e Design Review Approval in Process — Planned for
January 2019

BART Planning, Development & Construction Department





s Project Changes over the
Entitlement Process

February
October June September
Real Estate Product 2013
(BAFO) 2015 2016 2018
Office (square feet) 140,000 143,575 157,852 151,853
Retail (square feet) 17,300 42,450 46,411 44,000
Residential —_Market Rate 350 311 301 300
(units)
100 (25%)
- ial 80 Veteran Pref.
Re5|dent|(ilnit/sﬂ3ffordable 0 65 (17%) 75 (20%) e
20 Moderate
Income
Hotel (rooms) 0 110 126 164

BART Planning, Development & Construction Department 6





Gateway at Millbrae

o o g g

'r’};?;" i i ! il

Residential ' Veterans Affordable Housing

BART Planning, Development & Construction Department 7






w BART Board Adopted Station
f

Access Peformance Targets

Millbrae Station: Currently Intermodal —Auto Reliant

Envisioned to become Balanced Intermodal

2025 TARGET

ACCESS MODE SHARE
2008 ACCESS 2015 ACCESS

MODE SHARE MODE SHARE™

Shered Mobility: Transit, Shuttle, TNC, Drop-Off, Carpool "Prelimnary 2015 Station Profe Survey Data
Drive & Park: Drive Alone

BART Planning, Development & Construction Department





ool Access and Circulation

Pedestrian Improvements

« Paseo with plaza/art leading from Rollins Road to station
 Enhanced crosswalks at Rollins Road

 Improved and activated transit plaza

* Pedestrian activated signal at Rollins Rd. and Garden Lane

—

= : [ —





ool Access and Circulation

Bike Improvements
» Bike parking throughout project (denoted by blue stars)

e Class 1 multi-use paths along Aviador Avenue and Garden
Lane (providing a future connection to regional Bay Trail)

* Class 2 bike lanes along S. Statlon Road

~. AVIADOR AVE
= L

EXISTING i

BART Plannlng Development & Constructlon Department | 10





ool Access and Circulation

Shuttles/Transit
« 8 stops total, 6 on East Station Road

e East Station Road turn around will be limited to
transit and BART maintenance only

—  CROUIHT TOLERANT RANTIGLTVR, Choss WITH CERAL BULTNG S0 S P
[ SATTETURARG [ SHUTILE PICKUP) DROP-OFF (47 LENGTHENS, TYP) 1 | TRAGHAND REGYTLIMG BING, TV,
I '4 ‘
. i PR
%) (i —
N
e
g o] g
=) SAST STATION ROAD = g
L II ¥ v L ¥ L RN
g | ittt i o
‘ H1ZEN | - —r - i
A 2 2 — = L Bl &
‘}""&. A""' = =8 , 3‘:\
s 45 . )

manmin

Passenger Pick up/Drop off
*New facility on 2nd floor of parking garage
8 Spaces for quick drop off and 10 spaces for waiting

BART Planning, Development & Construction Department 11





New Passenger Pick Up/Drop Off

Facility

HHHHJHHHHHJAHIHMLUUUIHHHULJJH
4 |~ )

= | 11 4 [ 1 I | _
.LLJLMLLL ] O]
l" |||1| 1 |||"F"r||1'rr|| HiDWimm

| LEVEL
-@.g-—-{- il --msmé;mnnup-?r —_ "T —_—r - .|l=' -
L L L o
= St
I o .ff%?f"'/ Pl gl av il B B 11
||l '\I. == = = FPASSENGERDROPOFF = == == of '
| . . - e
L — I
(1 s S——— _
| o s ) S i S — ]
[ l
e = [
| t e i e ——— B e e e e L e e P = E
] w L] =
- | Lllrel el : t!
EXISTNG . ' ‘ l
BART
STATION || ; SITE 5A S BE
OFFICE: 141 5K3 ST
|| AETAAL: 22 288 500F
PLazh M1

&

SITE 58

RESIDENTIAL: 330 UKITS
RETAL: 13 FaEoeT

BART Planning, Development & Construction Department 12





Parking

Development Parking

o Parking is below BART TOD parking maximums
 Working with BART and City on a shared parking program
* Robust Transportation Demand Management (TDM)

program
«* On site TDM Coordinator

% Bike share and ride share programs
% Showers and locker rooms provided for hotel and office employees

% Unbundled parking for market rate residential, office, and hotel

BART Parking
o 20% parking reduction creates opportunity for TOD

o 2,409 Spaces (2,092 structured and 317 surface)

BART Planning, Development & Construction Department

13





Next Steps

City of Millorae

 Design Review Approval — January 2019
 Plan Review and Building Permits — Spring 2019

BART

 Finalize Lease Option Agreement — December 2018
e Execute Ground Leases — Summer 2019
FTA

e Joint Development Approval — Spring 2019

Construction
o Currently anticipated to begin Summer 2019

BART Planning, Development & Construction Department 14





Board Action Today

BART is the “Responsible Agency” for CEQA

 June 23, 2016: BART Board of Directors took actions
related to the Project EIR and approved the Project

City of Millbrae is “Lead Agency” for CEQA

 Project has changed since 2016 and City took CEQA
actions in April 2018

% Hotel and affordable housing changed locations
% Residential units and hotel rooms increased

% Office and Retail square footage decreased

“ Number of affordable housing units increased

Staff Recommendation is for BART Board of Directors
to update CEQA actions and approve updated Project

BART Planning, Development & Construction 15





Proposed Board Motion (CEQA

22] Actions

a. Adopt Findings, Statement of Overriding
Consideration and Mitigation Monitoring and
Reporting Program for the TOD #2 Project.

b. Find that changes or alterations have been
required in, or incorporated into, the project which
mitigate or avoid significant effects on the
environment.

c. Find that for the significant and unavoidable
effects of the TOD #2, benefits of the project
outweigh the significant effects on the
environment, as identified in the Final EIR and the
Statement of Overriding Considerations.

BART Planning, Development & Construction 16





Proposed Board Motion
Continued (Modified Project

Approval)

d. Approve changes to the TOD #2 Project.

e. Delegate the General Manager or her
designee the decision to approve or
disapprove any additional modifications to
TOD #2, and conclude that the modifications
will not result in any new significant
environmental effects not considered in the
Final EIR or a substantial increase in the
severity of previously identified significant
effects.

BART Planning, Development & Construction Department 17





		Slide Number 1

		Presentation Overview

		Site Context

		Gateway at Millbrae (TOD #2) Site Plan

		Gateway at Millbrae (TOD #2) Summary of Board Actions

		Gateway at Millbrae (TOD #2) �City of Millbrae Actions

		Project Changes over the Entitlement Process

		Gateway at Millbrae

		BART Board Adopted Station Access Peformance Targets

		Access and Circulation

		Access and Circulation

		Access and Circulation

		New Passenger Pick Up/Drop Off Facility

		Parking

		Next Steps

		Board Action Today

		Proposed Board Motion (CEQA Actions

		Proposed Board Motion Continued (Modified Project Approval)




XA M North Concord/Martinez BART

Transit-Oriented Development (TOD)
Award of Exclusive Negotiating Agreement

December 6, 2018
BART Board of Directors

Planning, Development & Construction Department





rm North Concord/Martinez BART Transit Oriented Development

- Recap of Specific Plan and Relationship to
BART

- BART’s TOD Goals and Objectives
- Solicitation Process

- Staff Recommendation

- Board Motion

BART Planning, Development & Construction





50,000
40,000
30,000
20,000
10,000

OA n

b

" North Concord / Martinez BART

Station Profile

Access Types:
© Current: Auto- Dependenf p/

Future: Balanced Intermodal

Passenger Home Origins
2015 Station Profile Survey

Concord/Martinez/Pacheco

4

East Contra Costa County

Solano/Other

Sept 2017 BART Station Average Weekday Entries (all 46 stations)

NC m

CV m

OR m

WS m

North Concord/Martinez = 2,860 Entries

(2" Lowest in BART System)

SH m

LF =

WD m

SB m

SS m

NB mm

CM mm

RM mm

HY mm

UC mm

Concord = 6,277

Pittsburg/Bay Point = 6,749

/

l
o
O

EP mm
RR mm
AS =m
CL mm
BF mm
CN mm
SL mm
WP mm
MB m=m
WC mm
FM
LM - —
SO mmm

I
o

OW

Pleasant Hill = 7,942

07
—

Carpool:

Bicycle: 4%

Walk: 6% ——

Drop off / taxi /

| Mode Split (2015)

Bus, train, or
othertransit: 1%

Drive Alone:

other: 19% 66.4%

3.3%

O-d>kE
OZmS

Source: 2015 Station Profile Survey (Home Origin)

North Concord/Martinez

Area 20 acres
Vehicle parking 1,977
Bus routes 2

Bus positions 15





w1 Concord Reuse Project +
’

BART TOD Timeline

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022+
Area Concord Reuse Project
Plan Area Plan Approved
Pracess 3¢ Master Developer & | ennar/Five Points | 3 Complete
S— REQ issued ~ selected : Specific Plan + CEQA
BART Specific Plan +
i Master Developer ) , :
nput : \ Including Infrastructure
S ProF§s§ 4 Planning, CEQA Construction —
Included BART Participation : . . s
- Community Meetings E Phase |
) e 0,0,0 0 :
City of Concord ; : - ;
T - — N N N N N N SN SN SN N NN SN S NN S R SN R R S R S ———-n———l- —————— —————— -
BART
Release RFQ
)Y
e
I
| Project Refinement / Permitting +
| Developer Agreement Construction
|

Select

Developer Developer
Solicitation /

Selection

BART Planning, Development & Construction





BART Site Relationship to Surround

Concord Reuse Project Specific Plan

Draft Land Use Plan (April 2018)

Source: Lennar/Five Points
MU-1: Mixed Use
MU-2: Mixed Use

MU-3: Mixed Use

C-2: Commercial Flex

R-2: Medium Density Residential
R-1: Low Density Residential

CF-2: Schools

B cc: campus

Specific U-1: PG&E Substation

0S-1: Creek Corridor 05-1

0S-2: District & Citywide Parks
0S-3: Greenway, Canal Park etc.
| 0S-4: Joint Use School Fields

Key Districts

== BART North Concord/Marinez Station
Property (~20 Acres)

s Phase 1 of CRP - Lennar/Five Points
is Master Developer (~500 Acres)

e C0ast Guard Property (58 Acres)

s Additional City owned-land in
TOD Core Zone (xx Acres)

BART Planning, Development & Construction






North Concord/Martinez BART TOD

tn Development Program to be Included in

Draft Specific Plan & EIR

« Up to 800,000 sf of Commercial Space, in 3-8 story buildings
« Up to 360 Dwelling Units in 3-6 story buildings

« Up to 100% Replacement parking for BART usersin a 1,977
space, phaseable parking garage.

« 15-35% of commercial parking potentially located offsite in interim
surface lots

« Multi-modal transit plaza at BART station
» Possible replacement of existing station building

« Qutstanding question of transitional area between single family
neighborhood and BART development

BART Planning, Development & Construction





North Concord / Martinez BART Station TOD

Summary Objectives for TOD on BART site

1.  High quality public realm and open spaces; welcoming “gateway” to community
2.  Seamless pedestrian, bike, and transit connections within and beyond property

3.  Work with adjacent property owners to logically plan infrastructure such as parking
replacement

4.  Promote “reverse commute” (mix of uses with emphasis on employment)

5. Locate employment and retail uses closest to station; parking and residential
further away

Gradual transition in height to existing community
7.  25% affordable housing minimum, consistent with adjacent development goal

Concept A
BART Planning, Development & Construction





AT North Concord / Martinez BART Station TOD

Solicitation Process

« August 13: Issued Request for Qualifications

« August 20: Pre-Submittal Meeting and
Small Business Matchmaking Session

* October 5: Received three responses:
« Brookfield Residential / Novin Development
* Essex Property Trust, Inc.

* The Michaels Organization / The Republic Family of
Companies

* November 13: Interviews with all teams

BART Planning, Development & Construction





BART North Concord / Martinez BART Station TOD
ba RFQ Submittal Requirements

Development Team Summary

Small Business Participation Commitment

Description of Relevant Experience

Preliminary Development Concept

Project Approach:

« Transition to Existing Single-Family Neighborhood

* Interface with Specific Plan
« Demonstration of Financial Capacity

* References

BART Planning, Development & Construction





WH.EM North Concord / Martinez BART Station TOD
e o ll Evaluation Criteria

 Direct Relevant Qualifications and Experience:

» Master Planning and Large Scale Transformative Development
« Complex Land Transactions, Public Agency Partnerships
» Large Scale Infrastructure Investment

« Development Concept and Project Approach:

Meet BART’s Goals and Objectives and Area Plan
Address Market Realities

Respond to Community Concerns

Innovation and Creativity

 Financial Capability

« Team Roles and Responsibilities

 Strength of Project Manager (Interview)

« Ability to Successfully Represent the Project (Interview)

BART Planning, Development & Construction





BART North Concord / Martinez BART Station TOD
tn Staff Recommendation

Brookfield Residential / Novin Development

« Local team with Contra Costa County experience
« Strong financial partner with commitment to the project

« Experience with large-scale, master-planned
development on public property

« Quality architect with BART history (Studio T-Square)

« Creative and innovative proposal that is responsive to
key issues and market strengths and weaknesses

« 20% Small Business participation commitment
(Novin is SB)

BART Planning, Development & Construction 10





Brookfield Residential
Co-Sponsor

Market Rate and
Commercial Lead and
Equity Partner

Brookfleld

North Concord / Martinez BART Station TOD

Brookfield Residential / Novin Development

Pre-Development Organizational Chart

Brookfield NDC LLC
Project Sponsor

Project Managers | POC

Josh Roden, Brookfield Residential
Joe Guerra, Brookfield Residential
Iman Novin, Novin Development Corp.

Novin Development
Co-Sponsor and Affordable
Lead

Studio T Square Strategic Economics The John Stewart
Architecture, Planning and Financial Consultant and Company
Urban Design Community Outreach Property Management
THE
& JOHN STEWART
COMPANY
STRATEGICECONOMICS
STUDIO
T SQUARE

BART Planning, Development & Construction

ArtSpace
Affordable Partner

artspace

» NOVIN
/ DEVELOPMENT

11





WY. 3 North Concord/ Martinez BART Station TOD
oo I Brookfield Residential / Novin Development

Boulevard, Dublin, CA (189 acres
near Dublin/Pleasanton BART)
Public Agency Partnership (US Army)
Large Scale Infrastructure

Playa Vista: Former aircraft plant / runway in

West Los Angeles

* 6,000+ units, 3.3 m sq ft office

* $125 million traffic mitigation program on
Santa Monica Blue Bus “Rapid 3” service
with priority lanes
Office tenant TDM program to meet “trip

>

g ¥y - N\ O\
BART Planninig, Develw\mep.t_&efrj_struction@






WY. 3 North Concord/ Martinez BART Station TOD
oo I Brookfield Residential / Novin Development

Staff at Novin (a Small é
Business) have worked on
MacArthur Transit Village,
work on affordable housing
policy and strategy near
BART stations, and are based
in Walnut Creek

ArtSpace specializes’
housing for artists






WY. 3 North Concord/ Martinez BART Station TOD
ba Proposed Motion

Authorize the General Manager or her
designee to enter into an exclusive negotiating
agreement (ENA) with the development team
comprised of Brookfield Residential/Novin
Development for a term of 24 months, with an
option to extend an additional 24 months if key
deliverables are met, to advance transit-
oriented development at the North
Concord/Martinez Station.

BART Planning, Development & Construction 14






m AB 2923: Preliminary
Implementation Approach

December 6, 2018
BART Board of Directors






| BART’s Transit-Oriented Development

(TOD) Program

Active since 1990s

Development on BART Property to help BART achieve its goals

- Ridership, Economic Development, Value Capture, Placemaking

- Affordable Housing, Innovation, Greenhouse Gas Reduction
Board-adopted target to produce:

- 20,000 housing units (35%, or 7,000 Affordable)

- 4.5 million square feet of commercial space
Future TOD opportunities: 250 acres, 26 of 48 stations in 16 jurisdictions

e

ree 3 1 @ & - g o S oy
} L & = TR § { PERE )






BART’s TOD
Portfolio
December 2018

. Total Affordable % Office Retail
Status Station . .
Units Units Affordable (SF) (SF)
Castro Valley (1993) 96 96 100%
Fruitvale Phase | (2004) 47 10 21% 27,000 37,000
Pleasant Hill Phase | (2008) 422 84 20% 35,590
= Hayward (1998) 170 0 0%
% Ashby (2011) 0 0 0% 80,000
a Richmond Phase | (2004) 132 66 50% 9,000
§ MacArthur Ph | (2016) 90 90 100%
San Leandro Ph | (2017) 115 115 100% 5,000 1,000
West Dublin (2013) 309 0 0%
East Dublin (2008) 240 0 0%
South Hayward Ph | (2017) 354 152 43%
TOTAL COMPLETED 1975 613 31% 112,000 82,590
g MacArthur Ph Il (2017-2020) 787 56 7% 39,100
b= San Leandro Ph Il (2017-2019) 85 85 100%
g Walnut Creek (began 2017) 596 0 0%
5 Coliseum Phase | (2017-2019) 110 55 50%
9 West Pleasanton (2017-2019) 0 0 0% 410,000
é Pleasant Hill Block C (began 2018) 200 0 0%
= Fruitvale Phase IIA (began 2018) 94 92 98%
TOTAL UNDER CONSTRUCTION 1872 288 15% 410,000 39,100
E @ Millbrae (Entitlements 2018) 400 80 20% 150,000 45,000
;S '% West Oakland TBD
c =
§° § Fruitvale Phase I1B (Entitled) 181 181 100% 6,000
Lake Merritt (Solicitation 2018) TBD 2
TOTAL COMPLETED/UNDER CONSTRUCTION 3847 901 23% 522,000 121,690






‘oo TOD Program Status

7 Projects under
construction

Continue work on
Approved projects at
Fruitvale, Richmond,
Pleasant Hill, Walnut
Creek, West Dublin

Complete Negotiations/
Entitlements at West
Oakland, Millbrae,
Balboa Park

Recent Solicitations:
Lake Merritt, North
Concord

2019: El Cerrito Plaza,
other TBD

OAKLAND INT'L
AIRPORT (OAK)

TOD Project Status
. Completed Project

. Partially Completed /Under Construction
O Approved Project
O In Negotiations

NORTH CONCORD,/"

MARTINEY §
A2

ALNUT CREEK
LAFAYETTE

-

PITTSBURG/  ~~~o
BAY POINT ~-

CONCORD

PLEASANT HILL/CONTRA COSTA CENTF

DUBLIN/

TON

WARM SPRINGS/
b SOUTH FREMONT

\“ 3






e Authored by Assemblymembers Chiu, Grayson
e Signed by Governor Brown on September 30, 2018

 Two Core Legislative Changes, and Additional BART
Requirements
1. TOD Standard Setting for BART-owned property
2. Development Streamlining (SB 35, 2017)
e Only applies to currently owned BART property near

existing Stations in Alameda, Contra Costa, and San
Francisco Counties

* Possibly applies to potential future Irvington station
e Expires in 2029





o AB 2923: BART-Related TOD

Bill Overview (Part 1 of 2)

TOD Standards

BART Board adopts Standards for certain stations by mid-2020 for

existing BART-owned property only in 3 BART Counties:
* Height Limits, Density, Floor-Area-Ratio, Parking Mins/Max
e  Minimum: 2017 TOD Guidelines
e Maximum: Tallest of (1) current residential “highest approved height” in
% mile or (2) 50% above 2017 TOD Guidelines
e Subject to CEQA review

If current BART property zoning is within 10% of 2017 TOD
Guidelines height and FAR, exempt from Standards

Cities rezone BART property by mid-2022 to meet BART standards,
will incorporate BART’s CEQA work

If BART Board does not adopt Standards, 2017 TOD Guidelines
become Standards

5





Figure 1. BART Staff Evaluation of Transit Oriented

2017 TOD Guidelines: 7w rrnsmaoes mresvis -
Figure 1 & Table 1

BCHMAOND 1,230

L CERRITD DERNOATE (1230

TOD PLACE TYPES
@ Regional ¢

197TH STREET / (ARLEND (103
g P HLAND CITY CEMTER | 13TH STREET (113 Nemghbormood ar T

FRLATALE (1,3, 5 @ Oihendat a TOD Statiar

COLEELM {1,2,5)

RPN M (L

BALEOA PARE P2,

Table 1. Proposed TOD Place Types, Parking Maximums and Development Targets

FRANCTICOME)

Development

BART Draft Parking Proposal for TOD Guidelines (75 res unita/acre min)

Residential Office Auto \
BART TOD Parking | Auto Parking r:airimgm He.?:r'eg:'a' Office Target
Place Type Overall Maximum (Spaces/ Height Height
(Spaces/Unit) p 9
1,000 sf)
High rise (if feasible) -
No Auto 0.375 0 Minimum 12 stories | !T OF LOCAL REGULATIONS
Parking T'S GUIDELINES w0 FeEadcerT 2.2y
Urban Minimum. ' Y
Shared g _ . BART"s minimum residential density threshold ',‘
Neighborhood/| /) ndled 0.5 16 Mid r,:nls-?,-mT it'ones s it e s
City Center Secure - nimu i BART's residential parking thresholds 0k
Bike i BART s office parking thresholds .'*
Parking - . . !
NeigthI‘hOOd min 1g 1 2 5 Mld‘rlse - 5 Storles ,"_I |I . J_ update in progress could i.‘
/ Town Center space/unit ' minimum '!‘ H B
[OD Guidelines, version 2.0 May 1, 20






o AB 2923: BART-Related TOD

Bill Overview (Part 2 of 2)

Development Streamlining (SB35)

BART-Selected Developers may apply for SB35 eligibility

Project must be within 1 story or 15’ of “highest approved
height” (residential/mixed-use) within % mile of property, and
comply with SB 35 labor standards

Streamlining is:

- Max 90 to 180 day review by local jurisdiction

- Ministerial approval (interpreted as CEQA streamlining)

- Subject to objective design review and other requirements
already adopted and applied broadly by city

Limited application of SB 35 to date





Outreach to local jurisdictions and communities of

concern

Review of local housing needs, recent TOD projects,
obstacles to development

Parking replacement policy with provisions to
ensure auto-dependent stations still allow access to
private automobile

Affordable housing and anti-displacement strategy

2027: Report to Legislature on bill effectiveness






I° T AB 2923: What We Know that Affects

BART’s Approach

e Critical milestones required in AB 2923:
0 July 1, 2020: Adopt Development Standards with CEQA, or revert to
current TOD Guidelines
O July 1, 2022: Local Jurisdictions Must Rezone, or BART Standards

become zoning
0 2029 Bill Sunsets

e Continue to follow Board-Adopted Policy Direction
e BART must address concern about loss of local control

 Unprecedented legislation, requiring listening, learning,
and education





s Alignment of AB2923 with current

Board Direction

TOD Policy & Performance Targets BART Station Access Typology
O Prioritize development at stations R
with Transit Supportive Land Use T TR,
Pla nS ™ ‘ ........ . o concomo /l — ) m—

O 35% affordable housing goal. < -

Requires ongoing local partnership, . &, /"
and local funding strategies ? o
Min Density of 75 units/acre

Average car parking ratio of 0.9 AR
spaces/housing unit, 1.6
spaces/1,000 sqg. ft. commercial

© O

(across all BART TODs) .

. . 1 Ne, e mom
Station Access Policy & Performance ¢ One e
Targets iy R

O Plan for systemwide access mode ~ ..%_ ... b

shift to reduce drive alone rates o *\

O Use Access Typology to define .i

strategic investments in Parking :
(I“\ 10

Updated: 11/15/2018





Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 04 Q1 Q2 Q3 4 Q1 Q2 Q3 4 Q1 Q2 Q3 @4

N sept 30, 2018 — AB 2923 became law M Board Update

M Dec 2018 - Board Update: AB 2923 Overview ,
M€ Board Action

Phase 1: Listening, Learning, Education * State or Local Action

L Spring 2019 - Board Update: Standard Setting Approach
- - y

Phase 2: BART Standard Setting & CEQA Clearance

e * ------ By July 1, 2020 — Board Action: Adopt Development Standards
| SRR RN« A - J & CEQA findings, or revert to 2017 TOD Guidelines
Board reviews
draft standard Cities Adopt Zoning by July 1, 2022
alternatives (or default to BART standards) \
Al S





h] Phase 1: Listening, Learning & Education

* Elected officials: meetings in progress

e Local city staff: technical discussions

e Community Meetings: In-person and virtual sessions to

explain BART’s interpretation of bill and collect
feedback

e Public Comment Collection: Establish comment period
and robust tools for feedback on Standard Setting
process

e Communities of Concern: Based on initial outreach,
identify ongoing process for reaching Communities of
Concern

12





h] Phase 1: Listening, Learning & Education

e Data collection (required per AB 2923):
e Current land use regulations on BART property and in %2
mile
e Local housing needs (housing element) and recent TOD
projects
e City staff meetings:

e Ensure accuracy of data on zoning, housing needs, recent
projects

e Discuss current City direction on AB 2923
e Discuss TOD Intentions and City Plans
e Discuss Current Obstacles to Development

13





Spring 2019: Staff to Report Back on:
- Phase | engagement outcomes

- Recommendations for future community and public
engagement

- Current station context: regulatory, political,
community, development/market

- Recommended scope of standard setting: which
stations are subject to standard setting, approach
to setting standards, CEQA approach

- Resource needs/impacts

14





